
�

AGENDA�
�

Meeting� GLA�Oversight�Committee�

Date� Wednesday�28�November�2012�

Time� 10.00�am�

Place� Committee�Room�4,�City�Hall,�The�
Queen's�Walk,�London,�SE1�2AA�

Copies�of�the�reports�and�any�attachments�may�be�found�at��
http://www.london.gov.uk/who-runs-london/the-london-assembly/committees/oversight�
�

Most�meetings�of�the�London�Assembly�and�its�Committees�are�webcast�live�at�
http://www.london.gov.uk/assembly/webcasts.jsp�where�you�can�also�view�past�meetings.�
�
Members�of�the�Committee�
�
Len�Duvall�(Chair)�
Jennette�Arnold�OBE�(Deputy�Chair)�
Tony�Arbour�
John�Biggs�
Andrew�Boff�
Darren�Johnson�
Steve�O'Connell�
Caroline�Pidgeon�
Valerie�Shawcross�CBE�
�

A�meeting�of�the�Committee�has�been�called�by�the�Chair�of�the�Committee�to�deal�with�the�business�
listed�below.�This�meeting�will�be�open�to�the�public.�There�is�access�for�disabled�people,�and�

induction�loops�are�available.�

Mark�Roberts,�Executive�Director�of�Secretariat�
Tuesday�20�November�2012�

Further�Information�
�
If�you�have�questions,�would�like�further�information�about�the�meeting�or�require�special�facilities�
please�contact:�John�Barry,�Senior�Committee�Officer;�Telephone:�020�7983�4425;�Email:�
john.barry@london.gov.uk;�Minicom:�020�7983�4458..�
�
For�media�enquiries�please�contact�Mark�Demery,�020�7983�5769.�
�
If�you�have�any�questions�about�individual�reports�please�contact�the�report�author�whose�details�are�
at�the�end�of�each�report.��
�
There�is�limited�underground�parking�for�orange�and�blue�badge�holders,�which�will�be�allocated�on�a�
first-come�first-served�basis.��Please�contact�Facilities�Management�(020�7983�4750)�in�advance�if�
you�require�a�parking�space�or�further�information�



�

�
Certificate�Number:�FS�80233�

If�you,�or�someone�you�know,�needs�a�copy�of�the�agenda,�minutes�or�reports�
in�large�print�or�Braille,�audio,�or�in�another�language,�then�please�call�us�on�
020�7983�4100�or�email�assembly.translations@london.gov.uk.���
�

�
�



�

3�
�

Agenda�
GLA�Oversight�Committee�
Wednesday�28�November�2012�
�
�

1. Apologies�for�Absence�and�Chair's�Announcements��
�
� To�receive�any�apologies�for�absence�and�any�announcements�from�the�Chair.��

�
�

2. Declarations�of�Interests�(Pages�1�-�2)�
�
� The�Committee�is�recommended�to:�

�
(a)� Note�as�disclosable�pecuniary�interests�the�list�of�memberships�of�functional�

bodies�and�London�Borough�Councils,�as�set�out�in�the�table�at�Agenda�
Item�2;��

�
(b)�� Declare�any�disclosable�pecuniary�interests�in�specific�items�listed�on�the�

agenda�and�take�any�necessary�action�regarding�withdrawal�following�such�
declaration(s);�and��

�
(c)�� Note�any�further�declarations�of�relevant�interests�(including�any�interests�

arising�from�gifts�and�hospitality�received�which�are�not�at�the�time�of�the�
meeting�reflected�on�the�Authority’s�register�of�gifts�and�hospitality,�and�
noting�also�the�advice�from�the�GLA’s�Monitoring�Officer�set�out�at�Agenda�
Item�2),�with�the�relevant�Member(s)�taking�any�necessary�action�regarding�
withdrawal�from�the�meeting�for�related�items�of�business�following�any�such�
declaration(s).�

�
�

3. Minutes�(Pages�3�-�34)�
�
� The�Committee�is�recommended�to�confirm�the�minutes�of�the�meeting�of�the�GLA�

Oversight�Committee�held�on�24�October�2012�to�be�signed�by�the�Chair�as�a�correct�

record.��
�

� The�appendix�to�the�minutes�set�out�on�pages�9�to�34�is�attached�for�Members�and�officers�only�
but�is�available�from�the�following�area�of�the�GLA’s�website:�http://www.london.gov.uk/who-
runs-london/the-london-assembly/committees/oversight�
�
�

4. Summary�List�of�Actions�(Pages�35�-�54)�
�
� Report�of�the�Executive�Director�of�Secretariat�

Contact:��John�Barry;�john.barry@london.gov.uk;�020�7983�4425� �
�
The�Committee�is�recommended�to�note�the�completed�and�outstanding�actions�

arising�from�previous�meetings�of�the�GLA�Oversight�Committee.�



�

4�
�

�
�

5. The�Mayor's�Mentoring�Programme�(Pages�55�-�58)�
�
� Report�of�the�Executive�Director�of�Secretariat�

Contact:��Richard�Derecki;�richard.derecki@london.gov.uk;�020�7983�4899� �
�
The�Committee�is�recommended�to�put�questions�to�Munira�Mirza,�Deputy�Mayor�
for�Education�and�Culture,�and�note�the�discussion.��
�
�

6. The�Mayor's�Education�Inquiry�(Pages�59�-�70)�
�
� Report�of�the�Executive�Director�of�Secretariat�

Contact:��Richard�Derecki;�richard.derecki@london.gov.uk;�020�7983�4899� �
�
The�Committee�is�recommended�to�note�the�report�as�background�to�its�question�
and�answer�session�with�the�Deputy�Mayor�for�Education�and�Culture.�
�
�

7. Head�of�Paid�Service�Oral�Update��
�
� The�Head�of�Paid�Service�to�provide�any�service�updates�not�covered�in�the�rest�of�the�

agenda.�
�
�

8. Proposed�Changes�to�the�GLA�Establishment�(Pages�71�-�98)�
�
� Report�of�the�Head�of�Paid�Service�

Contact:�Juliette�Carter;�juliette.carter@london.gov.uk;�020�7983�4194�
�
The�Committee�is�recommended�to�respond�to�the�Head�of�Paid�Service�consultation�
on�the�proposed�changes�to�the�establishment�in�the�GLA.�
�
�

9. Shared�Service�Proposal�by�Transport�for�London�for�the�Management�
of�the�GLA's�Ongoing�Olympic�and�Non-Olympic�Compulsory�Purchase�
Orders�(Pages�99�-�104)�

�
� Report�of�the�Executive�Director�of�Resouces�

Contact:�Stephen�Kennard;�stephen.kennard@london.gov.uk;�020�7983�5725��
�
The�Committee�is�recommended�to�consider�and�provide�its�comments�on�the�
Mayor’s�proposed�exercise�of�the�GLA’s�power,�under�section�401A�of�the�Greater�
London�Authority�Act,�to�enter�into�shared�service�arrangements�under�which�
Transport�for�London�will�discharge�the�GLA’s�Compulsory�Purchase�Order�
management�and�support�functions,�including�those�in�relation�to�the�Olympic�Park,�
Wembley�Stadium,�Silvertown�Way�and�Chequers�Corner.�
�
�



�

5�
�

10. Proposed�Review�of�the�Assembly�Committee�Structure�(Pages�105�-�108)�
�
� Report�of�the�Executive�Director�of�Secretariat�

Contact:�Mark�Roberts;�mark.roberts@london.gov.uk;�020�7983�4428�
�
The�Committee�is�recommended�to�agree�that�a�review�of�the�Assembly’s�Committee�
structure�be�undertaken�over�the�next�2�months�to�establish�what�if�any�changes�
should�be�implemented�for�the�next�municipal�year�and�any�resource�implications.�
�
�

11. Transport�Committee�Investigation�Into�Airport�Capacity�-�Technical�
Advice�and�Support�(Pages�109�-�124)�

�
� Report�of�the�Executive�Director�of�Secretariat�

Contact:�Laura�Warren;�laura.warren@london.gov.uk;�020�7983�6545�
�
The�Committee�is�recommended�to:�
�
(a) Note�the�Transport�Committee’s�investigation�into�airport�capacity�as�set�out�

in�Appendix�1�of�the�report�and�provide�comments�as�necessary;���
�
(b) Approve�expenditure�to�a�maximum�of�£20,000�from�the�2012/13�scrutiny�

programme�report�to�commission�external�contractors�to�provide�external�
technical�advice�and�support�on�airport�capacity�for�the�Transport�
Committee;�and�

�
(c) Note�that�the�Executive�Director�of�the�Secretariat,�in�consultation�with�the�

Chair�of�the�Transport�Committee,�will�commission�the�external�contractors�
to�carry�out�the�external�technical�advice�and�support,�subject�to�the�
Committee�approving�this�expenditure.��

�
�

12. Elections�Review�Working�Group�(Pages�125�-�264)�
�
� Report�of�the�Executive�Director�of�Secretariat�

Contact:��Richard�Derecki;�richard.derecki@london.gov.uk;�020�7983�4899� �
�
The�Committee�is�recommended�to:�
�
(a) Confirm�the�minutes�of�the�meeting�of�the�Elections�Review�Working�Group�

meetings�held�on�5�and�12�July�2012�to�be�signed�by�the�Chair�as�a�correct�
record;�

�
(b) Agree�the�report�of�the�Elections�Review�Working�Group,�The�2012�Mayoral�

and�London�Assembly�elections;�and�
�

(c) Ask�the�Head�of�Paid�Service�to�provide�a�comprehensive�response�to�the�
Working�Group’s�recommendations,�including�the�response�from�London�
Elects�and�the�GLRO,�in�time�for�the�21�March�2013�GLA�Oversight�
Committee�meeting.���

�
�



�

6�
�

� The�appendices�to�the�report�set�out�on�pages�129�-�264�are�attached�for�Members�and�officers�
only�but�are�available�from�the�following�area�of�the�GLA’s�website:�
http://www.london.gov.uk/who-runs-london/the-london-assembly/committees/oversight�
�
�

13. The�Head�of�Paid�Service�Performance�Review�Panel�(Pages�265�-�270)�
�
� Report�of�the�Executive�Director�of�Secretariat�

Contact:��John�Barry;�john.barry@london.gov.uk;�020�7983�4425�
�
The�Committee�is�recommended�to�confirm�the�minutes�of�the�Head�of�Paid�Service�
Performance�Review�Panel�meeting�of�13�November�2012,�to�be�signed�by�the�Chair�
as�a�correct�record.�
�
�

14. Work�Programme�for�the�GLA�Oversight�Committee�2012/13�(Pages�271�-�
274)�

�
� Report�of�the�Executive�Director�of�Secretariat�

Contact:��John�Barry;�john.barry@london.gov.uk;�020�7983�4425�
�
The�Committee�is�recommended�to�note�its�work�programme�for�2012/13�and�
identify�any�additional�issues�it�wishes�to�consider�at�future�meetings.��
�
�

15. Date�of�Next�Meeting��
�
� The�next�meeting�of�the�Committee�is�scheduled�to�be�held�on�19�December�2012�at�2.30pm�

in�Committee�Room�5.�
�
�

16. Any�Other�Business�the�Chair�Considers�Urgent��
�
�
�



                                                                    

�
City�Hall,�The�Queen’s�Walk,�London�SE1�2AA�
Enquiries:
020
7983
4100
minicom:
020
7983
4458
www.london.gov.uk


 

London
Assembly

Membership
of
Functional
Bodies
and
London
Borough
Councils


 

Member
 Interest


Tony�Arbour� Member,�LFEPA;�Member,�LB�Richmond�
Jennette�Arnold� �
John�Biggs� �
Andrew�Boff� �
Len�Duvall� �
Darren�Johnson� Member,�LFEPA;�Member,�LB�Lewisham�
Steve�O’Connell� Member,�LB�Croydon�
Caroline�Pidgeon� �
Valerie�Shawcross� �

�

[Note:�LB�-�London�Borough;�LFEPA�-�London�Fire�and�Emergency�Planning�Authority.]�
 

Recommendations:




(i) That
the
list
of
memberships
of
functional
bodies
and
London
Borough
Councils
,

as
set
out
in
the
table
above,
be
noted
as
disclosable
pecuniary
interests1;



(ii) That
all
Members
declare
any
disclosable
pecuniary
interests
in
specific
items
listed

on
the
agenda�and
take
any
necessary
action
regarding
withdrawal
following
such

declaration(s);
and



(iii)

 That
any
further
declarations
of
relevant
interests
(including
any
interests
arising

from
gifts
and
hospitality
received
which
are
not
at
the
time
of
the
meeting

reflected
on
the
Authority’s
register
of
gifts
and
hospitality,
and
noting
also
the

advice
from
the
GLA’s
Monitoring
Officer
set
out
at
Agenda
Item
2)
be
noted,
with

the
relevant
Member(s)
taking
any
necessary
action
regarding
withdrawal
from
the

meeting
for
related
items
of
business
following
any
such
declaration(s). 


�
Paragraph�10�of�the�GLA’s�new�Code�of�Conduct,�which�reflects�the�relevant�provisions�of�the�
Localism�Act�2011,�provides�that:��
�

- where�an�Assembly�Member�has�a�Disclosable�Pecuniary�Interest�in�any�matter�to�be�
considered�or�being�considered�or�at��

�

(i)� a�meeting�of�the�Assembly�and�any�of�its�committees�or�sub-committees;�or��
�

(ii)� any�formal�meeting�held�by�the�Mayor�in�connection�with�the�exercise�of�the�
Authority’s�functions��

�

- they�must�disclose�that�interest�to�the�meeting�(or,�if�it�is�a�sensitive�interest,�disclose�the�
fact�that�they�have�a�sensitive�interest�to�the�meeting);�and��

�

-� must�not�(i)�participate�,�or�participate�any�further,�in�any�discussion�of�the�matter�at�the�
meeting;�or�(ii)�participate�in�any�vote,�or�further�vote,�taken�on�the�matter�at�the�meeting�

�

UNLESS�
�

                                                 
1�The�Monitoring�Officer�advises�that: Paragraph�10�of�the�Code�of�Conduct�will�only�preclude�a�Member�from�participating�in�any�
matter�to�be�considered�or�being�considered�at,�for�example,�a�meeting�of�the�Assembly,�where�the�Member�has�a�direct�Disclosable�
Pecuniary�Interest�in�that�particular�matter.�The�effect�of�this�is�that�the�‘matter�to�be�considered,�or�being�considered’�must�be�about�
the�Member’s�interest.�So,�by�way�of�example,�if�an�Assembly�Member�is�also�a�councillor�of�London�Borough�X,�that�Assembly�
Member�will�be�precluded�from�participating�in�an�Assembly�meeting�where�the�Assembly�is�to�consider�a�matter�about�the�Member’s�
role�/�employment�as�a�councillor�of�London�Borough�X;�the�Member�will�not�be�precluded�from�participating�in�a�meeting�where�the�
Assembly�is�to�consider�a�matter�about�an�activity�or�decision�of�London�Borough�X. 

 

Agenda Item 2

Page 1



        

-� they�have�obtained�a�dispensation�from�the�GLA’s�Monitoring�Officer�(in�accordance�with�
section�2�of�the�Procedure�for�registration�and�declarations�of�interests,�gifts�and�hospitality�
–�Appendix�5�to�the�Code).����

�

Failure�to�comply�with�the�above�requirements,�without�reasonable�excuse,�is�a�criminal�offence;�as�
is�knowingly�or�recklessly�providing�information�about�your�interests�that�is�false�or�misleading.�
�

In�addition,�the�Monitoring�Officer�has�advised�Assembly�Members�to�continue�to�apply�the�test�that�
was�previously�applied�to�help�determine�whether�a�pecuniary�/�prejudicial�interest�was�arising�-�
namely,�that�Members�rely�on�a�reasonable�estimation�of�whether�a�member�of�the�public,�with�
knowledge�of�the�relevant�facts,�could,�with�justification,�regard�the�matter�as�so�significant�that�it�
would�be�likely�to�prejudice�the�Member’s�judgement�of�the�public�interest.��
�

Members�should�then�exercise�their�judgement�as�to�whether�or�not,�in�view�of�their�interests�and�
the�interests�of�others�close�to�them,�they�should�participate�in�any�given�discussions�and/or�
decisions�business�of�within�and�by�the�GLA.��

 

Members�are�also�required,�where�considering�a�matter�which�relates�to�or�is�likely�to�affect�a�person�
from�whom�they�have�received�a�gift�or�hospitality�with�an�estimated�value�of�at�least�£25�within�the�
previous�three�years�or�from�the�date�of�election�to�the�London�Assembly,�whichever�is�the�later,�to�
disclose�the�existence�and�nature�of�that�interest�at�any�meeting�of�the�Authority�which�they�attend�
at�which�that�business�is�considered.��

�
The�obligation�to�declare�any�gift�or�hospitality�at�a�meeting�is�discharged,�subject�to�the�proviso�set�
out�below,�by�registering�gifts�and�hospitality�received�on�the�Authority’s�on-line�database.�The�on-
line�database�may�be�viewed�here:�http://www.london.gov.uk/gifts-and-hospitality-register.��
�
If�any�gift�or�hospitality�received�by�a�Member�is�not�set�out�on�the�on-line�database�at�the�time�of�
the�meeting,�and�under�consideration�is�a�matter�which�relates�to�or�is�likely�to�affect�a�person�from�
whom�a�Member�has�received�a�gift�or�hospitality�with�an�estimated�value�of�at�least�£25,�Members�
are�asked�to�disclose�these�at�the�meeting,�either�at�the�declarations�of�interest�agenda�item�or�
when�the�interest�becomes�apparent.��
�
It�is�for�Members�to�decide,�in�light�of�the�particular�circumstances,�whether�their�receipt�of�a�gift�or�
hospitality,�could,�on�a�reasonable�estimation�of�a�member�of�the�public�with�knowledge�of�the�
relevant�facts,�with�justification,�be�regarded�as�so�significant�that�it�would�be�likely�to�prejudice�the�
Member’s�judgement�of�the�public�interest.�Where�receipt�of�a�gift�or�hospitality�could�be�so�
regarded,�the�Member�must�exercise�their�judgement�as�to�whether�or�not,�they�should�participate�in�
any�given�discussions�and/or�decisions�business�of�within�and�by�the�GLA.� 

Page 2



�
�

�
�
City�Hall,�The�Queen’s�Walk,�London�SE1�2AA�
Enquiries:
020
7983
4100
minicom:
020
7983
4458
www.london.gov.uk�

MINUTES


�

Meeting:
 GLA
Oversight
Committee

Date:
 Wednesday
24
October
2012

Time:
 2.00
pm

Place:
 Committee
Room
5,
City
Hall,
The


Queen's
Walk,
London,
SE1
2AA

�

Copies�of�the�minutes�may�be�found�at:
http://www.london.gov.uk/who-runs-london/the-london-

assembly/committees/�

�
Present:

�
Len�Duvall�(Chair)�
Jennette�Arnold�OBE�(Deputy�Chair)�
Tony�Arbour�
John�Biggs�
Andrew�Boff�
Nicky�Gavron�
Darren�Johnson�
Steve�O'Connell�
Caroline�Pidgeon�
�
�
�

1. Apologies
for
Absence
and
Chair's
Announcements
(Item
1)�



1.1� An�apology�for�absence�was�received�from�Valerie�Shawcross�AM,�for�whom�Nicky�
Gavron�AM�attended�as�a�substitute�Member.��





2. Declarations
of
Interests
(Item
2)�



2.1
 Resolved:




(a)

 That
the
list
of
memberships
of
functional
bodies
and
London
Borough

Councils,
as
set
out
in
the
table
at
Item
2,
be
noted
as
disclosable
pecuniary

interests;
and




(b)

 That
gifts
and
hospitality
received
by
Members,
as
set
out
in
the
Authority’s


Agenda Item 3

Page 3



Greater
London
Authority

GLA
Oversight
Committee

Wednesday
24
October
2012


�

�
�

gifts
and
hospitality
register,
be
noted.






3. Minutes
(Item
3)�




3.1 The�Committee�received�the�minutes�of�the�previous�meeting.��

�

3.2 Caroline�Pidgeon�AM�suggested�that�the�second�bullet�point�of�minute�10.2�should�have�

employed�the�word�‘used’�rather�than�‘promoted’.��

�

3.3 Resolved:





That
the
minutes
of
the
meeting
of
the
GLA
Oversight
Committee
held
on
20


September
2012
be
signed
by
the
Chair
as
a
correct
record
subject
to
the
comment


made
in
the
meeting
and
recorded
above.






4. Summary
List
of
Actions
(Item
4)�




4.1 The�Committee�received�the�report�of�the�Executive�Director�of�Secretariat.�

�

4.2 It�was�noted�that�the�Committee’s�request,�made�at�its�previous�meeting,�for�further�

information�in�relation�to�the�re-charging�of�costs�incurred�by�the�GLA�in�assisting�the�

Mayors�Office�for�Policing�and�Crime�with�certain�functions�should�have�been�reflected�

within�the�report.�

�

4.3 It�was�further�noted�that�the�future�dates�for�People’s�Question�Time�events�had�not�been�

circulated�to�Assembly�Members�and�that�clarification�of�the�ownership�of�the�

‘@MayorOfLondon’�Twitter�account�had�not�yet�been�provided.�

�

4.4 Resolved:�

�


 That,
subject
to
the
comments
made
in
the
meeting
and
recorded
above,
the


completed
and
outstanding
actions
from
previous
meetings
of
the
GLA
Oversight


Committee
be
noted.






5. The
Mayor's
Senior
Adviser,
Team
London,
Volunteering,
Charities
and


Sponsorship
(Item
5)�



5.1 The�Committee�received�the�report�of�the�Executive�Director�of�Secretariat�as�background�to�
its�question�and�answer�session�with�Veronica�Wadley,�Mayor’s�Senior�Adviser,�Team�London,�
Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship.�Also�in�attendance�for�this�item�was�Matthew�
Patten,�Chief�Executive,�Mayor’s�Fund�for�London.�
�

Page 4



Greater
London
Authority

GLA
Oversight
Committee

Wednesday
24
October
2012


�

�
�

5.2 During�the�course�of�the�discussion,�the�Chair�requested�information�on�the�scope�and�work�
undertaken�on�the�reviews�of�the�GLA’s�sponsorship�and�volunteering�functions.�In�addition,�
the�Chair�invited�Ms�Wadley�to�return�to�the�Committee�in�the�early�part�of�2013�for�a�further�
update�on�her�areas�of�work.�������
�

5.3 A�transcript�of�the�discussion�is�attached�as�Appendix
1.�
�

5.4 Resolved:



That
the
report
and
discussion
be
noted.�





6. Head
of
Paid
Service
Oral
Update
(Item
6)�



6.1 The�Head�of�Paid�Service�informed�the�Committee�that�work�had�continued�on�the�

post-devolution�restructuring�activity�within�the�Authority,�which�included�the�dissolution�
and�reorganisation�of�the�London�2012�team.��Members�were�informed�that�consultation�
papers�had�been�issued�to�staff�in�relation�to�the�proposed�new�structure�for�a�Housing�and�
Land�Directorate�and�in�relation�to�the�structures�within�the�Development�and�Environment�
Directorate;�both�consultations�were�planned�to�be�held�over�a�three-month�period.���
�

6.2 The�oral�update�was�noted.�





7. Assembly
Budget
Requirement
2013-14
(Item
7)�



7.1 The�Committee�received�the�report�of�the�Executive�Director�of�Secretariat.�

�
7.2 Members�expressed�concern�that�the�proposed�budget�requirement�might�not�allow�the�

Assembly�scope�to�widen�its�areas�of�scrutiny�to�reflect�any�growth�in�the�Mayor’s�remit,�with�
particular�reference�to�education�matters,�and�requested�that�officers�provide�a�report�to�the�
next�meeting�of�the�Committee�on�that�matter.�
�

7.3 The�Committee�was�also�advised�that�the�outcome�and�decisions�of�the�London�TravelWatch�
Review�Panel�in�respect�of�potential�budget�savings�would�be�made�available�to�Members�in�
advance�of�the�next�GLA�Oversight�Committee�meeting.�

�
7.4 Resolved:


�
That
the
London
Assembly’s
draft
budget
requirement
for
2013-14
be

recommended
to
the
Mayor,
subject
to
any
changes
that
might
be
necessary
prior

to
the
final
agreement
on
the
budget
in
February
2013
to
reflect:


(a) The
outcome
of
consultation
with
staff
on
the
proposed
changes
to
the

administrative
and
support
functions
in
the
core
Secretariat;


(b) Any
further
advice
from
the
Executive
Director
of
Resources
on
contingencies

and
financial
reserves;
and


(c) Any
changes
that
emerge
during
the
remainder
of
the
budget
process


Page 5



Greater
London
Authority

GLA
Oversight
Committee

Wednesday
24
October
2012


�

�
�

including
any
additional
scrutiny
responsibilities
that
might
need
to
be

covered
by
the
Assembly.






8. Consultation
on
Shared
Member
Support
Services
with
the
London
Fire


and
Emergency
Planning
Authority
(Item
8)�



8.1� The�Committee�received�the�report�of�the�Executive�Director�of�Secretariat.�

�

8.2� Resolved:�

�

That
the
proposed
Member
Support
Shared
Services
arrangements
between
the


GLA
and
LFEPA,
as
outlined
in
the
report,
be
recommended
for
approval
by
the


Mayor.�





9. Secretariat
Quarterly
Monitoring,
Quarter
2
2012/13
(Item
9)�



9.1 The�Committee�received�the�report�of�the�Executive�Director�of�Secretariat.�

�
9.2 Resolved:





That
the
core
Secretariat
quarterly
monitoring
report
for
the
second
quarter
of

2012/13
(July
to
September
2012)
be
noted.






10. GLA
Annual
Equalities
Report
-
Assembly
Contribution
(Item
10)�



10.1 The�Committee�received�the�report�of�the�Executive�Director�of�Secretariat.�

�
10.2 Members�of�the�Committee�suggested�that�the�Assembly’s�contribution�to�the�GLA’s�Annual�

Equalities�Report�2012�additionally�reflect�the�work�the�Assembly�had�undertaken�on�
economic�equality,�transport�accessibility,�air�quality,�mental�health�and�‘looked�after�
children’.�

�
10.3 Resolved:




That,
subject
to
the
comments
made
in
the
meeting
and
recorded
above,
the

Assembly’s
contribution
to
the
GLA’s
Annual
Equalities
Report
2012,
in
advance
of

its
consideration
of
the
full
report
at
its
meeting
in
February
2013,
be
noted.�






Page 6



Greater
London
Authority

GLA
Oversight
Committee

Wednesday
24
October
2012


�

�
�

11. Response
to
the
Time
for
Action
Panel
Report
-
Time
to
Reflect

(Item
11)�



11.1� The�Committee�received�the�report�of�the�Executive�Director�of�Secretariat.�
�

11.2
 Resolved:�
�

(a) That
the
response
to
the
report
be
noted;





(b) That
the
Police
and
Crime
Committee
be
requested
to
monitor
progress
of

and
developments
within
Project
Daedalus
and
that
the
Oversight

Committee
monitors
progress
with
the
other
programmes;
and




(c) That
the
appropriate
Mayoral
adviser
be
invited
to
provide
an
update
on
the

Mayor’s
Project
Titan
programme
at
the
next
meeting
of
the
Oversight

Committee.�





12. Work
Programme
for
the
GLA
Oversight
Committee
2012/13
(Item
12)�



12.1 The�Committee�received�the�report�of�the�Executive�Director�of�Secretariat.�

�
12.2 In�discussion,�Members�suggested�that�the�Review�of�the�Funding�of�World�Pride�be�

undertaken�at�the�Committee’s�November�meeting�in�order�that�the�Committee�might�better�
influence�forthcoming�decisions�on�the�future�funding�of�the�event.�
�

12.3 Members�also�considered�whether�the�Deputy�Mayor�for�Education�and�Culture�should�be�
invited�to�the�GLA�Oversight�Committee�or�a�future�London�Assembly�(Plenary)�meeting�in�
order�to�consider�the�Mayor’s�work�in�the�area�of�education.��

�
12.4 Resolved:�

�
That
the
Committee’s
work
programme
for
2012/13
be
noted,
subject
to
the

inclusion
of
the
changes
proposed
by
Members
in
the
course
of
the
meeting
and

the
comments
made
and
recorded
above.






13. Date
of
Next
Meeting
(Item
13)�



13.1� The�next�meeting�of�the�Committee�would�be�held�on�28�November�2012�at�10am�in�

Committee�Room�5.�
�





14. Any
Other
Business
the
Chair
Considers
Urgent
(Item
14)�



14.1� There�was�no�other�urgent�business�requiring�consideration.�




Page 7



Greater
London
Authority

GLA
Oversight
Committee

Wednesday
24
October
2012


�

�
�



15. Close
of
Meeting�



15.1� The�meeting�finished�at�4.55pm.�





�
�
�
�
� � � �
Chair�� � Date�
�
Contact
Officer:
 John�Barry,�Senior�Committee�Officer;�Telephone:�020�7983�4425;�Email:�

john.barry@london.gov.uk;�Minicom:�020�7983�4458.�
�
�

Page 8



 

Appendix�1�

GLA�Oversight�Committee�–�24�October�2012�

�

Transcript�of�Item�5:�The�Mayor’s�Senior�Adviser,�Team�London,��

Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship�

�

�

�

Len�Duvall�(Chair):��If�we�can�formally�welcome�Veronica�Wadley,�the�new�Mayor’s�Advisor�for�

Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship.��Now,�Matthew�Patten�is�here�to�support�in�

terms�of�the�Mayor’s�Fund�--�

�

Matthew�Patten�(Chief�Executive,�Mayor’s�Fund�for�London):��The�Mayor’s�Fund�for�London.�

�

Len�Duvall�(Chair):��--�the�Mayor’s�Fund�in�that�sense�in�terms�of�supporting�you�in�answering�

questions.�

�

If�I�can�kick�off,�then,�with�the�first�question,�Veronica.�I�suppose�if�we�can�just�clear�up�some�earlier�

issues.��This�is�your�first�time�before�us.��Can�you�explain�to�us,�I�suppose,�your�arrival�here�and�if�we�can�

begin�by�going�back�into�a�bit�of�history�in�the�sense�of�your�previous�past�appointments,�your�

Arts�Council�appointments,�because�many�people�will�have�perceived�that�appointments�process�as�being�

a�bit�flawed�and�a�bit�farcical�in�terms�of�the�way�it�was�conducted.��You�have�now�arrived�here�in�

City�Hall.��You�were�an�editor�of�the�Evening�Standard�in�a�previous�life�that�ran�a�very�aggressive�

campaign�against�cronyism�and�friends�of�the�then�Mayor�being�appointed�to�jobs�such�as�you�have�here�

before�us.�

�

So�why�is�that�any�different�to�what�has�happened�in�the�past�with�Mayoral�appointments�in�terms�of�

some�of�the�issues�and�the�editorials�run�by�the�Evening�Standard�when�you�were�managing�that�

newspaper?��Why�is�that�any�different�and�how�would�you�challenge�the�issues�of�you�being�hypocritical�

by�taking�up�this�position?�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��First,�I�would�like�to�say�thank�you�very�much�for�inviting�me�to�join�you�today�and�I�will�answer�

the�questions�as�clearly�and�concisely�as�I�can.�

�

Regarding�my�appointment,�as�you�know,�it�was�a�Mayoral�appointment.��It�was�an�appointment�under�

the�terms�of�section�67�for�the�12�Mayoral�appointments�and�it�was�the�Mayor’s�decision�that�I�was�the�

person�who�was�best�suited�to�do�this�job.��I�have�the�capabilities�to�fulfil�the�job�description�and�that�

was�why�I�was�appointed.�

�

Len�Duvall�(Chair):��Sorry.��In�a�previous�life,�I�think�you�made�a�charge�against�the�Mayor�about�the�

process�of�these�appointments�and�about�the�Mayor’s�appointment�of�mates,�cronyism,�and�I�think�your�

insinuation�around,�in�particular�Lee�Jasper�[former�Senior�Policy�Advisor�on�Equalities�to�the�Mayor�of�

London],�at�that�time.��In�2008,�your�newspaper�ran�a�concerted�campaign�against�some�of�the�Mayoral�

advisors.�

�

Page 9



 

So,�in�that�sense,�is�there�an�issue�about�that?��Could�we�not�level�that�charge�at�you�in�terms�of�some�of�

your�circumstances�and�some�of�your�arrangements�with�the�Mayor?�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��Those�are�your�words,�Mr�Duvall.��I�do�not�know�what�you�are�driving�at�but�I�would�like�to�make�

clear�that�the�Evening�Standard�investigation�was�an�absolutely�valid�investigation�into�the�workings�of�

the�London�Development�Agency�(LDA).��When�a�journalist�presents�evidence�to�an�editor�which�is�then�

fully�supported�by�the�legal�advisors,�the�editor�then�has�to�make�a�decision�whether�or�not�to�publish�it.��

It�is�not�the�editor’s�job�to�suppress�an�investigation�by�one�of�its�journalists.�

�

Len�Duvall�(Chair):��I�suppose�for�the�record�we�should�say�that�the�Mayor�did�run�an�independent�

review�-�in�fact,�his�Chief�of�Staff�was�on�that�-�and�found�no�actions�against�Lee�Jasper.��The�police�

investigation,�which�I�think�of�course�had�information�coming�from�this�Assembly�as�well�as�from�your�

newspaper,�proved�no�criminal�actions�had�been�taken�as�well.�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��Mr�Duvall,�as�you�know�very�well,�just�because�there�is�not�a�police�action�does�not�necessarily�

mean�that�the�facts�written�in�an�investigation�are�not�true.�

�

Len�Duvall�(Chair):��OK.���

�

John�Biggs�(AM):��Do�you�think�that�character�assassination�is�a�valid�form�of�journalism?�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��I�would�not�describe�the�Evening�Standard’s�investigation�into�activities�at�the�LDA�as�character�

assassination.�

�

John�Biggs�(AM):��OK.��On�your�watch,�were�you�ever�critical�of�Boris�Johnson�[Mayor�of�London]?��I�

do�appreciate�that�you�are�probably�of�his�faith�and�therefore�may�be�well�suited�to�being�an�advisor�in�

his�Office,�but�previously�you�occupied�a�position�which�in�this�strange�system�does�not�require�balance�

but�is�seen�as�one�of�the�pillars�of�our�democracy.�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��Yes,�I�absolutely�understand�that�and�I�am�very�well�aware�of�the�principles�that�are�necessary,�

the�seven�principles�of�public�life.��I�have�read�those�and�I�am�willing�to�fulfil�those:�selflessness,�

integrity,�objectivity,�accountability,�openness,�honesty�and�leadership.�

�

John�Biggs�(AM):��I�guess�implicit�in�that�you�are�accepting�that�such�principles�did�not�apply�to�you�at�

the�Evening�Standard�but�they�do�apply�to�you�here.�

�

Tony�Arbour�(AM):��No,�she�did�not�say�that.�

�

Len�Duvall�(Chair):��Sorry.��Can�I�just�say�we�have�to�be�very�careful�about�questions�around�that.��My�

questions�were�about�what�has�changed�in�terms�of�Mayoral�appointments�and�the�insinuation�made�at�

that�time.��Could�the�same�insinuations�be�made�by�others�in�terms�of�your�relationship�with�

Boris�Johnson?��That�is�the�issue�in�terms�of�oversight�and�stances�taken.���

Page 10



 

�

Jennette�Arnold�(Deputy�Chair):��Can�I�ask�you,�Veronica,�if�you�can,�to�give�us�a�sense�of�the�

hierarchy�that�you�are�going�to�develop?��It�just�seems�to�me�that�you�have�this�huge�area�of�

responsibilities,�all�of�them�very�important.��There�is�the�work�of�Team�London.��There�is�volunteering�

and�the�relationship�with�London’s�huge�army�of�charities�and�sponsorship.��Where�does�that�start?�

�

So�I�would�just�like�to�get�a�sense�of�where�will�you�start?�What�is�the�most,�if�you�like,�critical�area�of�

work?��What�are�your�top�three�key�things�that�we�can�look�back�on�in�a�year’s�time,�maybe�when�we�

invite�you�back�again,�that�you�will�have�achieved?�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��Thank�you�very�much�for�that�question.��I�am�clear�that,�firstly,�I�must�deliver�a�vision�for�what�I�

feel�I�can�achieve�during�the�term�of�my�appointment.��I�will�then�find�the�strategy�and�the�delivery�

mechanisms�to�do�that,�the�team�to�support,�the�funding�to�support�and�then�the�communication�which�

will�allow�it�to�be�a�great�success,�I�hope.�

�

Of�the�three�key�areas,�I�would�say�delivering�an�Olympic�legacy�for�volunteering�is�extremely�important�

and�I�know�it�is�very�important�to�the�Mayor.��I�hope�it�is�very�important�to�everyone�else�here�today.��

Also,�working�alongside�and�supporting�the�Mayor’s�charities,�which�as�you�know�are�broadly�to�help�the�

least�advantaged�children�and�young�people�in�this�wonderful�city.��Thirdly,�through�the�sponsorship,�to�

encourage�and�see�what�I�can�do�to�help�maximise�investment�in�London�through�sponsorship�and�

through�philanthropy.�

�

Jennette�Arnold�(Deputy�Chair):��Thank�you.��Let�us�pick�up�on�volunteering,�a�huge�success�and�no�

one�will�argue�with�that.��What�I�would�have�a�problem�with�is�if�the�other�organisations�-�and�I�am�

talking�about�local�organisations�within�our�boroughs,�in�our�communities�-�if�they�somehow�did�not�get�

the�due�regard�or�the�success�of�the�volunteering.��So,�when�you�look�at�volunteering�and�that�legacy,�

do�you�accept�that�there�is�this�wide�stakeholder�group�that�you�will,�I�would�say,�be�required�to�work�

with�and�in�a�sense�not�start�in�your�visioning�to�reinvent�a�wheel�that�already�exists?�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��I�think�that�is�a�very�good�question�and�of�course�I�absolutely�recognise�that�the�most�fantastic�

work�is�done�in�all�the�communities�around�London.��The�volunteers�in�London�are�something�that�other�

cities�would�love�to�have�because�there�is�such�a�very�strong�tradition�in�the�communities�for�people�to�

volunteer�and�to�help�those�less�advantaged�and�for�social�action.��We�really�do�recognise�that�and�

anything�that�we�will�be�doing�now�in�phase�two�of�Team�London�will�be�helping�to�build�on�that.�

�

Also,�as�I�say,�it�is�very�important�to�build�on�the�Olympic�legacy�which�offered�us�a�new�form�of�

volunteering,�a�very�visible�form�of�volunteering�through�the�London�Ambassadors.��You�will�all�have�

seen�the�magenta�and�purple�shirts�and�uniforms�that�they�wore.�We�very�much�hope�that�we�will�be�able�

to�deploy�many�of�those�Ambassadors�and�indeed�increase,�perhaps,�the�number�of�Ambassadors�who�

are�able�to�work�across�London�at�sports�events�and�at�tourist�hotspots,�and�we�are�developing�

programmes�for�that�at�the�moment.�

�

Jennette�Arnold�(Deputy�Chair):��Just�one�more.��One�of�the�strengths,�I�thought,�of�the�

volunteering�cadre�-�and�I�was�fortunate�with�my�colleague�Darren�[Johnson]�that�we�had�the�two�tickets�

Page 11



 

to�go�and�we�did�go�all�across�London�-�was�the�diversity�there.��Across�London,�you�met�members�of�

London’s�diverse�communities�as�part�of�the�volunteering�cadre.��You�saw�women,�you�saw�elders,�you�

saw�clearly�people�with�disability.�

�

Can�we�have�your�assurance�here�today�that�you�will�seek�to�ensure�and�capture�that�diversity�of�

London’s�vast�diverse�communities�and�that�everybody�will�have�a�place�in�the�work�that�you�are�doing?�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��I�applaud�that�diversity�and�of�course�very�much�hope�that�it�will�be�part�of�the�volunteering�that�

goes�forward.�

�

Jennette�Arnold�(Deputy�Chair):��Thank�you.�

�

Darren�Johnson�(AM):��As�we�are�scene-setting�still,�could�you�just�say�a�little�bit�about�your�own�

experience�in�terms�of�volunteering?�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��Yes,�I�can�say�a�little�bit.��As�you�know,�I�have�more�than�30�years’�experience�as�an�executive,�as�

an�editor�and�as�a�chairman.��But�all�through�my�life�I�have�been�involved�in�volunteering�in�different�

ways,�as�a�child,�as�a�teenager,�as�a�student.��I�did�have�a�fairly�busy�life�in�the�middle�years,�as�I�think�a�

lot�of�you�perhaps�will�have�done�as�well,�because�I�was�working�fulltime�and�I�also�had�four�children�and�

I�also�had�two�elderly�parents�to�look�after,�so�perhaps�my�volunteering�efforts�were�focused�on�my�

family�in�that�period.�

�

I�am�now�in�a�position�to�be�able�to�volunteer.��I�am�a�school�governor.��I�am�the�trustee�-�on�a�pro�bono�

basis�of�course�-�of�two�charities.��I�additionally�give�advice�to�a�London�charity�called�the�Greenhouse�

Schools�Project,�which�offers�sports�and�arts�programmes�to�children�from�disadvantaged�backgrounds.�

�

Darren�Johnson�(AM):��I�can�perfectly�understand�how�someone�in�a�pressured,�high-profile�job�does�

not�have�a�lot�of�time�for�personal�volunteering�themselves.��However,�surely�you�would�have�had�some�

engagement�with�the�voluntary�sector�and�different�organisations�during�your�actual�career�as�a�news�

editor�and�before�that.��Could�you�just�explain?��At�the�moment,�there�just�seems�to�be�a�gap�between�

doing�stuff�at�school�and�university�and�then�post�the�Evening�Standard.��I�just�want�to�know�a�bit�more�

about�during�your�main�career�how�you�engaged�and�worked�with�the�voluntary�sector.�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��I�think�all�of�us�find�different�ways�of�adapting�our�work�and�our�life�to�do�as�much�as�we�can�for�

the�community�and�that�is�what�I�have�always�done.�

�

Darren�Johnson�(AM):��You�do�not�want�to�say�anything�more�about�particular�organisations�that�you�

may�have�worked�with�during�your�time�editing�the�Evening�Standard?�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��I�have�answered�your�question.�

�

Darren�Johnson�(AM):��OK.�

Page 12



 

�

Caroline�Pidgeon�(AM):��Looking�at�Team�London�as�a�programme,�over�£4.5�million�worth�of�funding�

and�£2�million�from�the�Reuben�Foundation�I�think�it�was,�and�a�lot�of�this�funding�came�to�an�end�in�

May.��I�think�if�you�look�at�it,�the�last�tweet�from�Team�London�was�26�September.��I�was�wondering.��

Has�there�been�a�loss�of�momentum�in�the�Team�London�brand�and�how�are�we�going�to�see�that�taken�

forward�in�the�future�or�are�you�going�to�set�up�some�other�brand?�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��No,�I�do�not�think�there�has�been�a�loss�of�momentum.��I�think�a�great�deal�was�achieved�in�a�

short�period�of�time�by�my�predecessor,�Lizzie�Noel�[former�Mayor’s�Adviser�for�Social�Action�and�

Volunteering].��I�think�the�very�generous�contribution�from�the�Reuben�Foundation�of�£2�million�made�a�

significant�difference�to�the�effectiveness�of�Team�London.��Also,�the�Bloomberg�Foundation�made�a�

considerable�contribution.�

�

There�has�not�been�a�loss�of�momentum�because�of�course�the�volunteering�during�the�Olympics�was�

very�high-profile�and�was�absolutely�part�of�what�Team�London�had�started�the�year�before.�

�

Caroline�Pidgeon�(AM):��OK,�but�in�terms�of�the�projects�that�have�finished,�are�you�going�to�be�

evaluating�them?��Which�ones�are�you�thinking�you�might�take�forward?�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��Evaluation�is�very�important.��Before�I�started�in�my�job�six�weeks�ago,�Jeff�Jacobs�[Head�of�Paid�

Service,�GLA]�very�wisely�commissioned�a�report�on�Team�London,�what�had�happened,�the�successes�

and�the�funding,�and�also�looked�at�how�philanthropy�had�played�a�role�and�how�sponsorship�had�played�

a�role.��It�included�the�work�of�the�charities.��That�piece�of�work�is�in�progress�at�the�moment�and�will�be�

delivered�to�the�Mayor�shortly,�and�I�hope�will�be�seen�by�this�Committee�in�due�course.�

�

Caroline�Pidgeon�(AM):��Are�there�any�particular�projects�that�you�have�seen�that�you�think�you�would�

like�to�take�forward�subject�to�trying�to�get�funding�whether�it�is�through�the�Mayor’s�Fund�or�another�

charitable�body?�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��There�are�two�points.��Yes,�there�are�a�lot�of�very�good�projects,�but�obviously�we�are�also�trying�

to�combine�the�very�best�from�the�Olympics.��What�we�are�doing�now�is�to�work�out�what�I�call�phase�

two�of�Team�London.�

�

On�the�second�point�you�made�about�funding,�yes,�of�course�funding�is�very�important.��The�GLA�is�

currently�reviewing�its�funding.��We�also�have�identified�£1.2�million�which�is�an�underspend�from�the�

Olympics�budget�within�the�GLA�and�I�hope�that�will�be�-�we�have�put�in�a�request,�actually,�to�the�

Secretary�of�State�for�Culture,�Media�and�Sport,�Maria�Miller,�to�ask�whether�that�money�could�now�be�

transferred�to�help�us�develop�the�Olympic�legacy�for�volunteering.�

�

Caroline�Pidgeon�(AM):��OK.��That�is�useful�to�know.��Part�of�the�success�for�volunteering�in�the�

future�is�going�to�be�working�closely�with�boroughs�because�there�are�an�awful�lot�of�people�who�

volunteer�locally�and�obviously�for�the�Olympics�they�were�volunteering�across�the�capital.��I�am�

Page 13



 

wondering�what�work�you�have�done�with�the�boroughs�or�what�work�you�are�planning�to�do�with�the�

boroughs�to�take�this�forward.�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��You�are�absolutely�right.��Boroughs�are�absolutely�critical.��It�is�part�of�the�DNA�of�London.��As�I�

said,�I�have�already�acknowledged�the�fantastic�volunteering�work�that�happens�in�the�London�boroughs.��

I�have�been�here�six�weeks�and�in�that�time�I�think�I�have�had�meetings�with�and�spoken�to�nearly�200�

people�and�that�includes�many�people�within�the�GLA.��It�includes�many�outside�stakeholders.��It�

includes�many�different�charities.��I�can�give�you�a�list�if�you�would�like,�but�I�can�assure�you�I�am�in�

conversation�with�a�great�many�people�about�how�we�can�go�forward.��It�is�a�period,�you�must�

understand,�of�assessing�what�has�been�achieved�so�far�and�working�out�how�best�to�build�on�that�for�

the�future.�It�has�been�for�me�a�period�of�listening,�taking�advice�from�the�enormous�number�of�people�

within�this�building�who�have�expertise�and�then�going�forward.�

�

Caroline�Pidgeon�(AM):��One�of�the�issues�I�have�had�fed�back�to�me�from�the�boroughs�is�that�they�

want�to�do�something�to,�as�it�were,�thank�the�volunteers�from�the�Games�in�their�borough�but�also�to�

point�them�at�local�volunteering�opportunities.��However,�there�has�been�a�block�in�terms�of�the�data.��

The�London�Organising�Committee�of�the�Olympic�and�Paralympic�Games�(LOCOG)�obviously�will�not�

just�give�them�a�list�of�names.��Is�there�a�way�you�will�be�able�to�help�facilitate�to�make�sure�we�do�not�

lose�those�people�who�may�want�to�do�some�stuff�working�in�their�local�borough?�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��You�are�absolutely�right.��Data�is�very�important.��There�are�two�sources�of�data.��There�is�the�

LOCOG�data�which�belongs�to�them�and�there�are�discussions�underway�about�the�future�of�that�data�

and�that�is�not�yet�known.��There�is�also�the�data�that�we�have�within�the�GLA�for�the�Team�London�

Ambassadors.�

�

Caroline�Pidgeon�(AM):��Are�you�going�to�be�trying�to�find�a�way�to�capture�that�LOCOG�data�so�we�

do�not�lose�it?�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��We�are�in�discussions�with�a�great�many�people�about�that�data.�

�

Caroline�Pidgeon�(AM):��Obviously�it�is�a�huge�amount�of�work.��You�are�doing�a�huge�amount�to�

cover.��How�many�hours�approximately�are�you�doing�a�week�at�the�moment�carrying�out�this�role?�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��It�is�hard�to�quantify�because�I�start�work�early�in�the�morning�and�I�usually�am�still�working�quite�

late�in�the�evening�but�I�do�have�other�responsibilities.�I�am�in�City�Hall�currently�five�days�a�week�to�try�

and�drive�the�programme�and�to�meet�as�many�people�as�possible,�to�hear�their�views�and�to�develop�the�

phase�two�for�Team�London.�

�

Andrew�Boff�(AM):��First�of�all,�welcome.��I�feel�like�we�are�old�pals�because�we�talk�so�much�about�

you�in�these�committees�and�yet�it�is�the�first�time�we�have�ever�met,�I�think.�

�

Page 14



 

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��I�hope�it�is�a�pleasant�experience.�

�

Andrew�Boff�(AM):��I�just�feel�I�know�you.��I�wanted�to�raise�one�thing�about�the�Olympics�volunteers�

and�I�will�read�from�a�letter�that�was�sent�to�me�about�this�from�somebody�-�and�I�want�your�reaction�to�

it�-�who�was�a�volunteer�and�thought�the�whole�Olympic�volunteer�in�London�and�the�Ambassadors�

programme�was�fantastic�and�they�thought�it�was�brilliant�and�they�were�part�of�it�and�spent�all�their�

time�doing�it.��She�has�said�to�me,�

�

“Can�you�do�anything�to�encourage�Boris�[Johnson]�and�Team�London�at�the�GLA�not�to�make�

the�mistake�of�trying�to�channel�us�into�local�voluntary�organisations?��I�fear�he�will�find�very�few�

of�us�do�so�and�it�could�be�embarrassing�to�him�and�the�team.��Many�of�us�already�do�the�sort�of�

volunteering�that�is�available�via�Team�London.��We�do�not�want�to�do�more�of�it.��We�want�to�

promote�London.”�

�

How�do�you�react�to�that�statement�about�what�people�were�volunteering�for�in�the�

London�Ambassadors�programme?�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��I�think�the�statement�is�very�valid.��I�think�people�volunteer�for�different�reasons�and�want�to�

volunteer�in�different�ways.��I�think�the�success�of�the�London�Ambassadors�programme�was�that�it�was�

perhaps�a�different�way�of�volunteering�at�sports�events�and�at�tourist�spots�in�London.�

�

Andrew�Boff�(AM):��Those�London�Ambassadors�promoted�a�particular�thing.��They�volunteered�

because�they�thought�it�was�promoting�London.��Do�you�not�think�it�might�be�a�mistake�if�we�then�make�

the�natural�assumption�that�they�are�going�to�volunteer�for�everything?��Actually,�people�do�not.��People�

do�not�say,�“I�am�a�volunteer”,�and�volunteer�for�everything.��They�have�a�specific�interest�that�they�

want�to�--�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��We�would�like�to�encourage�them�to�pursue�their�specific�interest.��There�is�very�interesting�

research,�which�I�am�sure�you�are�aware�of,�from�Manchester�and�how�the�Manchester�volunteering�

schemes�have�developed�post�the�[Commonwealth]�Games�there.�We�are�looking�at�that�and�we�are�

learning�from�it.�

�

Andrew�Boff�(AM):��Also,�there�is�one�other�thing.��Obviously,�Team�London�is�not�all�about�taxpayers’�

funds�going�into�volunteering�schemes.��It�is�about�encouraging�investment�from�other�bodies�as�well.��

This�kind�of�overlaps�what�Jennette�Arnold�was�saying�earlier.��It�is�going�to�be�very�high-profile�to�

invest�in�Team�London�with�the�Mayor’s�backing.��Do�you�feel�that�there�is�a�danger�that�we�might�be�

moving�sponsorship�around�from�existing�schemes�to�a�more�high-profile�scheme�or�that�companies,�for�

example,�might�feel�they�want�to�do�that�rather�than�encouraging�new�investment�in�volunteering�to�

come�forward?�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��I�think�it�is�important�to�maximise�funding�throughout�the�voluntary�sector.�

�

Page 15



 

Andrew�Boff�(AM):��That�is�a�super�response�because�the�word�is�“maximise”,�not�just�move�around�

what�is�existing.��How�do�you�feel�that�you�will�be�able�to�increase�that?��How�do�you�feel�you�will�be�

able�to�maximise�that?��What�is�the�sort�of�pitch�you�will�be�doing�to�big�companies�or�even�small�

companies?�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��I�think�that�is�absolutely�the�right�question�to�ask,�but�I�think�it�is�a�little�early�in�the�day.��I�have�

been�here�six�weeks.��We�have�not�yet�had�the�report�on�the�achievements�so�far�and�recommendations�

on�the�way�forward.��I�have�not�yet�written�and�presented�to�the�Mayor�of�London�my�strategy�

document.��I�have�not�yet�written�and�presented�my�delivery�document.�We�will�obviously�be�in�touch�

and�keep�you�informed�as�we�make�progress,�but�I�think�it�is�a�little�early�to�give�you�the�fine�detail.�

�

Len�Duvall�(Chair):��When�do�you�think�you�will�be�in�a�position�to�do�that?��I�am�not�holding�you�to�a�

specific�date,�but�what�period�of�time�do�you�think�you�will�be�ready�with�that�information?�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��I�would�certainly�hope�by�the�end�of�the�year�or�early�January�2013.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�(AM):��Good�afternoon.��I�see�you�do�have�a�very�wide�brief�here�and�I�am�looking�at�the�

job�description.��Under�3�it�says�that�you�are�going�“to�continue�to�build�brand�awareness�for�Team�

London,�including�the�mass�marketing�of�Mayoral�flagship�programmes”�and�it�goes�on�a�bit.�

�

The�brand�awareness�of�Team�London�is�currently�all�associated�with�the�Olympics�and�I�am�very�

interested�to�know,�and�I�accept�that�you�have�to�think�about�it�and�so�on,�but�I�do�not�think�you�would�

come�into�the�job�with�a�blank�mind.��I�just�wonder�what�you�think�and�how�you�are�going�to�do�the�

mass�marketing�of�Mayoral�flagships�and�what�would�you�cite�as�a�Mayoral�flagship�that�would�continue�

the�brand,�so�to�speak?�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��The�first�part�of�the�question�I�really�cannot�answer�at�this�stage�because�we�are�developing�our�

strategies�for�all�these�areas,�volunteering,�sponsorship�and�charities.��On�the�second�part�of�the�

question,�what�is�an�example�of�a�flagship,�the�Barclays�Bikes�obviously�are�an�example�of�a�flagship�

sponsorship.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�(AM):��That�could�be�associated�with�Team�London?�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��They�could�be�two�separate�things,�could�they�not?�

�

Nicky�Gavron�(AM):��So�actually�it�is�a�marketing�job�as�well?��Sorry.��I�know�Team�London�is�also�a�

form�of�marketing,�ie�it�is�not�just�the�volunteering,�it�is�also�marketing�schemes.�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��No.��My�job�title�is�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship.�

�

Jennette�Arnold�(Deputy�Chair):��Where�does�marketing�come�into�that?�

Page 16



 

�

Nicky�Gavron�(AM):��Where�does�marketing�come�in?�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��Marketing�is�not�part�of�my�brief.��Marketing�is�different�from�...�

�

Nicky�Gavron�(AM):��But�it�says�here,�“Including�mass�marketing�of�the�Mayoral�flagships”.�It�is�in�the�

job�description.�

�

John�Biggs�(AM):��It�says�marketing�of�Team�London,�I�think.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�(AM):��The�marketing�of�Barclays�Bikes�is�not�really�marketing�Team�London,�I�do�not�

think.�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��No.��Clearly,�when�Team�London�was�launched,�there�was�an�advertising�campaign�to�make�

people�aware�of�Team�London.��You�could�describe�that�as�the�marketing�of�Team�London.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�(AM):��Sure,�I�would,�but�I�thought�it�was�all�about�building�the�brand�and�marketing�

Team�London,�i.e.�the�volunteering�side�and�so�on,�the�Ambassadors�side.��Now�what�you�seem�to�be�

saying�is�it�is�also�about�marketing�Mayoral�flagships,�regardless�of�whether�there�are�any�volunteers�

involved.�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��Forgive�me,�I�have�not�said�that.��You�have�said�that.��I�have�said�it�is�about�sponsorship�for�

programmes�in�London�and�it�is�about�Team�London�and�finding�ways�to�convey�the�message�of�

Team�London�to�the�widest�possible�audience.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�(AM):��I�still�have�to�pin�you�down.��How�are�you�going�to�convey�the�message�about�

Team�London�-�let�us�just�take�the�example�you�have�given�us�-�when�you�are�promoting�the�bikes?�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��I�am�not�promoting�Team�London�when�I�am�promoting�the�bikes.��You�were�asking�for�examples�

of�where�there�had�been�sponsorship�in�projects�and�that�was�my�example.��I�have�answered�the�

question.��Team�London�will�be�promoted.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�(AM):��OK.��So�Team�London�is�part�of�your�promotion�job�and�promoting�Mayoral�

flagships�and�getting�the�sponsorship�or�promoting�the�corporate�sponsorship�is�another�part?�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��The�job�title�makes�clear�what�my�responsibilities�are.�

�

Jennette�Arnold�(Deputy�Chair):��It�does�not.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�(AM):��I�do�not�think�it�quite�does,�but�now�you�are�giving�us�some�clarity�about�how�

you�conceive�the�job.��Thank�you.�

Page 17



 

�

John�Biggs�(AM):��I�hope�we�have�a�wonderful�relationship,�by�the�way,�notwithstanding�the�hints�of�

aggression�that�may�come�into�it�from�time�to�time�given�our�different�roles.��Would�you�see�yourself�as�

essentially�being�a�political�advisor�under�section�67�[of�the�GLA�Act]?��I�think�the�role�seems�to�be�

defined�differently�depending�on�who�occupies�the�Mayoralty�and�who�occupies�the�position.�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��I�do�not�see�myself�as�a�political�advisor.��I�am�an�advisor�covering�the�areas�that�we�have�

identified�this�afternoon�which�are�Team�London,�volunteering,�charities�and�sponsorship.�

�

John�Biggs�(AM):��So�there�is�no�party�political�element�in�that?�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��That�is�not�in�my�job�title.�

�

John�Biggs�(AM):��So�there�is�no�party�political�element�within�that?�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��I�have�answered�the�question.�

�

John�Biggs�(AM):��I�think�historically�the�Mayor�would�tend�to�appoint�people�who�would�share�a�

similar�political�disposition�to�himself.��Would�you�think�that�that�is�a�statement�of�fact?��It�was�a�critique�

of�the�previous�Mayor,�I�think.�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��I�would�say�that�it�is�in�the�Mayor’s�prerogative�to�decide�whom�he�appoints.�

�

John�Biggs�(AM):��All�right.��The�next�question�is�about�your�role�in�the�Arts�Council.��I�will�put�it�to�

you�another�way,�then.��Given�that�you�occupy�this�position�which�is�essentially�a�personal�appointment�

to�the�Mayor�with�a�couple�of�checks�and�balances�on�it,�it�would�be�seen�as�a�political-type�role.��Do�

you�think�that�in�any�way�affects�your�role�as�Chair�of�the�Arts�Council�in�London?�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��I�was�appointed�Chair�of�the�Arts�Council�in�London�in�July�2010�and�that�role�is�not�affected�by�

my�appointment�to�be�a�Senior�Advisor.�

�

John�Biggs�(AM):��OK,�so�legally�not�affected.��Do�you�think�there�might�be�any�concerns�about�that�

role?�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��I�have�no�concerns.�

�

John�Biggs�(AM):��You�have�none?��OK.��I�appreciate�that.��Another�couple�of�questions.��The�first�is:�

you�have�responsibility�for�volunteering.��Do�you�have�a�disposition�as�regards�volunteering?��I�think�we�

all�agree�volunteering�is�a�good�thing�and�the�more�of�it�the�better.��But�in�a�time�of�budget�cutbacks�

Page 18



 

and�savings�and�services�being�scaled�back,�do�you�see�volunteering�as�being�a�substitute�for�services�

which�historically�would�have�been�provided�through�the�public�purse?�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��I�do�not�quite�understand�your�question.�

�

John�Biggs�(AM):��OK.��I�am�sure�you�do�understand�the�question,�but�if�a�service�is�cut�or�reduced�or�

its�scope�or�capacity�is�reduced�as�a�result�of�savings,�would�you�see�volunteering�as�being�a�useful�and�

valid�way�of�filling�the�space�created�by�that�cut?�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��Volunteers�are�added�value.��They�are�not�instead�of�people�being�employed�to�do�jobs,�if�that�is�

what�you�are�asking.�

�

John�Biggs�(AM):��So�that�is�a�clear�definition,�then.��OK.��Can�you�tell�us�what�your�relationship�is�with�

the�Mayor’s�Fund?��Not�a�personal�relationship�but�your�relationship�in�your�role�here.�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��In�my�role�here,�thank�you.��I�will�be�an�advisor�to�the�Mayor�about�the�development�of�the�three�

Mayoral�charities.��As�you�know,�the�Mayor�is�patron�of�the�Mayor’s�Fund�for�London,�the�Mayor’s�Fund�

for�Young�Musicians�and�the�Legacy�List.��I�will�act�as�an�advisor�to�him�to�ensure�that�we�maximise�the�

support�from�philanthropists�and�from�sponsorship�for�those�three�charities.�

�

John�Biggs�(AM):��OK.��There�are�some�interesting�questions�flowing�from�that�but�we�have�limited�

time,�so�perhaps�we�can�explore�those�offline�or�in�the�future�because�I�would�be�interested�to�see�how�

that�develops.�

�

Perhaps�there�is�a�bigger�question.��I�think�some�of�what�you�are�doing�replaces�some�work�which�was�

carried�out�by�Daniel�Ritterband�[former�Director�of�Marketing�and�2012�Communications]�on�

sponsorship.��How�do�you�see�the�challenges�being�for�sponsorship�in�the�current�economic�climate?�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��All�I�can�say�at�the�moment�is�the�whole�area�of�sponsorship�is�being�reviewed.��It�is�being�

reviewed.�

�

Len�Duvall�(Chair):��Can�we�just�clarify,�just�to�interrupt,�for�the�GLA�group�or�in�sponsorship�in�this�

building�for�GLA�activities?�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��I�beg�your�pardon?�

�

Len�Duvall�(Chair):��Sorry.��You�are�saying�it�is�being�reviewed.��Is�it�being�reviewed�across�the�GLA�

group�as�a�whole,�Transport�for�London�(TfL),�London�Fire�and�Emergency�Planning�Authority,�or�is�it�

just�in�this�building�being�reviewed�in�the�GLA?�

�

Page 19



 

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��The�review�that�is�being�carried�out�is�with�Jeff�Jacobs�on�the�way�in�which�support�for�the�

sponsorship�team�will�be�developed�over�the�next�term.�

�

John�Biggs�(AM):��Historically,�we�have�had�events�and�functions�for�which�we�source�sponsorship,�

such�as�sports�events�or�festivals.��You�are�saying�that�might�not�continue?�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��I�did�not�say�that.�

�

John�Biggs�(AM):��No,�I�am�asking�a�question.�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��I�said�that�sponsorship�is�being�reviewed.��That�means�we�are�looking�at�what�has�been�achieved�

and�we�are�working�out�the�way�forward.�

�

John�Biggs�(AM):��OK.��Does�that�imply�a�disappointment�with�performance�in�the�past?�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��It�does�not�imply�a�disappointment.�

�

John�Biggs�(AM):��Again,�it�is�a�question,�but�do�not�worry.��I�am�not�trying�to�trip�you�up.�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��It�does�not�imply�a�disappointment.��I�think�that�because�you�review�it�does�not�mean�you�are�

disappointed.��It�is�to�understand�better�and�how�to�do�even�better.�

�

John�Biggs�(AM):��But�there�must�have�been�something�that�precipitated�the�review.�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��The�review�that�is�being�done�in�the�area�that�I�am�responsible�for�is�a�review�so�that�we�can�

understand�better�what�has�been�done�and�what�has�been�achieved�and�how�best�to�move�forward.�

�

John�Biggs�(AM):��Again,�I�am�not�trying�to�trip�you�up�or�anything.��You�have�come�into�this�post.��

One�of�your�responsibilities�is�sponsorship�and�you�have�said,�“It�would�not�be�a�bad�idea�for�us�to�

review�this�to�make�sure�that�we�are�doing�the�right�sort�of�things”.��Is�that�the�sort�of�framework�within�

which�this�is�happening?�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��I�have�answered�your�question.��I�have�made�clear�that�there�is�a�review�to�understand�what�has�

been�achieved�in�the�past�and�how�we�can�do�even�better�in�the�future.�

�

John�Biggs�(AM):��So�this�is�your�review.�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��No,�it�is�not�my�review.��A�review�is�being�carried�out�to�review�sponsorship.�

Page 20



 

�

John�Biggs�(AM):��At�your�request?�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��No,�not�at�my�request.��Jeff�Jacobs�initiated�a�review�of�all�the�areas�for�which�I�am�responsible�

before�I�arrived�in�this�building.�

�

John�Biggs�(AM):��All�right.��So,�as�part�of�the�creation�of�your�post,�a�review�was�started�into�the�

functions�of�your�post�which�was�not�concluded�prior�to�your�appointment�to�the�post�so�we�are�not�

actually�sure�what�the�post�is.��Again,�I�am�not�trying�to�trip�you.��I�am�just�trying�to�understand�this.�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��The�review�was�commissioned�prior�to�my�appointment,�forgive�me,�prior�to�my�arrival�on�

10�September.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�(AM):��Since�so�much�of�Team�London�was�outward-facing�-�in�terms�of�it�was�really�

important�to�international�visitors�and�in�fact�even�to�people�who�did�not�visit�us�because�it�was�so�

obvious�that�it�was�so�successful�-�I�am�just�thinking�now,�tying�it�up�with�your�post�as�Chair�of�the�

Arts�Council’s�board,�whether�you�can�see�a�tie-up�with�your�role�and�the�tourism�part�of�our�promotion�

of�tourism�and�also�with�London’s�cultural�offer.�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��You�are�absolutely�right�that�tourism�is�very�important�to�London�and�so�is�culture.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�(AM):��In�a�sense,�I�often�see�the�tourist�industries�as�a�by-product,�basically,�of�the�

cultural�offer.��The�big�thing�is�the�heritage�and�cultural�offer�that�London�has.��I�am�just�wondering�how�

you�might�think�about�that.�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��I�think�I�absolutely�agree�that�the�culture�in�this�city�is�probably�the�greatest�of�any�in�the�world.�

�

John�Biggs�(AM):��See,�this�is�the�frustration�I�had!�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��It�is�a�driving�factor�that�brings�people�to�London.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�(AM):��Yes,�but�it�might�be�something�that�you�can�promote,�maybe,�in�your�role.�

�

John�Biggs�(AM):��The�frustration�that�I�had�with�my�answers�and�it�has�followed�with�Nicky’s�-�and�

this�may�just�be�your�style,�which�you�are�entitled�to�have�-�is�your�answers�seem�to�be�very�closed�and�it�

is�quite�hard�to�elucidate�more�of�the�thinking�behind�them.��There�is�a�review.��Presumably�you�would�

have�some�influence�in�your�role�over�that�review,�but�you�choose�not�to�share�it�with�us�because�it�is�

being�carried�out�by�officers.��But�I�would�see�it�as�being�a�review�over�which,�if�I�was�Mayor,�I�would�

expect�you�to�have�some�oversight,�so�I�find�it�a�bit�convoluted.�

�

Page 21



 

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��That�is�your�opinion.�

�

John�Biggs�(AM):��No,�well,�it�is�my�experience.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�(AM):��I�am�just�trying�to�open�up�where�this�Team�London�and�this�brand�and�this�

marketing�could�go.��I�can�see,�in�a�time�when�we�are�very�strapped,�that�London’s�cultural�offer�could�

be�tied�up�with�your�role.�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��All�I�can�say�is�all�ideas�are�welcome.�

�

Tony�Arbour�(AM):��It�is�comparatively�easy�to�understand�why�it�was�that�there�was�such�a�fantastic�

response�for�volunteers�in�the�Olympics:�lots�of�national�publicity,�lots�of�national�pride,�lots�of�national�

prestige�and�everyone�wanted�a�part�of�it.��How�do�you�transfer�that�to�London?��We�are�Londoners.��

Some�of�us,�if�we�are�asked�where�we�live,�might�even�say�we�live�in�London.��But�I�guess�many�of�your�

volunteers�from�London,�if�they�were�asked�where�they�live,�would�not�actually�identify�themselves�with�

London.��They�would�say,�“I�live�in�Romford”,�or,�“I�live�in�Kingston”,�or,�“I�live�in�Hounslow”.��London,�

again,�I�would�say�to�us�and�undoubtedly�to�you�is�the�most�wonderful�place�on�earth�and�other�clichés.��

How�are�you�going�to�transfer�that�great�charismatic�effect�of�volunteering�in�the�Olympic�Games�to�

volunteering�for�London?�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��That�is�the�job�that�I�have�to�do�and�when�we�have�worked�out�exactly�what�the�phase�two�of�

Team�London�will�be,�we�will�be�able�to�share�that�with�you.�

�

Tony�Arbour�(AM):��Come�on.��You�must�have�thought�about�that.��That�must�have�been�the�

immediate�challenge�when�Boris�[Johnson]�approached�you.��On�the�assumption�that�he�did�say�to�you,�

“Would�you�like�to�think�about�it”,�I�guess�there�must�have�been�a�thinking�moment�between�the�time�it�

was�mentioned�to�you�and�the�time�you�took�it�up.��You�must�have�seen�that�as�being�a�great�challenge.�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��As�I�said�right�at�the�beginning�of�this�conversation,�delivering�a�legacy�for�volunteering�is�

absolutely�central�to�my�role.�

�

Tony�Arbour�(AM):��But�you�must�have�thought�to�yourself�either�(a),�“It�is�impossible”,�or�(b),�as�you�

clearly�did,�“It�is�possible.��I�can�do�it�by�doing�this�and�that”.��I�want�to�know�what�this�and�that�is.�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��I�have�referred�already�to�the�ideas�which�will�be�rolled�out�during�the�course�of�the�coming�

months�to�encourage�volunteers�to�continue�to�work�at�sporting�events�and�in�London�tourism�hotspots.��

I�have�mentioned�those.�

�

Tony�Arbour�(AM):��You�actually�have�not�specified.��For�example,�are�they�going�to�wear�uniforms?�

�

Page 22



 

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��They�will�be�wearing�uniforms.��The�uniforms�that�they�have�they�will�be�wearing�until�the�end�of�

the�year�and�then�they�will�be�reviewed.��They�have�a�licence�from�LOCOG�to�continue�wearing�those�

uniforms�until�the�end�of�the�year.�

�

Tony�Arbour�(AM):��So�there�is�going�to�be�some�sort�of�London�badging?�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��I�did�not�say�that.�

�

Tony�Arbour�(AM):��If�they�are�going�to�wear�a�uniform,�then�presumably�they�will�need�to�be�

identified.��The�point�I�am�driving�at,�Veronica,�is�that�it�is�manifestly,�even�to�amateurs�like�us�sitting�

around�this�table,�going�to�be�much�more�difficult�to�enrol�volunteers�for�London,�which�is�a�much�more�

amorphous�thing,�than�for�the�Olympics.��Would�you�agree�with�that�proposition?�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��I�think�some�people�volunteer�for�London�and�I�think�some�people�volunteer�for�their�local�

communities.�

�

Tony�Arbour�(AM):��I�very�rarely�agree�with�my�colleagues�here,�but�you�are�kind�of�closing�off�any�

kind�of�discussion�at�all.�

�

Len�Duvall�(Chair):��We�will�keep�trying.��

�

Steve�O’Connell�(AM):��I�will�give�you�the�opportunity�of�being�a�bit�more�discursive�in�the�debate.��

Talking�about�YOU�Matter,�a�uniformed�group�project,�for�which�I�must�admit�the�gestation�came�out�of�

Croydon,�I�am�proud�to�say.��The�funding�for�that�has�been�very�welcomed�across�the�border,�in�London,�

different�groups.��Different�ethnic�groups�are�very�excited�about�it.��It�has�been�a�success.��I�will�not�say�

it�is�as�much�a�success�as�it�could�have�been.��Funding�runs�out,�I�believe,�in�2014.��How�are�you�going�to�

ensure�sustainability�or�are�you�going�to�ensure�sustainability?��What�are�your�thoughts�about�the�

project?�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��I�am�delighted�that�you�see�YOU�Matter�as�a�success�and�obviously�it�will�be�reviewed�among�

many�other�projects�as�we�go�forward.�

�

Steve�O’Connell�(AM):��That�does�not�give�me�a�lot�of�reassurance,�I�have�to�say.��We�will�keep�

probing.��We�talked�about�flagship�projects.��It�has�been�very�much�a�flagship�project�for�the�Mayor.��It�

has�been�a�great�success.��It�has�been�embraced�by�groups.��It�would�be�wrong�and�it�would�not�be�

welcomed�out�there�for�the�Mayor�to�lead�all�these�groups�up�the�hill�and�then�desert�them�two-thirds�of�

the�way�up.��Surely�you�could�be�a�bit�more�positive?�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��As�I�say,�I�am�delighted�it�has�been�such�a�success.��If�it�has�been�such�a�success,�it�will�obviously�

be�reviewed�favourably.��However,�I�cannot�anticipate�what�will�happen�in�the�future�because�we�are�

currently�doing�a�review.�

Page 23



 

�

Steve�O’Connell�(AM):��If�I�can�urge�you�on�behalf�of�other�Assembly�Members�who�I�think�are�great�

supporters�of�this�project,�it�has�been�a�success�on�the�ground.��There�is�still�room�for�improvement.��We�

need�to�encourage�more�adult�volunteers.��There�has�been�a�success�record�about�new�uniformed�groups�

rising�in�the�boroughs�and�we�want�more�of�that;�so�if�I�could�just�run�that�one�up�the�flagpole�and�

perhaps�you�could�note�that�in�your�review.�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��Thank�you�very�much�for�drawing�my�attention�to�it�and�I�will�make�sure�I�learn�even�more�about�

it�and�will�come�back�to�you�in�due�course.��Thank�you.�

�

Steve�O’Connell�(AM):��Good.��Thank�you,�Chair.�

�

Caroline�Pidgeon�(AM):��Just�a�couple�of�follow-ups.��On�specific�sponsorship,�I�am�getting�really�

confused�about�your�role.��Are�you�there�to�look�for�sponsorship�opportunities,�to�fund�some�of�these�

volunteering�and�other�programmes,�or�is�it�to�do�sponsorship�across�all�of�the�GLA�group�including�TfL�

and�all�of�the�other�things,�sponsorship�of�fire�engines,�sponsorship�of�bikes,�cable�cars�or�whatever,�or�is�

it�just�additional�funding�to�sponsor�and�help�support�some�of�these�other�programmes�that�you�are�

leading�on?�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��It�is�certainly�to�help�support�these�programmes�which�we�have�already�discussed.��But�as�I�have�

said,�there�is�a�review�of�sponsorship�across�all�areas�of�the�work�and�that�will�be�carried�out�and�we�will�

hear�the�outcome.�

�

Caroline�Pidgeon�(AM):��You�may�well,�depending�on�the�outcome�of�this�-�there�are�an�awful�lot�of�

reviews�going�on,�so�perhaps�Jeff�Jacobs�can�clarify�all�the�reviews�and�who�is�doing�them�-�but�you�may�

well�out�of�all�of�this�have�a�role�in�wider�sponsorship,�not�just�these�specific�projects.�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��I�cannot�at�this�stage�answer�that�because�--�

�

Caroline�Pidgeon�(AM):��You�might�because,�“Yes,�I�could”,�could�be�an�answer.�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��No,�because�the�review�is�being�done�and�we�will�find�out�what�the�outcome�of�the�review�is.�

�

Caroline�Pidgeon�(AM):��My�other�question,�bearing�in�mind�we�have�Matthew�[Patten,�Chief�

Executive,�Mayor’s�Fund�for�London]�here,�is�that�you�have�this�role�and�you�mentioned�three�charities.��

The�Mayor’s�Fund�for�London�is�the�one�that�you�are�most�aware�of.��It�says�in�this�job�description,�

“Supporting�the�charity�to�continue�to�deliver�its�key�priorities”.��Are�you�happy�with�the�priorities�of�the�

Mayor’s�Fund�or�are�you�looking�to�shift�them?��Some�of�them�have�been�focused�around�particularly�

geographic�parts�of�London,�so�east�London,�and�literacy�and�so�on.��Is�that�where�you�want�to�keep�the�

focus?��Do�you�want�to�spread�that�across�more�of�London?��Do�you�want�to�actually�change�the�area?�

�

Page 24



 

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��I�would�point�out�that,�as�you�know,�these�are�three�independent�charities.��They�are�chaired�and�

they�have�boards�of�trustees�and�it�is�up�to�the�chairman�and�the�board�of�trustees�to�decide�the�

direction�of�their�charities.��I�will�be�there�as�an�advisor�to�help�in�any�way�that�I�can�so�that�they�can�

maximise�their�fundraising�and�their�sponsorship.�

�

Caroline�Pidgeon�(AM):��So,�in�“supporting�the�charity�to�continue�to�deliver�its�key�priorities”,�it�is�up�

to�the�charity�what�the�priorities�are�and�you�are�there�to�help�perhaps�secure�additional�funding�or�

advise.��Is�that�right?�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��Yes.��As�you�know,�Matthew�joined�the�Mayor’s�Fund�16�days�ago.�

�

Matthew�Patten�(Chief�Executive,�Mayor’s�Fund�for�London):��Yes,�day�16.��I�was�not�actually�

aware�that�I�was�going�to�be�sitting�on�this�Committee.��I�came�to�observe,�so�it�is�very�nice�to�be�here.��

The�Mayor’s�Fund�for�London�is�an�independent,�apolitical�organisation.��It�has�its�own�governance�

structure�and�its�own�board�of�trustees.�

�

I�have�to�say�from�my�personal�point�of�view�as�Chief�Executive�that�the�relationship�with�the�GLA�in�

particular�is�absolutely�central�to�what�it�is�trying�to�achieve.�Its�aim�or�its�vision�is�a�future�where�no�

young�Londoner�grows�up�to�find�themselves�in�disadvantage.��To�that�extent,�our�charitable�mission,�for�

those�of�you�who�do�not�know,�is�about�helping�young�Londoners�to�find�the�skills�and�opportunities�to�

get�a�decent�job,�a�decent�job�being�the�path�out�of�disadvantage.��To�that�extent,�like�Veronica,�I�have�

had�a�lot�of�conversations�with�people�in�this�organisation�and�outside.��To�date�-�and�I�would�be�

interested�to�hear�the�Committee’s�point�of�view�-�everybody�has�been�very,�very�focused�and�supportive�

of�that�agenda,�not�least�because�it�reflects�a�lot�of�other�social�agendas�that�the�GLA�champions,�which�

is�everything�-�as�we�saw�last�Friday�-�from�education�to�poverty�to�health�to�justice,�you�name�it,�so�we�

see�ourselves�as�being�central�in�that�space.�

�

I�would�say,�and�I�think�I�will�say,�that�in�terms�of�our�experience�dealing�with�the�Mayor’s�new�advisor�

who�is�also�a�new�role�has�actually�been�really�constructive.��I�have�no�reason�to�say�that�but�it�has�been�

in�two�ways.��First,�I�am�very�new�and�it�has�been�excellent�to�find�somebody�within�the�organisation�who�

is�a�central�person�who�can�help�steer�the�way�through�that�and�who�represents�a�more�corporate�view,�I�

suppose,�of�our�role�and�our�relationship�with�this�organisation�as�opposed�to�obviously�the�individual�

points�of�view�of�the�other�deputy�mayors,�the�officers�and�all�those�sorts�of�things,�so�that�has�been�

really�helpful.�

�

The�second�thing�is�-�and�I�take�the�point�that�you�have�been�asking�about�the�specifics�of�the�job�

description�and�the�background�and�things�like�that�-�but�for�us�as�an�organisation�areas�such�as�

sponsorship�and�fundraising�are�really,�really�important.��We�do�not�receive�any�funds�from�the�GLA.��We�

are�a�self-sustaining�organisation�and�our�relationships�with�corporates,�with�individual�donors�and�with�a�

whole�range�of�entities,�trusts�and�foundations�are�central�to�achieving�what�we�want�to�achieve.��We�are�

very�ambitious�to�do�more�on�that�basis�and�I�believe�that�will�really�help�the�ambitions�of�this�

organisation�and�you�sitting�around�the�Committee.�

�

Page 25



 

Len�Duvall�(Chair):��OK.��Within�that,�I�think�you�stressed�in�the�opening�statement�the�independence�

and�the�crucial�relationship�between�your�charity,�this�organisation�and�the�new�post�that�has�been�

developed�as�an�interface.��Albeit�you�have�both�been�in�a�short�period�of�time,�how�do�you�square�the�

issues�around�that�independence?��What�are�the�no-go�zones?��How�do�you�manage�those�relationships�

that�do�not�sort�of�cross�the�boundaries�because�you�are�independent,�are�you�not,�and�you�are�your�

own�entity.�

�

Matthew�Patten�(Chief�Executive,�Mayor’s�Fund�for�London):��That�is�a�really�good�question,�

actually.�

�

Len�Duvall�(Chair):��What�is�your�thinking�of�that�at�the�initial�stages?��Both�of�you�have�virtually�

come�--�

�

Matthew�Patten�(Chief�Executive,�Mayor’s�Fund�for�London):��We�have�just�landed.�

�

Len�Duvall�(Chair):��You�have�just�landed,�so�how�are�you�going�to�manage�those�relationships?�

�

Matthew�Patten�(Chief�Executive,�Mayor’s�Fund�for�London):��I�think�it�is�a�really�good�question.��

I�think�it�is�probably�easier�for�me�to�answer�in�the�sense�that�our�articles�of�association�are�very�clear�

and�the�lines�of�governance�are�very,�very�clear.�I�am�personally�responsible�to�my�board�of�trustees.��On�

my�board�of�trustees,�in�this�case,�Veronica�comes�and�sits�on�that�in�an�ex�officio�role,�so�there�as�an�

observer�but�in�terms�of�the�governance�of�the�organisation�has�no�role�beyond�that.�

�

Again,�we�are�called�the�Mayor’s�Fund�for�London.��Our�ambition�is�London-wide,�not�just�in�specific�

areas,�although�we�do�focus�on�areas�of�specific�need.��In�terms�of�achieving�our�goals�and�objectives,�

being�seated�in�the�middle�of�this�extraordinary�factory�is�a�tremendous�benefit�for�us�in�terms�of�

achieving�those�goals.��We�would�not�be�fulfilling�our�charitable�obligations�and�public�benefit�if�we�were�

not�to�try�and�maximise�that.��That,�to�be�honest,�has�nothing�to�do�with�my�relationship�with�Veronica.��

It�is�everything�to�do�with�conversations�with�Munira�[Mirza,�Advisor�on�Culture�and�Youth,�Mayor’s�

Office]�about�education�or�Simon�Cooper�[Sports�Manager,�Mayor’s�Office]�about�sport�or�anything�

which�I�think,�or�my�organisation�thinks,�is�going�to�enhance�young�Londoners�having�the�skills�and�

opportunities�to�find�a�decent�job.�

�

Len�Duvall�(Chair):��Thank�you.��

�

Darren�Johnson�(AM):��On�this�issue�of�sponsorship,�I�think�the�Assembly�clearly�realises�that�there�are�

real�benefits�and�advantages�from�accessing�sponsorship�funding�that�would�not�ordinarily�come�from�

the�public�sector,�especially�as�money�is�so�tight�at�the�moment.��But�I�think�we�also�realise�-�and�the�

Mayor�does�as�well�now�-�that�there�are�some�constraints�to�this�type�of�sponsorship�that�is�appropriate�

for�particular�activities.��TfL�have�revised�their�sponsorship�policy�in�the�light�of�some�of�the�recent�

controversies.��I�am�wondering�if�you�have�a�framework�that�you�are�working�to�in�terms�of�sponsorship.�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��It�is�early�days,�Darren.��I�have�explained�that�this�whole�area�is�being�reviewed.��As�you�know,�

TfL�has�established�a�commercial�directorate�over�the�last�12�months�and�the�GLA�is�working�very�closely�

with�his�team,�so�that�is�all�part�of�the�knowledge�that�we�have�to�go�forward.�

Page 26



 

�

Darren�Johnson�(AM):��Do�you�intend�to�adopt�a�policy,�whether�it�is�the�same�as�TfL’s�or�different�

given�that�it�is�a�different�type�of�organisation,�on�sponsorship?��For�example,�whilst�we�see�the�impact�

of�private�sector�funding,�there�would�be�some�problems.��You�would�not�want�Ann�Summers�sex�shops�

sponsoring�a�thing�for�the�Girl�Guides,�for�example,�so�there�are�limits�and�constraints.�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��You�are�absolutely�right.��The�sponsorship�must�be�appropriate.�

�

Darren�Johnson�(AM):��So�you�are�committing�to�drawing�up�a�clear�policy�on�that,�then?�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��I�have�answered�the�question.��You�are�absolutely�right�that�sponsorship�must�be�appropriate.�

�

Darren�Johnson�(AM):��But�determining�appropriateness�could�be�helped�if�there�was�a�clear�policy�

that�was�agreed.�

�

Matthew�Patten�(Chief�Executive,�Mayor’s�Fund�for�London):��Again,�it�is�probably�easier�for�me�

because,�as�I�say,�we�are�independent.��But�we�definitely�do�have�a�clear�policy�in�terms�of�sponsorship.��

Some�sponsorship�definitely�is�not�appropriate.��We�work�with�young�people,�so�tobacco�brands�and�

things�like�that,�for�example,�would�be�an�absolute�no-go.��Beyond�that,�our�relationship�with�the�GLA�

means�that�we�definitely�have�to�be�sensitive�to�other�organisations�with�whom�we�may�choose�to�align�

ourselves�but�may�be�difficult�or�embarrassing�or�whatever.��Again,�we�want�to�be�active�partners�on�

that,�so�our�policy�would�be�to�be�consultative�about�it,�which�I�think�is�really�the�policy�that�Veronica�

has�brought�to�the�table,�as�opposed�to�acting�in�isolation.�

�

Darren�Johnson�(AM):��But�you�will�obviously�take�account�of�other�policies�that�are�adopted�within�

the�GLA�group?�

�

Matthew�Patten�(Chief�Executive,�Mayor’s�Fund�for�London):��Absolutely.��Definitely.�

�

Darren�Johnson�(AM):��Thank�you.�

�

John�Biggs�(AM):��On�the�Mayor’s�Fund,�following�Len’s�question�about�the�sensitivities�and�the�

dividing�lines,�if�you�like,�clearly�the�Mayor’s�Fund�benefits�from�having�the�kudos�of�the�Mayor’s�name�

alongside�it�and�it�might�attract�interest�that�it�might�not�attract�otherwise.��Indeed,�the�Mayor�may�use�

his�contacts�to�help�direct�people�towards�the�fund,�as�may�Ms�Wadley.�

�

But�we�need�to�be�clear�whether�it�is�the�fund�that�bears�the�name�of�the�Mayor�or�the�Mayoralty�rather�

than�the�Mayor’s�Fund.��Obviously�you�are�not�responsible�for�what�other�people�say,�but�if�

Boris�Johnson�was�to�say,�“This�is�my�fund”,�he�would�not�technically�be�correct�because�it�is�not�his�

fund�in�any�sense�of�control.�

�

Matthew�Patten�(Chief�Executive,�Mayor’s�Fund�for�London):��Again,�my�personal�view�about�that�

is�to�agree�with�both�things�I�think�you�said.��The�first�thing�I�would�say�is�the�fund�is�actually�about�the�

Mayor’s�Office,�not�the�individual.��Certainly�part�of�my�recruitment�and�one�of�the�questions�I�have�

Page 27



 

been�asked�and�posed�is�about�the�sustainability�of�the�fund.��That�was�certainly�a�question�during�the�

last�election.��If�there�was�a�change,�what�would�that�mean?��From�my�point�of�view,�thinking�three�to�

four�years’�time,�obviously�my�absolute�commitment�is�that�this�fund�grows�and�grows�with�the�Mayor’s�

Office�as�opposed�to�with�the�individual.�

�

Having�said�that,�I�think�it�would�be�naïve�to�say�that�whoever�is�Mayor�at�the�time�does�not�have�a�

significant�impact�in�terms�of�the�performance�of�the�fund�it�carries.�From�the�outside�world�looking�in,�

the�Mayor�and�the�GLA�are�very�closely�identified�with�the�fund.��So�it�is�very�important,�I�would�argue,�

again�in�achieving�our�public�benefit�aims�and�things�like�that,�that�the�Mayor�is�a�supporter�of�the�aims�

and�ambitions�of�the�fund,�making�a�difference�to�young�people�and�also,�when�it�is�appropriate,�he�is�

able�to�talk�about�the�fund�in�a�positive�way.��That�happened�at�the�launch�of�the�education�paper.��

There�were�a�couple�of�third�sector�organisations�who�got�up�and�spoke�and�the�Mayor�was�able�to�point�

to�the�Mayor’s�Fund�as�an�organisation�that�was�making�a�difference�in�their�world.��That�seemed�like�a�

very�positive�and�constructive�thing�to�do.�

�

John�Biggs�(AM):��OK.��That�is�very�helpful�and�forms�a�useful�part�of�the�record�of�our�conversation.��I�

have�one�other�question,�which�is�just�for�completeness.��I�think�you�said�that�the�fund�stands�alone,�but�

I�think�that�the�Mayor�has�a�power�of�nomination�of�one�or�two�trustees,�though�not�to�the�extent�that�

he�can�control�the�trust.��Secondly,�you�have�the�benefit�of�free�accommodation�at�City�Hall�I�think�as�

well.��Neither�of�those�can�be�viewed�as�controlling�patronage�by�the�Mayor�but�they�are�linked.�

�

Matthew�Patten�(Chief�Executive,�Mayor’s�Fund�for�London):��I�just�need�to�correct�you�because�

your�statement�is�not�actually�correct,�not�in�our�case.�

�

John�Biggs�(AM):��Even�I�get�things�wrong�from�time�to�time,�strangely.�

�

Matthew�Patten�(Chief�Executive,�Mayor’s�Fund�for�London):��I�cannot�speak�for�other�charities�

and�I�think�it�is�different.��In�our�case,�the�Mayor�has�the�absolute�right�to�nominate�one�person�to�sit�on�

the�board�in�an�ex�officio�capacity,�which�in�this�case�is�a�special�advisor.�

�

John�Biggs�(AM):��So�they�are�not�a�trustee?�

�

Matthew�Patten�(Chief�Executive,�Mayor’s�Fund�for�London):��Yes.��That�is�my�understanding�and�

I�will�double-check�that.�

�

John�Biggs�(AM):��An�observer,�in�other�words?�

�

Matthew�Patten�(Chief�Executive,�Mayor’s�Fund�for�London):��Yes,�exactly�right.�

�

John�Biggs�(AM):��I�seem�to�recall,�though,�did�the�Mayor�nominate�Sir�Trevor�Chinn�as�a�chair�at�some�

stage�or�something?�

�

Matthew�Patten�(Chief�Executive,�Mayor’s�Fund�for�London):��Sir�Trevor�Chinn�was�the�Chairman�

of�the�Mayor’s�Fund�for�London,�but�he�was�not�nominated�by�the�Mayor.��He�reports�to�the�board�of�

trustees.��The�second�thing,�in�terms�of�our�accommodation�within�City�Hall,�I�am�disappointed�to�tell�

you�that�we�pay�for�it.�

Page 28



 

�

John�Biggs�(AM):��OK.��So�am�I,�actually.�That�would�be�a�valid�gift.�

�

Matthew�Patten�(Chief�Executive,�Mayor’s�Fund�for�London):��We�would�love�not�to�pay�for�it,�

but�I�am�afraid�we�do.��We�pay�for�the�services�as�well.�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��If�I�could�clarify�on�the�other�point�relating�to�the�Mayor’s�Fund�for�Young�Musicians,�they�also�

pay�rent�to�be�in�the�building.��They�have�space�here.��You�are�absolutely�right.��There�is�a�Mayoral�

appointment�to�the�board�of�trustees�of�the�Mayor’s�Fund�for�Young�Musicians.��He�is�one�of�the�

trustees.�

�

John�Biggs�(AM):��Thank�you.�

�

Jennette�Arnold�(Deputy�Chair):��To�Matthew,�can�I�welcome�you�to�your�position?�

�

Matthew�Patten�(Chief�Executive,�Mayor’s�Fund�for�London):��Thank�you.�

�

Jennette�Arnold�(Deputy�Chair):��And�can�I�put�on�record�my�thanks�to�your�predecessor�for�the�

excellent�work�he�did�that�I�know�about�in�my�constituency�which�covers�Hackney,�Islington�and�

Waltham�Forest.�

�

Matthew�Patten�(Chief�Executive,�Mayor’s�Fund�for�London):��I�went�and�had�a�Magic�Breakfast�

at�one�of�your�schools�this�morning.�

�

Jennette�Arnold�(Deputy�Chair):��Was�that�Elizabeth�Garrett�Anderson�School?�

�

Matthew�Patten�(Chief�Executive,�Mayor’s�Fund�for�London):��It�was�Sebright�School.�

�

Jennette�Arnold�(Deputy�Chair):��They�are�a�magical�constituency,�so�keep�coming.�

�

John�Biggs�(AM):��Is�that�mine?�

�

Jennette�Arnold�(Deputy�Chair):��No,�it�is�mine,�Sebright,�yes.��It�is�on�the�border�in�northeast�

London.��So�I�know�about�the�work�and�I�have�been�and�continue�to�be�a�supporter�of�the�work�of�the�

fund�because�I�have�seen�how�it�has�added�that�difference�to�schools.�Especially�the�work�that�I�know�I�

get�invited�to�around�supporting�school�councils�and�getting�young�people�to�understand�the�democratic�

process.��I�do�hope�that�if�you�do�any�changes,�then�you�will�not�make�any�changes�around�that.�

�

However,�it�was�the�point�about�sustainability�that�I�was�concerned�about.��I�know�that�you�have�only�

been�there�six�days.��In�terms�of�the�handover�and�what�you�knew�about�when�you�went�for�the�job,�

what�is�the�key�challenge�in�terms�of�sustainability�for�the�fund?�

�

Matthew�Patten�(Chief�Executive,�Mayor’s�Fund�for�London):��I�have�been�in�post�for�16�days,�

so�--�

�

Page 29



 

Jennette�Arnold�(Deputy�Chair):��But�you�applied�for�it.��You�applied�--�

�

Matthew�Patten�(Chief�Executive,�Mayor’s�Fund�for�London):��Absolutely.��No,�I�do�not�mean�

that.��It�is�more�than�six�days.��I�think�the�key�issue�for�sustainability�for�any�charity�at�this�particular�

moment�in�time�probably�relates�to�three�things.��One�of�which�is�in�the�UK�where�there�are�260,000�

charities,�it�is�about�being�very�clear�about�what�you�are�for�and�trying�to�be�very�distinctive.��One�of�the�

reasons�for�coming�here�-�and�I�had�previously�been�Chief�Executive�of�The�Lord’s�Taverners,�which�is�a�

charity�working�with�young�people�in�sport�-�is�I�think�an�organisation�called�the�Mayor’s�Fund�for�

London�is�a�very�distinctive�organisation�from�the�outside�looking�in�and�it�certainly�was�in�terms�of�my�

experience�of�it.��I�had�met�Chris�[Robinson,�former�Chief�Executive,�Mayor’s�Fund�for�London]�and�I�

would�agree�with�your�sentiments.�

�

The�second�thing�is�clearly�to�do�with�resource.��By�resource�I�mean�financial�resource�but�I�also�mean�

intellectual�resource�as�well.��In�this�environment�you�absolutely�need�to�have�a�very�clear�view�about�

fundraising�and�where�your�income�is�going�to�come�from.��Part�of�that,�strangely,�is�about�where�the�

money�goes�because�the�link�between�your�giving�and�your�fundraising�is�increasingly�close�these�days.��

It�is�also�about�the�people�in�the�organisation�and�your�champions�and�all�those�sorts�of�things.��So�that�

is�the�second�area.��Looking�at�this�organisation�after�16�days,�it�is�incredibly�well�placed�and�well�

positioned�for�that.��Again,�just�by�virtue�of�the�fact�that�I�am�sitting�here�having�this�conversation�with�

you,�it�is�an�extraordinary�thing�to�be�able�to�do.��If�I�was�from�the�outside�coming�in�and�trying�to�have�

appointments�with�you,�maybe�over�the�next�three�years�I�might�find�time�in�all�your�diaries.��I�wandered�

in�having�had�a�sandwich�just�to�watch�the�show�and�I�find�myself�sitting�here,�so�it�is�amazing.�

�

The�third�thing�that�is�really�important�is�actually�about�really�making�a�difference�and�being�seen�to�

make�a�difference�and�evidence�that.��Again,�we�live�in�a�world�increasingly�about�where�people�really�

want�to�be�told�and�shown�the�difference.��I�guess�that�is�what�scrutiny�committees�are�about,�but�that�is�

really�important�for�us.�

�

So�sustainability�for�us�is�about�focusing�on�those�three�things:�clear�positioning,�good�resource�

intellectual�and�financial,�and�being�able�to�tell�people�very�clearly�the�difference�that�we�make.��If�we�do�

all�of�those�three�things,�the�rest�will�take�care�of�itself.�

�

Jennette�Arnold�(Deputy�Chair):��Can�I�just�say�one�of�the�strengths�from�my�observation�is�the�

targeted�approach�that�is�taken.��I�would�say�that,�would�I�not,�because�you�came�into�my�constituency?��

I�think�in�the�last�year�you�have�targeted�a�couple�of�boroughs.�

�

Matthew�Patten�(Chief�Executive,�Mayor’s�Fund�for�London):��We�now�work�in�seven�of�the�most�

deprived�boroughs�in�London.�

�

Jennette�Arnold�(Deputy�Chair):��Yes.��Can�I�just�feed�back�and�say,�if�one�of�the�strengths�has�been�

the�targeted�approach,�will�you�consider�staying�there?��It�just�seems�to�me�that�one�of�the�weaknesses�

would�be�if�you�just�took�a�sort�of�watercolour�approach�and�just�brushed�everything�that�there�was�in�

London�to�do�because�that�really�does�not�make�the�difference.�

�

Matthew�Patten�(Chief�Executive,�Mayor’s�Fund�for�London):��OK.��I�would�absolutely�agree�with�

you�but�I�would�just�colour�it�in�a�slightly�different�way.��This�is�my�personal�view�and�not�my�board’s�

Page 30



 

view,�so�I�have�to�have�these�conversations�with�them�as�well.��My�view�is�the�Mayor’s�Fund�for�London�

is�for�London,�not�for�a�bit�of�London�but�for�all�of�London.�

�

Jennette�Arnold�(Deputy�Chair):��But�where�it�makes�the�difference.��But�it�should�help�make�the�

difference.�

�

Matthew�Patten�(Chief�Executive,�Mayor’s�Fund�for�London):��Our�experience�is�that,�sadly,�

wherever�you�go�in�London�there�is�real,�real�need,�so�the�challenge�is�about�finding�the�need�and�

focusing�on�those�places.��I�think�that�it�will�be�across�London�as�a�whole,�not�just�within�London.�

�

Again,�I�will�give�you�a�very�specific�example�which�I�was�not�aware�of.��Looking�at�the�educational�

report,�it�said�very�clearly�in�terms�of�literacy,�which�is�an�area�we�are�really�interested�in�because�that�is�

an�essential�skill�in�terms�of�employment�in�the�younger�years�as�you�would�know�very�well�from�your�

borough,�it�occurred�to�me�that�it�said�unquestionably�that�inner-city�London�is�doing�better�than�

Greater�London�or�what�I�would�call�out-of-city�London.��In�terms�of�need,�that�is�not�about�going�to�the�

seven�most�deprived�boroughs�just�because�they�are�the�most�deprived�boroughs.��It�is�about�going�to�

those�places�where�literacy�--�and�actually,�that�will�be�places�like�Croydon,�etc.��So�that�will�be�our�focus�

but�you�will�find�it�is�across�London.��I�think�we�are�in�agreement.�

�

Jennette�Arnold�(Deputy�Chair):��OK.��Can�I�just�finish�by�just�going�back�to�Veronica?��Veronica,�I�

am�very�disappointed�because�you�have�shown�no�enthusiasm�here�this�afternoon�and�I�know�you�are�a�

woman�who�can�get�enthusiastic�because�I�have�seen�you�in�full�flow�prior�to�and�during�the�elections�

when�you�were�there�rah-rahing�for�Boris�[Johnson].��You�wanted�this�job,�unless�he�has�given�it�to�you�

and�you�are�doing�it�under�sufferance,�and�yet�you�have�been�so�cold�and�withdrawn.��What�one�thing�

did�you�take�the�job�to�do?��I�do�not�absolutely�have�a�sense�about�what�it�is�that�excites�you�about�this�

fabulous�job.��I�am�just�so�disappointed.�

�

If�you�are�still�going�to�stay�withdrawn�because�I�see�that�you�resisted�the�charm�of�Tony�Arbour�-�and�I�

have�to�say�he�will�have�to�try�harder�-�can�I�just�ask�you�some�essential�questions?��How�many�staff�will�

be�working�with�you?��Can�you�put�on�record�the�salary�that�you�will�be�getting?��People�are�watching�

and�this�is�a�matter�of�record�and�that�will�be�interesting.��If�possible,�can�you�then�just�confirm�the�

salary�that�you�get�in�your�role�as�Chair�of�the�Arts�Council,�just�for�a�matter�of�record?�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��There�were�several�questions�there.��You�were�referring�to�my�demeanour.��I�hope�it�is�

professional.��I�would�also�say�I�have�clearly�taken�this�job�because�I�feel�very�passionately�about�it.�

�

Jennette�Arnold�(Deputy�Chair):��You�have�not�shown�any�passion.�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��Would�you�like�me�to�explain?�

�

Jennette�Arnold�(Deputy�Chair):��Yes.�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��When�I�was�editor�of�the�Evening�Standard,�in�2003�I�decided�that�we�should�support�the�bid�for�

Page 31



 

the�London�Olympics.��As�many�of�you�will�remember,�it�was�a�very�unfashionable�thing�to�do.��Nobody�

thought�that�London�could�win�the�Olympics�and�if�we�did�with�the�Olympics�it�would�all�be�a�disaster.��

Actually,�it�was�a�huge�success.��I�therefore�feel�I�am�very�privileged�to�be�in�a�position�to�be�able�to�

contribute�to�the�Olympic�legacy�and�to�contribute�to�the�Olympic�legacy�for�volunteering.��I�think�that�is�

the�most�fantastic�thing.��It�was�the�most�wonderful�experience�during�the�Olympics�to�see�it�and�to�talk�

to�the�volunteers�and�I�will�do�all�that�I�can�with�great�passion,�I�can�assure�you,�as�well�as�determination�

to�actually�make�sure�that�that�is�delivered.��You�asked�a�question�about�...?�

�

Jennette�Arnold�(Deputy�Chair):��The�team,�the�number�of�staff�that�you�directly�control.�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��The�number�of�staff�has�not�yet�been�determined.�

�

Jennette�Arnold�(Deputy�Chair):��All�right.��And�your�salary�for�the�post?�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��My�salary?��I�have�chosen�not�to�take�a�salary�for�the�first�year.��My�salary�for�the�Arts�Council�is�

£6,500�a�year.�

�

Jennette�Arnold�(Deputy�Chair):��OK.��Just�a�matter�of�comment.��Can�I�just�say�to�you,�because�I�

know�I�was�there�as�Chair�of�the�Cultural�Strategy�Group,��the�former�Mayor,�Ken�Livingstone,�was�quite�

clear�when�he�put�the�bid�for�the�Olympics�that�we�would�win,�so�we�have�him�to�thank�for�the�Olympics.�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��I�think�we�do�have�Ken�Livingstone�to�thank.��I�think�it�was�a�great�achievement�by�the�then�

Mayor�of�London,�who�as�you�know�I�supported�for�re-election�in�2004,�and�I�think�it�was�also�a�great�

achievement�by�the�Labour�Government.�

�

Len�Duvall�(Chair):��OK.��Any�further�questions?��I�think�we�might�be�doing�some�follow-up�questions.��

We�would�certainly�like�you�to�come�back�before�us�in�January,�at�the�end�of�January,�maybe�early�

February,�because�we�would�like�to�see�what�progress�you�have�made�in�terms�of�the�vision�and�what�

projects�you�will�be�working�on.�

�

Certainly�in�terms�of�access�to�information,�I�do�not�know�whether�it�is�privileged�information�but�we�

would�like�to�see�a�skeleton�outline�of�the�scoping�exercise�of�the�review�on�sponsorship.��I�think�we�

would�like�to�do�that�on�the�volunteering.��If�you�cannot�show�us�the�full�document,�then�we�would�like�

to�see�what�are�the�areas�and�the�topics�that�are�being�covered�in�this�review.��Certainly�we�would�like�to�

see�the�scoping�document,�if�possible,�so�we�can�understand�where�things�are�going�or�not�going,�as�the�

case�may�be.�

�

Sorry,�one�last�question�before�I�go.��On�the�money�that�you�are�going�to�the�Government�for,�how�

crucial�is�that�money?��If�you�do�not�get�that�money�from�the�Government�in�terms�of�the�Olympic�

underspend,�what�would�be�your�thinking�about�that?��Would�you�go�back�into�the�marketplace�to�try�

and�raise�that�money�from�sponsorship�or�what?��And�can�you�just�for�the�sake�of�the�record�clarify�the�

money�that�you�are�actually�asking�for�from�central�Government?�

�

Page 32



 

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��Yes,�I�can�clarify�that.��We�are�asking�for�£1.2�million,�which�is�the�underspend�from�the�budget�

here.��The�Mayor�has�written�to�Maria�Miller,�the�new�Secretary�of�State,�to�request�that�that�money�be�

passed�to�the�Olympic�legacy�for�volunteering.�

�

Len�Duvall�(Chair):��OK.��If�we�did�not�get�that�money,�is�it�too�early�to�say�what�we�would�not�be�able�

to�do?�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��I�hope�there�will�be�many�sources�of�funding�for�volunteering�going�forward.��We�are�reviewing�

the�position�of�the�GLA�and�its�possible�contribution.��We�are�in�discussion�obviously�with�many�other�

possible�sources�and�I�will�report�back�as�soon�as�we�have�some�good�news,�which�I�very�much�hope�we�

will�have.�

�

Len�Duvall�(Chair):��OK.��Can�I�thank�you�both?��We�certainly�want�to�bring�you�back,�Veronica,�in�the�

new�year�because�I�think�we�want�to�drill�down�and�I�think�it�would�be�fair�to�say�we�will�want�to�drill�

down�in�much�more�detail�about�some�of�the�activities�that�you�will�be�overseeing.�

�

Veronica�Wadley�(Senior�Advisor�for�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�and�Sponsorship,�

GLA):��Thank�you�very�much.��I�can�say�that�in�the�course�of�the�next�few�days�you�will�see�a�moment�of�

what�I�hope�will�give�you�excitement�and�passion�and�pleasure,�which�will�be�a�part�of�the�early�stages�of�

the�rollout�of�the�Olympic�legacy�for�volunteering.��I�cannot�announce�it�today�because�the�press�release�

is�tomorrow.��Although�I�trust�you�all�implicitly,�I�think�it�would�probably�be�best�for�you�to�wait�and�see�

the�press�release�tomorrow,�so�you�will�see�something�happening�in�the�course�of�the�next�few�weeks.�

�

Len�Duvall�(AM):��Thank�you�very�much.��

Page 33



Page 34

This page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                                    

�
City�Hall,�The�Queen’s�Walk,�London�SE1�2AA�
Enquiries:
020
7983
4100
minicom:
020
7983
4458
www.london.gov.uk










 

Subject:�Summary
List
of
Actions�


Report
to:
 GLA
Oversight
Committee




Report
of:

Executive
Director
of
Secretariat 



Date:
28
November
2012


This
report
will
be
considered
in
public
�
 





1.
 Summary



�

1.1 This�report�updates�the�Committee�on�the�progress�made�on�actions�arising�from�previous�meetings�

of�the�GLA�Oversight�Committee.���





2.
 Recommendation�


2.1 That
the
Committee
notes
the
completed
and
outstanding
actions
arising
from
the


previous
meetings
of
the
Committee,
as
listed
below.








Actions
Arising
from
the
Meeting
Held
on
24
October
2012



Item
 Topic
 Action
 Action
By


�

5.
 The
Mayor's
Senior
Adviser,

Team
London,
Volunteering,

Charities
and
Sponsorship




�

�

�

�


 1. The�Committee�to�receive�
further�information�on�the�
scope�and�work�undertaken�
on�the�reviews�of�the�GLA’s�
sponsorship�and�volunteering�
functions.�

�

Letter�seeking�additional�

information�issued�6�November�

2012.�

The�Mayor's�Senior�

Adviser,�Team�

London,�Volunteering,�

Charities�and�

Sponsorship.�

�


 2. The�Mayor's�Senior�Adviser,�
Team�London,�Volunteering,�
Charities�and�Sponsorship�to�
return�to�the�Committee�in�
the�early�part�of�2013�for�a�
further�update�on�her�areas�
of�work.


The�Mayor's�Senior�Adviser,�Team�

London,�Volunteering,�Charities�

and�Sponsorship�is�scheduled�to�

attend�the�GLA�Oversight�

Committee�meeting�of�29�January�

2012.�

Senior�Committee�

Officer�

�

Agenda Item 4

Page 35



       

Item
 Topic
 Action
 Action
By


�




7.
 Assembly
Budget

Requirement
2013-14




� �


 1. Officers�to�provide�a�report�
to�the�next�meeting�of�the�
Committee�dealing�with�the�
Assembly’s�scope�to�widen�
its�areas�of�scrutiny�to�reflect�
any�growth�in�the�Mayor’s�
remit,�with�particular�
reference�to�education�
matters.�

�

This�is�dealt�with�at�Item�10�of�this�

agenda.�

Executive�Director�of�

Secretariat.�


 2. The�outcome�and�decisions�
of�the�London�TravelWatch�
Review�Panel�in�respect�of�
potential�budget�savings�to�
be�made�available�to�
Members�in�advance�of�the�
next�GLA�Oversight�
Committee�meeting.�



The�last�progress�report�was�

received�at�the�Transport�

Committee�on�14�July�2011�

(Attached�as�Appendix
1)�after�

which�the�Committee�effectively�

took�on�a�new�agenda,�revolving�

around�the�appointment�of�the�new�

Chair�and�Members�of�the�London�

TravelWatch�(LTW)�Board.��The�

Chair�(Stephen�Locke)�takes�over�

from�1�December�2012�and�the�

new�Members�start�1�January�2013�

subject�to�clearance�by�the�

Secretary�of�State.��

��

As�to�savings,�Transport�in�

September�considered�the�draft�

budget�for�2013/14�and�the�

covering�report�stated�:�

�

4.1�The�Assembly’s�review�of�

London�TravelWatch�in�2010�

presented�a�number�of�scenarios�

with�levels�of�savings�of�between�

£478,000�and�£810,000�from�the�

2010/11�baseline�if�statutory�

provisions�were�not�amended�to�

address�the�status�of�London�

TravelWatch.�The�grant�was�

reduced�over�the�last�two�years�by�

£400,000�(24.95%).��

Head�of�Special�

Projects�and�Elections�

Page 36



       

Item
 Topic
 Action
 Action
By


�

�

Transport�Committee�accepted�the�

further�£100,000�offered�by�LTW,�

bringing�the�total�savings�over�the�

three�years�to�£500,000,�and�with�

the�prospect�of�further�reduction�in�

coming�years�under�the�new�Board.�

�

10.
 GLA
Annual
Equalities

Report
-
Assembly

Contribution




� �


 The�Assembly’s�contribution�to�
the�GLA’s�Annual�Equalities�
Report�2012�be�amended�to�
additionally�reflect�the�work�the�
Assembly�had�undertaken�on�
economic�equality,�transport�
accessibility,�air�quality,�mental�
health�and�‘looked�after�
children’.�
�

Revised�contribution�to�the�GLA�

Annual�Equalities�Report�submitted�

(attached�as�Appendix
2).�

Scrutiny�Team�

Manager�

11.
 Response
to
the
Time
for

Action
Panel
Report
-
Time

to
Reflect




� �


 1. The�Police�and�Crime�
Committee�be�requested�to�
monitor�progress�of�and�
developments�within�Project�
Daedalus.�
�

The�Chair�of�the�Police�and�Crime�

Committee�has�agreed�that�the�

Committee�will�discuss�how�best�to�

undertake�this�at�its�next�meeting.�

�

Scrutiny�Team�

Manager�


 2. The�appropriate�Mayoral�
adviser�be�invited�to�provide�
an�update�on�the�Mayor’s�
Project�Titan�programme�at�
the�next�meeting�of�the�
Oversight�Committee.�

�

Dealt�with�at�Item�5�of�this�agenda�

and�at�the�December�meeting�of�

the�Oversight�Committee.�

Senior�Committee�

Officer�


























Page 37



       

Actions
Arising
from
the
Meeting
Held
on
20
September
2012



Item
 Topic
 Action
 Action
By


�

7.
 Head
of
Paid
Service
Oral

Update




� �


 The�Committee�to�be�provided�
with�further�information�in�
relation�to�the�re-charging�of�
costs�incurred�by�the�GLA�in�
assisting�the�Mayors�Office�for�
Policing�and�Crime�(MOPAC)�
with�certain�functions.




Discussions�are�on-going�on�the�

provision�of�shared�services�to�

MOPAC.��When�proposals�come�

forward�for�formally�agreed�shared�

services�for�services�the�GLA�

provides�–�or�will�provide�–�to�

MOPAC,�the�Assembly�(through�

GLA�Oversight�Committee)�will�be�

consulted�before�a�decision�is�taken�

(as�the�GLA�Act�requires).�

�

In�certain�areas�the�GLA�is�already�

providing�some�services�to�MOPAC:�

• Media�

• Marketing�

• Recruitment��

�

In�other�areas�there�are�plans�for�

the�GLA�to�provide�MOPAC�with�a�

service:�

• H.R.�

• I.T.�

• F.M.�

• Treasury�

�

At�present�there�are�no�recharging�

arrangements�in�place�–�they�will�be�

set�out�once�formal�shared�services�

proposals�come�forward�for�

agreement�(including�retrospective�

charges),�noting�that�the�net�cost�

to�the�GLA�Group�will�not�change.�

�

Executive�Director�of�

Resources�

8.
 Head
of
Paid
Service

Consultation
on
Proposed

Changes
to
the
GLA

Establishment
-
London
2012

Directorate





� �


 That�the�Committee�be�provided�
with:�

• Details�of�the�sponsorship�

Holding�response�from�the�Director�

of�London�2012�Co-ordination�

attached�as�Appendix
3.�Further�

Director�of�London�

2012�Co-ordination.�

Page 38



       

Item
 Topic
 Action
 Action
By


�

agreement�between�the�GLA�
and�the�London�Legacy�
Development�Corporation�
(LLDC);�

• Details�of�the�agreement�
between�the�Government�and�
the�Mayor�in�relation�to�the�
proposed�joint�legacy�work�as�
discussed�at�the�meeting;��

• A�comprehensive�Olympic�
legacy�workstream�document;�

• Confirmation�that�the�
Assembly�would�be�able�to�
scrutinise�and�question�in�
public�meetings�the�senior�
officers�of�the�joint�
GLA/Cabinet�Office�team�
(whether�or�not�they�are�GLA�
staff).�

• A�summary�of�the�role�of�the�
Mayor�and�his�political�
decision-making�process�in�
relation�to�Olympic�legacy;�and�

• Details�of�the�webpage�
showing�the�recipients�of�
complimentary�tickets�supplied�
by�the�GLA�for�the�London�
2012�Olympic�and�Paralympic�
Games.�

��

specific�information�will�be�

provided�when�available.�

10.




People's
Question
Time

�

That�the�Committee�be�provided�
with�the�clarification�of�the�
ownership�of�the�
‘@MayorOfLondon’�twitter�
account.�

�

�

Response�being�prepared�for�

circulation�to�Members.��

�

�

The�Mayor’s�Office�


 Confirmation�that�the�
@londonassembly�twitter�
account�would�be�used�in�the�
same�way�as�the�Mayor’s�
account.


The�assembly�twitter�account�will�

be�used�in�same�manner/number�of�

times�as�the�Mayor’s�account�for�

PQT�events.�

�

Dáire�Basra,�Senior�

Events�Officer�


 That�the�forward�programme�of�
dates�for�future�People’s�
Question�Time�events�be�
circulated�to�Assembly�Members.�



The�dates�for�PQT�are�March�and�

November�every�year;�the�next�one�

in�March�has�been�confirmed�to�be�

held�7�March�2013�in�the�Broadway�

Theatre,�Lewisham.�The�one�after�

Dáire�Basra,�Senior�

Events�Officer�

Page 39



       

Item
 Topic
 Action
 Action
By


�

will�be�November�but�date�and�

location�are�not�confirmed�yet.�

�

Members�will�be�advised�of�future�

dates�and�locations�at�the�first�

possible�opportunity.�

�







Actions
Arising
from
the
Meeting
Held
on
17
July
2012



Item
 Topic
 Action
 Action
By


�

6.
 The
Mayor's
Transparency

Commitments




�

�

�


 That�the�Mayor’s�Chief�of�Staff��
talks�to�the�Deputy�Chairman�of�
Transport�for�London�(TfL)�
about�ensuring�TfL�holds�all�of�
its�meetings�in�public,�including�
Panel�meetings,�particularly�
where�it�has�published�the�
agenda�and�reports�relating�to�
the�meeting.


In�progress.� Chief�of�Staff�and�

Deputy�Mayor�





5.
 Legal
Implications




5.1 The�Committee�has�the�power�to�do�what�is�recommended�in�this�report.�





6.
 Financial
Implications

�

6.1 There�are�no�financial�implications�arising�from�this�report.�

�

�

List
of
appendices
to
this
report:


Appendix�1�–�LTW�progress�report�

Appendix�2�–�contribution�to�the�GLA�Annual�Equalities�Report�

Appendix�3�–�response�of�the�Director�of�London�2012�Co-ordination�

Local
Government
(Access
to
Information)
Act
1985


List�of�Background�Papers:��None��

Contact�Officer:� John�Barry,�Senior�Committee�Officer�

Telephone:� 020�7983�4425�

E-mail:� john.barry@london.gov.uk��

 

Page 40



Appendix 1 
 

City�Hall,�The�Queen’s�Walk,�London�SE1�2AA�
Enquiries:
020
7983
4100
minicom:
020
7983
4458
www.london.gov.uk


 

Subject:�London
TravelWatch�


Report
to:
 Transport
Committee




Report
of:

Executive
Director
of
Secretariat




Date:

14
July
2011




This
report
will
be
considered
in
public�







1.
 Summary



�
1.1 The�Assembly�approved�the�proposals�of�the�review�panel�in�October�2010�and�referred�them�to�this�

Committee�for�implementation.�Members�have�been�in�discussion�with�representatives�of�the�

London�TravelWatch�Board�since�the�end�of�last�year.��This�report�updates�the�Committee�and�
suggests�next�steps.�





2.
 Recommendations
�



2.1 That
the
Committee
endorses
the
need
for
implementation
of
the
review
proposals
and


considers
the
issue
of
directions
to
the
London
TravelWatch
Board
in
respect
of

Proposals:


2
–
Relocation
of
London
TravelWatch;


3
–
Sharing
back
office
functions;


4
–
Contracting
Passenger
Focus
for
rail
passenger
functions;


5
–
Borough
consultations;
and



6
–
Large-scale
transport
consultations
to
which
the
Assembly
plans
to
respond,



as
detailed
in
section
4
below.

If
agreed,
that
the
Committee
authorises
the
Chair
to


approve
the
issue
of
those
directions
or
appropriate
guidance
to
the
Chief
Executive
of


London
TravelWatch.


2.2 That
the
Chair
of
the
Committee,
in
consultation
with
the
Deputy
Chair
and
Group
Leads,


be
authorised
to
agree
any
necessary
re-phasing
of
the
payments
of
the
Assembly’s
grant


to
London
TravelWatch
to
assist
the
Board’s
cash-flow
during
the
implementation
of
their

reorganisation.


2.3 That,
having
regard
to
the
current
interim
position
with
the
implementation
of
the


Assembly’s
and
the
Board’s
respective
reviews,
no
further
action
be
taken
at
this
time
to

fill
the
vacancy
on
the
Board.


2.4 That,
in
the
light
of
the
Mayor’s
budget
guidance
for
2012/13,
the
Committee
asks
the


London
TravelWatch
Board
to
submit
budget
proposals
and
a
business
plan
for
2012/13


Page 41



        

 

that
reflect
a
funding
reduction
of
a
further
£240,000,
representing
a
total
decrease
of


25%
from
the
2010/11
budget,
for
consideration
by
the
Committee
at
its
September
2011


meeting.


2.5 That,
given
the
current
review,
the
Memorandum
of
Understanding
between
the
two


organisations
be
suspended
pending
the
implementation
of
revised
arrangements,
and


any
matters
arising
during
that
period
in
regard
to
the
working
relationship
be
reported

to
the
Committee,
if
appropriate
following
discussion
at
the
informal
joint
steering
group.





3. Background






3.1� The�Assembly�received�and�approved�the�report�of�the�London�TravelWatch�Working�Group,�and�

delegated�it�to�this�Committee�for�implementation.��The�former�Chair�of�the�Committee�set�up�an�
informal�joint�steering�group�–�comprising�the�Chair�and�Deputy�Chair�of�the�Committee�and�the�

Chair�and�Deputy�Chair�of�the�London�TravelWatch�Board�–�to�provide�the�forum�for�consultation�

and�discussion�on�the�implementation�of�the�review.��The�steering�group�has�been�maintained�this�
year,�comprising�–�from�the�Assembly�side�–�the�Chairs�of�the�Transport�Committee�and�the�Budget�

and�Performance�Committee,�who�have�also�met�informally�with�Members�of�the�Working�Group�

that�undertook�last�year’s�review.�
�

3.2� The�Localism�Bill�is�still�progressing�through�its�Parliamentary�process.��No�provision�was�originally�

included�in�the�Bill�to�secure�London�TravelWatch’s�functions�being�folded�in�to�the�Assembly�
(Review�Proposal�1)�but�an�amendment�has�been�tabled�in�the�House�of�Lords�at�committee�stage�

to�give�effect�to�this�transfer.��It�is�likely�that�the�committee�stage�will�conclude�before�the�summer�

recess.�





4.
 Issues
for
Consideration�

�

Implementing
the
Assembly’s
review

�
4.1� Successive�budget�reductions�will�inevitably�have�an�impact�on�the�range�and�quantity�of�workloads�

undertaken�within�London�TravelWatch.��Accordingly,�it�is�relevant�for�the�Committee�now�to�

consider�the�means�of�progressing�the�Assembly’s�review�proposals�in�a�way�to�enable�the�funding�
reductions�to�be�achieved�within�a�reasonable�timescale,�to�maintain�the�quality�of�service�required�

for�the�continuing�activities,�and�to�move�in�the�direction�set�out�in�the�Assembly’s�report.�

4.2� The�Assembly’s�power�to�issue�guidance�and�directions�to�London�TravelWatch�is�delegated�to�this�
Committee.��Members�may�wish�to�consider�either�or�both�powers�to�secure�progress�with�the�

outstanding�decisions.��The�power�to�direct�has�not�previously�been�used�and�legal�advice�has�been�

taken�on�matters�that�need�to�be�observed�in�the�event�of�a�decision�to�direct�guidance.�

4.3� Review
Proposal
1:�“We�propose�that�London�TravelWatch�should�not�remain�as�a�separately�

constituted�organisation�and�its�functions�and�duties�in�relation�to�the�representation�of�the�capital’s�

public�transport�users�be�vested�in�the�elected�London�Assembly.��We�further�propose�that�
discussions�to�this�end,�and�any�necessary�legislative�changes,�are�taken�forward�with�the�relevant�

government�departments�during�the�autumn.”��An�amendment�to�the�Localism�Bill�to�give�effect�to�

these�changes�has�been�tabled�for�debate�in�the�committee�stage�in�the�House�of�Lords.


4.4� Review
Proposal
2:�“We�propose�that�the�staff�of�London�TravelWatch�be�re-located�to�City�Hall�as�

soon�as�is�practical,�and�by�the�latest�April�2011,�and�that�negotiations�should�be�started�with�the�

Page 42



        

 

current�landlord�with�a�view�to�realising�savings�in�accommodation�costs�from�the�earliest�possible�

date.”�

4.5� The�next�break�clause�in�London�TravelWatch's�lease�is�in�August�2012�and�notice�must�be�given�six�
months�previously.��London�TravelWatch�advise�that�the�landlord�is�unwilling�to�entertain�an�earlier�

penalty-free�termination.��As�reported�to�the�Business�Management�and�Administration�Committee�

in�May,�accommodation�at�City�Hall�will�be�under�pressure�until�the�autumn�of�2012�when�the�
Olympics�team�begins�to�disband.�

4.6� The�Committee�may�wish�to�consider�directing�London�TravelWatch�to�give�formal�notice�

immediately�before�the�due�date�of�20�February�2012�to�terminate�the�lease�on�20 August�2012�in�
order�to�avoid�a�long�term�commitment,�and�also�to�direct�London�Travelwatch�not�to�enter�into�any�

further�long�term�commitment�in�respect�of�accommodation.��The�Committee�may�also�wish�to�

consider�asking�London�TravelWatch�to�explore�the�possibility�of�a�short-term�extension�if�necessary�
beyond�the�August�2012�break�if�alternative�accommodation�is�not�immediately�available�at�that�

time.�

4.7� Review
Proposal
3:�“We�propose�that�steps�to�absorb�London�TravelWatch’s�back�office�functions�
within�the�GLA�should�be�taken�forward.”���

Review
Proposal
4:�“We�propose�that�officers�explore�the�potential�for�contracting�Passenger�Focus�

to�fulfil�the�functions�of�London�TravelWatch�in�relation�to�rail�passengers�in�the�capital.”�

4.8� London�TravelWatch,�as�part�of�their�own�review,�have�been�exploring�the�possibility�of�achieving�

economies�by�outsourcing�their�back�office�functions�to�compatible�organisations,�with�the�GLA�as�

one�of�the�possible�options.�Discussions�are�continuing�on�the�sharing�of�back�office�functions�but�
the�full�savings�will�not�be�achieved�without�co-location.�There�is�common�ground�in�wanting�to�find�

a�model�of�sharing�that�works,�although�the�Assembly’s�position�is�to�move�directly�towards�a�

solution�that�makes�long�term�and�strategic�sense,�without�necessarily�entering�a�tendering�exercise.�

4.9� London�TravelWatch�have�expressed�reservations�about�contracting�rail�service�issues�to�Passenger�

Focus,�primarily�on�the�ground�that�London’s�passenger�interests�are�based�on�a�multi-modal�

experience�that�is�best�addressed�in�a�co-ordinated�fashion.�The�Assembly�has�taken�the�view�that�a�
more�co-ordinated�approach�to�passenger�representation�in�London�is�what�is�needed�in�order�to�

provide�clarity�for�passengers�and�avoid�duplication�and�thus�reduce�costs.�This�will�only�be�achieved�

through�constructive�discussions�between�the�three�parties�-�the�Assembly,�London�TravelWatch�and�
Passenger�Focus.��

4.10� The�Committee�may�wish�to�consider�issuing�guidance�or�direction�to�London�TravelWatch�to�join�in�

discussions�with�the�Assembly�and�such�prospective�partner(s)�as�the�Assembly�identifies�as�best�
meeting�the�long�term�and�strategic�objectives�of�the�review.�

4.11� Review
Proposal
5:�“We�propose�that�London�TravelWatch�stops�responding�to�borough�

consultations�relating�to�streets�with�immediate�effect.”�

4.12� In�the�course�of�discussion�at�the�steering�group,�London�TravelWatch�have�claimed�that�they�have�

been�far�more�selective�in�responding�to�borough�consultations�and�that�the�staff�resource�required�

is�now�minimal.��However,�the�lists�of�consultations�received�and�issues�to�which�London�
TravelWatch�have�responded�indicate�that�the�majority�continue�to�be�very�local�non-strategic�issues�

and�given�the�limited�resources�available�London�TravelWatch�should�focus�on�its�core�functions.�

4.13� The�Committee�may�wish�to�consider�directing�that,�before�deciding�whether�to�respond�to�borough�
consultations,�London�TravelWatch�should�have�regard�to�the�limited�resources�available�and�to�

prioritise�matters�of�primary�significance�to�passengers.�

Page 43



        

 

4.14� Review
Proposal
6:�“We�propose�that,�with�immediate�effect,�London�TravelWatch�cease�

responding�to�large-scale�transport�consultations�to�which�the�Assembly�is�planning�to�respond.”�

4.15� To�avoid�the�duplication�of�effort,�and�given�that�the�Assembly�will�invariably�address�the�interests�
of�passengers�as�well�as�Londoners�generally,�the�co-ordination�of�consultation�responses�has�been�

held�to�be�a�desirable�goal.�

4.16� The�Committee�may�wish�to�consider�directing�that,�before�deciding�whether�to�respond�to�large�
scale�consultations,�London�TravelWatch�should�consult�with�the�Assembly�so�that�a�co-ordinated�

approach�can�be�taken.��

4.17� In�the�event�that�the�Committee�wishes�to�issue�directions�to�London�TravelWatch,�officers�will�
prepare�the�necessary�documents�for�approval�by�the�Chair�in�consultation�with�the�Deputy�Chair�

and�the�Group�Leads�on�the�Committee,�and�on�the�approval�of�the�Chair�in�consultation�with�the�

Deputy�Chair�and�the�Group�Leads�on�the�Committee�guidance�may�be�issued�instead�of�directions�if�
doing�so�would�further�the�aims�of�the�Committee�as�set�out�in�this�report.�



London
TravelWatch’s
review



4.18� The�Board�of�London�TravelWatch�initiated�its�own�fundamental�review�of�the�organisation�and,�

through�discussion�in�the�steering�group,�stated�that�the�objective�was�to�achieve�a�25%�budget�
reduction�against�the�2010/11�baseline.��As�London�TravelWatch�explored�measures�to�achieve�this�

target,�the�Board�was�given�some�leeway�on�the�Assembly’s�original�timeline�for�the�implementation�

of�its�proposals.�
�
4.19� A�paper�describing�the�objectives�of,�and�progress�with,�London�TravelWatch’s�review�is�attached�at�

Appendix
A.��

4.20� The�changes�made�so�far�form�part�of,�or�are�preparatory�to,�some�of�the�Assembly’s�review�
proposals.��To�the�extent�that�the�common�objective�of�both�parties�is�to�reduce�the�funding�
requirement,�some�variation�in�approach�has�been�accepted�up�to�now�in�the�steering�group�
discussions.��However,�there�are�differences�of�philosophy�and�methodology�in�some�areas�and�the�
Chair�of�the�Committee�has�consulted�Members�of�the�Assembly’s�working�group�that�undertook�the�
review�as�to�the�continuing�need�to�press�ahead�with�the�review�proposals.



Payment
of
grant


�
4.21� The�annual�grant�to�London�TravelWatch�is�paid�in�fortnightly�instalments�throughout�the�year.��The�

redundancies�approved�by�the�Board�will,�of�course,�produce�savings�by�the�end�of�the�financial�year�

but�have�to�be�funded�initially�and�this�has�required�a�draw�down�from�the�organisation’s�reserves.��

Any�further�redundancies�would�similarly�have�a�front-loaded�cost�that�produces�a�cash-flow�
problem.�

4.22� London�TravelWatch�have�therefore�asked�for�a�re-phasing�of�their�grant�and�the�Executive�Director�

of�Secretariat�and�Executive�Director�of�Resources�are�reviewing�the�estimates�of�costs�with�a�view�
to�establishing�what�adjustment,�if�any,�is�justified.�

4.23� The�Committee�is�asked�to�authorise�the�Chair,�in�consultation�with�the�Deputy�Chair�and�Group�

Leads,�to�approve�any�necessary�re-phasing�of�the�payments.�










Page 44



        

 

Membership
of
the
Board

�
4.24� The�Committee�agreed�in�January�2011�to�proceed�with�the�appointment�of�a�member�of�the�Board�

to�fill�the�vacancy�that�arose�through�a�resignation�in�December�2010.��The�Board�recently�

streamlined�its�committee�structure�and�currently�comprises�the�Chair�and�five�other�members.�

4.25� Given�the�present�interim�position�in�relation�to�the�reorganisation�of�London�TravelWatch,�and�

following�the�Chair�of�the�Committee’s�consultation�with�Members�of�the�Assembly’s�working�group�

which�recommended�the�recent�reduction�in�the�size�of�the�London�TravelWatch�Board,�it�is�
recommended�that�no�further�action�be�taken�at�the�present�time�to�fill�the�vacancy.�



Budget
2012/13


�

4.26� The�Assembly’s�review�of�London�TravelWatch�presented�a�number�of�scenarios�with�levels�of�
savings�of�between�£478,000�and�£810,000�from�the�2010/11�baseline�if�statutory�provisions�were�

not�amended�to�address�the�status�of�London�TravelWatch.��The�approved�2011/12�grant�was�

reduced�by�£160,000�(10%).�

4.27� As�stated�in�paragraph�4.19�above,�the�Board�of�London�TravelWatch�is�seeking�to�achieve�a�25%�

reduction�in�its�budget�(from�the�2010/11�baseline)�through�its�own�current�fundamental�review�

and�a�number�of�additional�options�are�being�explored�beyond�those�that�were�immediately�available�
last�year�when�the�Assembly�Review�was�completed.��It�is�important�to�maintain�the�momentum�with�

the�review�and�it�is�therefore�suggested�that�the�target�for�London�TravelWatch�in�financial�year�

2012/13�should�be�to�complete�the�achievement�of�savings�at�25%�below�the�2010/11�baseline,�i.e.�
a�further�£240,000�below�the�current�year’s�budget.�

4.28� The�Committee�is�asked�to�approve�the�issue�of�guidance�to�the�London�TravelWatch�Board�to�

submit�draft�budget�proposals�and�a�draft�business�plan�for�2012/13�that�reflect�a�funding�
reduction�of�a�further�£240,000,�representing�a�total�decrease�of�25%�from�the�2010/11�budget,�for�

consideration�by�this�Committee�at�its�September�2011�meeting.�

Memorandum
of
Understanding

�
4.29� The�Memorandum�of�Understanding�(MoU)�adopted�by�the�Committee�and�London�TravelWatch�in�

October�2009�reflected�the�evolution�of�the�working�relationship�over�a�period�of�relative�stability�

when�budgets�were�not�under�the�pressure�that�is�evident�today.��The�current�requirement�for�

budget�reductions�and�the�Assembly’s�review�of�London�TravelWatch�combine�to�make�the�present�
circumstance�truly�exceptional,�and�one�for�which�the�MoU�is�not�appropriate.��It�is�therefore�

proposed�that�the�MoU�be�suspended�during�the�implementation�of�the�review�and�that,�in�the�

meantime,�any�matters�arising�that�require�resolution�should�be�reported�to�the�Committee,�if�
appropriate,�following�discussion�at�the�informal�joint�steering�group�mentioned�above.�

�

�
5.
 Legal
Implications



5.1� Section�251�of�the�Greater�London�Authority�Act�1999�(amended)�provides�that�the�Assembly�may�

issue�to�the�Board�of�London�TravelWatch�guidance�as�to�the�manner�in�which�they�are�to�exercise�
their�functions,�or�general�directions�as�to�the�manner�in�which�they�are�to�exercise�their�functions.��

�
5.2� Paragraph�10�of�Schedule�18�of�the�GLA�Act�provides�that�the�Assembly�in�consultation�with�the�

Secretary�of�State�may�make�arrangements�for�London�TravelWatch�to�be�provided�with�
accommodation.��

�

Page 45



        

 

5.3� The�proposals�of�the�London�TravelWatch�working�group�set�out�in�the�report�“Review�of�London�
TravelWatch”�contain�recommendations�to�issue�guidance�and�directions�to�the�Board�of�London�
TravelWatch�and�to�provide�London�TravelWatch�with�accommodation.�In�respect�of�these�proposals�
the�Assembly�has�the�power�to�provide�alternative�accommodation,�but�if�this�is�at�City�Hall�the�
Assembly�must�refer�the�matter�to�the�Mayor�in�accordance�with�section�72(5)(b)�of�the�GLA�Act�
1999.�

�
5.4� Section�54(1)�of�the�GLA�Act�provides�that�the�Assembly�may�arrange�for�any�of�its�functions�to�be�

discharged�by�a�committee�or�sub-committee�of�the�Assembly�and�the�Assembly�has�the�power�to�
delegate�the�functions�in�section�251�and�Schedule�18�of�the�GLA�Act�(as�amended)�to�the�
Transport�Committee�insofar�as�they�are�not�already�delegated�under�the�Transport�Committee’s�
existing�terms�of�reference.���

�
5.5� Proposals�2�and�3�of�the�Review�report�relate�to�staffing�functions�and�accommodation.�The�

provision�of�staffing�is�the�responsibility�of�the�Head�of�Paid�Service�after�consultation�with�the�
Mayor�by�section�72(5)(a)�of�the�GLA�Act.�The�provision�of�accommodation�is�the�responsibility�of�
the�Mayor�by�section�72(5)(b)�of�the�GLA�Act.�The�Transport�Committee�in�taking�these�proposals�
forward�must�refer�these�matters�to�the�Head�of�Paid�Service�and�the�Mayor.��

�
5.6 Proposal�1�of�the�Review�report�is�also�subject�to�changes�to�primary�legislation�being�agreed�with�

central�government�and�parliament�and�additional�legal�advice�will�need�to�be�taken�subject�to�
progress�on�any�legislative�changes.�

5.7 In�the�event�that�London�TravelWatch�does�not�implement�the�Assembly’s�proposals,�and�if�the�
Committee�wish�to�press�the�matter,�it�is�open�to�the�Committee�to�avail�itself�of�the�power�in�
Section�251(1)�of�the�GLA�Act�which�gives�authority�to�issue�directions,�provided�that�such�
directions�and�guidance�do�not�prohibit�London�TravelWatch�from�exercising�its�statutory�functions,�
and�to�proceed�in�accordance�with�Section�251(3)�which�provides:�"Any�guidance�or�directions�
issued�under�subsection�(1)�above�must�be�issued�in�writing�and�notified�to�such�officer�of�the�
Committee�as�the�Committee�may�from�time�to�time�nominate�to�the�Assembly�for�the�purpose."�





6.
 Financial
Implications

�
6.1 The�financial�implications,�as�best�estimates,�relating�to�the�proposals�are�contained�within�the�body�

of�the�report�of�the�working�group.�

�
6.2 Should�the�proposals�be�taken�forward,�approval�will�be�required�as�per�the�Authority’s�decision-

making�process�(with�the�inherent�financial�implications�of�those�matters�dealt�with�at�the�time)�in�

relation�to�staff,�accommodation�and�back�office�support.�
�

6.3 By�moving�GLA�funding�to�London�TravelWatch�for�March�2012�forward�to�September�2011�this�

would�provide�sufficient�funds�for�London�TravelWatch�to�retain�a�positive�cash�balance�during�the�
implementation�of�its�proposed�redundancy�costs.�

�

6.4 None�of�the�GLA�funding�for�2012/13�would�be�need�to�brought�forward�to�2011/12.�
�

�

�
�

�

�
�

Page 46



        

 

�

List
of
appendices
to
this
report:


�
Appendix�A�–�London�TravelWatch�update�on�the�implementation�of�its�review�
�
�

Local
Government
(Access
to
Information)
Act
1985


List�of�Background�Papers:�

Report�of�the�London�TravelWatch�Review�working�group�–�September�2010�
London�Assembly�meeting�20.10.10�–�Report�6�and�Minute�6�

�

Contact�Officer:� John�Bennett�
Telephone:� 020�7983�4203�

E-mail:� John.Bennett@london.gov.uk�

�

Page 47



Page 48

This page is intentionally left blank



�
City�Hall,�The�Queen’s�Walk,�London�SE1�2AA�
Enquiries:
020
7983
4100
minicom:
020
7983
4458
www.london.gov.uk






 

Appendix 2 

 

Annual
Equalities
Report
2012–

Assembly
Contribution

 

(Covering�the�period�1�April�2011�to�31�March�2012)�
�
�
The�London�Assembly�is�elected�to�hold�the�Mayor�to�account�and�investigate�issues�of�importance�to�
Londoners.��The�following�paragraphs�provide�some�examples�of�the�Assembly’s�equalities-related�work�
during�2011/12.��More�information�about�the�Assembly’s�work�and�how�the�public�can�get�involved�is�
available�at�www.london.gov.uk� �
�

Tackling
fuel
poverty


The�former�Health�and�Public�Services�Committee�investigated�the�role�that�energy�suppliers�and�the�Mayor�
can�play�in�helping�to�reduce�fuel�poverty�in�the�capital.1�It�looked�at�current�initiatives�to�tackle�fuel�
poverty,�and�what�further�work�is�needed�to�achieve�the�government’s�target�of�eradicating�the�problem�by�
2016.�Its�investigation�included�examination�of�the�factors�that�increase�the�risk�of�fuel�poverty,�such�as�
age,�health�and�income�indicators.�It�developed�a�mapping�tool�to�help�policy�makers�identify�areas�at�
higher�risk�of�fuel�poverty�and�to�enable�programmes�to�be�better�targeted�towards�communities�most�at�
risk.��
�
Following�the�investigation,�the�Assembly�passed�a�motion�calling�upon�the�Mayor�to�join�with�the�Assembly�
in�calling�upon�the�six�main�UK�energy�suppliers�to�address�the�imbalance,�caused�by�London�repeatedly�
losing�out�under�national�energy�saving�initiatives�and�housing�costs�taking�a�heavier�toll�on�Londoners�than�
those�in�the�rest�of�the�UK,�by�fulfilling�their�CERT�and�CESP�obligations�equally�across�the�UK�and�
implement�measures�that�ensure�Londoners�are�no�longer�disproportionately�in�fuel�poverty.�

�
Air
quality

The�former�Environment�Committee�continued�to�press�the�Mayor�on�measures�to�improve�London’s�air�
quality.�The�Committee�had�called�for�and�therefore�welcomed�the�publication�of�a�health�impact�
assessment�that�provided�an�estimate�of�the�number�of�additional�premature�deaths�that�poor�air�quality�
contributes�to�across�London,�providing�a�strong�public�health�imperative�for�further�work�in�this�area.�The�
Committee�promoted�a�series�of�recommendations�for�tackling�PM10�hotspots�that�are�found�predominantly�
in�the�most�deprived�parts�of�London.�Additionally�the�Assembly�agreed�a�motion�calling�on�the�Mayor�to�
update�his�air�quality�strategy�to�include�faster�and�stronger�action�in�London�to�ensure�that�the�capital’s�air�
meets�legal�standards�for�nitrogen�dioxide�by�2015,�at�the�latest.��
�
Public
Playgrounds

The�Assembly�agreed�a�motion�in�July�2011�calling�on�the�Mayor�to�oppose�entrance�charges�to�public�
playgrounds�and�make�representations�against�charges�to�Wandsworth�Council�and�to�any�other�council�
considering�their�introduction,�so�as�to�promote�social�development�generally�in�London,�and�to�promote�
health�equalities�in�particular.�
 

Disabled
Londoners’
participation
in
sport
and
physical
activity


The�Committee�returned�to�the�barriers�to�sports�participation�among�disabled�Londoners,�such�as�a�lack�of�
skills�among�sports�coaches�and�teachers�in�mainstream�schools,�inadequate�information�about�

                                                 
1�People�in�fuel�poverty�spend�at�least�one�tenth�of�their�income�on�energy�for�heating,�lighting�and�cooking�in�their�homes.�

Page 49



        

opportunities,�and�inaccessible�public�transport.�in�2012,�following�the�publication�of�data�that�showed�that�
just�10.8�per�cent�of�disabled�Londoners�meet�recommended�levels�of�activity,�well�below�the�2007�target�of�
14�per�cent�and�the�figure�had�barely�changed�over�the�past�five�years.��
�
The�update�report�focused�on�how�national�government�needs�to�support�the�provision�of�training�and�
support�for�teachers�in�mainstream�schools�that�may�have�disabled�pupils�in�their�classes,�TfL’s�promotion�of�
active�transport�options�for�disabled�people�and�how�the�Mayor�might�be�able�to�boost�volunteering�
support�for�disabled�people�keen�to�get�active.��
�
Responses�to�the�report�can�be�read�here:�http://www.london.gov.uk/publication/disabled-londoners-
participation-sport-and-physical-activity.�
�

Transport
Accessibility
Plans



The�Transport�Committee�continued�to�press�for�improvements�in�service�provision�for�disabled�or�mobility�
impaired�travellers�on�the�public�transport�system.�The�Committee’s�responses�to�TfL’s�accessibility�
proposals�called�for�more�urgency�when�it�comes�to�improving�access�to�Tubes,�trains�and�buses.��
The�Committee�called�for�a�number�of�improvements�including�more�practical�training�particularly�for�bus�
drivers,�more�help�points�at�stations�and�“accessibility�champions”�at�interchanges�to�ensure�coordinated�
support�across�different�providers.��
�
Accessing
the
Games

The�Transport�Committee's�work�on�transport�preparations�for�the�2012�Games�included�calls�for�more�
actions�to�improve�accessibility.�It�highlighted�that�on�the�busiest�days�of�the�Games,�23,000�spectators�with�
reduced�mobility�could�be�seeking�to�use�the�transport�system�and�called�for�further�actions�to�assist�these�
spectators�to�travel,�such�as�more�temporary�manual�boarding�ramps�and�platform�humps�on�the�Tube�
network,�which�the�ODA�agreed�to.��The�Committee�also�raised�issues�about�ensuring�there�was�adequate�
provision�of�accessible�shuttle�buses�for�spectators�with�reduced�mobility,�and�sufficient�travel�information�
and�door-to-door�transport�services�for�Londoners�with�reduced�mobility,�who�were�not�going�to�the�
Games,�so�they�could�continue�to�make�their�usual�journeys.���
�

Access
to
Public
Toilets


The�former�Health�and�Public�Services�Committee�published�a�report�on�public�toilet�provision�in�July�2011.��
This�included�the�findings�of�the�first�comprehensive�survey�of�London�toilet�provision�for�several�years.��
The�Committee�received�evidence�from�a�range�of�vulnerable�groups�that�have�specific�needs�regarding�
toilet�provision�-�both�in�terms�of�the�number�of�toilets�and�the�available�facilities�-�such�as�older�people,�
disabled�people,�those�with�certain�medical�conditions�and�parents�with�young�children.��The�report�
recommended�much�more�coherent,�standardised�information�about�toilet�provision�be�published�by�the�
Mayor�and�boroughs,�additional�toilet�provision�at�Crossrail�stations,�and�an�extension�of�'community�toilet'�
schemes.�
�
The�report�and�responses�from�the�Mayor�and�Crossrail�are�available�at:�
http://www.london.gov.uk/publication/public-toilets-london��


Mental
health


In�2011,�the�former�Health�and�Public�Services�Committee�met�with�mental�health�experts�from�the�NHS�
and�the�voluntary�sector�to�discuss�changes�needed�to�ensure�people�with�mental�health�problems�can�

access�the�right�care�quickly,�and�the�implications�of�efficiency�savings�and�NHS�reorganisation�on�mental�

health�services.�One�of�the�key�issues�discussed�was�the�need�for�a�greater�focus�on�mental�health�
promotion�and�prevention�among�young�people.��Following�this�meeting,�the�Chair�wrote�to�the�Mayor’s�

Advisor�on�Health�and�Families�recommending�that�the�new�London�Health�Improvement�Board�considers�

developing�a�workstream�into�mental�health�promotion�among�children�and�young�people.�The�Advisor�
agreed�to�explore�opportunities�for�working�with�NHS�London�on�this�important�issue.��




Page 50



        

Looked
after
children

In�2012,�the�former�Health�and�Public�Services�Committee�held�a�meeting�on�the�experiences�and�outcomes�
of�London's�looked�after�children.�One�of�the�key�issues�discussed�was�the�shortage�of�foster�carers�in�
London.�This�shortage�means�that�children�may�be�moved�frequently,�placed�with�families�who�are�not�able�
to�meet�their�needs,�or�placed�with�families�that�are�not�a�good�match�in�terms�of�ethnicity�or�religion.��To�
help�tackle�this�issue,�the�Committee�called�on�the�Mayor�to�liaise�with�London�Councils�about�the�feasibility�
and�benefits�of�a�London-wide�campaign�to�recruit�foster�carers.�In�response,�the�Mayor�agreed�to�explore�
the�potential�for�a�London-wide�campaign�with�London�Councils,�and�to�work�with�partners�to�consider�
what�further�work�could�take�place�to�encourage�more�Londoners�to�foster�children.��
�

Olympic
Ticketing


The�former�Economy,�Culture�and�Sport�Committee�published�several�reports�on�the�ticketing�arrangements�
for�the�2012�Olympic�and�Paralympic�Games,�most�recently�the�report�Sold�Out?�in�February�2012,�which�
provided�an�update�on�the�progress�of�previous�recommendations.��The�Committee�had�previously�pressed�
for�LOCOG�to�make�as�many�tickets�as�possible�available�at�affordable�prices,�and�the�report�recommended�
greater�transparency�in�the�ticket�sale�process�to�ensure�this.��The�report�also�highlighted�concerns�with�the�
small�number�of�tickets�sold�to�disabled�people�and�their�carers�through�the�Ticketcare�scheme,�and�
recommended�LOCOG�publish�more�comprehensive�information�about�this.�
�
The�report�and�the�response�from�LOCOG�are�available�at:�http://www.london.gov.uk/publication/sold-out��


Tackling
Childcare
Affordability
in
London


The�former�Health�and�Public�Services�Committee�investigated�the�cost�of�childcare�in�the�capital�following�
an�assessment�of�data�that�showed�that�childcare�costs�in�the�capital�are�up�to�a�third�higher�than�elsewhere�
in�the�UK�-�an�average�of�£119�a�week�for�a�child�under�two�years�old.�Furthermore�on�average,�London�
families�spend�a�larger�proportion�of�their�income�on�childcare�and�travel�than�people�in�the�rest�of�the�
country.��However,�Londoners�do�not�get�extra�financial�help�to�meet�higher�childcare�costs,,�with�the�result�
that�just�over�half�of�London�mothers�with�dependent�children�work�compared�to�almost�two�thirds�across�
the�UK.��
�
The�report�made�a�number�of�recommendations�to�central�government,�London�Councils�and�the�Mayor.�
Responses�have�been�broadly�supportive�of�the�recommendations�made�and�further�work�is�underway�to�
follow�through�the�work�already�done.�A�more�detailed�update�can�be�read�here:�
http://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/s17341/Childcare%20Affordability%20in%20London
%20final.pdf.�




A
review
of
the
Mayor’s
Time
for
Action
strategy
to
tackle
serious
youth
violence


A�Panel�of�Assembly�Members�reviewed�progress�with�the�programmes�established�by�the�Mayor�to�tackle�
serious�youth�violence.�In�particular,�it�reviewed�progress�made�with�the�mentoring�programme�designed�to�
support�young�black�boys�at�risk�of�becoming�involved�in�criminal�activity.�Members�of�the�Panel�expressed�
concern�at�the�lack�of�progress�with�the�programme�and�recommendations�were�made�to�ensure�regular�
updates�were�received�by�Assembly�members�and�to�improve�the�transparency�of�the�process�by�which�
grants�are�awarded�by�the�Authority,�particularly�those�to�small�community�based�organizations�that�come�
together�in�consortia�to�bid�for�significant�sums�of�funding.�����


Youth
Unemployment

At�its�meeting�of�7�March�2012,�the�Assembly�called�on�the�Mayor�to:�



i.� Urgently�establish�a�'task�force'�or�similar�body�to�coordinate�and�develop�London's�response�
to�this,�including:��

ii.�� Identifying�the�additional�resources�London�needs�from�the�government�to�help�equip�our�
people,�and�economy,�for�new�opportunities�for�growth.�

Page 51



        

iii.��Ensuring�that�the�GLA�and�Functional�Bodies�play�an�active�role�in�participating�and�
promoting�the�Government’s�Youth�Contract�due�to�start�on�April�1st�that�will�include:�

• Wage�subsidies�and�new�work�experience�placements.��

• Incentive�payments�to�encourage�employers�to�take�on�young�apprentices.��

• A�new�programme�to�help�the�most�disengaged�16�and�17�year�olds�-�getting�them�back�
to�school�or�college,�onto�an�apprenticeship�or�into�a�job�with�training.�

 

Fair
Pay
across
London

The�Assembly�debated�the�Fair�Pay�Mark,�awarded�to�private�and�public�sector�organisations�that�commit�to�
publishing�and�reducing�or�limiting�the�difference�between�the�highest�and�lowest�paid�staff.����The�
Assembly�noted�that�the�Fair�Pay�Mark�could�assist�in�implementing�the�fair�pay�ratio�policy�and�reducing�
pay�inequality�in�London�as�well�as�within�the�GLA�Group.�



This�Assembly�called�on�the�Mayor�of�London�“to�endorse�a�Fair�Pay�Mark,�and�promote�it�through�
procurement�and�other�opportunities.”��
 

Assembly
Events
and
Public
Engagement


�
The�Assembly�organises�events�and�meetings�to�enable�Londoners�to�engage�in�the�government�of�London.��
It�also�held�events�to�recognise�the�important�contribution�made�by�a�wide�spectrum�of�Londoners�to�
starting�to�rebuild�their�communities�following�the�civil�disturbances�of�August�2011,�to�mark�International�
Women’s�Day,�and�to�celebrate�the�90th�anniversary�of�the�Royal�British�Legion�and�the�work�it�does�to�
support�elderly�and�disabled�veterans�and�their�families.�It�jointly�hosts�an�annual�Holocaust�Memorial�
Ceremony�in�partnership�with�the�Mayor,�the�Holocaust�Memorial�Day�Trust�and�the�Holocaust�Education�
Trust.���
�
The�Assembly�conducts�a�proactive�programme�of�engagement�with�schools,�colleges�and�universities�in�
London.��This�includes�briefings�about�the�work�of�the�Assembly�and�a�programme�of�visits�to�City�Hall�for�
Mayor’s�Question�Time.��
�
Working�with�the�London�Civic�Forum�the�Assembly�organises�briefing�sessions�for�representatives�of�
community�groups�to�help�them�understand�how�best�to�influenced�policy�at�City�Hall.��
�
�
�

Work
Carried
out
by
Individual
Assembly
Members


�
Assembly�Members�serve�as�members�of�the�London�Fire�and�Emergency�Planning�Authority�(LFEPA),�and�
they�pursue�equalities�issues�through�that�body�as�well�as�through�their�Assembly�work.�
�
Members�meet�the�Mayor�in�public�ten�times�per�year�for�Mayor’s�Question�Time.��Members�ask�questions�
to�hold�the�Mayor�to�account,�and�these�have�covered�a�range�of�issues�relating�to�diversity�and�social�
inclusion.�
�
The�Assembly�debates�motions�at�plenary�meetings,�and�Members�present�petitions�on�behalf�of�Londoners.��
Details�of�motions�and�petitions�can�be�found�on�the�GLA’s�website.�
�
Finally,�Members�in�their�representative�roles�carry�out�a�range�of�activities�to�promote�equality�of�
opportunity. 

 

Page 52



Appendix 3

Page 53



Page 54



 

                                                                    

�
City�Hall,�The�Queen’s�Walk,�London�SE1�2AA�
Enquiries:
020
7983
4100
minicom:
020
7983
4458
www.london.gov.uk






 

Subject:  The
Mayor’s
Mentoring
Programme�


Report
to:
 GLA
Oversight
Committee




Report
of:

Executive
Director
of
Secretariat 



Date:
28
November
2012




This
report
will
be
considered
in
public
 






1.
 Summary



�

1.1 This�report�provides�background�information�for�the�Committee’s�review�into�the�development�of�

the�Mayor’s�mentoring�programme.��








2.
 Recommendation
�


2.1 That
the
Committee
puts
questions
to
Munira
Mirza,
Deputy
Mayor
for
Education
and


Culture,
and
notes
the
discussion.









3.
 Background



�

3.1 The�Mayor’s�response�to�the�Time�for�Action�Panel’s�report�into�the�Mayor’s�strategy�for�tackling�

serious�youth�violence�was�discussed�at�the�October�meeting�of�the�Oversight�Committee.1�At�that�

meeting�it�was�agreed�that�the�Police�and�Crime�Committee�would�monitor�development�of�Project�

Daedalus,�which�supports�young�people�in�custody�for�the�first�time�(including�Heron�Unit),�while�

this�committee�would�continue�to�monitor�the�other�programmes.�This�meeting�reviews�progress�

with�the�Mayor’s�mentoring�programme,�which�comes�under�Project�Titan.�

�

3.2 The�Mayor’s�response�stated�that�under�the�grant�agreement�with�the�University�of�East�London�

(UEL)�led�consortium�training�had�been�provided�to�215�mentees�and�over�100�mentor�relationships�

had�been�established�by�the�end�of�March�2012.�The�most�recent�year�to�date�figures�are�for�279�

trained�mentors�and�122�mentor/mentee�established�relationships.�This�is�well�below�the�original�

ambition�for�1,000�mentoring�relationships�to�be�established�over�a�three�year�period.�No�interim�

evaluation�report�is�yet�available�despite�the�mentoring�programme�being�in�operation�for�15�

months.��

                                                 
1The�Panel’s�report�can�be�found�here:�http://www.london.gov.uk/publication/time-reflect-development-and-evolution-
mayor%E2%80%99s-strategy-tackle-serious-youth-violence��
The�Mayor’s�response�can�be�found�here:�
http://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/s18246/Response%20to%20the%20Time%20for%20Action%20Panel%20R
e.pdf��

Agenda Item 5

Page 55



        

�

�

3.3 The�Mayor’s�response�also�indicated�that�the�programme’s�delivery�model�was�being�altered�and�

MD�10522�sets�out�the�intention�to�vary�the�grant�agreement�in�the�following�ways:�

�

• To�vary�the�grant�agreement�currently�in�place�with�UEL�to�a�revised�total�value�of�no�more�
than�£320,000,�which�will�continue�to�fund�the�live�relationships�(approximately�100)�to�a�
full�12�months;��

• To�provide�grant�funding�of�no�more�than�£260,000�to�existing�local�delivery�partners�who�
have�been�part�of�the�UEL�consortium.�Organisations�will�be�paid�based�on�the�outcomes�
they�deliver�via�a�payment�by�results�model.�The�grant�funding�directly�to�LDPs�will�fund�the�
delivery�of�approximately�300�additional�mentoring�relationships�lasting�for�the�duration�of�
12�months;�and�

• It�is�proposed�that�the�funding�remaining�(from�the�total�programme�budget�of�£1.3�million),�
totalling�at�least�£720,000�will�be�allocated�to�a�new�Mayor’s�Mentoring�Fund�which�will�be�
administered�by�a�managing�agent�on�behalf�of�the�GLA.�The�Fund�will�provide�grants�
between�£75,000�and�£200,000�to�organisations�to�fund�twelve�month�mentoring�
relationships�to�at�least�650�boys�who�are�at�risk�of�offending.��

This�will,�if�successful,�ensure�that�the�overall�programme�target�to�support�1,000�black�boys�is�
achieved.�
�

3.4� Full�details�are�set�out�in�the�table�below:�

Programme
component
 2011/12
 2012/13
 2013/14
 2014/15
 Programme

spend


Variation�to�UEL�
agreement�(for�matched�
relationships�in�existing�
programme)�

£217,800� £51,100*� £51,100*� £0� Up�to�
320,000**�

GLA�direct�grant�funding�
(for�existing�LDPs)�

£0� £56,000� £172,000� £32,000� Up�to�£260,000�

Mayor’s�Mentoring�Fund�� £0� £78,000� £451,000� £191,000� No�less�than�
£720,000��

Evaluation� £0� £23,000� £25,000� £25,000� £73,000�
�

Total
 £217,800
 £208,100
 £699,100
 £248,000
 £1,373,000


*�This�is�an�estimated�spend�and�will�be�confirmed�prior�to�the�variation�to�the�grant�agreement�for�
the�existing�programme�once�the�financial�reconciliation�has�been�completed.�Work�to�date�has�
confirmed�that�the�revised�lifetime�funding�to�UEL�is�not�expected�to�exceed�£320,000�in�total.�
**Projected�spend�subject�to�financial�reconciliation�with�UEL.��

�

Source:�MD�1052��










                                                 
2�http://www.london.gov.uk/who-runs-london/mayor/mayoral-decisions/md1052��

Page 56



        

4.
 Issues
for
Consideration�

�

4.1� In�her�role�as�Deputy�Mayor�for�Education�and�Culture,�Munira�Mirza�has�a�responsibility�to�advise�

and�lead�on�the�construction,�development�and�delivery�of�policy�and�strategy�to�meet�the�Mayor’s�

priorities�in�relation�to�culture�and�education.�She�will�be�accompanied�at�the�meeting�by�the�GLA’s�

Assistant�Director�of�Health�&�Communities,�Amanda�Coyle.�

�

4.2� There�are�a�number�of�issues�that�Members�may�wish�to�pursue�with�invited�experts�including�the�

reasons�for�changing�the�mentoring�grant�arrangement,�the�reasoning�behind�the�new�proposals,�

what�the�next�steps�are�in�terms�of�delivering�the�new�structures�and�the�role�of�the�Mentoring�

Champion�through�the�start-up�process.���

�

�

5.
 Legal
Implications

�

5.1 The�Committee�has�the�authority�to�do�what�is�recommended�in�this�report.�



6.
 Financial
Implications

�

6.1 There�are�no�financial�implications�arising�directly�from�this�report.�

�

�

�

�

�

List
of
appendices
to
this
report:


None�

�

Local
Government
(Access
to
Information)
Act
1985


List�of�Background�Papers:�

None�

�

Contact�Officer:� Richard�Derecki,�Scrutiny�Team�Manager�

Telephone:� 020�7983�4899�

E-mail:� Richard.derecki@london.gov.uk�

�

  

 

Page 57



Page 58

This page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                                    

�
City�Hall,�The�Queen’s�Walk,�London�SE1�2AA�
Enquiries:
020
7983
4100
minicom:
020
7983
4458
www.london.gov.uk




 

Subject:�The
Mayor’s
Education
Inquiry�


Report
to:
 GLA
Oversight
Committee




Report
of:

Executive
Director
of
Secretariat 



Date:
28
November
2012�



This
report
will
be
considered
in
public 






1.
 Summary



�
1.1 This�report�provides�background�information�for�a�discussion�with�the�Deputy�Mayor�for�Education�

and�Culture�about�recommendations�made�by�the�Mayor’s�education�inquiry�and�the�Mayor’s�
response�to�them.�





2.
 Recommendation�




2.1 That
the
Committee
notes
the
report
as
background
to
its
question
and
answer
session

with
the
Deputy
Mayor
for
Education
and
Culture.





3.
 Background





3.1 The�Mayor�announced�the�establishment�of�an�education�inquiry�in�November�2011.��The�inquiry�

published�its�final�report�(“Going�for�Gold�–�Turning�achievement�into�excellence�in�London’s�

schools”)1�in�October.�
�

3.2 The�inquiry�set�out�two�major�drivers�for�future�education�provision:�the�growth�of�London’s�

population�means�there�is�increasing�pressure�on�school�places�–�90,000�more�are�needed�by�2016�–�
and�at�the�same�time�there�is�rising�demand�for�youngsters�to�develop�skills�in�science,�technology,�

engineering�and�maths�(STEM),�as�well�as�modern�foreign�languages.�

�
3.3.� The�inquiry’s�final�report�made�12�recommendations�which�the�Mayor�has�broadly�accepted�and�his�

response�is�attached�as�Appendix
1.�In�particular,�the�Mayor�committed�to:�

• Set�up�a�unit�called�New
Schools
for
London,�to�identify�new�sites�for�free�school�groups.�
Working�closely�with�the�boroughs�and�Department�for�Education,�the�Mayor�wants�to�be�able�
to�utilise�land�and�some�of�the�property�portfolio�owned�by�the�Greater�London�Authority.�

�

• The�establishment�of�a�new�London
Schools
Excellence
Fund,�to�promote�teaching�excellence�
and�help�tackle�underperformance,�particularly�in�literacy�and�numeracy,�science,�technology,�
engineering�and�maths.�The�DfE�has�said�it�will�support�this�Fund�in�principle,�subject�to�further�
detailed�discussion�about�design�and�objectives.�

                                                 
1�http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/The%20Mayor's%20Education%20Inquiry%20Final%20Report.pdf�

Agenda Item 6

Page 59



        

�

• A�London
Curriculum
for�lower-secondary�schoolchildren,�using�the�city�itself�as�an�
educational�tool,�through�its�rich�history,�role�on�the�national�and�international�stage�and�its�
unparalleled�cultural�assets,�to�the�benefit�of�all�young�Londoners.�

�

• The�creation�of�the�Gold
Club,�an�annual�scheme�to�identify�and�celebrate�schools�that�are�
achieving�greatest�success,�including�amongst�the�most�disadvantaged�pupils,�and�share�their�
practice�more�widely.��





4.
 Issues
for
Consideration�

�
4.1 The�Deputy�Mayor�for�Education�and�Culture�has�been�invited�to�attend�the�meeting�to�take�

questions�from�Members�on�the�findings�and�recommendations�of�the�Inquiry�and�to�set�out�next�

steps�for�the�Mayor�and�GLA.�The�Committee�will�use�the�discussion�to�inform�its�future�work�plans�
and�decide�how�further�follow-up�work�should�be�pursued.��

�

�
5.
 Legal
Implications




5.1 The�Committee�has�the�authority�to�do�what�is�recommended�in�this�report.�




6.
 Financial
Implications

�

6.1 There�are�no�direct�financial�implications�arising�from�this�report.�

�
�

�

�
List
of
appendices
to
this
report:


�

Appendix�1
–�The�Mayor’s�response�to�the�Education�Inquiry�final�report:��
http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Mayor%20of%20London's%20Response%20to%20Panel%

20Report.pdf��

�
�
�

Local
Government
(Access
to
Information)
Act
1985


List�of�Background�Papers:�

None�
�

Contact�Officer:� Richard�Derecki�

Telephone:� 020�7983�4899�

E-mail:� Richard.derecki@london.gov.uk�

�

Page 60



�
�

�

�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�

�

MAYOR OF 

LONDON’S 

RESPONSE TO THE 

EDUCATION 

INQUIRY PANEL’S 

FINAL REPORT 

Appendix 1

Page 61



 
MAYOR OF LONDON’S RESPONSE TO THE EDUCATION INQUIRY PANEL’S FINAL REPORT 

�

�

������	
��	��
��
������
���	��
������������	������������������
���
��
���������
�����

��
��	�����	��
������
����
�	�	������

�����

��������
��������	�����������	��������������

��	�������
�������������	�	����
�������	���	��������������
�����������

�����
�������� ���

	������
����	��
����
�����
�������
�����������
�
�	��
��
����	�	��	���
��
�������
����

�	������������
����	��������������
����
���������
 ���

�

�����
��������	
��������	���	�����
���	��	���!
 ��������
�����
���
��
�����	���	�������	����	
�	���


�������
��������"
�������� ��������
����	����	��	�����	����
��	������
������	
���
��	���


���������� �	������������
��
����	�������������	�
�
������������	����
���	������	����	���

#�	�������
���������������������$�������	��	���
��	���������	��������
���
���	
�������	�	���

�������
�������

�

���%
�� ���&''����	�	�	������	��	��������������	
����#�	����
�(��	�����������������

���	����
��
�����

���������
���������
������)
������*���������
���
����������������������

�
���������
�����
�����
�	��������	�����
���	���������
���� 	�	
���

�

��������������
����	���	������
����������������	���
���	������������	�����	�������	��
���	�����


����
������	
�������	����
�(��������	������������
������#�	��*��+��	���,��-
���.���������

���/������ ����
��������	����
�����

�

���
��������
��
�*������������������������

���
���
���� 
�
������������������	��� �

��
������ �����/���*��
���	�	���������
�����	���	
������(�������
���
�����
��
�����

�

-����
�������
������������
��
�����

�������������
��� ���������������	
�����������

"
�����	�����
�����������������

��������	�������	��������
����������	
���	��
������ ��	����	����

	���	���
�������

��!
 �
���
�	��
�������������	���������	
��
�����	�	������������������� ���&�&���

������	���
����	����	��	������������	���������������	�����������	����������������	���
��
�*��

���

���	��������
���	���	��
����
�	�	
���������!
���
�����	�����

�

�����
�����
� ��
���� 	�	
����
����
����
����	������	���������������
���-���������

��
����	��������
��������
����������������.-���0.�	����-���
�
�������	��	�������

�����1��� !�������������������	�������������������
����� �����	���	�	������������	���	�������


�����
����	����	���
������

�������
�� ���������	����������������	
�����	��
��
��
���

�
����������������

����������

�

2	������������
���(��	��������
�	�����	�	��	�����

�������������������	���
��#�������	���	���

�����
�����	�	�����
�������	�����
��
����������������
���

��#���	�����
�	�	
�����������
�

��
���������������	
��
��������

���	��
������	������
�����������������
�����
�����

��

�����������	����������
�����	����
	���

�

������
�����
�����������������
����
��������
�����������������������/���*��

��
������	
�����

�

Page 62



 
MAYOR OF LONDON’S RESPONSE TO THE EDUCATION INQUIRY PANEL’S FINAL REPORT 

�

3

���������
��� �
������
���
�����(	��	�����
��������������	�	�	�����)�������
�����
���
����

�
���	��������	�����	�����	���	��������
��4'5��
��(	��	���	�	�	��	����
����	����������
����

�
�����

�

������	�	
������������
�������
��	������ �
���	�����
����
����	�	����
������	
�����
�����

��
�����

�

-���	������
���
�����	��������������	
����#�	�����
��	������
��
	���	��
������
�����

 
�
����������
�������

��	���
��������
�������������������
��
���������������	��������	���

���

�������
����	�	�	��	���	����	�	����������	���
����������� 	�	
��	������
��
�����

��

������������
��������������
�������� ���
��
��6
�
���������'���������������
����	��

���������

���
�������
��
��	����	���������������	�����	������

������� 
�
�������
��
��

+
���	����������)
��������
����
���
�����	���	��������	
��������
�������(�����

�
�������

�

7������	������
�����	���
���
��������������
�,��-
���.��������/����������������	��	�	������

����
����	���	
�������������
���	 �����
���	��	��
��������
�����
�
�

�
��������������	�

����������
�

��������������������������������������������������������������� ��������!�������������

���"�����#���� �������$�����
�%��������������#�������&'����	��#&��(������������������

)#��"�������������*��(���+��� �����������������,�����-�����.�������+�����#���������������

�����������������������#����$�+�������� ����(�������������#��"������������(���'����	��#�

�������.����� �#�������������������������+��������/���)��������������������'��#���	��%*�

���(�������+���������������������#����������������-������������������������  �������.�

�

.���
��	������

����
��������
������
����	���	�����
����

�������	
������������	������ �	������

)
���+�� �
�����

������	����	������������� �������� 
������

�����
�������������
����
�����

��

	���
������-�	���	����������	���&'3���

�

�����
��
��	���
����	�	���	����������
����
����������������������	
���
������� 
����
��
��

�����	
��������	���	���&'3��������	��� �	����
������
��
�*������	�����
���	
���
�������
��

(�������
��������
���������������������������
���
���
��	������
�

���������������0������
�%��������������#�������)����������������!���������1���*.������

��/���(����+�����+��"���������������'����	��#������� �����������"����#��������� ��������

������������ ������������������ ������������������� ����$������%��������%$��������%�����

����������������������������$����������%$����������������������.�����(����+����������

������������+� ��������� ����������-�����.�

�

�������������������������������������������������
'��
��
��+
���	��*�������+
��	���
��'8���7��
 ���&'�������3���
��
���
�����
������������	
���
�	�����

Page 63



 
MAYOR OF LONDON’S RESPONSE TO THE EDUCATION INQUIRY PANEL’S FINAL REPORT 

�

5

���	�����������
��
��.��

����(������2������
���������������������	����	
�	�	���2�������	���
��

���������	��� ����
�����	��������&'3��

�

-�	��������	�����	����
������
�������
���9�����������	
��	���
��
�����
��������	����	���9

 ����	������	
�����	�����
�
��(������	������	�������	�����

��������	�������	�����	������

�������	���
���

�������	��������������������
���������
�������	�����	����	����������

����������
�����	��
�����2�����	��� ���
�	���	�����%��:����
��
�	�����������	�����	
����	���

,���
��	�	��������������

��	���
�������������	���
��
��
�������(������
������
�

���������������2������
�%����������(�������������������������(��� �����%��������

��������������������������������������������� �����������#/����"��+���������������������

�����.�������������������#��� ������������+��"�������-����������#����������������������%�

����������������(�����������������������#���������������������� ��������������-��� �

�((����-�������#�����-�����"�.��

�

�����������������
��	�����	��	�������
����������	�	����
���	�����������
��������������

���	������
���	���������������	���	��������������������� !�����
���������	���(��
���
����	��

���� ����	�	��������
��������
��
��.��

����(������2������
�

���������������3������
�%������������� ��� ��-�����������(���������(�������*�������

����#����%����� �� ���#%�+��"����+���������������������������� �����(������4����5��46�

7�������������������-�������������� � ��������������(������������ ��-������������

�����-������������� ���������������������������$��� ��%����������������.�

�

�
��
�������
��
�������	���/��	��;������<�	������������
������	
��� ���������������
������ �

�
���
�����
���(������������	��	������	���	���	
���������
����	�������
����������	�������

������ ���
�����
�����

�

�������������
��	����	�������
��
��/;<�%��
����
�����������������	���&''�����
�������	�
��

=���������
����*���
!���	���	�� 
�
���������	���(��
���
�������������������	�����
�������

���	�	�����
��(�����>���	�	������
���������	�	���������	������
��
��.��

����(������2������
�

���������������8������
�%�������������������&�������	���������&$��������������%������(����

��� �����-��%���������%������������������������������������.������+�����#����  ������#%���

����� ����������(��-����$����������-���������������� ��������� �����������������������$�

������������������������������.�

�

���������������	������	#�������	
���������
����
��������

���?��
��
��	���������
��
��

+���	�������	�������
��9��
���������

���
��������	������
�������������
���������

���������	���
�����

���� !�������
��������	��*��(���
��	�������	������
�����������������	���

(��
���	������������
����	���
���� ����
����
�
�
�

Page 64



 
MAYOR OF LONDON’S RESPONSE TO THE EDUCATION INQUIRY PANEL’S FINAL REPORT 

�

@

���������������9������
�%����������#���������������������$�(�����������������51�6�����

�����������������57�6�������������������� ��%���������-��� �#���������"��#��+��������

��������������#���������������$��������������������������-������%����� �� ������ �������

������*��������������(�������"����������.�����������������������-��� ������+�+�%�����

���������������  �%��(�����,:�����%�+��"� ���������������� ��-��������������

�  ���������� �.�

�

-��������
����	����	����	��������	���*�������
������	�������	����
����
���������
�����

�
��'8�9��5��
�����
��
������������	
�������"
�����	��	�����
������������������������	���	�����

	���
���
�����
���������
	���� 
�����	�������	
����������

��#���	����
���(��	�������

���������	���������

����	���
�����
��
���	
���������	
��
����	���	�����

�

���������������������	����
������'&&�&&&��
��������	���	���	���
��
�� ��������
����	��

����� �����������
��
�������������
�����#�	���
�����
��
�����	�����������	
��������	�����
�

������	������
����
���
�����

�

������
���	
�����������

�������
��	��	
�	�����	��
�������������
������������	������
�	���

������
����
�	�����
������	�������-���
�����������
�(��
��������	���������������)���

�
���� �	����
�����
���	���
��������������	
��	���
��
�����

���� �
����	���� �������
����

���������	
������������	��
����	
��� 
�������� 
����������	��������	
����
�	��������	���(��
��

�	����
��
��+
���	��*�:
����/
���������	
������.�	����6
������������
��
��������	��/�����
��

��	���
�����
��������	����
��������������	������

���� ��	������������ 
�
�������
�

���������������;������
�%��*���((����������� ��%��� �������������������� ������������

�� ��-�����"��+����#������������7�$��� ��-����������(����������-����#������ ���,�9��������

 ���+�%��������������������������������������������-��������#��������(�����$����� ���������

��������� �����������������.�

�

���	���(��
���
����	������ ��
����
���	����
������	
��8���
�

���������������<������
�%����������������� ������%������-��������������������������������

���-�������������������  ���������� $����������$�+��"��! ������������/�#��  ����������$�

����������������������������!���������1��������+��"�+����1����������$����-��������$�

#�������������������� ��%���.�

�

���������
�����������������	
���
��
����	�	���
����	�����	��������
������
��������	
����


���
������������
������
��������&'&������ �	�������	�
��=����������
�	��*���
������������

���
�*��.��
��������	�������
������	�����	������	������ 
�
�����	����	�������	
�����
����	���

	��
���	��������������
����	�����	������������=�	��<�*�������
�������
���	���������	
��

	���	���	
���	���
��
���
��	�������
�6�����<A*��#���	���������
��������������

�

���	����
��	����
��
����	������ 
�
����������
��������
����	���	
���	���
��
���
����������	�����
��

��	����
����������	������
��

������
��������	���	�����
���(��	�������
����
��
����	�	���
����

 ������
�����	�� �����������	 ���
���	�����	�������

Page 65



 
MAYOR OF LONDON’S RESPONSE TO THE EDUCATION INQUIRY PANEL’S FINAL REPORT 

�

8

���������������=������
�%�������������� �����������������#��������#��+����������������

�������$���������,�������-�����-�����������"��������������'��� ������==3�'��� $���������

%����� �� ���(���������-��������#��"��������#������ �����������%��������#�������-���������

����������������������  ���������.�

�

������������
��
��	���������
��(��������	���	�	����������
�����
��
���
����������	�������

	�����

�������	���(��
����������	�	
���������
���� ��������
����

���	�������
������	����	��������

��
�	�	���	��
����	
����

�

����������������>������
�%�������'����������+��"�+����#������������������ ��������

(�������������5�(�6������-��� � ��,��������������������������%�����(��������������%�(���

 ������������ ��-�������(�������� �����.���

�

-��)����������������������9�
��
�����

���
�����
!��	
������	���
�� 
�
���������	���(��
���
����

����(�������	���
��
������� 
�
�����������
���������
����
������	�����
����
�����
��

������	���	�����
�����

��������	��������	��������	����
�����
�����	������ 
�
���������,���
��

	���	��	��������
�������

�

�����������������������
�%��*���((�����������+��"�+����#�������$��������	������������

�����(����� ��%����������������������������  �������(�������������-��� ���������������$�#%�

������(%�������������������������������(�����������.�

�

�
��
��	�����	�����������
�����
�����

���������������������������������)
�����������

�
� ���	�������	����
�� ��	������������	������������
����������� ��������	
���)
����������

�	����
��	����
�������������
���
��
���
����-������������
�������������
�����������������	��

��	�	����
�������

�

�������	������/���������������

���������������	��
�������
��	�����	����
���
�	���
���

��

#���	�����������������	������
������ ������
�	����
����������������	���
���
��������

�������������#���	���
����
�	�	
��	���
���

���
�����2�����

�������������	�������������������

��	�����������	��	����-��������
�����������

����������������
��
����	����
��
��� ���

���

���������
�	��
��������	���
��	��������������������

�

��������
�������������	
��
��������

���	��������	��������������	����������	���	�����)����

������%��.��

����
���
��
���-�	���	����
���	����������	���	������ 
�
���������,����
������	���

�	����
������
���������

����
�����������������	�������	�������
�	�������������	
������

�
��	����������
���
��
����	����������
������� 
������

������������)���	��	������	#���
�	�	
��

�
�����������

����
��������������
��
��	�����
����	�	������)�����
���������
��'&� �	��	����
��

�	����
���������� �����,����
��������

�����
��������

�

���	����������)
��������
����
������
�����
���
����
���	����	���������������������
��
������

������	�	
��������	���	�������
��
���	��������
�����	�����������������

�

Page 66



 
MAYOR OF LONDON’S RESPONSE TO THE EDUCATION INQUIRY PANEL’S FINAL REPORT 

�

B

����������������0������
�%��������������	�������������������������������#����������(���

����-���-������������������������������� �����%�,�����(��������������%�,�������� �����

�������������������.�

�

��������	��	�����	��
���������������	���(��
���
���
��
���	����
��	 �����������
������������

�����	
���
�������������%��.��

����
���
��
����	����
��	���	����������	���	���,�������

 
�
���������
���������
�������

�

�

	�������
�%����� ����������(���%���������������

�

+����������	����
���������������	
����#�	��*����
������	
����	����
���	���	��������
������������

��
�����������	�	�	��	����
���
�����
��
�����.
��
������������

�9 �������	��
����������

�
�����
��	����
�����
���	��
����	�	����������!
 ���������

�

������������
9��
��
��������
���������
���������	��	���
��
�����
����������-�0�
��
��

�����	��������	��-����1�?�%	���	����������������������	��	�����	����������6(�������

�������	��6(����-���	��	���
��������
�����

�����
��	������

��������	���������
�����
���

�����	������	��������	����
���	������������	���������
��	�����
���������
���
�����


��
����	�	��	���
��
���-�
�����������
���������	�����	������	��	�$�����
�������������	��

"
����
������������<�	���	���-���	����+
����	��)���	������	������������
��	������
����

-�����
����
���
��
���

�

�����	���
��	�����
���
����	����
���������
��������
�����
����	������������
�����
���

���
�������-����
��
�����������+��	���������
�������	�����
�	�����
����
��'�&&&� �����

 
�����
��������	���
��
����	��� ��������
����	�����
���������-��=:
�������*���
������	��

���	�����	�
�����
������
�����
�����	��'�&&&��������
��������������������
���
�����
����

���	�����	�����	��������
���
��
����

�

-���
�����	������������������	������������	����������

����	�	���������
�������	�������������

��
�	�	������	����	�	
��	���
��
����	��������

����-�������������������������&&&����	��������

	����	��������������	����
��
����	����&&����

���	���&'���

�

����������-����
��
�����������
�	����������
������
��=������	��+�� �*��
� ���������	��

�
��
�����

���������	�����	��������������
��	����	����������
��	��
���	��
����	���	
����-�	��

��
�������	����
�	���
���
�����
��*�� ���	
���������	������	����������
���	����	��

���	���	
����7���������������	����
�������	���������@����

��������	���'�&&&����	�������'&9'5�

�����
�����

�

���������	����
�����
����
���
�����
���	��
��

��!
 ���������	�	�������������������

��
������
����������� 	�	
���������
���@&�&&&�������	���	���������	���
��
��
�������(���
���

�����������������
����������
����	�	������������
��'&&�&&&� ��,�� ���&'����
��
��	���
��

 ������������������
�	���������	���	�����	
��	��������������+	���"��������������������?�
���

����������������������	���3�&&&�������	���	������������
������)���)�
����

Page 67



 
MAYOR OF LONDON’S RESPONSE TO THE EDUCATION INQUIRY PANEL’S FINAL REPORT 

�

C

�� �	��	��	������	����
��	�����	�	
��������
����
���
���
�����
�����
��������	���
�� �
�	���

%��-�0%
��	������
������������	
������-��	�	��1�����4'&�	��	
��:
����/�
������������� �����

���
����.
�	���2������	�����	�����������
�����
�������'5��
�'B��������������	��
������	
���

���
������������	�	����/�
!�����	����������
��
���
�����
����	���
����������������	�������
����
��

�
�����
�����
����� ��(��������
�����

�����
���	�������	����	��	����	�������	�� 	�	�	��

�����������������
����
���
����
���������

�

���������
��������������������	�����
!��������� ��������
����.
�	���2�����
�������
����8�&&&�

'C�?��5�����
����
��D
 ��������
����������	����	�	������
������	��
������	�����������9�	��

���
�������
������'39����
�����������������	������� ��(��	�����������
����/��������

�	��� �����	��
���	�����	�������
�����
���	�����	�������	�	����
�	��������	��������
��������


����	���	
����

�

�������
�����	����
��
��+
���	����
�����
������=6����
��-����*���
���������	����������

����
�������	�������
��	���
�������
!�����
��/��	��;������<�	���0/;<�1�	���&'&9''�����

�������	�������� �	��	���
������
��
��/;<�%��
������

-�����
�*��2�����
���
��
������	������������	�����	�������� �	����	���&&C�����������	��
��

��
��������
�����
����
�����
���
�������������������������������������������
����������	��

������
��
���=:
�����
��
���
��	��*����	�������������3B@��
�����
���	��
����
�����
��

������	���	����
������-��2�������
�������
�(�	�	���	�	�	��	����
�����
�����	��������

����	����*��

�����	�����	������
�������(�����������?����	��6���������	�����
�	������������ ��������

�
�@�&&&���	��������

����	��������	��E
������;��	���"����	�����
�	���������
���
�
��

�	����������
����
�
�����&&&���	�������
�����������	����	�����	�����	�����

�

��������
���
�����
����
������	����
�������������������������
�	�	�� ��	������� �	�������

�&&F���������	��4'@�@��	��	
���
���� �	�����.�
����2�����
�������	�������
��	�����������
�����

�
��
���&'��7����	������/�������	��)�����-��2����	���	������ ��	�	����
�����
������
����

	��������	��B8���
��	������	�	�	���
�������������
����
��
��	���������
����
����0����������	�
��1$�


���3�@&&�'89�@�����
������	�	����� �	�	������	�	���0�����	�
��1$������3���
!����	���������
��

��
������	�����	����������9�@��0�������������	�
��1�����������4B��	��	
���	����
�� ����	�� ���
�

�
��	��������
����������������
��
�	�������&'��)������

�

����&'&������ �	����������	����-�����
�G��2�����
��:
�������	�	�������	���������	���
���4'�5��


����	������
�	������	����	���	����������	�������&''�����	���������������
��	���'88��	������������

B9''�����
������
�����
�����
�������
���
���
��	�������	�����
����-����������
��	�����
�������


����	���������������
��������
���	���
��
�G���
����
���	
�������	�	����	����	�����

�������

���	�������������
��	��� 
�
����*����	�����	����������

�����

�

2	�������������
��	��	����
���
������������
����	
���������� ��-�����
����
���
��
��0-��1��
��

��	����������
�����
����-�	��	������������� �����������������H	��7��������������

�	��
�����������
���� ��,�;������
��
��
����
������
����
���
�����
��
����	�������	
������

���	�	�����

�

Page 68



 
MAYOR OF LONDON’S RESPONSE TO THE EDUCATION INQUIRY PANEL’S FINAL REPORT 

�

F

)	���������
����
��	������
�����
��	����
�����
���	��
�������	���	����������
�������	����
��

-����
�	���
�������������
����	
���
��������	����	�	�����
�����
����	
���!
��� ����������	��

�	���������	
�����

�

��!����� ��

�

���������� �	������)�����	���������	�����%��:�������	���	����� �	����������
��	������	���

�����
��*����
������	
�����

�

+�������	���
�����������)��������
���
�������#�	���������
��������������
����
�����
��� 
���	��

������ 	�	
�����
������
���
���
����������
��������
��������� ���
��	��	�������	��
����	���

�
��
�����

�����������)
�������� 
�
������ ��	���������������������
��������
�����������
����

�

���	��������
��	�����
��
���
������	���	�����
���
��
���������������
���	
�	���	���������&''�

������������
�	�	�	���
������
��
��)����
������
��������	����������

�

�������
���
���
������� �	��	������������� �	��	��
����	��*��� 	�	����
���	���(����������

���	���������	��������	����������
���9�	����������	
��
��
�����	����������
�����
�����
�

�
�
�
?�����@�������
���
��
���
��
�

Page 69



�
MAYOR OF LONDON’S RESPONSE TO THE EDUCTAION INQUIRY PANEL’S FINAL REPORT 

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

Page 70



 

                                                     

�
�
�

 

�

Subject:�Proposed�Changes�to�the�GLA�
Establishment��
Report�to:� GLA�Oversight�Committee��
�
Report�of:��Head�of�Paid�Service�

�
Date:�28�November�2012�

This�report�will�be�considered�in�public�
�

�
�
1.� Summary��

�

1.1 This�report�sets�out�the�proposed�changes�to�the�Greater�London�Authority�(GLA)�structure,�in�

particular�in�the�Housing�and�Land�Directorate,�the�Development�and�Environment�Directorate�

and�the�Secretariat�Directorate.��This�report�proposes�the�deletion�of�80�posts�and�the�creation�of�

59�posts�from�the�establishment�by�March�2013,�subject�to�consultation�with�the�Committee,�

staff�and�Unison.�

�

�

2.� Recommendation��
�

2.1 That�the�Committee�responds�to�the�Head�of�Paid�Service�consultation�on�the�proposed�

changes�to�the�establishment�in�the�GLA.��

�

�

3.� Background���
�

3.1 Since�July�2010,�the�Committee�has�been�consulted�on�changes�to�the�GLA’s�responsibilities�and�

therefore�its�establishment�arising�from�the�devolution�of�powers�to�the�Mayor�and�the�Assembly�

and�the�transfer�of�functions�to�the�GLA�arising�as�a�consequence�of�the�Localism�Act�2011.��The�

Committee�will�be�aware�that�these�transfers�were�undertaken�with�a�view�to�future�restructuring�to�

ensure�the�directorates�as�a�whole�were�properly�structured�so�as�to�ensure�consolidation�of�existing�

and�new�responsibilities�within�the�GLA.��This�will�ensure�that�there�is�no�duplication�of�

responsibilities.�

�

3.2 This�report�deals�with�the�proposed�changes�to�the�overall�structure�of�two�directorates�post�

devolution�and�transfer�of�responsibilities�from�the�London�Development�Agency�(LDA),�the�London�

Thames�Gateway�Development�Corporation�(LTGDC)�and�the�Homes�and�Communities�Agency�(HCA�

London).��The�proposals�within�this�report�deal�with�the�two�Directorates�most�directly�affected�by�

devolution,�namely�the�Housing�and�Land�Directorate�and�the�Development�and�Environment�

Directorate.���

�

Agenda Item 8

Page 71



        

3.3 In�addition�the�report�includes�proposals�for�changes�to�the�business�support�function�in�the�

Assembly’s�Secretariat�Directorate�following�a�review�to�ensure�efficiency�and�value�for�money�in�

meeting�future�business�requirements.�

�

3.4 It�is�possible�that�there�will�be�further�proposals�for�other�changes�to�the�establishment�in�the�GLA�

which�will�be�brought�back�to�the�Committee�in�December�and�January�following�a�continuing�

review�of�the�GLA’s�functions.��The�Committee�will�recall�that�I�indicated�that�consideration�of�

restructuring�in�the�GLA�would�be�likely�to�be�staggered�and�implemented,�as�necessary�and�when�

appropriate.��

�

3.5� Consultation�with�Unison�and�staff�is�currently�underway�and�will�continue�until�January�2013.

� �

�

4.� Issues�for�Consideration��
�

4.1 This�report�sets�out�the�posts�proposed�for�deletion�and�creation�in�the�Housing�and�Land�

Directorate,�the�Development�and�Environment�Directorate�and�the�Secretariat�Directorate.��It�is�

proposed�that�the�Development�and�Environment�Directorate�is�renamed�the�Development�and�

Enterprise�Directorate�to�ensure�the�critical�role�in�economic�development�and�regeneration�is�

captured.��

�

4.2 Housing�and�Land�Directorate��

�
4.2.1� The�Directorate�has�a�number�of�critical�responsibilities�including�securing�the�Mayor’s�55000�

affordable�housing�target:�management�of�a�£1.9billion�budget�over�2012-15;�a�land�portfolio�of�
some�600�hectares;�complex�and�high�profile�development�projects�(eg�the�Royal�Docks�and�the�
Greenwich�Peninsula);�and�relationship�management�with�the�boroughs,�housing�associations,�
developers�and�the�London�Legacy�Development�Corporation�(LLDC).��

�
4.2.2� Prior�to�transferring�the�London�HCA�responsibilities�to�the�GLA�the�team�had�been�reduced�by�

40%.�Now�that�the�former�London�HCA�team,�the�former�LDA�Land�and�Property�unit,�the�
London�Thames�Gateway�Development�Corporation�and�the�GLA�Policy�Team�posts�have�been�

brought�under�one�GLA�Directorate,�the�Directorate�needs�to�be�restructured�to�ensure�delivery�

of�Mayoral�priorities�in�the�most�efficient�way�and�to�integrate�the�GLA’s�new�and�existing�
responsibilities�into�one�effective�structure.�

�

4.2.3� The�proposals�have�been�developed�with�the�following�underlying�objectives:�

• To�ensure�business�continuity�during�change;��

• To�result�in�fewer�teams�and�a�streamlined�senior�management,�with�clearer�roles�and�

responsibilities;��

• To�retain�area�focus�and�existing�borough�links;�

• To�strengthen�asset�management�and�major�projects�functions;�and�

• To�integrate�programme�reporting�with�policy�review�and�service�commissioning.�
�

4.4.4� The�proposals�involve�a�consolidation�of�team�to�create�three�new�Units�within�the�Directorate��

• Investment�and�Operations;��

• Programme,�Policy�and�Services;�and��

• Strategic�Projects�and�Property.�

Page 72



        

�
4.2.5� A�summary�of�the�overall�impact�on�the�Housing�and�Land�Directorate�is�as�follows:�

• 23�new�posts�created�(not�including�the�two�LLDC�sponsor�post�which�have�already�been�

created);�

• 30�posts�deleted�(5�of�these�are�vacant),�including�a�post�that�is�proposed�for�transfer�to�

Transport�for�London�(TfL);��

• Proposed�net�loss�of�6�posts�(not�including�the�post�that�transfers);�

• 29�people�at�risk�of�redundancy�(as�some�posts�have�multiple�post�holders);�and��

• The�Directorate�will,�following�the�changes,�comprise�90�posts�

�
4.2.6� The�existing�are�attached�in�Appendix�1�and�new�structures�are�attached�in�Appendices�2-3.��

The�structure�in�the�Investment�and�Operations�Unit�preserves�the�existing�area�relationships�

with�boroughs�and�delivery�partners.�The�Committee�will�note�the�two�London�Legacy�
Development�Corporation�posts�which�were�created�following�the�dissolution�of�the�London�2012�

Directorate.�These�posts�were�subject�to�consultation�with�the�GLA�Oversight�Committee�on�

20�September�2012.�
�

4.2.7� The�following�posts�are�proposed�for�deletion�in�the�Investment�and�Operations�Unit:�

�
�

Posts�proposed�for�deletion�

Area�Communication�Manager�
(G8)�
3�X�Team�Coordinator�(G4)��
Executive�Assistant�(G6)�

�
�
4.2.8 The�Programme,�Policy�and�Services�Unit�brings�together�programme�management�policy�and�

service�commissioning�and�delivery�to�enable�the�GLA�to�use�evidence�of�delivery�to�inform�policy�
and�commissioning.��The�creation�of�a�new�Assistant�Director�role�will�provide�senior�leadership�
and�expertise�to�integrate�and�consolidate�these�areas.��

�
4.2.9 It�is�also�proposed�to�create�a�new�smaller�business�support�team�for�the�directorate.�There�is�a�

proposal�to�create�a�short�term�post�to�provide�programme�monitoring�capacity�on�the�new�
Rough�Sleepers�Social�Impact�Bond�programme�which�will�be�paid�out�of�the�programme�budget�
and�will�be�fully�funded�from�a�specific�Department�for�Communities�and�Local�Government�
grant.��

�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
� �

Page 73



        

Posts�proposed�for�Creation�(11�posts�
in�total)��
�

Posts�proposed�for�Deletion�(12�posts�
in�total)�

Assistant�Director�–�Programme,�Policy�
and�Services�(G15)�

Senior�Manager�Programme�Delivery�-�
Environment�(G13)�
�

Senior�Manager�–�Services��
Commissioning�and�Retrofit�(G13)�
�

Housing�Policy�Manager�(G11)�

Senior�Project�Manager�-�Homelessness�
and�Mobility�(G11)�
�

Housing�Mobility�Manager�(G10)�

Analyst/Programmer�(G9)� Strategy�and�Commissioning�Manager�
(G10)�
�

Programme�Manager�(G9)� Devolved�Housing�Project�Coordinator�
(G9)�
�

Business�Support�Officer�x4�(G5)�
�

Senior�Project�Officer�(G8)�

Communications/Promotions�Officer�(G8)�
�

Policy�Officer�x�2�(G7)�

Social�Impact�Bond�Business�Support�
Officer�(G5)�–�short�term�1�year�

PA/Team�Administrator�(G5)�

� PA/Admin�Support�(G5)�
�

� PA�to�Interim�Project�Director�LTG�(G5)�
�

� Senior�Policy�Officer�(G9)�

�
�
4.2.10� The�new�Strategic�Projects�and�Property�Unit�will�be�responsible�for:�

• strategic�development�projects;��

• procurement,�valuation�and�property�advice;��

• estate�management�and�property�services;��

• developing�the�proposed�GLA�Single�Property�Unit;�and��

• Compulsory�Purchase�Orders.�It�is�proposed�that�this�is�delivered�through�a�shared�service�
with�TfL.��

�
The�proposed�structure�reflects�the�need�to�strengthen�the�directorate�to�support�significant�
responsibilities�for�strategic�projects�and�managing�GLA�assets.�The�new�Assistant�Director�role�
will�provide�expertise�and�leadership�to�the�unit�in�managing�GLA�land�and�assets�and�ensuring�
the�GLA�provides�the�best�possible�advice�to�support�delivery.�The�three�new�Senior�
Development�Managers�will�each�have�a�focus�on�specialist�areas�of�planning,�procurement�
and�design�their�teams�will�manage�both�manage�a�range�of�major�projects�and�offer�specialist�
development�support�to�the�area�teams.��

�
�

�

�
�

�

Page 74



        

Posts�proposed�for�creation�and�deletion�in�the�Strategic�Projects�and�Property�Unit�
�

Posts�proposed�for�Creation�(12�posts�
in�total)�
�

Posts�proposed�for�Deletion�(13�posts�
in�total)�

Assistant�Director�–�Strategic�Projects�and�
Property�(G15*)�
�

Assistant�Director�Land�and�Development�
(G15)�

Senior�Development�Mgr�–�Planning�
(G12*)�
�

Senior�Manager�Land�Acquisitions�(G13)�

Senior�Development�Mgr�–�Procurement�
(G12*)�
�

Senior�Manager�Land�and�Development�
(G13)�

Senior�Development�Mgr�–�Design�(G12*)�
�

Senior�Development�Manager�(G11)�

Single�Property�Unit�Manager�(G11*)�
�

Senior�Project�Manager�(G11)�

Estates�Manager�(Technical)�(G10*)� Project�Manager�Land�and�Acquisitions�
(G10)�
�

Property�Surveyor�(G10*)�
�

Health�and�Safety�Manager�(G10)�

Development�Manager�x�5��(G8*)�
�

Senior�Projects�Officer�Promotion�(G8)�

*�indicative�grades� Programme�Office�Manager�(G7)�
�

� Project�Support�Officer�Royal�Docks�(G6)�
�

� Designer�(G6)�
�

� Programme�Officer�(G5)�
�

CPO�Manager�(linked�to�shared�service�
proposal)�
�

�
�
4.2.11� The�timescales�for�the�process�of�restructuring�the�Housing�and�Land�Directorate�are�set�out�

below.��
�

Collective�consultation�(Lasts�for�90�Days)� 1�Oct�–�7�Jan�

1:1�consultation�meetings�with�staff�� Oct–�Mid�Nov�

Consultation�with�Assembly�and�the�Mayor� 28�Nov�

Deadline�for�comments�on�structure� 4�Jan�

Formal�response�to�consultation�and�final�decisions�on�structure� Early�Jan�

Formal�Head�of�Paid�Service�Decision� Mid�Jan�

Assimilation�and�redeployment� Mid�Jan�–�Mar�

Restructure�completed� Apr�2013�

�

4.3� Development�and�Environment�Directorate��
�

4.3.1� The�proposed�new�name�for�the�directorate,�Development�and�Enterprise,�is�proposed�to�reflect�
the�balance�of�priorities�and�greater�focus�on�economic�regeneration�and�business�engagement.�
The�Directorate�now�manages�significant�levels�of�investment,�including�the�Mayor’s�

Page 75



        

Regeneration�Fund�programme�(£70�million),�the�Outer�London�Fund�programme�(£50�million),�
and�the�Growing�Places�Fund�(£110�million).�The�Directorate�is�also�responsible�for�oversight�of�
the�delivery�of�200,000�jobs�across�the�GLA�group,�complex�and�high�profile�programmes�
(Tottenham,�Croydon),�supporting�the�boroughs�to�deliver�physical�and�economic�regeneration�
projects).�It�also�remains�responsible�for�planning�policy�and�the�delivery�of�the�Mayor’s�planning�
service.���

�
4.3.2� The�new�directorate�will�consist�of�five�distinct�areas�of�work:��

• Environment;�

• Transport;��

• Business�and�Enterprise;��

• Regeneration;�and��

• Planning.���
�
4.3.3� The�proposed�new�regeneration�unit�will�consolidate�the�LDA’s�previous�Capital�Projects�and�

Design�Unit�and�post-riots�regeneration�work�into�a�single�Unit�with�the�responsibility�for�
regeneration�programmes�and�delivery.��The�separation�of�environment�and�transport�aims�to�
provide�clearer�focus�and�direct�accountability�to�the�two�Mayoral�Advisors�involved.�With�the�
proposed�creation�of�two�units�led�by�a�Head�of�Transport�and�Head�of�Environment,�it�is�
proposed�that�there�is�no�longer�a�need�for�an�Assistant�Director�level�post.��Business�and�
Enterprise�Unit�will�be�the�new�name�for�Economic�and�Business�Policy�Unit.�The�existing�
structures�are�attached�in�Appendix�4�and�the�new�structures�are�attached�in�Appendices�5-6.�

�
4.3.4� A�summary�of�the�overall�impact�on�the�existing�Environment�and�Development�Directorate�is�as�

follows:�

• 31�new�posts�created,�including�two�posts�working�on�the�food�programme�which�are�current�
fixed�term�posts;�

• 42�posts�deleted�(4�of�these�are�vacant);�

• Proposed�net�loss�of�11�posts;�

• 31�people�at�risk�of�redundancy;�and�

• The�Directorate�will,�following�the�changes,�comprise�134�posts.�
�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������

4.3.5� Environment�priorities�will�be�consolidated�into�three�policy�and�programme�areas�covering�
waste,�adaptation�and�greening,�and�air�quality�and�energy.��Food�programme�posts�will�transfer�
to�Business�and�Enterprise�Unit�to�reflect�the�emphasis�on�the�business�engagement�focus�of�this�
work.���

�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�

Page 76



        

Posts�proposed�for�Creation�(5�posts)�
�

Posts�proposed�for�Deletion�(11�
posts)�

Head�of�Environment�(G13*)�
�

AD�Transport�and�Environment�(G15)�

Policy�and�Programme�Manager�x3�
(G11*)�
�

Policy�and�Programmes�Manager�x4�(G11)�
�

Business�Co-ordinator�(G6*)� C40�Director�(G14)�
�

� Sustainable�Energy�Strategy�Officer�(G10)�
�

� C40�Policy�Officer�(G8)�
�

� Environment�Programme�Officer�(G10)�
�

� Environment�Programme�Support�Officer�
(G8)�
�

� Senior�Co-ordinator�(G7)�
� �

�
�
4.3.5 The�new,�separate�Transport�unit�will�have�accountability�to�the�Deputy�Mayor�for�Transport,�

with�a�slightly�reduced�number�of�posts.�A�new�project�support�role,�replacing�a�vacant�Grade�7�
policy�officer,�will�support�correspondence�management.��

�
�
�

Posts�proposed�for�Creation�(2�posts)�
�

Posts�proposed�for�Deletion�(4�posts)�

Transport�Manager�(G11*)�
�

Manager�Projects�and�Policy�(G11)�

Project�Support�Officer�(G6*)�
�

Manager�Relationships�and�Governance�
(G11)�
�

� Senior�Policy�Officer�(G9)�
�

� Policy�Officer�(G7)�
�

 

 

4.3.6� The�changes�to�Business�and�Enterprise�involve�creating�permanent�posts�where�work�has�
been�covered�by�fixed�term�posts,�the�integration�of�two�food�programme�posts�from�
Environment�team�and�the�standardisation�of�job�titles�and�grades.� 

�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�

Page 77



        

Posts�proposed�for�Creation�(2�posts)�
�

Posts�proposed�for�Deletion�(2�posts)�

Principal�Policy�Officer�(G10*)�x�2�–�
convert�fixed�term�to�permanent�posts�
�

Principal�Policy�Officer�G10x2�–�currently�
fixed�term�posts�
�

Posts�moved�from�Environment�Unit�
(2�posts)�
�

�

Food�Programme�Officer�(G10)�–�moved�
from�Environment�Unit,�rename�Principal�
Policy�Officer�
�

�

Food�Programme�Support�Officer�(G8)�-
moved�from�Environment�Unit,�rename�
Senior�Policy�Officer�
�

�

�
4.3.7� The�most�significant�change�is�proposed�in�the�Regeneration�Unit�in�order�to�strengthen�the�

directorate�to�support�significant�responsibilities�for�Regeneration�programmes�in�particular�the�
Mayor’s�Regeneration�Programme�fund�and�the�Outer�London�Fund.�The�two�main�areas�of�
focus,�the�delivery�of�projects�and�programmes�and�monitoring�these�programmes�will�each�be�
led�by�senior�managers.�Within�Programme�Delivery�an�area�structure,�reflecting�that�of�Housing�
and�Land�is�proposed.�

�

Posts�proposed�for�Creation�(�20�
posts)�

Posts�proposed�for�Deletion�(25�
posts)�

Senior�Manager�Programme�Delivery�
(G13*)�
�

Senior�Manager�Design�for�London�(G13)�

Senior�Manager�Programmes�(G13*)�
�

Senior�Manager�Capital�Projects�(G13)�

Area�Manager�x3�(G11*)�
�

Project�Manager�(G11)�

Senior�Programme�Monitoring�Officer�
(G10*)�
�

Design�Manager�x3�(G11)�

Project�Support�Officer�x�3�(G6*)�
�

Senior�Designer�x3�(G8)�

Senior�Project�Officer�x�9��(G8*)�
�

Head�of�Regen�Croydon�(G13)�

Programme�Officer�x2�(G8*)� Project�Support�Officer�x�6�(G6)�–�(All�
fixed�term�posts)�
�

� Senior�Project�Officer�x�9�(G8)�(All�fixed�
term�posts)�

�
�
4.3.8� Proposals�are�still�being�developed�for�consultation�on�the�Planning�Unit�which�will�remain�a�key�

part�of�the�Directorate.��I�would�intend�to�bring�back�any�proposals�for�consultation�to�a�later�
meeting�of�the�Oversight�Committee�in�December�2012�or�January�2013.��

�
�
�

Page 78



        

4.3.9� The�indicative�timescales�for�the�process�of�restructuring�Development�and�Environment�are�set�
out�below.��

�

Collective�consultation�(Lasts�for�90�Days)� 15�Oct�–�15�Jan�

1:1�consultation�meetings�with�staff�at�risk� Nov�
Consultation�with�Assembly�and�the�Mayor� 28�Nov�

Deadline�for�comments�on�structure� 15�Jan�

Formal�response�to�consultation�and�final�decisions�on�structure� End�Jan�

Formal�Head�of�Paid�Service�Decision� End�Jan�

Assimilation�and�redeployment� Feb�–�Apr�

Restructure�completed� End�Apr�2013�

�
4.4�� Secretariat�Directorate�Business�Support�
�
4.4.1� A�review�has�been�carried�to�ensure�that�the�business�support�function�within�the�Assembly�

Secretariat�is�structured�so�that�it:�

• is�efficient�and�provides�value�for�money;�and�

• comprehensively�and�effectively�meets�the�current�and�anticipated�future�administration�and�
business�support�requirements�of�the�Secretariat.�

�
4.4.2� The�basis�of�the�proposal�is�that�administrative�support�and�support�for�senior�staff�would�be�

provided�from�within�the�various�teams�in�the�Secretariat�rather�than�a�central�team�or�separate�
PAs�thus�rationalising�the�reporting�and�accountability�arrangements.�The�only�exception�to�this�
would�be�the�support�to�the�Director�and�the�Head�of�Committee�and�Member�Services�who�need�
support�for�a�range�of�functions�that�cross�over�teams�and�responsibilities.�

�
4.4.3� The�amount�of�work�involved�in�supporting�the�new�Mayoral�boards�is�significant�and�therefore�it�

is�proposed�a�new�post�of�Board�Co-ordinator�be�created�to�support�the�Investment�and�
Performance�Board�and�other�Mayoral�boards.��

�
4.4.4� Having�reviewed�the�support�requirements�of�the�Executive�Director�and�Head�of�Committee�and�

Member�Services,�it�is�considered�that�these�can�be�provided�by�one�post�with�support�from�one�
of�the�apprentices�within�the�team.��

�
4.4.5� Two�new�posts�of�Project�Officer�would�be�created�in�the�Scrutiny�Team�and�a�post�of�

Administrative�Officer�in�the�Committee�Services�Team.�
�
4.4.6� Support�for�the�Chair�and�Deputy�Chair�of�the�London�Assembly�in�the�performance�of�their�

Assembly�and�civic�duties�has�been�provided�by�the�Office�Manager�since�the�deletion�of�the�
specific�post�of�PA�to�the�Chair�and�Deputy�Chair�of�the�Assembly�in�the�last�review.��This�review�
proposes�that�given�the�nature�of�this�support�it�would�appropriately�be�provided�by�the�
Communications�Officer�-�Events�and�Publicity in�the�External�Relations�Team.�The�existing�are�
attached�in�Appendix�7�and�new�structure�is�attached�in�Appendix�8.�

�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�

Page 79



        

4.4.7����

Posts�proposed�for�creation�(5�posts)� Posts�proposed�for�deletion�(8�posts)�

Executive�Support�Officer�(G7*)� Executive�Assistant�to�the�Executive�

Director(G7)�
�

Board�Co-ordinator�(G6*)�

�

Office�Manager�(G7)�

Project�Officer�(G5*)�x2� PA�to�Head�of�CMS�and�Head�of�Scrutiny�

(G5)�

�
Administrative�Officer�(G4*)� Executive�Support�Officer�(Committee�

Services�Team)�(G6)�

�
� Administration�Officer�(G4)�x�4�
� �

�

4.4.8� The�indicative�timescales�for�the�process�of�restructuring�Development�and�Environment�are�set�

out�below.�
�

Proposals�announced�to�staff�affected�and�start�of�consultation�period.� 8�Oct�2012�
Opportunity�for�staff�to�comment�on�the�proposals.��Individual�
consultation�meetings�with�directly�affected�staff.�

8�Oct�2012�–�11�Jan�
2013�

End�of�consultation�with�staff�and�Unison� 11�Jan�2013�

Consultation�with�GLA�Oversight�Committee�and�the�Mayor� 28�Nov�2012�

Formal�approval�by�Head�of�Paid�Service� w/b�14�Jan�2013�
Ringfenced�interviews�and�assimilation� 14�–�25�Jan�2013�

Implementation�of�changes� 1�February�2013�

�
�

5.� Consultation�
�
5.1� Consultation�with�staff�and�unions�has�commenced�in�respect�of�Housing�and�Land:�

Development�and�Environment�and�Secretariat�Directorates.�The�consultation�period�for�each�
restructuring�will�last�for�90�days.�The�consultation�will�include�one�to�one�meetings�with�
individuals�affected,�team�meetings�and�written�responses�where�required.�The�GLA�
Management�of�Change�Policy�will�apply�to�the�process�and�where�possible�staff�will�be�
redeployed�to�try�to�reduce�the�number�of�compulsory�redundancies.��Staff�who�are�at�risk�are�
invited�to�apply�for�voluntary�redundancy�and�decision�on�this�will�be�made�in�December�2013.��

�
5.2� The�equality�impact�assessment�(EQIA)�is�attached�as�Appendix�9.�An�EQIA�has�been�

completed�for�all�the�postholders�in�posts�proposed�for�deletion�in�the�report.�The�data�from�
each�team�has�been�combined�to�ensure�that�identifiable�personal�data�is�not�published.��

��
�
6.�� Legal�Implications�
�

6.1� Under�section�67(2)�of�the�GLA�Act�1999�(as�amended)�the�Head�of�Paid�Service�has�the�power,�

after�consulting�the�Mayor�and�the�Assembly,�to�appoint�such�staff�as�he�considers�necessary�for�the�

proper�discharge�of�the�functions�of�the�Authority,�having�regard�to�the�resources�available�and�the�

priorities�of�the�Authority.���

�

Page 80



        

6.2� Under�section�70(2),�the�Head�of�Paid�Service�has�the�power�to�employ�staff�appointed�under�

section�67(2)�on�such�terms�as�he�thinks�fit,�after�consultation�with�the�Mayor�and�the�Assembly.���

�

6.3� Under�section�54�of�the�GLA�Act�1999�(as�amended)�the�Assembly�has�delegated�its�powers�of�

consultation�on�staffing�matters�to�the�GLA�Oversight�Committee.��

�

6.4� The�Head�of�Paid�Service�Staffing�Protocol,�agreed�by�the�Mayor�and�Assembly�in�November�2009,�

sets�out�the�Authority’s�agreed�approach�as�to�how�the�Head�of�Paid�Service�will�discharge�his�

staffing�powers�contained�in�sections�67(2)�and�70(2)�above.���

�

6.5� Paragraph�5.1�of�that�protocol�states�that�“The�Head�of�Paid�Service�will�consult�with�the�Business�

Management�and�Administration�Committee�(BMAC)�and�the�Mayor�on�any�“major�restructure”,�

namely�the�creation�or�deletion�of�more�than�five�posts�within�any�one�unit”.��BMAC�is�now�known�as�

the�GLA�Oversight�Committee.���

�

6.6� It�is�considered�that�the�proposals�set�out�in�this�report�fall�within�the�definition�of�a�“major�

restructure”�contained�within�the�Head�of�Paid�Service�Staffing�Protocol�as,�taken�collectively,�it�

would�create�more�than�5�posts�and�also�delete�more�than�5�posts.��It�therefore�requires�consultation�

with�the�Mayor�and�the�GLA�Oversight�Committee.�

�

6.7� As�the�proposals�will�affect�existing�employees,�the�GLA�is�legally�obliged�to�consult�with�affected�

employees�and�Unison.��Paragraph�5�confirms�that�this�has�happened�and�is�ongoing.��The�GLA�must�

ensure�that�it�complied�fully�with�its�Management�of�Change�policy.������

�

6.8� If�there�are�vacant�posts�that�remain�unfilled�at�the�end�of�the�restructuring,�any�recruitment�to�

vacant�posts�should�be�carried�out�in�accordance�with�the�GLA’s�Recruitment�Policy.��

�

�

7. Financial�Implications�
�

7.1� This�report�sets�out�proposed�changes�to�the�GLA�structure,�in�the�Housing�and�Land,�

Development�and�Environment�and�Secretariat�directorates.�The�financial�consequences�of�
each�element�of�this�proposal�is�summarised�below.�

�

� Housing�and�Land��
�

7.2� The�restructuring�of�the�Housing�and�Land�Directorate�will�result�in�the�deletion�of�30�

establishment�posts�and�the�creation�of�23�establishment�posts;�thus�a�net�decrease�of�6�FTEs�

(excluding�the�post�transferring�to�TFL)�as�detailed�within�section�4.2�of�this�report.�

�

7.3� The�restructure�will�result�in�a�saving�in�the�GLA�staffing�budget�of�£0.438�million�(including�

on-costs�and�the�corporate�vacancy�factor),�which�will�be�built�into�the�GLA�budget�for�the�

2013/14�financial�year.�However,�loss�of�funding�in�respect�of�former�LTGDC�staff�and�the�

Housing�Moves�team�transferred�from�the�LDA�produces�a�net�budget�pressure�of�£0.225�

million.�

�

�

�

�

Page 81



        

� Development�and�Environment�

�

7.4� The�restructuring�of�the�Development�and�Environment�Directorate�will�result�in�the�deletion�

of�42�establishment�posts�and�the�creation�of�31�establishment�posts;�thus�a�net�decrease�of�

13�FTEs�(including�20�STAFs)�as�detailed�within�section�4.3�of�this�report.�

�

7.5� The�restructure�will�result�in�an�increase�in�the�staffing�budget�of�£0.655�million�(including�on-

costs�and�the�corporate�vacancy�factor),�which�will�be�built�into�the�GLA�budget�for�the�

2013/14�financial�year.��The�increase�arises�because�of�the�reliance�on�originally�unbudgeted�

short�term�STAF�appointments�to�deliver�work�priorities.�However,�the�cost�of�the�proposed�

Regeneration�unit�of�£1.327�million�will�be�met�from�the�Funds,�which�the�unit�will�manage,�

resulting�in�a�net�saving�of�£0.672�million.�

�

7.6� In�2012/13�STAF�costs�of�£0.843�million�were�met�by�the�Funds.�

�

� Secretariat�Business�Support�

�

7.7� The�restructuring�of�the�Secretariat�Business�Support�will�result�in�the�deletion�of�8�

establishment�posts�and�the�creation�of�5�establishment�posts;�thus�a�net�decrease�of�3�FTEs�

as�detailed�within�section�4.4�of�this�report.�

�

7.8� Based�upon�a�full�year�budget,�the�restructure�will�result�in�a�full�year�saving�on�the�GLA�

budget�of�£0.100�million�(including�on-costs�and�the�corporate�vacancy�factor),�which�will�be�

built�into�the�GLA�budget�for�the�2013/14�financial�year.�

 

  

List�of�appendices�to�this�report:�

�

Appendix�1� -�Current�Housing�and�Land�structure�chart�

Appendix�2� -�Proposed�Housing�and�Land�structure�chart�

Appendix�3a-c� -�Proposed�Unit�Structures�within�Housing�and�Land�(Investmen�and

� Operations,�Programme,�Policy�and�Services�and�Strategic�Property�

and�� Services��

Appendix�4� -�Current�Development�and�Environment�structure�chart�

Appendix�5� -�Proposed�Development�and�Enterprise�structure�chart�

Appendix�6a-d� -�Proposed�Unit�Structures�within�Development�and�Enterprise�

� (Environment,�Transport,�Business�and�Enterprise�and�Regeneration)��

Appendix�7� -�Current�Secretariat�business�support�structure�chart�

Appendix�8� -�Proposed�Secretariat�business�support�structure�chart�

Appendix�9� -�EQIA�

�

Local�Government�(Access�to�Information)�Act�1985��

List�of�Background�Papers:��None�

�

Contact�Officer:� Juliette�Carter,�Assistant�Director�HR�and�OD�

Telephone:� 0207�983�4194�

E-mail:� Juliette.carter@london.gov.uk�

Page 82



  

 

 

Appendix�1�

Current�H&L�Structure

Head�of�Paid�

Service

Head�of�Paid�

Service

P
age 83



  

 

 

Appendix�2�

Head�of�Paid�

Service

Head�of�Paid�

Service

Proposed�new�H&L�Structure

Job�title No�of�reports

Executive�Director 5

Head�of�Area�NW 8

Head�of�Area�NE 12

Head�of�Area�S 10

AD�Prog,�Policy�and�Services 34

AD�Land�and�Major�Projects 22

Sub�total�exc Exec�Director 90

Job�title No�of�reports

Executive�Director 5

Head�of�Area�NW 8

Head�of�Area�NE 12

Head�of�Area�S 10

AD�Prog,�Policy�and�Services 34

AD�Land�and�Major�Projects 22

Sub�total�exc Exec�Director 90

P
age 84



  

 

 

Appendix�3a�
Investment�&�Operations

33�Posts�responsible�for:

•Borough�Relations

•Investment�Partner�relationships

•Programme�&�project�delivery

P
age 85



  

 

 

Appendix�3b�Programme,�Policy�&�Services
34�Posts�responsible�for:

•Programme�monitoring�and�reporting

•Liaison�with�finance�&�governance

•Housing�Strategy

•Data�management�&�reporting

•Business�planning

•Commissioning�&�service�provision

•Administrative�co-ordination,�inc�MQs

P
age 86



  

 

 

Appendix�3c�

Strategic�Projects�&�Property

22�Posts�responsible�for:

•Leadership�&�Management�of�Strategic�

Projects

•Procurement,�valuation�&�property�

advice

•Estate�management�&�property�services

•CPO

Assistant�

Director

G15

New�Post

Senior�Development��

Manager�(Planning)�

G12

New�post

Senior�Development�

Manager�(design)

G12

New�Post�

Senior�Development�

Manager�

(Procurement)�G12

New�Post

Senior�Manager�

Land,�Estates��&�

Property�Services

G13

Estates�Manager�

(Technical)

New�post

G10

Estates�Manager�

(Portfolio)

G10

Estates�Manager�

(Portfolio)

G10

Single�Property�

Unit�Manager

G11

New�Post

Property�

Surveyor

G10

New�Post

Data�&�Systems�

Officer

G8

Pier�Master

G7

Estates�Business�

Support�officer

G5

Development�

Manager

G8�

New�Post

Development�

Manager

G8�

New�Post

Principal�

Development�

Manager

G10

Development�

Manager

G8

Development�

Manager

G8

New�Post

Principal�

Development�

Manager

G10

Development�

Manager

G8

New�Post

Development�

Manager

G8

New�Post

Principal�

Development�

Manager

G10

P
age 87



  

 

 

Appendix�4�

Current�D&E�Structure

Executive

Director

AD�Transport�&

Environment
AD�Planning

AD�Economic

Business

Policy�Unit

AD�Capital�

Projects�

and�Design

Senior�Manager

Sustainable

Energy

Head�of�Regen

Croydon

Executive

Director

AD�Transport�&

Environment
AD�Planning

AD�Economic

Business

Policy�Unit

AD�Capital�

Projects�

and�Design

Senior�Manager

Sustainable

Energy

Head�of�Regen

Croydon

P
age 88



  

 

 

Appendix�5�

Proposed�new�Development�&�Enterprise�Structure

Executive�Director

Head of 

Environment

Head of 

Transport

AD�Business�and

Enterprise
AD�Regeneration AD�Planning

Executive�Director

Head of 

Environment

Head of 

Transport

AD�Business�and

Enterprise
AD�Regeneration AD�Planning

P
age 89



  

 

 

Appendix�6a�
Environment

29�Posts�responsible�for:

•Waste

•Adaptation�and�Greening

•Air�Quality�&�Energy

•Sustainable�Energy�programme�delivery
Head�of�

Environment

(G13)

Policy�&�Programme

Manager

Waste�(G11)

Policy�&�Programme

Manager

Adap.�&�Greening (G11)

Policy�&�Programme

Manager

AQ�&�Energy (G11)

Business�Co-ordinator

(G6)

Environment

Programme�Officer

x2��(G10)

Environment

Programme�Officer

x�4��(G10)

Environment�

Programme�Officer�

x�4��(G10)

Senior�Manager�

Programme�Delivery�

Sustainable�Energy (G13)

Senior�Project�Officer�

(G8)�x�1

Environment�

Programme�Support�

Officer�(G8)

Marketing�Manager

Recycle�for�London�

(G10)

Marketing�Executive�

Recycle�for�London

(G6)

Environment�

Programme�Support

x�3�(G8)

Project�Officer

(G6)�x1

Environment�

Programme�Support

(G8)�x�2

PA�to�Head

of�Environment

(G5)

Project�Support�

Officer- London�Climate�

Change�Partnership�(G5)

Project�Support�

Officer�- London�Hydrogen

Partnership (G5)

Head�of�

Environment

(G13)

Policy�&�Programme

Manager

Waste�(G11)

Policy�&�Programme

Manager

Adap.�&�Greening (G11)

Policy�&�Programme

Manager

AQ�&�Energy (G11)

Business�Co-ordinator

(G6)

Environment

Programme�Officer

x2��(G10)

Environment

Programme�Officer

x�4��(G10)

Environment�

Programme�Officer�

x�4��(G10)

Senior�Manager�

Programme�Delivery�

Sustainable�Energy (G13)

Senior�Project�Officer�

(G8)�x�1

Environment�

Programme�Support�

Officer�(G8)

Marketing�Manager

Recycle�for�London�

(G10)

Marketing�Executive�

Recycle�for�London

(G6)

Environment�

Programme�Support

x�3�(G8)

Project�Officer

(G6)�x1

Environment�

Programme�Support

(G8)�x�2

PA�to�Head

of�Environment

(G5)

Project�Support�

Officer- London�Climate�

Change�Partnership�(G5)

Project�Support�

Officer�- London�Hydrogen

Partnership (G5)

P
age 90



  

 

 

Appendix�6b�

Transport
6.5�Posts�responsible�for:

•Transport�policy�and�strategy

•TfL delivery�management�

•Correspondence�management

Head�of�Transport

(G13)

Transport�Manager

(G11)

Snr�Policy�Officer

x2�(G9)

Administrator�x�1.5

(G4)

Project�Support�Officer

(G6)

Head�of�Transport

(G13)

Transport�Manager

(G11)

Snr�Policy�Officer

x2�(G9)

Administrator�x�1.5

(G4)

Project�Support�Officer

(G6)

P
age 91



  

 

 

Appendix�6c�

Business�&�Enterprise

24.5�Posts�responsible�for:

•Business�Engagement

•Employment�&�Skills

•International�promotion

•2012�Economic�Legacy

•Food�policy

Assistant�Director

(G15)

Senior�Manager

Programme�Delivery

(G13)

Senior�Manager

Business�Engagement

(G13)

Senior�Manager

Policy�&�Projects

(G13)

Principal�Policy�Officer

X�5�(G10)
(Inc Food Programme Officer)

Principal

Policy�Officer

x3�(G10)�

Principal�

Policy�Officer

x2�(G10)�

Senior�Policy�Officer

X3�(G8)�

Senior�Policy�Officer

(G9)

Admin

1x�(G5),�1�x(G6)

Senior�Policy�Officer

X�2�(G8)

Senior�Manager�

2012�Legacy

(G12)

Principal�Officer�–

2012�Economic�Legacy

(G10)

Senior�Policy�Officer
(Food�Programme�Support�Officer)

(G8)

Assistant�Director

(G15)

Senior�Manager

Programme�Delivery

(G13)

Senior�Manager

Business�Engagement

(G13)

Senior�Manager

Policy�&�Projects

(G13)

Principal�Policy�Officer

X�5�(G10)
(Inc Food Programme Officer)

Principal

Policy�Officer

x3�(G10)�

Principal�

Policy�Officer

x2�(G10)�

Senior�Policy�Officer

X3�(G8)�

Senior�Policy�Officer

(G9)

Admin

1x�(G5),�1�x(G6)

Senior�Policy�Officer

X�2�(G8)

Senior�Manager�

2012�Legacy

(G12)

Principal�Officer�–

2012�Economic�Legacy

(G10)

Senior�Policy�Officer
(Food�Programme�Support�Officer)

(G8)

P
age 92



  

 

 

Appendix�6d�

Regeneration

22�Posts�responsible�for:

•Regeneration�Programmes�&�Delivery�

•Croydon�&�Tottenham

•Growing�Places

•Outer�London�Fund

•Borough�&�Private�Sector�partnerships

AD�Regeneration

Senior�Manager

Programme�Delivery

(G13)

Senior�Manager

Programmes

(G13)

Admin

(G5)

Manager�South�Area

(G11)

Manager�NE�Area

(G11)

Manager�NW�Area

(G11)

Senior�Project�Officer

X3�(G8)

Senior�Project�Officer

X3�(G8)

Senior�Project�Officer

X3�(G8)

Senior�Programme�

Monitoring�Officer

(G10)

Programme�Officer

X�2�(G8)�

Project�Support�Officer

(G6)

Project�Support�Officer

X2�(G6)

AD�Regeneration

Senior�Manager

Programme�Delivery

(G13)

Senior�Manager

Programmes

(G13)

Admin

(G5)

Manager�South�Area

(G11)

Manager�NE�Area

(G11)

Manager�NW�Area

(G11)

Senior�Project�Officer

X3�(G8)

Senior�Project�Officer

X3�(G8)

Senior�Project�Officer

X3�(G8)

Senior�Programme�

Monitoring�Officer

(G10)

Programme�Officer

X�2�(G8)�

Project�Support�Officer

(G6)

Project�Support�Officer

X2�(G6)

P
age 93



  

 

 

Secretariat�–Existing�Structure

Executive�

Director

Head�of�

Committee�and�

Member�Services

(Also�Monitoring�

Officer�&�Clerk�to�

LFEPA)

Head�of�Scrutiny�

&�Investigation

Head�of�External�

Relations

Head�of�Elections�

and�Special�

Projects

PA�to�Head�of�

CMS�and�Head�of�

Scrutiny�Grade�5

Apprentice�

(non-established)

Office�Mgr�&�PA�to�

Chair

Grade�7

Administration�

Officer�Grade�4

Administration�

Officer�Grade�4

Administration�

Officer�Grade�4

Administration�

Officer�Grade�4

Executive�Asst�to�

Executive�

Director�Grade�7

Scrutiny�Team

Includes:

Project�Officer�

Grade�5

Committee�

Services�Team

Includes:

Executive�

Support�Officer�

Grade�6

Apprentice�

(non-established)

Affected�

post

Key

PA/Admin�/�

Business�Support

Reporting�lines

Appendix�7�

P
age 94



  

 

 

Secretariat�– Proposed�New�Structure

Executive�

Director

Head�of�

Committee��&�

Member�Services

(Also�Monitoring�

Officer�&�Clerk�to�

LFEPA)

Head�of�ScrutinyHead�of�External�

Relations

Head�of�Elections�

and�Special�

Projects

Apprentice�

(non-established)

Executive�

Support�Officer

Apprentice�

(non-established)

Project�Officer�

Project�Officer

Project�Officer�

Scrutiny�Team�

includes:

Board�Coordinator�

Business�Support�

Officer

Committee�Services�

Team�includes:

Affected�

post

Key

Reporting�lines

Appendix�8�

P
age 95



  

 

 

Equality�Impact�Assessment�(EQIA)�–�Housing�and�Land,�Development�and�Environment,�and�Secretariat��
�
BAME�
Count�of�Employee�
Number�
BAME�Groupings� Grand�

Total�
At�risk�
%age�

GLA�March�2012�
data�

BAME�-�comments�

BAME�� 11� 16%� 25%� The�figure�of�16%�BAME�at�risk�compares�favourably�
to�the�overall�staffing�population.�Not�Known� 6� 9%� 2%�

White�British� 51� 75%� 74%�

Grand�Total� 68� � �

�
GENDER�
Count�of�Employee�
Number�
Sex� Grand�

Total�
At�risk�
%age�

GLA�March�2012�
data�

Gender�-�comments�

Female� 30� 44%� 52%� There�is�a�significantly�higher�proportion�of�male�staff�
affected�by�these�proposals�than�female�staff.��This�
will�be�closely�monitored�during�the�implementation�
process.�

Male� 38� 55%� 48%�

Grand�Total� 68� � �

�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�

Appendix�9�

P
age 96



  

 

 

 

DISABILITY�
Count�of�Employee�
Number�
Disabled�Y� Grand�

Total�
At�risk�
%age�

GLA�March�2012�
data�

Disability�-�comments�

N� 58� 85%� 88%� There�is�a�slightly�lower�level�of�impact�on�staff�who�
are�disabled�affected�by�the�proposals.��Not�known� 4� 6%� 5%�

Y� 3� 4%� 7%�

(blank)� 3� 4%� 0%�

Grand�Total� 68� � �

�
AGE�
Count�of�Employee�
Number�
Current�Age�in�
Yrs/Mths2�

Grand�
Total�

At�risk�
%age�

GLA�March�2012�
data�

Age�-�comments�

Under�20� 0� 0%� 1%� 82%�of�those�affected�are�in�the�age�range�25�-�49�
years�of�age�which�is�in�line�with�the�wider�staff�
numbers�(80%).���

20�-�24�years� 0� 0%� 3%�

25�-�29�years� 7� 10%� 12%�

30�-�34�years� 18� 26%� 23%�

35�-�39�years� 16� 23%� 19%�

40�-�44�years� 9� 13%� 15%�

45�-�49�years� 6� 9%� 11%�

50�-�54�years� 5� 7%� 7%�

55�-�59�years�� 5� 7%� 6%�

Over�60� 2� 3%� 3.%�

Grand�Total� 68� � �

 

P
age 97



Page 98

This page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                                    

�
�
�
�
City�Hall,�The�Queen’s�Walk,�London�SE1�2AA�
Enquiries:
020
7983
4100
minicom:
020
7983
4458
www.london.gov.uk 

Subject:��Shared
Service
Proposal
by
Transport

for
London
for
the
Management
of
the
GLA’s

Ongoing
Olympic
and
Non-Olympic
Compulsory

Purchase
Orders




Report
to:
 GLA
Oversight
Committee




Report
of:

Executive
Director
of
Resources 



Date:

28
November
2012


This
report
will
be
considered
in
public�
 





1.
 Summary



�

1.1 This�report�represents�consultation�by�the�Mayor�with�the�London�Assembly,�(as�required�by�the�

Greater�London�Authority�Act�1999,�as�amended),�concerning��the�proposed�entry�into�a�shared�

services�arrangement�between�the�Greater�London�Authority�(GLA)�and�the�Transport�for�London�

(TfL)�under�which�TfL�will�provide�professional�support�and�management�of�current�and�future�

Compulsory�Purchase�Order�(CPO)�functions�made�by�the�GLA,�including�those�in�relation�to��the�

Olympic�Park,�Wembley�Stadium,�Silvertown�Way�and�Chequers�Corner.����





2.
 Recommendation
�


2.1 That
the
Committee
considers
and
provides
its
comments
on
the
Mayor’s
proposed


exercise
of
the
GLA’s
power,
under
section
401A
of
the
Greater
London
Authority
Act,
to


enter
into
shared
service
arrangements
under
which
TfL
will
discharge
the
GLA’s


Compulsory
Purchase
Order
management
and
support
functions,
including
those
in


relation
to
the
Olympic
Park,
Wembley
Stadium,
Silvertown
Way
and
Chequers
Corner









3.
 Background






3.1 The�GLA�acquired�CPO�powers�as�a�result�of�the�Localism�Act�in�April�2012.�

3.2 The�GLA�inherited�a�number�of�significant�CPO�programmes�from�the�London�Development�Agency�
(LDA)�in�April�2012�including�those�associated�with�the�Olympic�Park,�Wembley�Stadium,�Silvertown�
Way�and�a�range�of�smaller�projects.��It�also�inherited�a�smaller�number�of�CPOs�from�the�London�
Thames�Gateway�Development�Corporation�(LTGDC)�and�Homes�and�Communities�Agency�(HCA).���

Agenda Item 9

Page 99



        

3.3 The�LDA�estimated�that�the�cost�of�settling�outstanding�Olympic�CPOs�at�31�March�2012�was�just�
under�£90�million.�This�remains�a�high�spend/high�risk�programme.��

3.4 The�current�GLA�CPO�team�transferred�from�the�LDA�and�LTGDC�in�April�2012�and�now�include�one�
permanent�GLA�employee�focused�solely�on�CPO�matters,�two�further�permanent�GLA�employees�
who�currently�manage�Wembley�Stadium,�Chequers�Corner�and�Silvertown�Way�as�part�of�their�wider�
Development�Management�roles,�and�four�consultants�originally�retained�by�the�LDA,�and�now�GLA,�
who�work�solely�on�Olympic�CPO�related�matters.��

3.5 In�respect�of�the�Olympic�Land�and�Legacy�CPOs,�the�LDA�appointed�three�consultants�in�2006�as�
case�officers�to�execute�the�compulsory�acquisition�of�the�land�required�for�the�Olympic�and�
Paralympic�Games�and�manage�the�relocation�of�the�businesses�and�compensation�claims�from�the�
businesses�and�individuals,�and�associated�works.�A�further�consultant�was�appointed�in�July�2009�to�
provide�strategic�leadership�and�management�to�the�programme�and�team�subsequent�to�the�audit,�
recommendations�and�publication�of�the�KPMG�Project�Kite�report.��The�remaining�liabilities�for�the�
GLA�remain�significant�in�closing�the�programme�of�compensation,�including�the�defence�of�
litigation,�for�which�the�historical�knowledge�of�the�land�and�businesses�pre-Games�is�important.�

3.6 The�Olympic�Land�and�Legacy�CPO�team�are�currently�retained�as�consultants�by�the�GLA�under�
contracts�entered�into�by�the�LDA�in�March�2012�which�currently�expire�in�December�2012.�

3.7 The�cost�of�this�internal�consultant�team�related�to�the�Olympic�Park�CPOs�is�allocated�within�the�
overall�professional�fee�budget�for�Olympic�CPOs.��

3.8 It�is�proposed�that�TfL�will�provide�the�GLA�with�professional�support�and�management�relating�to�
both�the�inherited�CPOs�(Olympic�and�non-Olympic)�and�any�future�CPOs�made�by�the�GLA�under�a�
shared�service�arrangement.���

3.9 If�the�shared�services�arrangement�is�concluded�it�is�envisaged�(subject�always�to�its�procurement�
protocols)�that�TfL�will�initially�contract�with�the�four�consultants�currently�comprising�the�GLA’s�
Olympic�and�Legacy�CPO�team,�pending�a�full�review�of�the�caseload,�following�which�this�may�be�
reviewed.���

3.10 Once�the�work�has�transferred�under�the�shared�services�arrangement�it�will�be�for�TfL�to�decide�how�
best�to�manage�the�GLA’s�CPO�work�(Olympic�and�non-Olympic).�It�is�envisaged�that�the�four�
consultants,�who�currently�only�undertake�Olympic-related�work,�if�contracted�or�other�TfL�resource�
will�absorb�the�non-Olympic�work,�which�forms�a�relatively�minimal�part�of�the�workload�

3.11 TfL�will�assess�the�optimum�way�to�resource�outstanding�claims�and�commitments�and�are�aware�
that�the�GLA�is�looking�to�reduce�the�resourcing�costs�currently�being�incurred.�

3.12 TfL�is�being�briefed�on�the�strategy�adopted�to�date�to�conclude�remaining�cases�and�is�familiar�with�
all�current�litigation.�A�series�of�detailed�reviews�have�been�set�up�this�month�to�update�them�on�the�
background�to�each�case.���

3.13 An�interim�arrangement�is�currently�in�place�under�which�the�team�are�located�at�TfL�offices,�
affording�TfL�the�opportunity�to�familiarise�themselves�with�the�work�of�the�team�and�with�the�open�
case�list.��TfL�will�be�reimbursed�for�all�reasonable�costs�incurred�in�undertaking�this�exercise.�

3.14 It�is�anticipated�that�TfL�will�confirm�its�view�of�the�budget�required�to�settle�outstanding�cases�and�
how�it�intends�to�resource�this�programme�and�the�budget�associated�with�this�no�later�than�one�
month�after�entry�into�the�shared�service�arrangements,�once�it�has�had�the�opportunity�to�
thoroughly�review�the�cases�and�resource�requirements.��

3.15 TfL�will�subsequently�report�progress�on�a�monthly�basis�to�the�Executive�Director�of�Housing�and�
Land�and�the�GLA’s�Senior�Finance�Manager.�

Page 100



        

3.16 GLA�officers�will�provide�quarterly�progress�reports�to�Investment�and�Performance�Board.�

3.17 The�GLA�will�monitor�the�costs�of�the�CPO�settlement�cases�at�the�close�of�each�four�weekly�period.�
Forecast�costs�of�each�open�case�will�be�provided�by�TfL�in�a�format�to�be�agreed,�working�to�the�4-
weekly�period�end�timetable.����

�

4.
 Issues
for
consideration

�

4.1 The�GLA�acquired�CPO�powers�as�a�result�of�the�Localism�Act�in�April�2012.�

�

4.2 The�GLA�inherited�a�range�of�CPOs�from�the�LDA,�LTGDC�and�the�HCA�in�April�2012,�as�well�as�staff�

transferred�from�those�respective�authorities�responsible�for�undertaking�various�CPO�activities.�

�

4.3 TfL�have�an�established�CPO�team�of�significant�size�and�organisational�infrastructure.�TfL�offer�CPO�

professional�support,�management�and�consultancy�services�as�part�of�the�shared�service�

arrangements�with�the�GLA�family�organisations�and�other�external�parties�such�as�Crossrail.��It�is�

proposed�that�the�professional�support�and�management�of�the�inherited�CPO�programmes�and�any�

future�such�programmes�is�therefore�undertaken�by�TfL�under�a�shared�service�arrangement�with�the�

GLA.�

�

4.4 The�arrangement�outlined�above�relates�to�existing�CPO�cases.�The�entry�into�shared�service�

arrangements�will�enable�continuity�of�approach�to�settling�these�cases�as�this�team�has�extensive�

detailed�experience�relating�to�these�cases.��

�

4.5 In�the�event�that�the�GLA�sought�to�use�its�CPO�powers�relating�to�new�projects�it�would�ascertain�

whether�TfL�had�the�capacity�and�experience�to�deal�with�the�specifics�of�any�new�project.����
�

4.6 The�effect�of�the�shared�service�arrangements�may�be�to�transfer�existing�employees�from�the�GLA�

to�TfL�if�any�of�them�are�wholly�or�mainly�assigned�to�the�services�that�are�transferring.��Any�

employees�who�are�affected�by�the�proposals�must�be�consulted�with�in�accordance�with�

employment�law.�
�

4.7 Consideration�will�also�be�given�to�including�other,�minor,�property-related�matters�within�the�shared�

service�arrangements,�such�as�retention�of�title�deeds�and�inclusion�of�GLA�properties�in�TfL’s�

Property�Asset�Register.�





5.
 Legal
Implications�
�

5.1 This�section�deals�with�legal�issues�not�dealt�with�elsewhere�in�this�report.��Under�section�401A�of�

the�GLA�Act�1999�the�GLA�can�enter�into�arrangements�with�TfL�for�the�provision�of�administrative,�

professional�or�technical�services�by�TfL�to�the�GLA,�whether�for�consideration�or�otherwise.��The�

professional�services�of�the�type�described�fall�within�the�power.��The�Mayor�must�consult�with�the�

Assembly�before�entering�into�any�such�arrangement�involving�the�GLA;�this�role�has�been�delegated�

to�the�GLA�Scrutiny�Committee.��The�making�of�CPOs�and�the�legal�and�financial�liability�to�

claimants�for�the�payment�of�compensation�and�expenses�in�respect�of�them�remains�with�the�GLA�

and�will�not�transfer�to�TfL.�

�

Page 101



        

5.2 The�standard�shared�services�documentation�will�cover�issues�such�as�payments�for�the�services�to�be�

provided,�and�review�and�termination�arrangements�and�liabilities.��It�is�proposed�that�the�

finalisation�of�the�terms�of�the�proposed�arrangements�will�be�delegated�by�the�Mayor�to�the�

Executive�Director�of�Housing�&�Land�and�the�Executive�Director�of�Resources.��

��

5.3 The�proposed�arrangement�is�consistent�with�the�GLA’s�public�procurement�obligations�under�EU�

procurement�directives.��The�European�Court�of�Justice�has�ruled�that�public�bodies�such�as�the�GLA�

and�TfL�can�enter�into�co-operative�arrangements�in�the�public�interest�where�one�provides�services�

to�the�other�on�a�not�for�profit�basis.��In�such�instances�EU�public�procurement�rules�are�not�

triggered.��It�is�considered�that�the�proposed�arrangement�is�consistent�with�European�procurement�

law.���

�

5.4 If�the�delegation�is�approved,�one�employee�will�be�affected.��As�this�is�a�transfer�of�administrative�

functions�between�public�bodies�the�Transfer�of�Undertakings�(Protection�of�Employment)�

Regulations�2006�(“TUPE”)�does�not�apply�by�virtue�of�the�exemption�under�regulation�3(5).��

However,�in�accordance�with�the�Cabinet�Office�Statement�of�Practice�2000,�it�would�be�intended�

that�the�GLA�would�apply�TUPE�like�principles�in�order�to�transfer�the�one�employee�who�is�wholly�

assigned�to�the�undertaking�transferring�from�the�GLA�to�TfL.��Consultation�has�begun�with�this�

employee�and�will�be�continuing.���

�
�
6.
 Financial
Implications

�

6.1 The�annual�forecast�costs�of�the�GLA�consultants�at�the�current�full�time�equivalents�(as�approved�in�

MD�1067)�are�estimated�to�be�£565,000�per�annum.��

�

6.2 The�fee�to�TfL�for�2013-14�has�yet�to�be�agreed�but�will�be�on�a�cost-recovery�basis.��It�is�

anticipated�that�the�costs�will�be�contained�within�existing�CPO�budgets.��Savings�may�be�achieved�

but�the�greater�benefit�is�expected�to�be�the�management�expertise�that�TfL�will�bring�to�the�

processes.�

�

6.3 Once�the�TfL�team�have�a�thorough�understanding�of�the�substance�of�each�strategic�case�they�will�

review�the�allocation�of�resource�required�for�their�provision�of�professional�support�and�

management�of�GLA�(CPO)�functions,�which,�if�this�leads�to�the�greater�use�of�TfL�in�–house�

resources,�should�result�in�a�reduction�of�the�cost�of�continuing�to�retain�external�consultants.��
�

6.4 Any�third�party�fees�relating�to�the�negotiation�of�GLA�CPO�cases�and�the�settlement�payments�will�

continue�to�be�paid�by�the�GLA�to�the�claimant�direct�following�the�raising�of�purchase�requests�by�

TfL�and�the�subsequent�approval�by�the�GLA�according�to�the�GLA�approval�terms.�The�forecast�

costs�will�be�shared�with�TfL,�as�requested,�to�assist�the�budgeting�process.�
�

6.5 TfL�have�estimated�a�one-off�cost�of�£50,000�for�storing�all�documents�relating�to�the�GLA’s�land�

and�property�title�deeds�and�for�incorporating�its�portfolio�into�the�Property�Asset�Register.��This�will�

improve�control�over�and�accessibility�of�the�documents�while�also�avoiding�significant�costs�for�

physical�storage�of�the�documents.�

�

�

�

Page 102



        

�

�

Local
Government
(Access
to
Information)
Act
1985


List�of�Background�Papers:�Housing�Investment�Group�Paper�–�November�2012�

�

Contact�Officer:� Stephen�Kennard�

Assistant�Director�of�Land�and�Development��

Telephone:� 0207�983�5725�

E-mail:� Stephen.kennard@london.gov.uk�

�

Page 103



Page 104

This page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                                    

�
City�Hall,�The�Queen’s�Walk,�London�SE1�2AA�
Enquiries:
020
7983
4100
minicom:
020
7983
4458
www.london.gov.uk




 

Subject:�Proposed
Review
of
the
Assembly

Committee
Structure�


Report
to:
 GLA
Oversight
Committee





Report
of:

Executive
Director
of
Secretariat�



Date:
28
November
2012�



This
report
will
be
considered
in
public�






1.
 Summary



�
1.1� This�paper�sets�areas�to�be�covered�by�the�proposed�review�of�the�Assembly’s�committee�structure�

with�a�view�to�implementing�any�changes�from�the�next�Annual�Meeting�of�the�Assembly.�




2.
 Recommendation



2.1 That
the
Committee
agrees
that
a
review
of
the
Assembly’s
Committee
structure
be


undertaken
over
the
next
2
months
to
establish
what,
if
any,
changes
should
be


implemented
for
the
next
municipal
year
and
any
resource
implications.





3.
 Background





3.1� The�Assembly�has�established�the�following�committees�and�panels�as�ordinary�committees�for�the�

2012/13�Assembly�Year:�
��

• Budget�and�Performance�(9�Members�and�10�scheduled�meetings�per�year)�
• Confirmation�Hearings�Committee�(9�Members�and�meets�on�an�ad�hoc�basis,�as�and�when�

required)�
• Economy�(9�Members�and�10�scheduled�meetings�per�year)�
• GLA�Oversight�(9�Members�and�10�scheduled�meetings�per�year)�
• Health�and�Environment�(9�Members�and�10�scheduled�meetings�per�year)�
• Housing�and�Regeneration�(12�Members�and�10�scheduled�meetings�per�year)�
• Planning�(9�Members�and�9�scheduled�meetings�per�year)�
• Police�and�Crime1�(12�Members�and�20�scheduled�meetings�per�year)�
• Transport�(12�Members�and�10�scheduled�meetings�per�year)�
• Audit�Panel�(4�Members�and�4�scheduled�meetings�per�year)�




3.2� In�addition,�the�Budget�and�Performance�Committee�has�established�the�Budget�Monitoring�Sub-

Committee,�as�an�ordinary�committee�for�the�2012/13�year,�principally�for�the�purposes�of�
considering�the�quarterly�monitoring�reports�provided�by�the�GLA�and�its�functional�bodies�and�any�

other�reports�falling�within�the�terms�of�reference�of�the�Budget�and�Performance�Committee�which�

                                                 
1
 The�London�Assembly�is�statutorily�required�to�establish�a�Committee�to�discharge�the�functions�granted�to�it�by�Section�33�of�
that�Police�Reform�and�Social�Responsibility�Act�2011. 

Agenda Item 10

Page 105



        

that�Committee�considers�appropriate.�The�Sub-Committee�comprises�four�Members�and�has�four�

scheduled�meetings�a�year.�
�
3.3� Whilst�it�is�acknowledged�that�the�current�committee�structure�has�only�been�in�operation�since�

May,�a�number�of�concerns�have�been�raised�by�Members�in�relation�to�how�this�structure�is�working�
in�practice.�This�report�therefore�proposes�that�a�further�review�of�the�structure�should�take�place,�
identifies�areas�to�be�covered�by�that�review�and�seeks�views�on�any�additional�areas�that�the�review�
should�look�at.�

��



4.
 Specific
issues
to
addressed
by
the
review




Remit
of
Committees




4.1� Concerns�have�been�raised�by�Members�that�the�remits�of�the�Health�and�Environment�and�the�

Housing�and�Regeneration�Committees�may�be�too�broad�and�that�as�a�result�important�areas�for�
scrutiny�are�not�able�to�be�given�detailed�attention.�
�
Housing�and�Regeneration�Committee�

�
4.2� Given�the�GLA’s�expanded�responsibilities�in�this�area,�it�is�thought�that�the�housing�brief�alone�

would�provide�more�than�sufficient�material�to�fill�an�annual�work�programme�for�a�committee.��
�
4.3� The�regeneration�policy�area�covers�three�main�areas:��
�

• Monitoring�GLA�regeneration�spending�(around�£221�million�in�the�GLA’s�2012/13�budget�-�
with�about�a�third�going�into�areas�affected�by�the�2011�London�riots);�

�

• Oversight�of�the�London�Legacy�Development�Corporation�(LLDC),�which�is�a�functional�
body;�and�

�

• Other�major�regeneration�schemes�that�have�Mayoral�involvement�including,�for�example,�
Silvertown�Quays�and�Battersea�Nine�Elms.�

�
4.4� The�review�will�look�at�options�for�the�regeneration�brief�to�ensure�that�this�important�area�is�

adequately�scrutinised.�
 

Health�and�Environment�
�
4.5 Both�of�these�are�important�subject�areas�and�it�has�proved�difficult�to�cover�both�in�proper�detail�

within�one�committee’s�work�programme.�The�Health�and�Environment�Committee’s�work�
programme�is�driven�by�the�major�upheaval�that�is�taking�place�across�the�regional�health�economy�
including�the�abolition�of�NHS�London�which�provides�strategic�leadership�across�all�health�provision�
sectors,�the�reconfiguration�of�acute�services�including�the�controversial�proposals�to�consolidate�
A&E�services�and�the�reforms�to�public�health,�which�is�being�devolved�to�local�authorities�and�
where�there�remains�appetite�for�a�Mayoral�role�in�leading�a�pan-London�Health�Improvement�
Board.��

�
4.6 The�environment�brief�covers�a�wide�range�of�areas�where�the�Mayor�has�a�direct�role�and�statutory�

responsibilities�including�air�quality,�waste�management,�climate�change�adaptation�and�mitigation.�
There�is�significant�environmental�assessment�work�to�be�undertaken�on�all�major�infrastructure�
projects�including�any�further�proposals�for�airport�expansion�and�High�Speed�2.�The�Mayor�remains�
committed�to�making�significant�reductions�to�carbon�emissions�and�further�work�is�needed�to�
ensure�that�his�programmes�and�policies�are�moving�quickly�enough�to�deliver�his�targets.��One�of�

Page 106



        

the�key�challenges�emerging�from�the�Mayor’s�20:20�Vision�is�the�need�to�increase�capacity�across�
London’s�energy�infrastructure,�an�area�where�the�Committee�has�already�established�a�track�record�
of�work.��
�
Education


�
4.7� Responsibility�for�scrutiny�of�the�Mayor’s�education�work�currently�rests�with�the�GLA�Oversight�

Committee.�With�the�proposals�contained�in�the�Mayor’s�recent�Education�Inquiry�report�(Going�for�
Gold),�the�need�for�the�Assembly�to�establish�an�Education�Committee�has�been�raised.�Whilst�the�
level�of�activity�and�expenditure�on�education�might�currently�be�relatively�minor�(when�compared�
to�transport�and�policing)�there�are�other�areas�related�to�education�and�young�people�that�could�be�
covered�by�an�Education�Committee.�For�example:�childcare�provision,�looked�after�children,�
mentoring,�and�other�areas�where�the�Assembly�has�already�produced�some�work�and�where�the�
Mayor�has�powers�and�influence.��
�
Size
of
Committees
and
frequency
of
meetings


�
4.8� The�review�could�also�look�at�the�size�of�committees,�as�there�have�been�some�issues�with�the�larger�

committees�in�terms�of�managing�the�meetings�and�arranging�briefings�and�visits,�and�the�frequency�
of�meetings.��
 

Resources



4.9� The�GLA�has�taken�on�a�number�of�additional�responsibilities.�As�a�result,�the�Assembly�has�had�to�

adapt�and�expand�its�committee�structure�and�scrutiny�remit�to�ensure�that�it�can�fulfil�its�statutory�
function�of�holding�the�executive�effectively�to�account.�At�a�time�of�economic�austerity�this�has�put�
pressure�on�the�resources�available�to�support�the�Assembly;�whilst�potential�savings�have�been�
identified�within�the�Assembly’s�budgets�for�2013/14,�they�were�made�subject�to�any�changes�that�
emerge�during�the�remainder�of�the�budget�process�including�any�additional�scrutiny�responsibilities�
that�might�need�to�be�covered�by�the�Assembly.�If�the�Assembly�agrees�to�conduct�the�review�of�
structures�outlined�above,�it�may�therefore�also�decide�to�include�within�that�process�a�review�of�the�
related�resource�requirements,�once�informal�consensus�on�any�new�outline�structure�emerges.�

�


5.
 Legal
Implications



5.1� The�Assembly�has�the�power�to�establish�ordinary�and�advisory�committees�and�sub-committees.�In�

doing�so,�it�must�(as�far�as�is�practicable)�comply�with�the�law�and�rules�on�the�political�
proportionality�of�committee�membership.���

�


6.
 Financial
Implications



6.1� There�are�no�direct�financial�implications�arising�from�this�report.�Any�financial�and�budgetary�

implications�of�proposals�arising�from�the�suggested�review�of�Assembly�committee�structures�will�be�

reported�as�part�of�the�outcome�of�the�review.��
�

Local
Government
(Access
to
Information)
Act
1985


List�of�Background�Papers:�None.�
�

Contact�Officer:� Mark�Roberts,�Executive�Director�of�Secretariat�

Telephone:� 020�7983�4428�

E-mail:� mark.roberts@london.gov.uk�

Page 107



        

 

Page 108



 

                                                                    

�
City�Hall,�The�Queen’s�Walk,�London�SE1�2AA�
Enquiries:
020
7983
4100
minicom:
020
7983
4458
www.london.gov.uk


 

Subject:
Transport
Committee
Investigation

Into
Airport
Capacity
–
Technical
Advice
and

Support�


Report
to:
 GLA
Oversight
Committee





Report
of:

Executive
Director
of
Secretariat 



Date:
28
November
2012


This
report
will
be
considered
in
public 




1.
 Summary




1.1� This�report�sets�out�details�of�the�Transport�Committee’s�investigation�into�airport�capacity�and�

proposed�expenditure�to�commission�external�technical�advice�and�support�for�this�investigation.�





2.
 Recommendations�


2.1 That
the
Committee
notes
the
Transport
Committee’s
investigation
into
airport
capacity


as
set
out
in
Appendix
1
of
the
report
and
provides
comments
as
necessary;





2.2 That
the
Committee
approves
expenditure
to
a
maximum
of
£20,000
from
the
2012/13


scrutiny
programme
report
to
commission
external
contractors
to
provide
external

technical
advice
and
support
on
airport
capacity
for
the
Transport
Committee;
and




2.3 That
the
Committee
notes
that
the
Executive
Director
of
the
Secretariat,
in
consultation


with
the
Chair
of
the
Transport
Committee,
will
commission
the
external
contractors
to

carry
out
the
external
technical
advice
and
support,
subject
to
the
Committee
approving

this
expenditure.








3.
 Background




3.1 The�Transport�Committee�at�its�meeting�on�13�November�2012�agreed�to�conduct�an�investigation�

into�airport�capacity,�and�to�commission�external�technical�advice�and�support�for�this�investigation�
subject�to�approval�by�the�GLA�Oversight�Committee. 

�
3.2 In�line�with�its�terms�of�reference,�the�GLA�Oversight�Committee�has�the�power�to�approve�all�

scrutiny-related�Assembly�expenditure�and�proposals�for�use�of�rapporteurs,�in�conformity�with�the�
Assembly’s�decision�making�framework�procedure.�The�Committee�is�therefore�being�asked�to�
consider�the�Transport�Committee’s�investigation�and�the�use�of�resources�to�facilitate�the�
investigation.�
�

Agenda Item 11

Page 109



        

3.3 The�GLA�Oversight�Committee�also�has�the�power�to�oversee�the�programming�of�the�Assembly’s�
business,�and�at�the�request�of�the�Transport�Committee,�is�invited�to�comment�on�the�investigation�
as�appropriate.�

�
3.4 The�report�to�the�Transport�Committee�with�the�detailed�scope�for�the�investigation�are�attached�at�

Appendix�1.��The�terms�of�reference�for�the�investigation�are:��

• To�examine�the�arguments�for�and�against�changing�existing�airport�capacity�in�London�
including�analysing�current�capacity�and�current�and�future�estimates�of�demand�for�air�travel;��

• To�explore�the�different�options�for�addressing�airport�capacity�in�the�short,�medium�and�long-
term�including�the�scope�for�more�rational�use�of�existing�airport�capacity;�and��

• To�set�out�findings�in�a�written�submission�to�the�Government’s�independent�airports�
commission�by�May�2013.�����

�
3.5 The�relevant�section�of�the�covering�report�to�the�Transport�Committee�which�sets�out�the�purpose�

of�the�proposed�external�work�and�how�it�is�expected�to�add�value�to�the�investigation�is�reproduced�
below.��More�details�about�the�proposed�external�work�are�also�set�out�in�section�4�of�this�report.�


4.2 It�is�proposed�that�the�Transport�Committee’s�investigation�on�airport�capacity�should�include�a�

detailed�technical�analysis�of�the�data�for�current�airport�capacity�and�current�and�future�
estimated�demand�for�air�travel,�and�a�literature�review�of�existing�reports�and�research�on�
airport�capacity.��The�technical�analysis�of�aviation�data�and�the�literature�review�would�
provide�detailed�information�to�inform�the�Committee’s�meetings�in�January�and�February�
2013�and�its�subsequent�written�submission�to�the�Government’s�independent�airports�
commission�led�by�Sir�Howard�Davies.��




4.3 It�would�not�be�possible�to�undertake�this�work�in-house�due�to�a�lack�of�expertise�and�

resources.���An�external�contractor�would�have�the�relevant�expertise�and�experience�to�identify,�
collect�and�analyse�critically�the�relevant�data�on�airport�capacity�and�demand�for�air�travel�in�
order�to�produce�findings�for�the�Committee�to�pursue�in�its�investigation.�An�external�
contractor�would�also�have�the�knowledge�and�skills�necessary�to�identify�all�relevant�key�
reports�and�research�on�airport�capacity�and�to�review�these�critically�to�produce�a�credible�
account�of�the�key�issues�on�airport�capacity�that�the�Committee�could�then�explore�in�its�
investigation.��




4.4 Many�reports�have�been�produced�on�airport�capacity�but�there�are�few�that�provide�an�

analysis�of�relevant�aviation�data�and�an�overview�of�existing�publications�on�this�issue.��Many�
existing�reports�on�airport�capacity�represent�a�particular�view�on�the�issue�and/or�argue�for�a�
particular�solution.��By�contrast,�the�proposed�technical�analysis�of�aviation�data�combined�
with�a�literature�review�would�result�in�a�broad�range�of�information�covering�all�the�different�
aspects�of�the�debate�on�airport�capacity.�This�would�result�in�a�unique�report�that�provides�
detailed�information�to�inform�the�Committee’s�investigation.����




4.5 The�external�contractor�would�be�required�to�present�the�findings�from�their�technical�analysis�

and�literature�review�to�the�Committee�to�maximise�their�contribution�to�the�investigation.�This�
presentation�would�assist�Members�in�identifying�key�issues�to�pursue�at�the�meetings.�The�
external�contractor�would�also�contribute�technical�advice�and�support�to�the�Scrutiny�Team�in�
producing�briefings�for�the�Committee’s�meetings�and�its�subsequent�written�submission�to�the�
Government’s�independent�airports�commission.�




4.6 Last�year,�the�Committee�used�an�external�contractor�to�provide�technical�advice�and�support�

for�its�investigation�on�the�Tube�which�worked�well.�This�proposal�has�been�developed�in�light�
of�that�experience.��In�summary,�the�external�contractor�commissioned�to�provide�technical�

Page 110



        

advice�and�support�on�airport�capacity�would�be�required�to�do�the�following�work,�in�
consultation�with�the�Scrutiny�Team:


• Undertake�a�technical�analysis�of�relevant�aviation�data�including�current�airport�capacity�
data�and�current�and�future�estimates�of�demand�for�air�travel�data;�

• Undertake�a�literature�review�of�the�main�reports�and�research�on�airport�capacity�to�identify�
key�issues�and�findings�for�the�Committee�to�explore;��

• Set�out�the�findings�from�the�analysis�of�data�and�the�literature�review�in�a�written�report;��

• Present�the�findings�from�the�analysis�of�data�and�the�literature�review�to�the�Committee;�
and�

• Contribute�technical�advice�and�support�in�relation�to�the�production�of�briefings�for�the�
Committee’s�meetings�on�airport�capacity�and�its�written�submission�to�the�Government’s�
independent�airports�commission.�



�

4.
 Issues
for
Consideration

 

4.1 The�Transport�Committee�agreed�to�refer�the�scope�for�its�investigation�on�airport�capacity�to�the�
GLA�Oversight�Committee�for�consideration.��Airport�capacity�is�an�important�issue�with�wide�
ranging�implications�including�for�transport,�the�economy,�environment,�and�the�health�of�
Londoners.��The�Transport�Committee’s�investigation�has�been�scoped�to�take�into�account�past�
Assembly�work�on�aviation,�including�the�work�of�the�Health�and�Environment�Committee,�and�
would�provide�a�basis�for�further�Assembly�work�on�this�topic�in�future.����

�
4.2 The�Transport�Committee�also�agreed�to�recommend�to�the�GLA�Oversight�Committee�that�it�

approve�expenditure�to�a�maximum�of�£20,000�to�commission�external�contractors�to�provide�
technical�advice�and�support�on�airport�capacity.��Provisional�discussions�with�specialists�in�the�field�
suggest�this�sum�would�enable�the�Committee�to�procure�the�technical�advice�and�support�required�
including�the�analysis�of�relevant�aviation�data�and�the�literature�review.��If�the�GLA�Oversight�
approves�expenditure�to�commission�this�technical�advice�and�support,�the�contract�would�be�let�in�
early�December�so�the�work�could�begin�immediately�and�findings�produced�to�inform�the�Transport�
Committee’s�meetings�on�airport�capacity�in�January�and�February�2013.�

�
4.3 The�external�work�would�involve�a�comprehensive�analysis�of�aviation�data�including�covering�the�

different�ways�airport�capacity�could�be�used�in�future.��The�analysis�would�not�simply�focus�on�
whether�or�not�there�is�currently�spare�airport�capacity�but�would�also�cover�broader�issues�such�as�
the�scope�for�different�ways�to�arrange�existing�airport�capacity�and�airport�operations�to�meet�
demand�for�air�travel�and�the�potential�options�for�meeting�the�perceived�need�for�a�hub�airport.�
The�external�work�would�also�provide�for�a�literature�review�of�existing�research�and�publications�on�
airport�capacity�to�assist�in�the�identification�of�the�most�credible�options�in�the�short,�medium�and�
long-term�for�addressing�the�issue�of�airport�capacity�including�the�scope�for�more�rational�use�of�
existing�airport�capacity.�

 

Assembly
Decision
Making
Framework


�
4.4� The�Assembly’s�Decision�Making�Framework�includes�a�requirement�that�all�four�of�the�following�

criteria�be�considered�by�committees�in�deciding�whether�external�technical�assistance�is�required�
and�appropriate�on�any�given�project:��

• That�the�proposed�project�requiring�technical�assistance�is�clearly�and�tightly�defined.�This�would�
ordinarily�mean�that�the�consultant�would�be�used�for�a�discrete�piece�of�technical�analysis�or�
research�rather�than�simply�as�an�adviser�for�the�whole�of�a�scrutiny.��

Page 111



        

• That�the�proposed�project�cannot�be�readily�undertaken�by�in-house�staff,�either�because�of�a�
lack�of�necessary�expertise�or�because�of�a�lack�of�capacity.��

• That�the�analysis�required�from�consultants�is�not�readily�available�and�cannot�be�acquired�
elsewhere.��

• That�the�information�required�from�consultants�would�be�a�significant�contribution�to�the�aims�
of�the�scrutiny.�Technical�assistance�to�scrutiny�committees�involves�in�most�cases�the�analysis�of�
information�or�data�provided�to�the�committee,�rather�than�primary�research.��

�
4.5� Paragraphs�4.1-4.6�of�the�report�to�the�Transport�Committee�(appended)�are�designed�to�

demonstrate�that�all�four�of�the�criteria�set�out�in�the�previous�paragraph�have�been�addressed�and�
that�external�support�for�this�project�is�necessary�and�appropriate.�






5.
 Legal
Implications



5.1 Section�59�GLA�Act�1999�(as�amended)�(the�GLA�Act)�requires�the�Assembly�to�keep�under�review�

the�exercise�by�the�Mayor�of�his�statutory�functions.�Section�54(1)�GLA�Act�enables�the�Assembly�to�
arrange�for�any�of�its�functions�to�be�discharged�by�a�committee�or�sub-committee�of�the�Assembly�
or�by�a�single�member�of�the�Assembly.��

�
5.2 The�Contracts�Code�enables�the�Executive�Director�of�Secretariat�to�procure�technical�support.��

Under�the�Assembly’s�decision�making�framework�the�Executive�Director�of�Secretariat�can�award�
consultancy�contracts�up�to�£50,000.�

�
5.3 The�procurement�process�must�comply�with�the�Authority�Contracts�Code�of�Practice.�The�Contracts�

Code�requires�that,�for�contracts�with�an�estimated�value�of�between�£5,000�and�£24,999,�a�
minimum�of�3�written�quotes�are�sought.��Officers�are�required�to�demonstrate�that�value�for�money�
has�been�achieved.�





6.
 Financial
Implications

�
6.1 All�costs�arising�from�the�appointment�of�an�external�contractor�to�provide�technical�advice�and�

support�for�the�Transport�Committee’s�investigation�into�airport�capacity�would�be�met�from�the�
2012/13�scrutiny�programme�budget.�Subject�to�approval,�there�is�provision�of�£20,000�for�
commissioning�this�external�support�during�2012/13.�

�
6.2� The�contract�would�be�let�and�managed�in�accordance�with�relevant�GLA�policies�and�procedures.�As�

this�project�is�consultancy�based,�the�requirements�of�the�GLA’s�Expenses�and�Benefits�Framework�
and�the�Financial�Regulations�would�also�be�adhered�to.�

�
List
of
appendices
to
this
report:

Appendix�1�–�Proposal�for�Transport�Committee�investigation�into�airport�capacity�comprising�covering�
report�and�scoping�report�
�

Local
Government
(Access
to
Information)
Act
1985


List�of�Background�Papers:�None�
�
Contact�Officer:� Laura�Warren��
Telephone:� 020�7983 6545�
E-mail:� laura.warren@london.gov.uk��
�

Page 112



 

 

 

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Proposal for an Investigation into 
Airport Capacity  
 
Report to: Transport Committee  
 
Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 13 November 2012 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
1. Summary  
 
1.1 This report sets out a proposal for the Transport Committee to undertake an investigation into 

airport capacity and to commission external technical advice and support for this investigation. 

 
 
2. Recommendations 

 
2.1 That the Committee agrees the proposal for an investigation into airport capacity 

including the proposed terms of reference, as set out in Appendix 1 of this report;  
 
2.2 That the Committee agrees to recommend to the GLA Oversight Committee that 

expenditure of up to £20,000 be authorised to commission an external contractor to 
provide external technical advice and support for this investigation; and 

 
2.3 That the Committee notes that the Executive Director of the Secretariat, in consultation 

with the Chair, will commission the external contractor to carry out the external technical 
advice and support, subject to the GLA Oversight Committee approving the 
recommendation. 

 
 

3. Background  
 
3.1 At its last meeting the Committee agreed to use its meetings in January and February 2013 for an 

investigation into airport capacity in London.   Subsequently a detailed proposal has been developed 
for this investigation for formal agreement by the Committee.  The Committee is also asked to agree 
to commission external technical advice and support for the investigation.  

 
 

4. Issues for Consideration  
 
  Proposal for the Committee’s investigation into airport capacity 
 
4.1 The paper providing a more detailed proposal and terms of reference for the Committee’s 

investigation into airport capacity is attached at Appendix 1 for formal agreement. This provides for 

Appendix 1

Page 113



        

 

the Committee to undertake an investigation into airport capacity in order to produce a submission 
to the Government’s independent Airports Commission led by Sir Howard Davies. The Committee 
will use its meetings in January and February to gather information for this submission which it will 
seek to produce by May 2013. 

 
Proposal for external technical advice and support for the investigation into airport capacity 
 

4.2 It is proposed that the Committee’s investigation on airport capacity should include a detailed 
technical analysis of the data for current airport capacity and current and future estimated demand 
for air travel, and a literature review of existing reports and research on airport capacity.  The 
technical analysis of aviation data and literature review would provide detailed information to inform 
the Committee’s meetings in January and February 2013 and its subsequent written submission to 
the Government’s independent airports commission led by Sir Howard Davies.   

 
4.3 It would not be possible to undertake this work in-house due to a lack of expertise and resources.   

An external contractor would have the relevant expertise and experience to identify, collect and 
analyse critically the relevant data on airport capacity and demand for air travel in order to produce 
findings for the Committee to pursue in its investigation. An external contractor would also have the 
knowledge and skills necessary to identify all relevant key reports and research on airport capacity 
and to review these critically to produce a credible account of the key issues on airport capacity that 
the Committee could then explore in its investigation.   

 
4.4 Many reports have been produced on airport capacity but there are few that provide an analysis of 

relevant aviation data and an overview of existing publications on this issue.  Many existing reports 
on airport capacity represent a particular view on the issue and/or argue for a particular solution.  By 
contrast, the proposed technical analysis of aviation data combined with a literature review would 
result in a broad range of information covering all the different aspects of the debate on airport 
capacity. This would result in a unique report that provides detailed information to inform the 
Committee’s investigation.     

 
4.5 The external contractor would be required to present the findings from their technical analysis and 

literature review to the Committee to maximise their contribution to the investigation. This 
presentation would assist Members in identifying key issues to pursue at the meetings. The external 
contractor would also contribute technical advice and support to the Scrutiny Team in producing 
briefings for the Committee’s meetings and its subsequent written submission to the Government’s 
independent airports commission.  

 
4.6 Last year, the Committee used an external contractor to provide technical advice and support for its 

investigation on the Tube which worked well. This proposal has been developed in light of that 
experience.  In summary, the external contractor commissioned to provide technical advice and 
support on airport capacity would be required to do the following work, in consultation with the 
Scrutiny Team: 

• Undertake a technical analysis of relevant aviation data including current airport capacity data 
and current and future estimates of demand for air travel data; 

• Undertake a literature review of the main reports and research on airport capacity to identify key 
issues and findings for the Committee to explore;  

• Set out the findings from the analysis of data and the literature review in a written report;  

• Present the findings from the analysis of data and the literature review to the Committee; and 

• Contribute technical advice and support in relation to the production of briefings for the 
Committee’s meetings on airport capacity and its written submission to the Government’s 
independent airports commission. 

 
4.7 Subject to the Committee’s approval, the GLA Oversight Committee would be asked to approve 

expenditure for the external work at its meeting on 28 November 2012, and the tender process 

Page 114



        

 

would begin thereafter.  The external contractor would be appointed from December until May 2012 
with the analysis of aviation data and the literature review conducted over December-February so 
findings could be produced to inform the Committee’s meetings in early 2013.  

 
4.8 The Assembly’s Decision Making Framework includes a requirement that all four of the following 

criteria be considered by committees in deciding whether external technical assistance is required 
and appropriate on any given project: 

 

• that the proposed project requiring technical assistance is clearly and tightly defined.  This 
would ordinarily mean that the consultant would be used for a discrete piece of technical 
analysis or research rather than simply as an adviser for the whole of a scrutiny; 

 

• that the proposed project cannot be readily undertaken by in-house staff, either because of 
a lack of necessary expertise or because of a lack of capacity; 

 

• that the analysis required from consultants is not readily available and cannot be acquired 
elsewhere; and 

 

• that the information required from consultants would be a significant contribution to the 
aims of the scrutiny.  Technical assistance to scrutiny committees involves in most cases the 
analysis of information or data provided to the committee, rather than primary research. 

 
4.9 Paragraphs 4.2 – 4.7 of this report are designed to demonstrate that all four of the criteria set out in 

the previous paragraph have been addressed and that the proposed external support is necessary 
and appropriate. 

 
 

5. Legal Implications 
 
5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 
 
6. Financial Implications 
 
6.1 All costs arising from the appointment of an external contractor to provide technical advice and 

support for the Transport Committee’s investigation into airport capacity would be met from the 
2012/13 scrutiny programme budget. Subject to approval, there is provision of £20,000 for 
commissioning this external support during 2012/13. 

 
6.2 The contract would be let and managed in accordance with relevant GLA policies and procedures. As 

this project is consultancy based, the requirements of the GLA’s Expenses and Benefits Framework 
and the Financial Regulations would also be adhered to. 

 
 
List of appendices to this report: 
Appendix 1 – Proposal for Transport Committee investigation into airport capacity 
 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 
 
Contact Officer: Laura Warren  
Telephone: 020 7983 6545 
E-mail: laura.warren@london.gov.uk  

Page 115



        

 

 

Page 116



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Introduction 
 
 
Background 
 
 
Questions for the review 
 
 
How to contribute 
 
 
About the Committee 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Investigation into airport capacity in London  
Transport Committee 
 

 

                                              1 

Introduction 
 

The London Assembly’s Transport Committee is 
investigating airport capacity in London with a view to 
producing a submission to the Government’s independent 
airports commission led by Sir Howard Davies.   
 

Aim of investigation 
 

The purpose of this investigation is to contribute to the 
topical debate on airport capacity.  The Committee will 
explore the arguments for and against changing existing 
airport capacity in the capital including analysing current 
capacity and current and future estimates of demand for 
air travel. The Committee will also explore options for 
addressing the issue of airport capacity in the short, 
medium and long-term including the scope for more 
rational use of existing airport capacity.   
 
The investigation will provide for the Committee to identify 
issues that the Government’s independent airports 
commission should take into account when considering the 
arguments relating to airport capacity and the potential 
options.   
 
The Committee will seek to have an impact by conducting 
a public interrogation of the arguments and options 
relating to airport capacity and by persuading the 
Government’s independent airports commission of issues 
that it should consider in its work.  The Committee will also 
seek to hold the Mayor to account for his work on airport 
capacity. 
 

 
Terms of reference 
 

The terms of reference for this investigation are: 

• To examine the arguments for and against changing existing 
airport capacity in London including analysing current 
capacity and current and future estimates of demand for air 
travel;  

• To explore the different options for addressing airport 
capacity in the short, medium and long-term including the 
scope for more rational use of existing airport capacity; and  

• To set out findings in a written submission to the 
Government’s independent airports commission by May 
2013.   

 
Background 
 

Airport capacity in London 
 

London has five principal airports with a total of six commercial 
runways. These airports are: Heathrow; Gatwick; Stansted, 
Luton, and London City airport.1 There are also other airports 
near London such as Southend.   

Heathrow has unique status as a major international hub 
airport.  A hub airport is a location at which flights are 
organised in waves of arrivals and departures in order to allow 
large volumes of passengers to make a wide range of 
connections. 2   

 

                                                
1The Mayor’s ‘ A New Airport for London – Part 1’, January 2011, Chapter 6 
2The Mayor’s ‘ A New Airport for London – Part 1’, January 2011, Chapter 6 

Appendix 1 

P
age 117



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Introduction 
 
 
Background 
 
 
Questions for the review 
 
 
How to contribute 
 
 
About the Committee 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Investigation into airport capacity in London  
Transport Committee 
 

 

                                              2 

The debate on changing airport capacity 
 

Airport capacity is defined by: runway capacity (aircraft slots 
available for landing and taking-off); terminal capacity 
(number of passengers that can be safely processed); and 
airspace capacity (Air Traffic Control (ATC) imposes limits).3  
 
The Mayor, the aviation industry and business groups suggest 
runway capacity is rapidly running out in London. They argue 
that London’s airports already operate close to capacity - 
Heathrow is reportedly operating at 99 per cent runway 
capacity4 - and will reach full capacity by 2030 because 
demand for aviation travel is increasing.  
 
The Mayor and others call for urgent action to increase runway 
capacity because aviation is central to the capital’s economy.  
In particular, aviation provides the interconnectivity that makes 
London a global city. The Mayor suggests ‘if [aviation] 
capacity is constrained in the longer run, there is a substantial 
risk that…investment, business transactions and productive 
firms will be lost to alternative locations. The relative 
connectivity of London will deteriorate...”5  
 
By contrast, aviation and environmental campaigning groups 
suggest there is no crisis in runway capacity. AirportWatch 
argues London remains the best-connected city in Europe with 
more flights to key business destinations in every continent 
except South America.6  Moreover, it and other organisations, 

                                                
3 The Mayor’s ‘ A New Airport for London – Part 1’, January 2011, Chapter 6 
4 The Mayor’s ‘ A New Airport for London – Part 1’, January 2011, Chapter 6 
5 The Mayor’s ‘ A New Airport for London – Part 1’, January 2011, p7 
6 Airport Watch and WWF report, International Air Connectivity for Business’, 2011 

query the estimated increase in demand for aviation travel.  
The Aviation Environment Federation (AEF) suggests that the 
Government’s forecasts of aviation passengers have been 
revised downwards four times since 2003 and remain too high 
because of certain assumptions. AEF also argues that the great 
majority of any growth in demand is for leisure and not 
business travel so there would be no major loss of trade if 
runway capacity did not increase.7   
 
In recent years many people have argued that it is in London’s 
economic interest to avoid more environmental damage from 
aviation. They point to the adverse effects of the existing 
airports in terms of noise and air pollution.  For them, demand 
for air travel should be constrained and alternative more 
sustainable modes of transport championed.  
 
This investigation will provide an opportunity to explore the 
arguments for and against changing existing airport capacity in 
London. The Committee will examine the economic and 
environmental implications building on existing Assembly work 
on these issues and analyse current airport capacity and the 
current and future estimates of demand for aviation travel 
including the basis for these estimates. 
 
The options for addressing airport capacity  
 

Various options have been proposed for addressing the issue 
of airport capacity in London.  Some of these options are 
detailed below. 
 

                                                
7 Aviation Environment Federation briefing, 12 October 2012 

P
age 118



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Introduction 
 
 
Background 
 
 
Questions for the review 
 
 
How to contribute 
 
 
About the Committee 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Investigation into airport capacity in London  
Transport Committee 
 

 

                                              3 

• More rational use of existing airport capacity.  
Some argue existing airport capacity should be 
managed differently to better meet demand e.g. there 
should be fewer short-haul flights to free up capacity 
for more long-haul flights for business.  In 2006 Airport 
Watch argued that the number of flights at Heathrow 
could be cut by around 25 per cent a year (100,000) if 
there were no flights to and from destinations with 
good rail alternatives e.g. Paris and Edinburgh.8     

• Change flight patterns to increase flights e.g. 
allow both landing and takeoff (mixed mode) on 
runways or more night flights at Heathrow. There is 
strong opposition to this proposal. The Assembly has 
unanimously opposed an increase in flights at 
Heathrow on the grounds of the adverse effects on the 
health and quality of life of Londoners.9 

• Build a third runway at Heathrow. This is 
championed by parts of the aviation industry 
(Heathrow Ltd (formerly BAA) and British Airways 
(BA)) and some business groups as the most easily 
deliverable option. There is strong opposition to this 
proposal.  The Assembly has unanimously opposed the 
third runway on economic and environmental grounds. 
The Mayor also opposes a third runway, arguing that it 
would also fail to provide the extra hub capacity 
required.   

• Combine Heathrow with Gatwick to create 
‘Heathwick’ A 180 mph high-speed rail link could 

                                                
8Airport Watch, Short-Haul Flights:  Clogging up Heathrow’s Runways, 2006 
9 Assembly motion, 16 June  2010  

create a double-hub airport with a second runway built 
at Gatwick. Recently Gatwick Airport Ltd announced its 
intention to develop options for a second runway.10 
There is local opposition to expansion of Gatwick on 
the grounds of noise and air pollution. Parts of the 
aviation industry (Heathrow Ltd, BA, Easyjet and 
Ryanair) are also opposed. 

• Use RAF Northolt as a passenger airport linked to 
Heathrow. A high-speed rail link could link the two 
sites.  Issues have been raised about this proposal 
including that the runway at Northholt is aligned the 
wrong way. Both the Mayor of London and local MPs 
have publicly dismissed this proposal.11 

• Build more runways at Stansted.  Some, including 
Ryanair, argue that this is the best option because 
Stansted is located outside London with more space for 
expansion. Others argue Stansted suffers from a poor 
reputation as a provider of low-cost flights and is 
poorly connected to London. 

• Build a new airport in the Thames estuary.  The 
Mayor has led calls for a new four runway, 24 hour hub 
airport in the Thames Estuary at an estimated cost of 
some £50 billion.  He has suggested this will deliver the 
extra airport capacity required and help to regenerate 
east London. The proposal has been criticised on many 
grounds including: its potentially adverse impact on 
Heathrow12; its costs including an estimated £30 billion 

                                                
10 Gatwick Airport Ltd press release, 17 October 2012 
11 http://ruislip.uxbridgegazette.co.uk/2012/03/heathrow-satellite-plan-for-ra.html 
12 Assembly motion, 20 June 2012 

P
age 119



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Introduction 
 
 
Background 
 
 
Questions for the review 
 
 
How to contribute 
 
 
About the Committee 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Investigation into airport capacity in London  
Transport Committee 
 

 

                                              4 

from taxpayers for the necessary transport links; its 
environmental impact in terms of CO2 emissions and 
on local wildlife; and practicalities e.g the need to 
remove the sunken SS Richard Montgomery warship 
which is loaded with explosives. 

• Build a new hub airport somewhere else. Over the 
years various sites for new airports have been 
suggested e.g. Cublington in Buckinghamshire13 and, 
more recently, immediately west of Heathrow.14 Similar 
issues are likely to be raised about the building of a 
new airport in any location e.g. the local environmental 
impacts, the potential high costs and the long 
timescales for completion.  

• Expand the role of the UK’s regional airports. 
Airports such as Birmingham may have spare runway 
capacity to help meet demand. However, parts of the 
aviation industry argue many people do not want to fly 
to and from places that are far away from London.  

 
This investigation will provide an opportunity to consider all 
the different options for addressing the issue of airport 
capacity in London in the short, medium and long-term.  The 
Committee will explore the issues that need to be taken into 
account when assessing each option including the potential 
costs and the practicalities such as suitable transport links, as 
well as the overall question of need for airport capacity.  
 
 

                                                
13 The Roskill Commission in 1971 concluded that this was the best option  
14 Policy Exchange report, Bigger and Quieter, October 2012 

The Government’s independent airports commission 
 
In September 2012 the Government announced an 
independent commission led by Sir Howard Davies would 
investigate maintaining the UK’s status as an international 
hub for aviation.   
 
On 2 November 2012, the Government announced the 
membership of the Airports Commission and its terms of 
reference. The Airports Commission is to produce an 
interim report by December 2013 with recommendations 
for immediate actions to improve the use of existing 
runway capacity in the next five years.  The Airports 
Commission will produce a final report by summer 2015 
with recommendations for the approach that should be 
taken to meet the UK’s international connectivity needs.15 
 
The Airports Commission is the latest development in 
government work on airport capacity.  Ten years ago the 
then government concluded that the capacity of UK 
airports was an ‘important constraint on future growth’ 
and expressed support for runway expansion at Heathrow 
and Stansted.16 In 2010 the current government cancelled 
plans for the third runway at Heathrow and made it clear it 
would refuse permission for new runways at Gatwick and 
Stansted.  
 
This investigation will provide an opportunity for the 
Committee to contribute views and information to the 
Government’s independent Airports Commission. 
                                                
15 See DfT website: http://www.dft.gov.uk/news/press-releases/dft-press-20121102a   
16 Government White Paper, The Future of Air Transport, 2003 

P
age 120



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Introduction 
 
 
Background 
 
 
Questions for the review 
 
 
How to contribute 
 
 
About the Committee 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Investigation into airport capacity in London  
Transport Committee 
 

 

                                              5 

 
The Mayor’s work on airport capacity 
 
Airport capacity is a key issue for the Mayor. In 2011, he 
published two reports on the case for a new hub airport in 
London. In September 2012, he appointed Daniel Moylan as 
his lead adviser on aviation to develop his aviation strategy 
and “spearhead a new aviation policy unit.”17 
 
Recently the Mayor’s position on the location of a new hub 
airport has shifted.  He is no longer wedded to the Thames 
Estuary, suggesting Stansted also merits consideration as a 
location.18 TfL is due to produce the third report in the case for 
a new hub airport later this year.  The third report will explore 
a number of location options for a new hub airport, and 
possible delivery models.19 
 
This investigation will provide an opportunity for the 
Committee to explore the Mayor’s previous work and reports 
on airport capacity and his future work on this issue.  
 
Other work taking place on aviation capacity  
 

Airport capacity is the subject of much debate.  Many parts 
of the aviation industry, environmental campaign groups, 
local authorities and other stakeholders will now be 
assembling views and information to submit to the Airports 
Commission.  This includes the Transport Select Committee 
which has launched an inquiry into the Government’s 

                                                
17 Mayor’s press release, 12 September 2012 
18 Mayor’s response to the Government’s draft aviation policy framework October 2012 
19 Transport Commissioner report, TfL Board meeting, 20 September 2012 

aviation strategy. The Select Committee is likely to hold 
evidence gathering meetings in the next few months and 
produce its findings next year.20  
 
Relevant past Assembly work on aviation 
 

The Transport Committee’s investigation will build on the 
Assembly’s considerable past work on aviation.  In the last ten 
years the Assembly has frequently opposed plans for 
expanding Heathrow, finding there was an insufficient 
economic case for expansion and inadequate proposals for 
addressing the environmental costs and impacts. 
 
Most recently the Health & Environment Committee published 
its response to the Government’s consultation on its draft 
aviation policy framework. This set out the Committee’s 
concerns about the impact of aviation on climate change, 
noise levels and air quality.21 The response followed the former 
Environment Committee’s reports Flights of Fancy (2010) and 
Plane Speaking (March 2012).  
 
Questions for the investigation 
 

During the investigation the Transport Committee will seek 
to answer the following key questions:  

• What are the arguments for and against changing 
existing airport capacity in London? What is the 
evidence in support of these arguments? 

                                                
20 Further details available online at: www.parliament.uk   
21 Available online at: http://www.london.gov.uk/publication/aviation-policy-framework-
consultation-response  

P
age 121



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Introduction 
 
 
Background 
 
 
Questions for the review 
 
 
How to contribute 
 
 
About the Committee 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Investigation into airport capacity in London  
Transport Committee 
 

 

                                              6 

• What are the current levels of airport capacity and the 
current and future estimates of demand for aviation 
travel? What is the basis for the estimates?  

• What are the options in the short, medium and long-
term for addressing the issue of airport capacity? 

• What issues need to be taken into account when 
assessing each option for addressing airport capacity? 

 
Details of the investigation 
 

The Committee will seek written submissions and hold two 
public meetings to gather views and information for its 
submission to the Airports Commission.  It will appoint an 
external expert to provide technical advice and support 
throughout this work.  
    
The Committee will invite written submissions by the end of 
2012 from a wide range of organisations including:  

• The Mayor/Mayoral adviser on aviation and TfL; 

• The aviation industry including London’s airport 
operators and airlines;  

• The Civil Aviation Authority; 

• National Air Traffic Service;  

• London Boroughs and London Councils; 

• Aviation campaign groups e.g Airport Watch and 
AEF; 

• Environmental and wildlife organisations e.g RSPB; 

• Residents organisations;  

• Business representative groups and businesses; and 

• Academics and transport commentators.  

The Committee will also seek Londoners’ views on airport 
capacity. The investigation will be publicised on the 
London Assembly website and through social media.  
 
The Committee will use the written submissions received to 
inform discussion at two public meetings on 15 January 
and 6 February 2013.  It may use its first meeting to hear 
from relevant stakeholders on the cases for and against 
changing existing airport capacity and its second meeting 
to hear from relevant stakeholders on the different options 
for addressing the issue of airport capacity. 
 
Following its public meetings, the Committee will publish 
its findings.  It will set out the issues that should be 
considered in relation to airport capacity in a written 
submission to the Airports Commission by May 2013. 
 
Timetable for the investigation 
 
This investigation will take place from November 2012 to 
May 2013.  The stages in the investigation will include:  

• Agreement of terms of reference: 13 November 2012 

• Desk-based research/gather written views and 
information: November 2012 - February 2013; 

• Formal meetings: 15 January and 6 February 2013; and   

• Produce findings: By May 2013. 
 

 

 

 

P
age 122



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Introduction 
 
 
Background 
 
 
Questions for the review 
 
 
How to contribute 
 
 
About the Committee 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Investigation into airport capacity in London  
Transport Committee 
 

 

                                              7 

How to contribute to the investigation 

The Transport Committee welcomes written views and 
information to inform its investigation.  Written 
submissions should aim to address the questions outlined 
above. 
 
Please send written submissions to Laura Warren, London 
Assembly, City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA, 
or email: laura.warren@london.gov.uk.   
 
The Committee would welcome receiving written 
submissions by Friday 28 December 2012 so they may 
be used to inform its meetings in early 2013. 
 
About the Transport Committee 
 

The Transport Committee examines all aspects of the 
capital's transport system in order to press for 
improvements for Londoners. The Committee pays 
particular attention to how the Mayor's Transport Strategy 
is being implemented, and the work of TfL.   
 
The membership of the Transport Committee and details of 
its work are available on its website  

P
age 123



Page 124

This page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                                    

�
City�Hall,�The�Queen’s�Walk,�London�SE1�2AA�
Enquiries:
020
7983
4100
minicom:
020
7983
4458
www.london.gov.uk




 

Subject:�Elections
Review
Working
Group�


Report
to:
 GLA
Oversight
Committee




Report
of:

Executive
Director
of
Secretariat 



Date:
28
November
2012�



This
report
will
be
considered
in
public 






1.
 Summary



�
1.1 The�report�provides�minutes�and�the�final�report�of�the�Elections�Review�Working�Group.�





2.
 Recommendations�


2.1 That
the
Committee
confirms
the
minutes
of
the
meeting
of
the
Elections
Review
Working


Group
meetings
held
on
5
and
12
July
2012
to
be
signed
by
the
Chair
as
a
correct
record.


2.2 That
the
Committee
agrees
the
report
of
the
Elections
Review
Working
Group,
The
2012

Mayoral
and
London
Assembly
Elections.


2.3 That
the
Head
of
Paid
Service
be
asked
to
provide
a
comprehensive
response
to
the


Working
Group’s
recommendations,
including
the
response
from
London
Elects
and
the


GLRO,
in
time
for
the
21
March
2013
GLA
Oversight
Committee
meeting.






3.
 Background





3.1 At�its�meeting�of�22�May�2012,�the�GLA�Oversight�Committee�agreed�to�establish�an�Elections�

Review�Working�Group�consisting�of�Len�Duvall�AM�and�Andrew�Boff�AM�with�the�following�terms�

of�reference:�

�
In�relation�to�the�2012�GLA�Elections�in�London:�

• To�review�the�planning,�conduct�and�costs�of�the�elections�and�identify�improvements�for�future�
years;�and�

• To�identify�and�collate�from�London�Elects�and�other�stakeholders�and�participants,�accounts�
and�explanations�for�issues�that�arose�during�the�election�process.�






4.
 Issues
for
Consideration�

�
4.1� On�5�July�the�Elections�Review�working�group�questioned�the�following�guests�about�arrangements�

for�the�conduct�and�counting�to�the�2012�GLA�elections.�
�

Agenda Item 12

Page 125



        

Agents�and�observer:�

• Martin�Bleach�(Green)�

• Patrick�Heneghan�(Labour)�
• Ashley�Lumsden�(Liberal�Democrat)�

• Ian�Sanderson�(Conservative)�

• Jim�Killock�(Open�Rights�Group)�
�

Returning�Officers�/�electoral�administrators�

• Barry�Quirk,�Constituency�Returning�Officer,�Greenwich�and�Lewisham�
• Fiona�Ledden,�Deputy�Returning�Officer,�Brent�

• Pauline�Ferris,�Electoral�Services�Manager,�Harrow�

• George�Cooper,�Association�of�Electoral�Administrators,�London�Branch�
�

4.2� On�12�July�the�Elections�Review�working�group�questioned�the�Greater�London�Returning�Officer�

and�representatives�of�the�electronic�count�contractor,�IntElect.�The�minutes�of�those�meetings,�
including�transcripts�of�the�discussions,�is�attached�at�Appendix
1.�The�working�group�received�16�

written�submissions�and�they�are�available�as�an�appendix�to�the�report.���
�

4.3� The�Working�Group’s�report,�A�review�into�the�2012�Mayoral�and�Assembly�Elections,�acknowledges�

all�the�hard�work�by�election�officers�and�others�that�went�into�ensuring�over�two�million�Londoners�

could�cast�their�vote�securely.�While�the�results�of�the�election�for�Mayor�and�London�Assembly�
members�commanded�the�confidence�of�Londoners,�the�delay�in�the�count�process�damaged�the�

reputation�of�London.�The�recommendations�in�this�report�are�designed�to�ensure�that�the�process�

for�counting�the�vote�in�2016�delivers�to�time.��
�

4.4� The�report�sets�out�in�detail�the�reasons�for�the�delay�in�declaring�the�results.�We�find�that�there�
were�five�main�causes�of�the�delays�that�affected�the�Alexandra�Palace�count�centre�and�in�particular�
the�Brent�and�Harrow�count.�The�combination�of�the�different�but�related�events�caused�what�the�
Head�of�Elections�at�IntElect�described�as�“a�perfect�storm”�which�led�to�the�long�delay�in�declaring�
the�result.
Our�review�sets�out�key�areas�of�learning�for�London�Elects�as�it�begins�to�look�to�2016.�
Crucially�the�report�argues�that�given�the�size�and�complexity�of�the�event,�moving�to�a�two�count�
centre�solution�would�build�in�necessary�resilience�as�well�as�yielding�further�economies�of�scale�in�
terms�of�flexibility�by�being�able�to�move�resources�around�to�fit�need.�

����
4.5 The�report�also�look�at�a�number�of�issues�around�staffing�of�London�Elects�including�how�the�

function�could�be�more�closely�integrated�with�the�GLA,�the�role�of�temporary�and�permanent�staff�
and�the�timing�of�the�team’s�establishment�and�requests�the�Head�of�Paid�Service�to�review�the�

resourcing�requirements�off�London�Elects�and�to�report�back�to�this�committee�by�21�March�2013�

with�his�recommendations�and�indicative�budget�proposals.��
�

4.6 A�significant�recommendation�to�the�Electoral�Commission�is�the�need�to�address�the�inability�of�the�

GLRO�to�call�for�a�London-wide�Mayoral�recount�if�the�closeness�of�the�vote�necessitated�it.�This�is�a�
flaw�in�the�system�the�report�argues�that�can�not�be�left�unresolved.��

�

4.7 The�full�report�is�attached�as�Appendix
2.�����
�

�








Page 126



        



5.
 Legal
Implications



5.1 As�the�parent�committee,�the�GLA�Oversight�Committee�has�the�power�to�agree�the�minutes�and�

final�report�of�the�Elections�Review�Working�Group.�

�
�

6.
 Financial
Implications

�
6.1 There�are�no�direct�financial�implications�arising�from�this�report.�

�

�
�

�

List
of
appendices
to
this
report:

�

Appendix�1�–�Minutes�and�transcripts�of�the�Working�Group�meetings�of�5�and�12�July�2012�

Appendix�2�–�The�2012�Mayoral�and�London�Assembly�Elections�
�
�

Local
Government
(Access
to
Information)
Act
1985


List�of�Background�Papers:�

None.�

�

Contact�Officer:� Richard�Derecki�

Telephone:� 020�7984�4899�

E-mail:� Richard.derecki@london.gov.uk�

�

Page 127



Page 128

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

MINUTES  
 

Meeting: Election Review Working Group 
Date: Thursday 5 July 2012 
Time: 2.00 pm 
Place: Committee Room 3, City Hall, The 

Queen's Walk, London, SE1 2AA 
 

Copies of the minutes may be found at: http://www.london.gov.uk/who-runs-london/the-london-

assembly/committees   

 
Present: 
 
Andrew Boff AM 
Len Duvall AM (Chairman) 
 
 
 

1. Election of Chair  
 

1.1 The Clerk to the Working Group sought nominations for the Chair of the Working Group.  A 
nominated for Len Duvall as Chair was received.  The Clerk declared that Len Duvall had been 
nominated Chair of the Working Group. 

 
1.2 Resolved: 
 

That Len Duvall be elected as Chair of the 2012 Elections in London Working Group. 

 
 
2. Apologies for Absence and Chair's Announcements  

 
2.1 There were no apologies for absence. 

 
 
3. Declarations of Interests  

 
3.1 Resolved 
 

(a) That the list of memberships of functional bodies and London Borough 

Appendix 1

Page 129



Greater London Authority 
Election Review Working Group 

Thursday 5 July 2012 

 

 
 

Councils , as set out in the table at Item 2, be noted as disclosable pecuniary 
interests;  
 

(b) That gifts and hospitality received by Members, as set out in the Authority’s 
gifts and hospitality register, be noted. 

 
 
4. Membership of the Working Group  

 
4.1 Resolved: 
 
 That the membership of the Working Group appointed by the GLA Oversight 

Committee at its meeting on 19 June 2012 be noted. 

 
 
5. Terms of Reference of the 2012 Elections Review Working Group  

 
5.1 Resolved: 
 

That the Working Group’s terms of reference be noted. 

 
 
6. Review of the London 2012 Elections  

 
6.1 The Working Group received the report of the executive Director of Secretariat. 
 
6.2 The following people attended the meeting to answer the Working Group’s questions on the 

2012 Elections in London: 
 

 Party Agents and election observers 

! Martin Bleach (Green Party). 

! Patrick Heneghan (Labour Party). 

! Ashley Lumsden (Liberal Democrat Party). 

! Ian Sanderson (Conservative Party). 

! Jim Killock (Open Rights Group – election observers). 

 

6.3 A transcript of the discussion is attached as Appendix 1 

 

 Returning officers and administrators 

! Barry Quirk, Constituency Returning Officer, Greenwich and Lewisham. 

! Fiona Ledden, Deputy Returning Officer, Brent.  

! Pauline Ferris, Electoral Services Manager, Harrow. 

! George Cooper, Association of Electoral Administrators London Branch. 

Page 130



Greater London Authority 
Election Review Working Group 

Thursday 5 July 2012 

 

 
 

 
6.4  A transcript of the discussion is attached as Appendix 2. 

6.5  Resolved: 
 

That the discussion with the invited guests be noted 

 
 
7. Date of Next Meeting  

 
7.1 The Working Group noted that date of the next meeting. 
 
7.2 Resolved: 
 
 To note that the next meeting of the Working Group would be held on 12 July 

2012. 
 

 
 
8. Any Other Business the Chair Considers Urgent  

 
8.1 There was no other business. 

 
 
9. Close of meeting 

 
9.1 The meeting closed at 14.55 p.m. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
    
Chair  Date 
 
Contact Officer: Nick Baker, Committee Assistant; Telephone: 020 7983 5525; E-mail: 

nick.baker@london.gov.uk; Minicom: 020 7983 4458. 
 
 

Page 131



Appendix 1 
 

Transcription of the Election Review Working Group - 5 July 2012 
 

Agenda item 6 – Review of the London 2012 Elections - Party Agents and 
election observers 

 
 

Andrew Boff (AM):  Thank you very much, first of all, for being here.  We do appreciate this 

part of the election process, the aftermath to see what went well and what went wrong.  Can 

you tell me what the party agents’ view was of the quality of the London Elects’ preparations 

for the elections and the quality of communications that there was with party agents? 

 

Ian Sanderson (Polling Agent, Conservative Party):  I thought overall it was pretty good.  I 

think London Elects are very approachable and I think they do a pretty good job.  It is helpful 

that they have some of the same people, like Keith Hathaway [Elections Operation Manager] 

over a long period of time, so the continuity of the fact that you are dealing with the same 

people over a period of time I think is very helpful, because they are a unique set of elections. 

 

I had the odd reservation about some of the sort of lesser administration, not the administration 

over the overall process but things like the appointments of counting agents and that sort of 

thing.  I think the interface probably from their point of view between local authorities and 

where the responsibility of the local Returning Officer starts and theirs stops is probably 

mutually confusing for you and them, and some of it rubs off on to the political parties, but 

nothing was insurmountable.  That is my general overview. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  Mr Lumsden? 

 

Ashley Lumsden (Polling Agent, Liberal Democrat Party):  I think there are things I would 

add to that.  Generally, I felt that the preparation seemed to have started in good time, that the 

contact made with agents was well in advance of the election period and so was very helpful to 

me as an election agent.  Their communications were generally very helpful and easy to 

understand.  So, I do not really have any complaints on those two parts.   

 

I think, like Ian[Sanderson], that where there were difficulties, it was trying to work out where 

the responsibilities lay between London Elects and the constituency Returning Officers, and that 

is perhaps something that I might want to return to at a later point in this session. 

 

Martin Bleach (Polling Agent, Green Party):  Generally, I must agree with my colleagues.  I 

thought the communication was excellent.  I thought the behaviour and the way things were 

dealt with on a day-to-day basis with the staff was excellent.  I would disagree with one thing.  I 

thought we did start a bit late.  The nomination packs were originally expected late January 

2012, that then slipped to fairly late in February 2012, so by about a month, three weeks. The 

website came up three months later than it did at the last election, which obviously gave a bit of 

a slower start for the general public as well.  But as far London Elects is concerned, I thought 

they were very good. 

Page 132



 

Andrew Boff (AM):  Can I just say, Mr Killock, obviously you are not an agent but you are 

involved in observing the elections.  Do you involve yourselves that early in the process or does 

it kick in a little later than the parties? 

 

Jim Killock (Open Rights Group - election observer):  Our involvement was in two stages, 

very early on, just in looking at the procurement and choice of e-counting systems; and we did 

have some complaints, as did the Electoral Commission, about that process, particularly the 

assessment that the GLA ran.  Although I would say the staff tended to be very communicative, 

we did not really feel the initial assessments were done properly and we felt that there was really 

a need for the London Assembly to be working out how you procure these systems with other 

people on a national level.  This is a need for a national framework to make those sorts of 

decisions. 

 

Certainly the cost of e-counting was probably in the region of £1 million more expensive than 

doing it manually, and therefore the main benefit in choosing e-counting was probably in 

speed, which puts it in the realm of being a political decision rather than being simply 

something decided on value for money.  I do not think that was very explicit, because the 

reasons for choosing e-counting were not made particularly well or in a convincing way. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  I think, to be fair, we will probably be covering those issues later on.  It 

was purely about your communications with London Elects and how early you needed that. 

 

Jim Killock (Open Rights Group - election observer):  I think at the start the 

communications were fine and people were open, they were honest and they were completely 

prepared to answer questions we had; so on that score they were fine. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  I am not trying to shut you up, because actually I agree with everything 

on that particular issue, as you may know.  Thank you very much. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  If we could focus now on specific publicity and advertising that London 

Elects may have helped or put together in their publicity campaign.  Have you got a view on its 

effectiveness and the quality of it and are there any improvements you would like to have seen 

for 2016 that you might like to suggest? 

 

Ian Sanderson (Polling Agent, Conservative Party):  Yes, we had a number of views on 

this, which I notice were not actually -- we did make these known at the time and these were 

not actually reflected in London Elects’ report.  I do not know how much of it lies within their 

remit in terms of whether to have this budget or use it, but I would be very sceptical as to the 

value of the advertising.  The report states that it was effective, but apart from a line that says it 

was effective, I have not seen any evidence that backs up whether it was effective.  Obviously, 

the turnout was less than last time, but that is not automatically cause and effect. 

 

I think the awareness aspect of it is largely a waste of money.  I think in a vibrant city like 

London where you have a hard-fought campaign with high-profile candidates, that if you need 

something on the side of a bus to tell you there is an election going on, you are probably not 

Page 133



likely to be engaging in the campaign anyway.  Also, we did make specific complaints during the 

campaign that the awareness campaign was straying into the political arena.  I do not think that 

was a deliberate act on the part of London Elects to politicise themselves, but I think that once 

you get into raising the awareness there is a danger that whatever campaign you use is going to 

be political.   

 

If you can indulge me slightly to give the example of, “How do you like your London?”  If I like 

you how you like your tea, you will either say, “Two sugars and milk” or you will say, “It is very 

nice, thank you”, depending on whether you have it.  Now, because people already have a 

London, if you are asked the question, “How do you like your London”, you will not give the 

two sugars answer, you will give an evaluation of the existing performance, which is a perfectly 

valid question for all political opponents to ask but is not actually an independent question in 

itself. 

 

I do not think that was a deliberate act but I think it strayed into politicisation, and there was 

also the rather subjective decision as to which roles of the Authority should be highlighted in 

the advertisements.  Although that aspect is not a huge amount of the budget, I think it was a 

waste of money and if there is budget to spare it could be used in a better part of the process. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  It would be useful for our next meeting if we had copies of this as well, if 

officers could just supply full copies and the procurement that they went through and some of 

the issues that they went through.  Thank you for that.   

 

Ashley Lumsden (Polling Agent, Liberal Democrat Party):  I think that generally I am 

sympathetic with some of those views.  I mean, it is not for a party worker like me to say that 

the publicity from the Authority had no impact, but of course my own party leaflets persuaded 

everybody and so I am not sure that I can be entirely unbiased in saying that their publicity did 

not work and mine did.  Some people might look at me and say perhaps my publicity did not 

work. 

 

I think that it is a question mark, though, in terms of the basic job of raising awareness, which is 

part of the duty on the Authority, as to whether that is more achieved in that way than all the 

other ways that the election is communicated to people. 

 

I would pick out two things that I thought were positive steps this time around.  One was that 

there was advertising indicating that there were three ballot papers coming, and that was 

extremely popular, particular with candidates on the other two ballot papers.  Also, I thought 

that there were television interviews given by the staff of London Elects.  I think it was when 

ballot papers were being posted out in postal votes but I do not remember exactly.  That was 

not advertising, but it meant that if the staff were on television on BBC News and suchlike and 

they were put the question, “Is this electoral system very complicated”, and they were able to 

say, “No, you get your three ballot papers and you put crosses where you want to vote”.  I 

thought that in terms of coverage and reaching people and helping people understand, that one 

minute of interview and having a member of staff who was there to answer those questions was 

far more effective than, as my colleague has said there, bus advertisements or whatever.  So I 

am a little sceptical, I am afraid. 

Page 134



 

Len Duvall (Chair):  We are just talking about publicity and advertising on election awareness 

raising issues, Patrick, have you got any views on that? 

 

Patrick Heneghan (Polling Agent, Labour Party):  Nothing that has not already been said. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  Actually, it would be interesting to know if you agreed with those views. 

 

Patrick Heneghan (Polling Agent, Labour Party):  I do not necessarily agree with Ian’s 

[Sanderson] view.  Actually, I do not disagree with what Ashley [Lumsden] said.  I think I spoke 

to London Elects during the campaign about what the plan was.  Clearly, I thought that the duty 

of London Elects was to raise awareness, increase turnout and participation, clearly not to 

influence the way people vote.  My view was that looking at this, and it may well be that I 

looked at it in a particular way, I thought that perhaps it might be at the duty of them to look at 

the amount of budget they are spending and look at where turnout had been lower than in 

previous elections and try to basically increase turnout in areas where participation had been 

lower in certain parts of London.  The response I got was that that had not been taken into 

consideration, so the budget was being spent evenly on areas that had turned out, for example, 

in the last election at over 70% as opposed to areas that turned out in the 2008 election at 

below 30%.  From my point of view, I thought that as probably wrong. 

 

Martin Bleach (Polling Agent, Green Party):  First of all, I would like to mention the 

website.  I think the website was very good this time around, more accessible to ordinary 

people.  I think, regardless of any statutory obligation or whatever to raise awareness, it is a very 

complicated process, voting.  It is far more complicated than the average voter is used to, so 

anything which can raise awareness of how the ballot papers actually work and what, as you say, 

the three different -- rather than the overall publicity, which is just about the two main Mayoral 

candidates, to raise awareness of the other ballots of what those Assembly Members, for 

example, do, I think is very important and very valuable. 

 

It did strike me that this time, as a consumer of the city, there did not seem to be nearly as 

much around as last time.  Possibly in other places it could have been higher, I do not know.  

Looking at the numbers in the 2008 report and this report, it does seem to me as though the 

spending on publicity went down from £3.5 million to £2.8 million this time.  I think that 

probably reflects the amount of impression it made to the people as a whole, or the average 

consumer.  I would say that was not necessarily a good thing. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  Jim[Killock], can I bring you in at the end?  I have two other questions.  I 

just raise the question about the website over all.  Are people supportive of the webcast, did 

you think it was okay? 

 

Ashley Lumsden (Polling Agent, Liberal Democrat Party):  Yes 

 

Ian Sanderson (Polling Agent, Conservative Party):  Yes 

 

Page 135



Andrew Boff (AM):  Just some clarity on what has been said so I absolutely understand it.  

You are criticising the general awareness raising.  For instance, I think I remember seeing on a 

bus stop or somewhere there were three ballot papers. 

 

Jim Killock (Open Rights Group - election observer):  I think that aspect is fine.  The 

trouble is I suppose it is a statutory requirement to raise awareness.  My contention would be 

that actually fulfilling that requirement probably is almost impossible, i.e. that it is the job of the 

candidates to raise awareness, which they do to one extent or another, we do to one extent or 

another, and I am not sure that these other things add much to what your turnout is going to 

be. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  Because I think there is a general perception amongst politicians and 

people who are candidates that the people are more knowledgeable now than they were about 

what these three ballot papers are.  I do not know if you share that with me, Len, but originally 

back in 2000 there was widespread confusion as to what they were doing with these.  There 

seems to be more awareness of that.  Do you think the politicians have achieved that or do you 

think that is as a result of --? 

 

Jim Killock (Open Rights Group - election observer):  It might be a mixture. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  I think that just the fact that the Assembly has been around means that 

more people, particularly those people who are involved in local campaigning, joining their Safer 

Neighbourhoods Team, their Residents Association, the Tenants Association are more likely to 

have come across an Assembly Members after 12 years or whatever of its being here.  My 

experience is that there is a greater amount of awareness that there is a London Assembly, that 

there was more than one ballot paper everyone is going to be facing.  That does not mean that 

people are necessarily focused on its electoral issues.  I think that therefore just by raising the 

awareness that there is an Assembly. I am not sure that that in itself helps the electoral process 

if people cannot choose between candidates on things that they know about. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  I guess the main thing that determines whether people will turn out and 

vote in several papers is being given several ballot papers when you turn out to vote for one of 

them. 

 

Martin Bleach (Polling Agent, Green Party):  Yes, I am absolutely sure there is more 

awareness than there was in 2000, but if you watch the ballot papers being scanned and the 

ones that are being rejected, there clearly is not enough awareness, so more work does need to 

be done. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  We will pick up some of those issues and it will be interesting to hear your 

views around the rejections. 

 

On the issue of the election booklet, every time we have done a review we have talked about 

whether it goes to one per voter or households.  Your views around the booklet?  It is one of 

the key expenditures in terms of what we spend at this election.  To what extent would you 

support any move to provide more information about candidates on line or in other ways rather 

Page 136



than just through this booklet or reducing the booklet to per household or to individuals.  What 

are your views around that?   

 

Martin Bleach (Polling Agent, Green Party):  I was just going to say that we spend on the 

booklet as well, so it is not just on the net.  Clearly there is a role for the web but also, clearly, 

relying on the web means that you are excluding quite a lot of people who either do not use it 

or do not think of using it for this sort of function.  I would certainly be very worried about only 

having the web available.  But as far as one per household, that is probably sufficient, I would 

have thought. 

 

Patrick Heneghan (Polling Agent, Labour Party):   Yes, it’s a no-brainer.  The notion that 

we move to web only -- the thing about the web is it does not interrupt people.  It is only if 

people actually choose to actually go there and do it.  The point of the booklet is it actually is 

something that goes through absolutely every door in London and it interrupts them and shows 

them about the election.  So, not only does it raise awareness, but actually it gives all the people 

that buy into it the options.  So, for me I think it is absolutely fine the way it is, and do not 

touch it. 

 

Ashley Lumsden (Polling Agent, Liberal Democrat Party):  I would certainly agree that the 

idea that we could move to web only is not the right approach.  I appreciate other elections 

perhaps in November might move to this approach and I think that is a big mistake and I agree 

with Patrick [Heneghan] that people do need to be interrupted in their daily lives to make sure 

they see what the candidates are saying. 

 

The things I would say are important about it is that it should be an addressed booklet.  

Whether or not the booklet is addressed to more than one person in the household or not, I am 

not sure about.  We are moving to a position where people have individual registration rights.  I 

am not sure that trying to do this by household is the right answer, although I appreciate the 

cost saving that is needed.   

 

The alternative usually from the Royal Mail is that they will put booklets through letterboxes, 

and for people living in blocks of that flats that means that they will not reach them but also 

that people tend to discard unaddressed mail to a higher degree than they discard addressed 

mail.  Even if they think it is junk mail, most of it gets opened and so I would strongly suggest it 

should be an addressed booklet of some kind. 

 

My position and my party’s position has been that actually the booklet is too limited and that 

we should have proper election addresses, as happens for parliamentary elections and the 

parties should be able to control the shape, design, everything about their election address 

within the rules and have it posted out by Royal Mail, as happens every time we have a General 

Election.  The booklet was a peculiar compromise back in 2000, which has continued.  If that is 

the approach we are going to take it must be an addressed booklet. 

 

Ian Sanderson (Polling Agent, Conservative Party):  Yes, I do not particularly disagree with 

any of that that anyone has said.  The only thing is I would be interested to know objectively 

whether it was effective or not.  We sort of instinctively feel it is a good democratic thing.  I am 

Page 137



not sure whether it is actually terribly effective.  We take part in it because it is there and if you 

did not take part in it you would look a bit odd for not taking part in it, but I think we think, 

“Oh, good, we have £10,000 and --” 

 

Patrick Heneghan (Polling Agent, Labour Party):  We might be able to do a deal next time. 

 

Ian Sanderson (Polling Agent, Conservative Party):  So it would be good objective test to 

know whether it works or what awareness people have of it. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  Jim [Killock], have you got any particular views in terms of what you have 

heard in terms of some of the responses or what you saw at that particular part of the process? 

 

Jim Killock (Open Rights Group - election observer):  This was not something we 

concentrated on hugely.  What I would do is just echo what Martin [Bleach] said about the voter 

error later on and the complexity of the voting system.  It is complicated.  It is complicated on 

two levels, I think.  One is the means of voting is different on each ballot paper, which is very 

confusing, and then the meaning of the vote that you cast on each ballot paper is also very 

different.  One is essentially proportional, one is first past the post, the other is a bit of a sort of 

compromise between single transferral vote and a first past the post system where you have to 

guess whether your candidate is likely to be second ranked or not.   

 

I think some of that you cannot explain.  It is impossible from a neutral point of view to say, 

“You had better make sure your second choice is for Labour or Conservative”.  You cannot say 

that, but that is the truth of the matter.  I think just trying to explain how that works in practice 

for voters is also very, very complicated.  I do have some concrete suggestions on that but I do 

not think this is the moment. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  Certainly we would welcome written responses, but we come up with that 

further up as we go through. 

 

Let us carry on, unless there is anything else you would wish to add that you feel we have not 

addressed.  I think we have the gist of the issue of evidence based about raising awareness, but 

also how do you stop the creativity of moving into the political realms.  I picked that point up 

and we will have a look at that and see on the procurement side on what the attempt was. 

 

What was your perception of how the count centres operated, including the preparation 

arrangements that the count centres as well as the city or declaration and communications 

through the day? 

 

Patrick Heneghan (Polling Agent, Labour Party):  I think it is well documented what 

happened in the counts.  It led to ridiculous delays and it led to the results being declared at all 

sorts in the morning and I think everyone would agree there needs to be a review on how on 

earth that happened and why on earth we were here at 1.00am.  It was just ridiculous. 

 

In terms of the declaration here, and I think Ian [Sanderson] actually discussed this with John 

[Bennett, Head of Special Projects and Elections] when we had the agents’ meeting a few 

Page 138



weeks ago, I do not think we felt there was sufficient clarity at City Hall with what was going on 

in terms of the overall result.  That was due, I think, mainly to the way that the results were 

being given to us in terms of first and second preferences.  We were getting the total number of 

first preferences and the total number of second preferences.  As I tried to point out to Ian 

[Sanderson] at several points in the day, it did not mean we were going to win.  I know you told 

Boris [Johnson]at one point we were going to win and there was a potential injunction on 

John[Bennett] pending.  There were lawyers upstairs. 

 

The media were briefed that there would be a recount or that we had won.  I was completely of 

the view that these numbers that were being presented to us on the hour were absolute 

garbage and should be put in the bin.  I told Ashley [Lumsden] and told Ian and they took some 

conditioning.  Ian [Sanderson] did not believe me even all the way up to the point John 

[Bennett] declared in the room.  He still did not believe me because actually the way John 

[Bennett] declared it in this room here, he did not declare the actual result in the same way he 

declared it upstairs.  He actually read out the total number of first and the total number of 

second preferences.  So, as we went up in the lift, none of us still knew what the actual result 

was.  What I thought would have been clear is to give us the information that he currently sent 

out a few weeks ago, which is the cross-breaks, the tabulations, first, by second, so you could 

see the effect of second preferences, not the misnomer which is all of the second preferences. 

 

In the end it did not really matter because I had made the guess myself that most of theses 

second preferences were going in the bin.  I think Ian probably gave himself a heart attack and 

probably a few other people a heart attack during the day and certainly left me feeling like I did 

not know what was going on properly as we were giving there result here, both to the agents 

and to the candidates.  When we went up to the actual floor above, it was only when John read 

it out in front of the bigger crowds that we actually understood what had happened. 

 

I think, looking forward, that whole thing should be clearer during the day about what they are.  

It led to the BBC reporting that there was going to be recount, when clearly there was not going 

to be, just simply because the figures that were coming out from here were leading to 

speculation on that and nobody was dampening that down.  The declaration as it was given to 

candidates and agents here did not properly articulate . I do not understand why we did not get 

the same declaration downstairs as what we got upstairs. 

 

Ashley Lumsden (Polling Agent, Liberal Democrat Party):  Just a couple of little points on 

that.  My experience has been in the elections in 2000 and in the ones we have just had.  In 

2000 we had much weaker electronic systems and they were horribly delayed similarly, but we 

did get better information as agents through the day as to what was coming count by count, 

what the tables were to tell you first preferences for this person go to second preferences to the 

other person.  So we did seem to be a step backwards there.  I think that during the day it was 

pretty clear to me that my candidate was going to be in the top two, but had I been one of the 

colleagues on either side of me, I would have been extremely disappointed with the amount of 

information I was getting to make any sensible planning for media discussions or any other 

future discussions one wanted to have. 

 

Page 139



I think that there were problems particularly about the appointment of counting agents, which 

only affected the parties, but I will mention that the confusion of all the different lists between 

the local list of the counting agents and my list of counting agents for Mayor and for the 

Assembly list means that some of my people had difficulty gaining access to their count centres 

and being told they were not on the list, when in fact the people were not looking at the correct 

list.  When I arrived here, at City Hall, I found that my name was on one list and people were 

saying, “Your name isn’t on the right list” and I could see they needed to look over the page.  I 

think that process is a small example of how having constituency returning officers working with 

London Elects just gives room for error and conclusion and delay and cost.  That is one of the 

things I think should be examined. 

 

I felt very disappointed for London Elects because they had, I thought, put in place a number of 

processes to try to guarantee a shorter count than in previous years, and were horribly let down 

by events at Alexandra Palace and partly by the postal voting process itself.  Nonetheless, I 

think that they have covered some of that in their report, which I think is before you, and I 

would certainly support moving to a single count centre if there is electronic counting.  I think it 

does not help having things spread out over the three different count centres and a declaration 

centre.  I think that the cost savings that could be made mean that electronic counting could 

probably still be maintained with reasonable justification, as colleagues from Open Rights have 

said then about speed.  Promises to complete the count by teatime were not met, and once 

again those people who said it will be much later than that were right.  That is, I think, 

disappointing over all. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  Can I just ask you a hypothetical question: if we had not had the 

problems at Alexandra Palace, do you think you would have had no concerns about the count 

process? 

 

Ashley Lumsden (Polling Agent, Liberal Democratic Party):  I still felt that having three 

count centres without being able to appoint agents of each count centre - I could only appoint 

agents for counts - is particularly frustrating.  The evidence is that the counts were very variable 

in their quality and therefore their speed, because quality means repeating things. 

 

When you look at the tables that show how long each count took, there was still wide variation, 

and that is unexplained.  Also, as I understand it, the opportunity for one count table, once their 

constituency is done, to then help other count tables was not used anywhere in London, even 

where there were several hours’ gap between one count finishing and another count finishing.  

That could have been used to speed things up, even in the difficult circumstances we had.  But I 

would still suggest that even if things had gone perfectly, if we are to do electronic counting, 

we should just consider going for a single count centre. 

 

Jim Killock (Open Rights Group - election observer):  Yes, I agree with most of what is 

being said.  I think the only thing I would add is probably in defence of those that have to 

interpret all this on the other side of the fence, as it were, is I suspect there is a lot of bad 

drafting of the original legislation that no one has ever done anything about.  Imagine the 

people when they drafted this back in 2000 or 1999, they have really tried to straitjacket into 

normal electoral processes without taking into account the differences.  So you have things like 

Page 140



recount where it is virtually impossible to envisage -- there was never going to be a question of 

a recount because there is no such thing. 

 

Patrick Heneghan (Polling Agent, Labour Party):  Someone should tell the BBC that 

because I kept getting asked, “Have you called for a recount?”  And I went into this room here 

and you were talking to John [Bennett] about a recount. 

 

Jim Killock (Open Rights Group - election observer):  No, that was actually different.  We 

did actually ask for a recount, almost to test the system.  I think it was the Harrow1 one, or 

whichever one it was, where we actually had reason to believe that some of the people had been 

wrongly briefed in terms of the way they were interpreting postal votes -- spoilt papers, the 

disputed papers, and that they were being given the wrong advice on the way to interpret it.  

We did not feel, in the communication that was coming back, that they had been a co-operative 

as we thought, but in fact when we did ask for a recount the bloke just went home and refused 

to do it.  

 

As I said, there is basically no such thing as a recount.  It is also quite absurd, given the way the 

electronic system goes, that I am appointing counting agents for the Mayor, counting agents for 

the list, that the agents who are not me are then appointing counting agents for the 

constituency count.  They are all either the same people or a mixture of people looking at 

exactly the same screens at any given time, so it is actually a completely meaningless thing and 

we are all going through this sort of charade of trying to fit the straitjacket. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  There has been much comment about accusations of electoral fraud 

during the day of the count in particular boroughs.  Is this anything that concerns the agents 

here?  

 

Patrick Heneghan (Polling Agent, Labour Party):  I did not see any electoral fraud. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  Or reports? 

 

Patrick Heneghan (Polling Agent, Labour Party):  No. 

 

[Patrick Heneghan left the meeting] 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  Okay, thank you very much for that. 

 

Martin Bleach (Polling Agent, Green Party):  Just to support most of what has been said.  I 

agree entirely that I think London Elects did as good a job as they could.  It is difficult to 

imagine how London Elects could have done better training and better preparation.  Obviously, 

Alexandra Palace is still something you could have done to prepare from that respect. 

 

I would also say that had I been in a position of one of the two lead candidates for Mayor I think 

I would have been confused by the way the results were presented.  Since I was not, I was not 

1 Following the meeting this was corrected to North East Constituency 

Page 141



confused, so that is okay.  On access, one of my list candidates, who was also a constituency 

candidate, arrived late at City Hall and he was told he was not on the list.  But he is a candidate.  

He must be on the list by definition.  So there is simplifying of the lists.  I guess the access list 

would be simplified if there was just a single level of counting agent, single level of election 

agent in each counting centre. 

 

Ashley Lumsden (Polling Agent, Liberal Democrat Party):  Can I just make one brief 

comment?  I agree that there was nothing in theory that London Elects could have been more 

from the Alexandra Palace case in terms of preparation for recovery and so on, except that I 

think that it is possible to have speculated in advance that Alexandra Palace was the weak link, 

that their facilities are the weakest and my experience of them is the weakest, not just in 

London election things but in other issues of events that have been put on there.  So, I think it 

would have been possible to say, “I wonder if we should be using Alexandra Palace at all, given 

that it is the venue which is most risky in general terms”. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  I would like to get your overview on those issues.  On the issue of speed 

of the count, first of all, is there any preference from the political representatives we have here 

today for a manual count? 

 

Ashley Lumsden (Polling Agent, Liberal Democratic):  If we are going to continue having 

three ballot papers, then I am not going to call for a manual count.  I think that my preference is 

that there is the provision for a manual count because we have physical ballot papers, that if 

really people did not trust the result that came out of the computer, you could stage a recount.  

In American states, parties can do such counts, at their own expense.  If they care that much 

about it, they can do so.  I think that, given it took a day to do it with this approach; we would 

be talking quite a lot more time.  Most of those centres are using the kinds of people who 

would be in the boroughs doing the counts.  There would be more of them. 

 

My experience of elections is that the speed is a question of how much money you are prepared 

to put into it.  More people counting means it is done more quickly, but if we are going to 

continue to have three separate ballot papers, and then I think electronic counting is the right 

answer.  Personally, I do not support electronic voting because you then do not get a paper 

record that you could check at a later date. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  Full consensus?  Jim? 

 

Jim Killock (Open Rights Group - election observer):  Just right at the beginning, in the 

actual counts, as people cast their votes, something we noticed, which could open to fraud, was 

we saw a lot of people, because of the complexity of the system, essentially standing over each 

other to explain how you do it, make the vote and watching each other fill in the forms because 

they basically did not understand.  I saw that repeatedly in the space of an hour at one count 

centre.  So if you want a way to have voter fraud that is the way to do it. 

 

I suspect that people in the polling offices were willing to do that because they knew it was just 

too complicated to understand.  If they thought that these people were friends or family, then it 

was okay for them to essentially remove the secret nature of the ballot.  That is the first 

Page 142



problem.  The fact that the papers cannot be folded, which is also an issue.  Obviously that is 

rather mechanical and there does not seem much you can do about that. 

 

In terms of the Alexandra Palace -- 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  Can we just go back to the first point?  Is it really to give advice that if 

there is someone who really wants to go into a polling booth, a frail or elderly person who needs 

some assistance -- 

 

Jim Killock (Open Rights Group - election observer):  These were not frail and elderly. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  No, but if there were, for whatever reason, is there some advice that the 

polling station staff should say, “It’s fine to explain the different ballot papers but you have to 

step back”?  Is that what you are suggesting? 

 

Jim Killock (Open Rights Group - election observer):  They need to do something like 

that.  These people should not be observing each other filling ballot forms. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  Was it polling staff who were helping rather than other individuals 

 

Jim Killock (Open Rights Group - election observer):  No, it was other individuals.  It was 

friends and family helping each other, basically. 

 

In Alexandra Palace, the clue is in the name.  It is an electronic count.  The electronics failed.  

That means somebody has failed to think about the electronics, they have failed to think about 

backup circuits, a fairly basic-level error has happened there.  I do not know any more than that 

but it just seemed a little bit ridiculous, at least from where I was standing. 

 

The main problem I saw in the counting centres, to be honest, was a lack of agents.  As people 

were trying to check errors on papers, often there were no agents.  There was nobody observing 

and checking how the papers were handled.  That meant to a certain extent if the staff were 

badly trained or badly advised and they were making mistakes, there was just nobody to tell 

them that they were not to do it.  I also think we did observe sometimes staff exceeding their 

authority and saying papers were not valid when actually they were, or misinterpreting them and 

so on.  So, there were certain glitches around that, which again can only really be corrected by 

the party staff being better prepared. 

 

I think one of the issues here is because you have only three counting centres and they are very 

far from where the individuals live, the people who got the worst service from their agents were 

the ones whose agents lived furthest away.  Some people from the extremities of outer London, 

compared to Alexandra Palace, often their votes were not being checked. 

 

In terms of manual versus electronic counting, I think that is something that you have to look 

at. You just need a system to evaluate this properly.  I do not think it is necessarily the case that 

a manual count would be slower but you need to have evaluated that in a way that you know 

how many people you need, how many counting centres you need, will that really cost more or 

Page 143



less.  The electronic is expensive.  It involves very expensive machinery and a lot of training and 

a lot of things that you do not need in a manual count. 

 

When it comes to do you trust the count, do you have recounts and so on, actually what is 

needed is sampling.  What is needed is some sort of verification, not a huge verification, one 

box per borough or something like that, where a manual count is done and then you randomly 

select the box, you randomly check that the results of the manual count matches what the 

machines do.  This tells you that the machines are not reporting errors and this help you then 

know that, either though simple mechanical error or actual fraud, that these things are not 

going on.  Unfortunately, they are systems which could potentially be vulnerable to attack and 

one should make some efforts to verify that this is not happening, not least to discourage those 

sorts of things from happening in the future. 

 

I do not think it is a case of, “Well, we do not like the results so we want a recount”.  I do not 

think many people would go for that, but I do think you want to have a system where there is 

some manual verification for everybody’s peace of mind.  Having said all of that, we thought 

that the election was generally better conducted, that people were better trained, there seemed 

to be less errors in general.  One systematic sort of thing, I would say -- 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  Less than compared to 2008? 

 

Jim Killock (Open Rights Group - election observer):  Yes.  A couple of observations I 

would make: in Brent and Harrow we felt there was a certain level of disorganisation from quite 

early on.  For instance, staff were on the wrong side of the barriers during some of the early 

counts, and boxes being allocated and so on.  The boxes were being transferred in a rather 

different pattern than the other boroughs.  The fact is one of the problems that caused one of 

the end delays was that ballot papers had been returned and stacked, I think, earlier than they 

should have been, which them caused them not to have been properly counted.  I think 

something on those lines happened.  The exact pattern of events I will have to go and check in 

my notes, but it did look to us like there were some simply, systematic issues on the way that 

the boxes were being moved around within that particular count, which could have been done 

better, basically, and that seems to have caused the problem. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  On the fraud issue, generally, what you saw, what you did not see.  Apart 

from the one about the polling booths, are there any other issues? 

 

Ian Sanderson (Polling Agent, Conservative Party):  It was the sort of things we observed, 

which we were very happy to see, were things like USB ports had been sealed.  Last time they 

were left over.  In general that there had been attempts to make it harder for people to break 

into systems, if you like.  So that is good, but at the end of the day, these systems are a black 

box.  I do not just say this is a problem for fraud, I say also this is a problem for mechanical 

error.  If the software was to simply misunderstand exactly how to place an X or had some 

internal mechanical error which meant that votes were being cast slightly wrongly or counted 

wrongly, the only way you are going to detect this in practice is by having some sort of manual 

comparison so that on the day you can see, “We counted this group of 1,000 votes and we got 

exactly the same result out of that box as the machine has done”. 

Page 144



 

That is not to say that is fraud.  As I say, this can equally be software error.  We all know 

computers do go wrong and they do get things wrong.  We have scanners involved which, again, 

could get things wrong.  You have a layer of issues around interpreting the scans and so on.  

You just simply want to know and have some sort of test, and therefore manual sampling is the 

way you do that.  That is what I want to say. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  Is there anything else, on the issue of Andrew’s [Boff] question of aspects 

of potential fraud that you have concerns about in terms of anything throughout the election 

period that you are raising that maybe we can have clarified? 

 

Ashley Lumsden (Polling Agent, Liberal Democrat Party):  No issues of fraud were 

reported to me. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  Okay. 

 

Jim Killock (Open Rights Group - election observer):  No.  I do not think there is anything 

new.  Fraud is a very difficult thing to actually prove. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  I do not mean proven fraud, I mean were there any accusations on the 

day, were there any concerns of a particular nature? 

 

Jim Killock (Open Rights Group - election observer):  There was very little.  There was less 

time than the previous times. 

 

Martin Bleach (Polling Agent, Green Party):  Can I just make a couple of points following 

on from what has been said?  First of all, counting agents; I agree entirely it is very difficult to 

motivate people to go the counts anyway because it is not the most exciting part of the political 

process.  I had trouble getting people to go.  We are a relatively small party, obviously, perhaps 

with few volunteers, but I did go to both ExCeL and to Olympia through out the count process 

and I was surprised by how few people were monitoring screens.  We are talking about people 

being treated as a standard election.  It is part of the standard election process that there are 

monitors there from the political parties there to watch, and there were very few of them.  It is 

our responsibility, I suppose, rather than anyone else. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  Obviously, we have all been agents for other elections, but the count is 

very boring for party workers, is it not?  I mean, at least in a manual count as a party worker you 

feel like you are useful.  But the electronic counts are just tedious. 

 

Martin Bleach (Polling Agent, Green Party):  I am not sure that is a justification for not 

doing it. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  It might be, after we have had so many.  It certainly was a disincentive for 

me to turn up at my own count.  I just wonder if the parties had problems getting along, that is 

all. 

 

Page 145



Ashley Lumsden (Polling Agent, Liberal Democrat Party):  I suppose this is the mea culpa, 

and I agree.  It is difficult to motivate party workers to say this is an important part of the 

process where you have to stand and watch and do nothing for 18 hours.  If you are trying to 

find ways to improve it, I would say that basically if it were to be shorter, if you said it is a 

morning’s work, not 18 hours’ work, then I think I would have more success in getting people 

come along.  If I did not have to say to people, “Get there for 8.00am because they are doing 

the zeroes at 8.00am”, again that was not entirely popular.  It was very sensible, if you thought 

the count might drag on, to start early.  That was a good thing they did that for all those crises 

in Alexandra Palace, but nonetheless it is not a happy thing to say to all those people, “Work 

hard until 10.00pm and then be across the other side of London until 8.00am”.  I do not think 

that helped. 

 

And, to be honest, there were counting agents who were saying to me that they were not 

prepared to stay when the facilities were poor, the monitors they were promised were not as 

they were promised in the little booklets they were given, and the catering was jolly expensive.  

Even those little soft issues that you might think are trivial, the people who are watching and 

are thinking, “I’m not adding any value here and I am quite tired”, some people did go home. 

 

Ian Sanderson (Polling Agent, Conservative Party):  Some chairs would have been useful.  

There is always a lack of chairs at counts. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  Sampling may resolve some of those issues. 

 

Ian Sanderson (Polling Agent, Conservative Party):  Sampling is specifically what I was 

going to say.  If I have understood the London Elects report, section 7, paragraph 20, it seems 

to suggest that a manual sample -- the recommendation would be not to do a manual count, a 

manual sample of that size. 

 

Ashley Lumsden (Polling Agent, Liberal Democrat Party):  Can I comment on that?  When 

we had a first briefing on this, and this was very early on in the process, summer last year, I 

think, it was described that there would be a manual count of a box or two.  I think this is a 

good thing because I do want to give all, of my party workers confidence in this process and I 

want the results, when they spend a lot of money counting them, to be regarded as accurate, or 

at least as reasonably accurate as any process can achieve.  So, I was pleased that there was 

going to be some sampling. 

 

I had thought from the briefing I had, that the sampling was going to be a full count in that 

box, as in sorting the ballot papers, counting the ballot papers, producing a result and 

comparing it with what the computer had.  It turned out, as I understand it - I was not at any of 

the count centres - that it was a count that just did the verification process, counted the 

number of papers in the box, which is somewhat less exciting than saying, “If we’d done it by 

hand we would have got this result”. 

 

As I understand it, back in 2000, 1999/2000, they did a test of the count process and they did a 

manual count at the same time of the same ballot papers to see whether the machines worked 

to a degree of confidence people were willing to trust.  I think it would give people something 

Page 146



to do.  It would make the count more interesting and it might give people more confidence in 

the result.  There are people who are absolutely sceptical, who cannot trust result counts out of 

computers.  How can you tell what is in those ballot papers is the same as on this piece of 

paper?  Some people do not trust it. 

 

Jim Killock (Open Rights Group - election observer):  In practice you need something to 

externally verify it, because otherwise you are purely trusting the box. 

 

Ashley Lumsden (Polling Agent, Liberal Democrat Party):  One of the things we do is look 

at whether results look reasonable, whether they compare well with last time, whether they 

compare to each other box, but it would be good, I think, to do a sample and say, “Let’s sit 

down with some trays and some rubber fingers and counting ballot papers and things that 

agents are used to”.  Just one or two occasions in each centre to give that certainty. 

 

I would say that we can do an evaluation and say ask how long it will take if you do this by 

hand.  As I say, it is always a question you are prepared to put into it to how many people are 

you going to buy.  But if you look at all the estimates that have been made of how long it would 

take the 2010 count to be done in London, where we had General Election ballot papers and 

local election ballot papers at the same time, nearly all of them were massively exceeded, on the 

night, on the next day, on the next day, on the next day, because it was much more complicated 

to do all those processes than had been anticipated.  So even if you do an estimation, I think 

you should take into account that the 2010 process manually was very difficult and there were 

only two kinds of ballot papers on that occasion. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair) If you have finished on your list, is there anything else that you want to say 

to us on this particular time or anything else that you have not covered? 

 

Ashley Lumsden (Polling Agent, Liberal Democrat Party):  Can I just develop the point 

which perhaps I touched on earlier, which is this single returning officer for London.  It is not 

drawn out as clearly as I might have hoped from the report from London Elects.  My experience 

was that the returning officers in the constituencies worked very differently.  Luckily, I can see 

the  four in front of me are not ones that I want to make any complaint about, because that 

would be terribly discourteous, but there were some who behaved extremely difficulty.  One 

returning officer took the afternoon of the last day to hand in nominations, took that day off, 

and so when I wanted to make a final check to make sure all my constituency candidates had 

been appointed, I did not get a return email, I did not get a return phone call.  When I phoned 

him eventually I was told nobody was there to tell me whether the nomination was in.  As it was, 

I entirely trust all of my constituency agents but I did just simply check that all of my candidates 

were properly nominated. 

 

Other constituency returning officers refused to give me this bit of information or that bit of 

information.  Some refused to tell me whether I had a candidate nominated saying I was not 

entitled to know.  Others told me of course I was entitled to know. 

 

But then there are other things, like the electoral registers being supplied not just to me in good 

time when I asked for them, the postal vote lists, for example, but even to London Elects, I 

Page 147



understand.  In my own building, some voters got their booklets in time for their postal votes to 

arrive, other people did not.  I understand this is because there was some documentary in 

making sure that the complete postal voting list was supplied to the people posting out the 

booklets in good time.  Discussions revealed that actually it was about boroughs sending the 

data in wrong formats, in different formats, covering different periods and different groups of 

people, and those were exactly the same problems that I had.  I asked every returning officer 

very clearly what I wanted in terms of data, and got completely different sets of data, some of 

which I could not even open. 

 

I can only say that the issues of electoral registers, nominations, of booklet posting out, of 

appointing counting agents, at every stage I was disappointed with at least one of the 

constituency returning officers who behaved in a way which meant I had to quote the law at 

them or go to the Electoral Commission or ask one of their colleagues to perhaps help them out.  

I found this worse this time than in any of my other experiences in London elections.  So I would 

strongly urge you to think about asking London Elects -- since we set up London Elects, since 

we appoint returning officers to work on the London-wide basis, they should be responsible for 

all of these electoral arrangements.  They should have contact with all the candidates and they 

should maintain a London electoral register and postal vote list.  That is the only other thing I 

wanted to add. 

 

Martin Bleach (Polling Agent, Green Party):  I was not going to mention this, but since it 

has come up, yes, some of my borough agents were actually refused electoral registers for 

January and February.  They were told they had to wait for the March one.  As it turns out, we 

built around it rather than complaining at the time because everyone was very busy at the time, 

but if you have the authorisation you should be given the register.  It is fairly straightforward. 

 

Ian Sanderson (Polling Agent, Conservative Party):  I think it is very difficult within the 

structure.  It is quite difficult that there can be not a common standard.  It would be very useful 

if every local authority used the same register software as we do in our conversion of it, but we 

obviously have to deal right across the country with as many different software as people using 

it. 

 

I tried, I think with some success on both sides, to keep the different returning officers informed 

of what we were doing.  For example, we did quite a lot of work on postal votes, and I have to 

say I got very regular and swift responses if I asked any questions, from virtually all the 

authorities, but there wasn’t a common standard.  You know, some would accept applications 

by fax, some wouldn’t.  I’m not sure it is within anybody’s power to say that London Elects 

would actually control all those processes, because they are processes that are, presumably 

statutorily evolved. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  We will look into that, but either way I think what you are saying is that 

someone has to step in to here, if you have problems, who you can go to rather than just 

engage locally.  Can you go to a higher body, as you sought to do on occasions, but how quickly 

can we resolve those issues in good time for those to make sense?  You’re busy people, you’re 

in the middle of an election, you’ve just got to get on with it and get the answers very quickly. 

 

Page 148



I think with consistency about the law, I think we can get that bit right and we should be able to 

get that one right and that will be a bit of a concern about some of those issues.  I think we’ll 

try to cover some of those issues. 

 

Jim Killock (Open Rights Group - election observer):  Just two last observations.  I think 

the question about standards is important, particularly if you’re having issues around electoral 

registers, and I remember that is a problem.  What you need is a common standard for export 

and columns and all the rest of it. 

 

The other thing I wanted to observe, though, was the type of mistakes that were being made on 

people’s ballot papers.  Actually, I think there is a really, really simple solution.  The sort errors 

that people were making were sort of double voting, so you get two Xs on a paper where they 

should have voted once, or you would have people voting twice with two Xs in the wrong 

column, or missing one column and only putting an X in column 2 on the Mayoral vote.  All of 

this could simply be solved in a stroke and nearly all of these errors removed purely by using a 

numerical preference system rather than asking people to put Xs in columns.  Because if 

somebody has only voted once on a paper which has two columns, 1 and 2, and the number is 

1, then you know that is what they mean.  If they voted 1, 2, 3 on a paper where they should 

have only voted once, you know what it means, and so on and son on. 

 

Basically, if you ask people to number these things, 1, 2, instead of putting Xs – Andrew [Boff] 

does not look very happy with the idea. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  I usually agree with the Open Rights Group, but that can also be 

interpreted as, “I am giving this one two votes and this one vote”.  So it will not clear it 

completely but I do -- 

 

Jim Killock (Open Rights Group - election observer):  I think there is something to be 

looked at there, because I think in a way that people have assumed that people are so used to 

using Xs for votes in the UK, and that is a reasonable assumption, which they should be asked 

to do the same here.  But in terms of what happens when people misunderstand the meaning of 

the columns of do not vote in the first preference and they only vote in the second preference 

and so on, this is causing an issue, so I would just say think about that and maybe move to a 

numerical preference system. 

 

Ashley Lumsden (Polling Agent, Liberal Democrat Party):  Could I just comment very 

briefly and say that we should not think that there is a good reason why we have the system we 

have at the moment. I know what the reason is and that was because the scanning software in 

1999/2000 could not distinguish the numbers successfully and so the only way to do the 

supplementary vote was to have two lots of boxes.  At that stage, any mark of any kind in those 

boxes was recorded as a vote, so even if you wrote your name and address in tiny writing, that 

would be counted as a vote, and the rules were changed especially for that election.  Software 

has moved on since then, and we have not gone back and asked why we do these two columns.  

Every time people say these two columns are confusing and they mess up votes and the other 

ballot papers, so it is about time we looked at that. 

 

Page 149



Martin Bleach (Polling Agent, Green Party):  Just again a couple of things.  The first one is 

a bit of a hobbyhorse of mine, but that is what hobbyhorses are for, so I will go through it.  

Again, in the London Elects report there is a paragraph that says,  

 

“While there have been some concerns about the inadequate level of funding of this 

election ...”  

 

It then goes on to say we think we survived.  There is another paragraph that says,  

 

“The progressive reduction of personnel hours in running elections cannot go on any 

further.”  

 

Probably about two-thirds of our discussion here today has been about costs.  I do think we 

need to come back and look at this from a bit of a distance and say, “This is democracy, we 

have to fund it properly, we have to find the money from somewhere, we have to go back to 

central Government or something in order to be able to run proper elections”.  We cannot keep 

squeezing it; we cannot keep compromising.  I do not think any compromises this time hurt us 

but I do think there were some compromises with the publicity, some comprises with the timing 

of the website and things.  We cannot keep compromising on this because if we compromise on 

democracy then the system is not working. 

 

Second point, even shorter.  Section 13, paragraph 22 of the thing says, “Consideration should 

be given to getting postal votes broken down by ward level”.  It is great to have the ward level 

anyway, but then when you have just a big lump of postal votes, it is not really ward-level data, 

it is ward-level minus a bit, which is postal votes.  I imagine that is not that easy to do but if it is 

easy to do and if it is not going to cost much - there we go again about costs - please can we 

have that? 

 

Ashley Lumsden (Polling Agent, Liberal Democrat Party):  I would absolutely endorse 

that.  It is about time we had that.  Postal votes are a big part of the votes these days. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  I do not know why that is difficult if they are all going through a scanner. 

 

Ashley Lumsden (Polling Agent, Liberal Democrat Party):  We were told there is a 

process.  It is time to change the process. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  Okay, we will pick that tone up.  Is there anything more you wished to 

say?  You can either stay with us and listen to the next stage or you can depart.  We would not 

feel offended if you had to go off to do other business.  Can we just say, as much as anyone 

thinks it is all about the politicians - mainly the politicians think that it is all about them - you 

play a very important role in the democratic process and I suppose it is time for us to thank you. 

 

Jim Killock (Open Rights Group - election observer):  May I apologise to Pauline [Ferris] 

and Fiona [Ledden] for my earlier comment relating to Harrow?  It was actually Enfield and 

Haringey2 which had the difficulties. 

2 Following the meeting this was corrected to the North East Constituency 

Page 150



 

Len Duvall (Chair):  Thank you very much.   

 

 

Page 151



 
Appendix 2 

 
Transcription of the Election Review Working Group - 5 July 2012 

 
Agenda item 6 – Review of the London 2012 Elections - Returning 

officers and administrators 
 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  We are going to go through the same sections again but of course 

if you have other things to say to us, feel free to expend upon your answers in that 

sense and we will give you the opportunity at the end to cover things that you think we 

have not adequately dealt with.  Let us begin with the first question. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  Can I just ask, what was the extent of the problem caused by the 

timing of the Greater London Returning Officer (GLRO) guidance and inconsistent in 

the guidance by the GLRO and the Electoral Commission?  How could this aspect of co-

ordination and management be improved for 2016? 

 

George Cooper (Association of Electoral Administrators, London Branch):  You 

have quite an unusual situation in London, unique at the moment - it probably will not 

be unique after November but it is at present - in that you have a GLRO with powers of 

direction but you also have an Electoral Commission with powers of direction.  I think 

there is perhaps a tension between the two in that is the Electoral Commission 

supposed to be the watchdog and the regulator rather than the service deliverer.  I think 

our view would be that London Elects is the service deliverer and it is not helpful if you 

have guidance and directions that actually contradict each other, because which one do 

you want to follow?  I think our view is that the primary hierarchy should be London 

Elects, the Greater London Returning Officer. 

 

I think this was perhaps the first time in which the Commission had got perhaps, shall 

we say, some newfound powers, but I think it is something that needs to be sorted out 

not just before 2016 but in other elections, because of course with Police and Crime 

Commissioners (PCC) elections rolling out in England and Wales the same tension might 

arise and apply to others as well.  Clearly you cannot have two masters in this way. 

 

The main problem was with poll cards, there were two instructions as to when to deliver 

poll cards.  Obviously I think we tend to the view that the GLRO’s view of what is best 

practice and common sense is the one that should have prevailed. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  The conflict that you found did it have any particular implications 

on that election or is it something you just managed to muddle through with?  Muddle 

through is probably not what I meant. 

 

George Cooper (Association of Electoral Administrators, London Branch):  It 

was probably mitigated in that because a framework was set up whereby the best 

Page 152



practice and performance standards, business continuity plans, contingency plans, that 

we were supposed to prepare, we had to prepare them for both the Commission and for 

the GLRO.  We did have a framework by which you could fit one into the other and you 

did not have to write it all again and that saved an enormous amount of time, but the 

fact is you are also making two submissions. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  Boroughs have fed back a number of problems relating to the 

communication, timeliness and the attention to detail.  What are the most important 

issues that should be addressed and what specific changes should be managed to the 

way in way in which London Elects’ manages communications and relationships with 

borough election teams? 

 

George Cooper (Association of Electoral Administrators, London Branch):  

There are always individual things that you can always tweak and improve, but generally 

I think communications were pretty good.  We establish a very early relationship, well 

over a year before the poll and I think we have a pretty good liaison.  Obviously it gets 

more difficult to do as the pressure of the election gets closer, but I do not think there 

is anything fundamentally problematic in the communication relationship between the 

constituencies and London Elects. 

 

Barry Quirk (Constituency Returning Officer, Greenwich and Lewisham):  If I 

could say that with the experience of conducting a London-wide poll, both in Europe 

but also for the alternative vote (AV) referenda, and with the Electoral Commission 

being responsible AV referenda, for the first time it became less the regulator and more 

the deliverer.  So actually there has been this change of focus of institutions and the 

Electoral Commission’s relationship with Cabinet Office now responsible for elections.  

So the means of co-ordination at the most senior level between electoral administrators, 

returning officers, the Electoral Commission, the Cabinet Office, the London office has 

become very complex over the last three or four years simply because of the grouping 

of these European AV and Greater London elections. 

 

I think certainly the way in which the project planning was done by London Elects, they 

are in engagement with constituency returning officers, of which I was one, 

engagement on their project team and the communication was actually very good.  

They could not, of course overcome all of the conflicts that there are between the 

GLRO’s responsibility for directing, and Electoral Commission’s which is directed slightly 

differently.  I think it is feasible to manage elections with two masters.  It is nice to have 

one but it is very common to have to live with the ambiguity of saying, “Oh, god, they 

say this and they say this”.  The most difficult problem, I think, was in relation to spoilt 

ballot papers, where I think it was crucial that the Electoral Commission were brought 

into this, because it was not just for how this was being conducted for the Greater 

London election.  As George [Cooper] says it about what then happens in the November 

for the Police and Crime Commissioners where they are using exactly the same electoral 

system.  So it was important, I think, the Electoral Commission took its advice, albeit it 

that it was not at the same and did not say exactly the same thing as the GLRO’s, 

because they then have to apply this across the nation.  

Page 153



 

I think it is often forgotten by people outside London that North London has the same 

number of people as Scotland and South London the same number of people as Wales.  

We are a very big place and we are treated as a region that can just be managed in the 

same way that other regions can, and actually the scale of London, the complexity of it 

does mean that we have, I think, to have this quite difficult city-regional focus but 

delivery has to happen at the London borough level.  The problem is that the borough 

returning officers have no statutory basis.  It is the constituency returning officers who 

are responsible.   

 

I am actually responsible for Greenwich and Lewisham.  Lewisham I know very well, 

Greenwich I know because I live there, but I do not actually know the detail of their 

arrangements for -- all of the detail so I had to get involved in them more.  So I think 

there is this issue about accountability and responsibility and the tiered arrangements. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  Is there any feedback from Harrow or Brent? 

 

Fiona Ledden (Deputy Returning Officer, Brent):  The only other point that I 

would make while we are talking about engagement is the start of the timescales to 

complete some documentation that London Elects asked for was ridiculously short.  In 

trying to do that and do that well, you know, being asked to do things on very short 

turnaround around December caused, I think, a number of us in authorities difficulties.  

Certainly with Brent and Harrow we did have to do things in a very short turnaround, so 

I think that was somewhat of a problem. 

 

We also had some technical difficulties around how the portal worked or how the 

electronics was working, even at an earlier stage, and how some of those interrelated 

and communicated, so I think some of those issues were problematic for us from time to 

time.  I do not know if you want to add anything to that, Pauline [Ferris]. 

 

Pauline Ferris (Electoral Services Manager, Harrow):  I would agree.  Over all I 

think London Elects was very good.  They stepped up very quickly, held engaged 

events, invited people along and said, “Here we are.  We see ourselves as the lead and 

we ask you to come to us although we recognise the secondary relationship with the 

Electoral Commission”, which we then had to work with as well. 

 

However, as the engagement went along, some of the IT to support that engagement 

did not work and the response had to follow, necessarily, “This is the fix for today.  This 

is the manual entry system.  This platform is not working”.  I think some of the 

communications around when issues arose were a little later than they should have 

been.  I think they worked very hard to try to engage and keep an active engagement 

but I think there could have been slightly longer timescales built in to give boroughs 

more time to respond when problems arose.  The timescales were very much built 

around, “We have reached this issue, this is the deadline, it’s actually the only 

deadline”.  It was the final deadline you were working to all the time. 

 

Page 154



Andrew Boff (AM):  This is a bit off-centred to what we were talking about it but it is 

just to give rise to what was said earlier.  Would you be supportive, as returning officers, 

to get some kind of London-wide standard as to the way in which you report electronic 

electoral registers?  I should declare an interest here.  I get the electoral registers 

myself, and it is astonishing the variation in what happens when you say to the 

returning officer, “I’d like a copy of the electoral register, please”, and what you actually 

end up with.  One of them I did take, Greenwich and Lewisham, and that will be 

completely different from Hackney which will be completely different from Islington 

which will be vastly different from Harrow and all the rest.  They are all very, very 

different.  Would you be sympathetic to some kind of protocol London wide for 

presenting that data? 

 

George Cooper (Association of Electoral Administrators, London Branch):  The 

difficulty, of course, is that the GLRO is not a registration authority.  The boroughs are 

the registration authorities and that is just the way that the law is written at the present 

time.  The other issue, of course, is that we do use different software and we do use 

different suppliers and that is a function of competition. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  I am not questioning the suppliers. 

 

George Cooper (Association of Electoral Administrators, London Branch):  It 

sometimes explains the differences, but obviously what you do want is as much 

consistency in an electoral process as you can possibly and legally and technically and 

practically achieve.  That is obviously innately desirable and that, of course, is why it is 

necessarily to have this type of election ultimately managed by an overarching body like 

London Elects.  Because if you have 32 boroughs in a city trying to run it individually 

and pull it together without a strong central body, that is an entirely different type of 

challenge. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  I take the point but it is not quite what I am saying.  Part of the 

process is that the parties have a right to get the electoral register or local candidates 

have a right to the electoral register.  Now, they cannot access that from one place.  

They cannot ask that from London Elects because it is not kept.  They can ask it from 

the individual boroughs, which is fine, it is just the consistency of the way that is asked 

for.  I am not saying change software, I am just saying when somebody says, “I’d like a 

copy of the electoral register”, that that means the same in Greenwich and Harrow, and 

it does not.  It does not mean the same because you will get vastly different -- for 

instance, some boroughs will present you with the property index.  I do not particularly 

want that.  Some boroughs will preset you with duplicates of the information.  If there 

was some kind of standard way so that at least I know that the data would be the same 

format.  I am exposing my interest here, but do you understand what I mean? 

 

George Cooper (Association of Electoral Administrators, London Branch):  Yes, 

absolutely. 

 

Page 155



Len Duvall (Chair):  Not in terms of the procurement or anything like that.  

Standardisation of the way to get it. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  Because I think these guys would appreciate it. 

 

George Cooper (Association of Electoral Administrators, London Branch):  One 

clear example, of course, which emphasises the importance of what you say is it is 

different for independent candidates as well who may ask for registers.  They are not 

dealing with the same set of rules exactly as you are if you are registered party. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM) And to be fair to the independents, it can be more of a struggle 

for them.  I mean, these guys have gone through the elections, they know the 

differences, but if somebody wants to stand for the first time and it is all over London, 

they are going to suddenly faced with multiple different electoral registers. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair)  If we can move on, from your point of view do you have any 

comments on the advertising that London Elects did?  You heard the earlier 

conversation that was reported.  Are there any issues around impartiality that was raised 

with you at local level? 

 

Barry Quirk (Constituency Returning Officer, Greenwich and Lewisham):   

Certainly, I did not have any issues raised to me about the point.  I understand the point 

about the bus advert, “How do you like your London?”  I remember once we had a 

photograph of a man in a bath in Lewisham, trying to raise voter awareness, and he was 

called, “Floating voter”.  It was a desperate attempt to try to raise awareness, and we 

realised at the time this probably was not sensible.  It was for a Mayoral referendum, the 

turnout for which was 19%, I think. 

 

I think there is this issue, which is the importance of raising awareness.  There is a 

statutory responsibility on returning officers and the GLRO for bringing to the public’s 

attention.  Obviously when there is a real fight, it draws a crowd.  In a sense, I think, 

what I thought was very good was the web-based information, the Twitter feeds, the 

fact that the campaign went around London, this large, inflatable ballot box going 

around London drawing attention.  In a city like London, we do need to draw to the fact 

of this vote.  Notwithstanding the fact it is going to be a big fight between big and 

prominent individuals, you need to draw attention because there is so much happening.  

I think it is important there is a London-wide presence and a London-wide advertising 

campaign.  Obviously, it has to be completely and utterly impartial and objective. 

 

Pauline Ferris, (Electoral Services Manager, Harrow):  I think it was very, very 

good web-based advertising.  I also think that the communications team were excellent.  

When they actually sent out templates, they allowed you to put personalising to your 

borough to use in council tax booklets.  They worked really hard with boroughs to make 

sure that the product that boroughs were getting out to residents really was on the 

money. 

 

Page 156



Len Duvall (Chair):  Good.  Let us look at the election booklet thing.  Have you any 

views on households versus individuals and other ways of highlighting the mayoral 

candidates?  Have you a view on that? 

 

Barry Quirk (Constituency Returning Officer, Greenwich and Lewisham):  My 

view is, unfortunately, as a Chief Executive, raising issues of cost.  I do think the 

difference between 5.8 million electors and 3.5 million households is quite significant.  I 

mean virtually over half the advertising budget is spent on the booklet and we kept 

many in libraries and other public places. 

 

I think the point about the addresses, people do read things when they are addressed.  I 

understand that is difficult, therefore, to pick out one addressee in a household, but I 

think if you are sending out so many, that is where the cost is going to be.  You then 

have to evaluate and say, “Is that £1.4 million well-spent?  Could it be more effectively 

spent if you spent £1 million in this way and the other £400,000 in other ways?” 

 

To do that, you probably need a more rigorous evaluation.  I am just drawing attention 

to the cost of it.  It is very nice. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  Any other comments? 

 

Fiona Ledden, (Deputy Returning Officer, Brent):  I agree with that entirely.  I 

think it is more per household, but I do think if it is addressed that makes it more likely 

to be read rather than not read. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  What has been the impact of political party postal vote 

registration campaigns on you? 

 

George Cooper (Association of Electoral Administrators, London Branch):  The 

postal vote applications are arising with each successive election and it’s a very 

considerable part of the business now.  What the exact driver is is very difficult for us to 

say.  Whether it is driven off the back of parties’ own campaigns sort of encouraging 

people to have a postal vote - clearly there is an element of that - or whether there is 

the learning effect of ‘this is something you can have on demand’ and people are 

getting used to it now.  Of course, it is some years since you have to have a reason for 

it.  If word is getting round, it is difficult to quantify.  We are just left to having to 

administer the reality of the situation, which is that it is bearing a much higher 

proportion of our total votes being dealt with.  It is probably 12% or 13% of my 

electorate now who are postal voters and, in other parts of London, it is very much 

higher than that. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  What about the timing of such postal vote applications? 

 

Bob Quick (Constituency Returning Officer, Greenwich and Lewisham):    I think 

this is difficult to comment in any way which is critical of political parties 

understandably focusing their attention on areas where they feel they can prompt 

Page 157



people who may support them or otherwise, whether they are using borough-based 

analysis or they are blending mosaic or some other technique with postal vote 

application forms.  I think it is completely understandable that political parties and other 

independents are almost more advanced in the ‘yes’ campaign in the AV referenda vote 

where they use quite complex techniques to try to encourage a large turn out. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  I am not so much thinking they probably have a right to 

encourage people to say something than the impact on you, upon your workload. 

 

George Cooper (Association of Electoral Administrators, London Branch):  I do 

know that some of the borough returning officers who are not present here found it 

difficult in their areas because they found they hadn’t geared up their staff.  They 

weren’t aware that this was the number that were going to come in.  In two or three 

boroughs that I’m aware of, they said, “Obviously, political parties have been sending 

out a lot of postal votes, because we are getting a lot in, much more than we 

anticipated.”  I think it is just a question of us being more flexible and more flexible with 

our resources in the run-up to elections.  It did not have a big impact in my authority.  

We did not have more than we anticipated. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair);   Maybe it is part of that conversation informally that takes place 

between local people or local organisers to say there is a London-wide campaign or a 

local campaign to increase the postal vote.  You need to gear up for it.  I do think it 

does impact on some of your timetabling, does it not, in responding?  The crucial thing 

is: would you either appreciate advanced notice if there are over and above the normal 

local campaigns that run regularly, I presume? 

 

George Cooper (Association of Electoral Administrators, London Branch): Yes, 

absolutely. 

 

Pauline Ferris, (Electoral Services Manager, Harrow):  One point I would say is 

that, obviously given the timetabling for submitting data on postal vote numbers - 

London Elects’ timetable required it by a certain date, the postal vote campaigns that 

were underway - you were taking an indicative look at the amount of applications that 

were coming through and comparing your numbers, where you were, with where you 

felt you should be for giving the correct information to London Elects.  I know certainly 

my own borough had quite a significant increase in the number of applications that we 

finally put through.  I think timing-wise, the engagement from that side, if it had been 

earlier, it would have been very, very helpful. 

 

George Cooper (Association of Electoral Administrators, London Branch):  

Okay, it should not be a factor, but I think it probably is.  We were fortunate in the 

timing of the Easter holidays on this occasion, because they are usually March or April.  

The way it just happened to drop this time was of benefit to us and some of us were 

able to make a pretty good prediction about what we would actually need.  Where 

Easter falls in a slightly different way, you can encounter a sudden surge when people 

Page 158



take the late deal and a lot more people are going away, and suddenly you can have a 

lot more coming in.  It really should not be a significant factor, but it is. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  Just picking up the other issue on postal votes.  I can ask London 

Elects this anyway.  The issue around providing data post-election on postal voters, can 

you just reply to that? 

 

Bob Quick (Constituency Returning Officer, Greenwich and Lewisham):  I see 

that as a reporting issue that should be able to be specified in advance.  We are 

essentially managing two elections - a postal election and another.  My guess is 70% of 

the cost is on the postal. 

 

George Cooper (Association of Electoral Administrators, London Branch):  I 

think it is theoretically possible, but it is not a small task and it is going to cost.  The 

ability to have results by ward is, I suppose, for your side of the table, a collateral bonus 

of the e-count system.  If you are running a supplementary election for a Mayor, as I 

have elsewhere, and by hand you do not have a ward breakdown, it is something that 

only comes because you are doing the e-count.  Now, of course, the postal votes are 

dealt with across the piece, across the borough. 

 

Obviously, this is something that has just come up recently and mainly today.  The only 

way I can see at the moment of breaking the postal allocation down is that you have to 

have another sorting technique over the seven, eight, nine date period that you are 

opening postal votes.  That is theoretically possible, but there is an implication there in 

terms of pressure on staff, because you have another big sorting cost that you have to 

engender.  I cannot tell you that it is technically impossible.  I do not look forward 

remotely to doing it, but I can see how, from your point of view, given that postals are 

such a high proportion of the total, the collateral benefit of having the ward breakdown 

is of decreasing utility unless you can do that with postals as well. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  Can I just add perhaps a technical question?  When a ballot paper 

is scanned, we do not tie it down to a voter, do we?  If a ballot paper is scanned, that 

bar code that is on it relates to some other piece of information.  Does that other piece 

of information point to a ward? 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  Well, it depends on what.  It is about information that is on 

marked registers, is it not?  The difference between a marked register and a postal voter 

is not necessarily there, is it? 

 

Thank you for that, George.  Let us look at the counts now.  Let us try.  We are aware of 

some of the problems.  What are the most important changes that you think we should 

consider as we prepare for and manage the count centres?  What do you think?  Clearly, 

you have met collectively and you are representing views for others who are not with us 

today, are they? 

 

Page 159



Fiona Ledden, (Deputy Returning Officer, Brent):  Certainly, from the perspective 

of where there were difficulties at Alexandra Palace, which I think are well-rehearsed, I 

would say that contingency plans need to be much clearer, because I can remember on 

the eve of the count on the day of the election when we were not able to have a zero 

vote and there was a problem.  It looked like it had not been resolved and I was going 

back to speak to the constituency returning officer.  When I said to him the contingency 

plan may be that we have to go to ExCeL, at that point, ‘pow!’ because that would have 

been incredibly difficult for us to suddenly move. 

 

I therefore think that contingency plans need to be very carefully thought.  I think the 

point was well made about the fact that Alexandra Palace is not as robust, as became 

very clear, and there was certainly quite a lot of water leakage.  I know we have had a 

lot of unfortunate weather and all that, but actually it became clearer and clearer that it 

was not as robust as it needed to be.  Certainly, I would say, for going forward, a more 

robust venue.  I think there were some differences of opinion about how robust the 

venue was.  I do not think I am speaking out of turn in saying most of the constituency 

returning officers there felt that it was not robust and were a bit concerned about it.  

That is one of the things that I think needs to be taken on board. 

 

The other point that has already been made and again I would very much go with: if 

there is a problem like Brent and Harrow experienced and there was a period of time 

when we were the only ones counting, it would have been really helpful to be able to 

use other machines or maybe to have used other staff as well before they had left the 

building.  I think that should have been done differently and better and it was very 

difficult for the constituency returning officer to do that.  That is where I think it was 

very important for both IntElect and London Elects to actually take charge of that 

element at that time.  Those are the things that I think could be done better and 

differently in future.  Those are the things that I think would make the difference going 

forward. 

 

George Cooper (Association of Electoral Administrators, London Branch):  

Because I come from Haringey, I can see Alexandra Palace out of my office window.  I 

do not want to be drawn into personalising the business as such, because as I recall in 

2008 I think the basement of this building [City Hall] flooded.  That created the team 

some problems.  They had a certain need to recover certain functions.  A couple of my 

colleagues have sort of said, “Was there a back-up generator at Olympia if the same 

thing had happened?”  The issue, it occurs to me, rather than saying, “Is one building 

robust?  Is one going to be more robust than others?” is what happens if you have a 

problem of whatever type in whatever building, because that is a threat to your 

operation.  That is about risk and contingency planning, it seems to me, but I would 

submit that what you need to consider is that it can happen anywhere, so what do you 

do? 

 

Barry Quirk (Constituency Returning Officer, Greenwich and Lewisham):  I am 

going to respond also from the experience of both the European and AV referendum 

from here.  In one example, where they are having to do with 32 other places not 

Page 160



sixteen or three, I have to say you are sort of locked in here desperately trying to 

contact other places; they are conducting counts in places, sometimes gymnasia, where 

essentially no mobile phones work, no landlines work, you cannot contact anybody; you 

know the agents are probably Twittering the results before you have even received 

contact from the local returning officers. 

 

It is the issue of communication between whoever is responsible for managing the 

election and the people who are delivering at the local level.  It is absolutely critical.  I 

think holding a very disperse distributed election count inevitably presents problems 

regardless as to where it is.  We can discuss the merits.  I mean I was standing in the 

ExCeL centre on the evening and I noticed that the halls next to us were all empty.  I 

thought, “Why is the whole thing not here?”  Actually, you can redeploy people.  You 

have expertise.  It is not just the issue of if it all goes out and so on.  I was at home 

watching the results before five of these people.  The scanners stopped.  I sort of think, 

‘Well, there must be some advantage of holding it in one place.’ 

 

Yes, there is an obvious disadvantage, which is that people have to travel right across 

London.  People were mentioning that it is terribly tedious for many party people to 

attend places, have a half an hour trip to look at a blank screen for most of the day.  

Actually, travelling even further may be more difficult. 

 

I think, probably, the difficulty though is the demands of the media on the day.  In a 

sense, I was following the minute-by-minute anger and frustration of the television 

crews on the evening.  You could tell that they did not actually want to go into the dark 

because they were already standing outside.  They had this lovely image of Tower 

Bridge behind them.  Then they would have to change the lighting and all this business.  

You thought, “Oh goodness”.  On a sense, the demands of the media were dictating the 

declaration of this. 

 

Two weeks later, I think it was, less than two weeks, François Hollande [President of 

France] was declared a minute after the thing by exit poll, I think on exactly the same 

percentage difference, whereas here we are British and we go through every single vote 

and make sure everything is counted.  It has to be absolutely precise.  The fact that the 

last ones that were counted would not have had a bearing on the final result meant that 

we still had to wait until half past ten to declare it.  I think there is a big advantage in 

drawing it all together. 

 

I think if you do you should actually have a mock-up of Tower Bridge.  It is possible.  

They do do it.  Andrew Marr [BBC presenter] does it every week on his programme.  

Have a mock up in ExCeL and actually conduct the election in its entirety from there.  

People may think, in a sense, we lose the cache of being elected as the Mayor actually 

in the City Hall itself, but I think it is much better to have the whole election conducted 

itself in one place.  Myself, I would go for that. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  Sorry, so you are arguing including the announcement and 

amending the announcement. 

Page 161



 

Barry Quirk (Constituency Returning Officer, Greenwich and Lewisham):  

Including the announcement, yes. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  One venue rather than two. 

 

Barry Quirk (Constituency Returning Officer, Greenwich and Lewisham):  

Absolutely, yes. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  Yes, okay.  Right, okay, and is there anything else you wish to add 

on that? 

 

George Cooper (Association of Electoral Administrators, London Branch):  Barry 

[Quick] did allude to the fact that the risk factor you put into that, of course, is that 

you are taking your precious ballot papers a lot further to one.  That is an additional risk 

factor. 

 

Barry Quirk (Constituency Returning Officer, Greenwich and Lewisham):  Can I 

add to that, before you continue? 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  We take our precious ballot papers into north London. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  South London is really quite something, so let us take them even 

further if need be. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM) When the Council of Europe is called upon to give advice about 

elections, of course, they said count them in the polling stations. 

 

George Cooper (Association of Electoral Administrators, London Branch):  

Anthony Mayer [former Chief Executive of the GLA] wrote, I think in The Times, just 

before the GLA, to suggest that that is an answer that ought to be seriously considered.  

I think you have submissions from individual CROs (chief returning officers), which have 

said there should be 14 counts so there are different views on this. 

 

Barry Quirk (Constituency Returning Officer, Greenwich and Lewisham):  Yes, 

definitely. 

 

George Cooper (Association of Electoral Administrators, London Branch):  What 

would be very interesting for us to watch in November is that in England and Wales 

there are all sorts of methodologies; counting Police Crime Commissioner’s, central 

counts, local counts, local verifications and then central counts.  I suppose it is not 

terribly helpful for the timetable of your committee’s work, but we will certainly be 

trying to gain some experience from what happens there, because of course that is the 

first time anybody has done anything that is remotely comparable to what we do in 

London, which is elect one official by supplementary vote across very large areas.  I 

think there will be some useful intelligence that we can gain from that. 

Page 162



 

Barry Quirk (Constituency Returning Officer, Greenwich and Lewisham):  We 

have got some choices and I think what we need to do, like in any review, is just lay out 

those choices that we have.  There are variations on that but, either way, one of the key 

messages is get the contingency right.  We must have a back-up plan. 

 

Fiona Ledden (Deputy Returning Officer, Brent):  Can I just make one comment 

which I trust does not sound too defensive?  I think I have to come back on a point that 

was made earlier by Jim about the Brent and Harrow count and difficulties around ballot 

boxes.  Actually, I think it is important to note that there were three ballot box 

difficulties for Brent and Harrow towards the end, one of which had been deleted.  We 

do not know why, but it had been deleted from the system by IntElect.  That was 

nothing to do with any Brent or Harrow officer.  There were two further ballot boxes 

that subsequently were rescanned.  However, at one point, the counts were showing 

that it has been concluded. 

 

Forgive me.  Pauline, was that about 9.00pm?  About 9.00pm.  From going from as 

though everything had been completed and everything had been done so there was 

nothing outstanding, suddenly the displays changed.  I have never had an explanation 

as to why that was.  I can say that the Borough Returning Officer from Harrow was 

absolutely meticulous about sitting watching all the displays. 

 

For us that is still a complete puzzle as to why suddenly that become problematic.  We 

went from looking like we were ready to declare.  Indeed, we had a call from City Hall 

saying, “Why on earth have you not declared?  Everything seems to be demonstrating 

you should be.”  Then suddenly it changed to showing two ballot boxes as having 

manual entries outstanding.  At that time, those two boxes were deleted and they were 

then put through the system again.  I just wanted to correct exactly what had 

happened, because I think from the point of view of the record it is important that I say 

what had happened for us. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  So for the record, nobody lost ballot boxes at that election. 

 

Fiona Ledden (Deputy Returning Officer, Brent):  For the record, nobody lost 

ballot boxes at all.  I want to be really clear about that. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  Thank you, because that is the message that went out there on 

the night. 

 

Fiona Ledden (Deputy Returning Officer, Brent):  Indeed and, again, a learning 

point for me was we were very concerned that things went on to the media when 

actually we were trying to work them out and really trying to troubleshoot.  We had 

staff who had been there and frustrated for a very long day for all sorts of reasons that 

you know about because we have written to you about them.  For then to hear through 

Twitter and everything else that it was a problem that Brent and Harrow had lost two 

ballot boxes that was really unhelpful, because that was never the case. 

Page 163



 

Len Duvall (Chair):  Issues of communication, if we continued to go along in the way 

that we do, communication between command and control here and yourselves on the 

day on those particular issues with those problems, apart from one location, if we did 

not have one location, were the information flows going backwards and forwards 

adequate and fine? 

 

George Cooper (Association of Electoral Administrators, London Branch):  It 

was fine. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  Yes, so everyone is clear on that.  Even though we had some 

glitches, the information flows were coming back and there were communication 

exchanges going on.  Okay, can we just pick up something in terms of something that 

Jim said about advice to people going into polling booths and the issues.  Clearly, we 

want people to be able to vote.  Yes, we have a set of ballot papers and families 

informally will want to help or not.  I used a frail person, but it is obviously not now.  It 

may well be others just doing that.  What is your answer in terms of those issues?  Is 

that a problem that is coming up more and more?  Is this an issue of polling stations? 

 

Barry Quirk (Constituency Returning Officer, Greenwich and Lewisham):  On 

the day, I always travel around about 50 polling systems.  On GLA elections, there are 

always more questions than at any others from members of the public.  I have witnessed 

it this time.  The questions are about, “What are these three papers for?”  

Notwithstanding what we said earlier we need to ask them; good work has been done 

by London Elects on that.  “I want to vote for ‘bleep’.  How do I do it?”  It is mainly 

from elderly people, I have to say, and I witnessed it more this time than before. 

 

What I did not witness were families supporting other people.  In all cases it was single 

elderly people, not in the sense saying, “Well, I’m voting for this person.  Who should I 

vote on this then?”  What I was making sure was that the presiding officers were acting 

absolutely impartially, not guiding or directing in any way. 

 

It is a difficulty.  It is a difficulty.  The difficulty is having three votes with people who 

are very clear about the mayoral election, not clear about others or actually coming in 

saying, “I want to vote for so-and-so.  Can you tell me how to do it?”  What I did not 

witness at all was family members helping people. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  Okay, but in terms of advice and training of staff, we want people 

to be able to vote, do we not? 

 

Barry Quirk (Constituency Returning Officer, Greenwich and Lewisham):  Yes. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  They have taken the trouble to walk in to there.  It is their choice 

to exercise it.  They can choose which ballot papers they want to use.  Personally, I 

hope they use all three in the right way, my way.  In terms of the advice that we are 

Page 164



giving polling station staff, what can we improve upon that or should we see where this 

lies? 

 

George Cooper (Association of Electoral Administrators, London Branch):  

Certainly, in our training package, we are saying - I think it is somewhere on slide four - 

that we are there to ensure that the individual gets to cast their vote in secret, in a calm 

and purely individual way.  Occasionally, you will get presiding officers who have to 

intervene when people are having a bit of a discussion of coming together.  I think I 

recognise what Barry [Qucik] says that sometimes that is about, “I have three ballot 

papers here.  Really, it is the Mayor I am interested in and I thought we were electing 

the Assembly, but there are two ballot papers for that.”  The message still hasn’t got 

there.  I think that is about as far as it goes.  Certainly, we are making the point that, 

ultimately, we are stressing to presiding officers that they might need to intervene in 

certain circumstances because this is about the individual making their choice.   

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  Yes.  So it is a really difficult business. 

 

Barry Quirk (Constituency Returning Officer, Greenwich and Lewisham):  I think 

the way the training is prescribed, the size of the groups, the manner in which it is done 

is much clearer and closer now than it has been in the past. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  Fine.  The issue about spoilt ballot papers and the resolution of 

that, do you have any comments on that?  We have heard one particular view today 

where it is ‘not one of our problems’, but do you have any view from your experiences 

on the ground? 

 

Barry Quirk (Constituency Returning Officer, Greenwich and Lewisham):  The 

problem in relation to? 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  Number of spoilt ballots.  Can we improve?  Of course, people will 

think they are voting.  The Xs go all over the place.  Is it solved? 

 

Barry Quirk (Constituency Returning Officer, Greenwich and Lewisham):  There 

is a number of issues here.  One is the spoilt ballot papers in relation to the mayoral 

form.  Then there is invalid votes as a result of some other issues.  I was a little exercised 

about the perforation in the postals and the extent to which this may have been a 

problem.  It was not a problem for us at all, as it transpired. 

 

Then there are issues about spoilt ballots in relation to the other ballot papers.  Then 

you have to say they are invalid votes.  Are they invalid because people want?  They 

were not in for the Mayor or whatever.  I personally think that the whole issue of 1s and 

2s and 3s and Xs and the tradition and culture of British voting and so on, the whole 

business about Xs rather than 1s and 2s and 3s was because previous waves of migrants 

into London were Irish and concerns about different systems of voting from some 

places. 

 

Page 165



We now have a very cosmopolitan population in London.  Therefore, the idea of people 

bringing different patterns of ways in which you vote, I think we need to bear that in 

mind.  We need to have the simplest way of voting possible, rather than say, “People 

are very skilled and knowledgeable about this”.  The turnover of the London 

population, the dynamics of the London population are very high.  We need to be aware 

of that.  In my own authority, the largest in migrant group of the last 15 years, 

obviously, is African.  We need to be mindful of the ethnic cosmopolitan nature of 

London and say we need the simplest way of voting possible. 

 

Personally, I would feel the way in which the two columns and the X and the X, I think 

that is fine.  I think any other method is at least equally confusing. 

 

Fiona Ledden (Deputy Returning Officer, Brent):  The only thing to add is I 

thought that there was actually better communication and better advice given.  There 

was a lot of advice given and I thought that was better.  There should have been less, 

although I appreciate in some places that it did not always mean that there was not 

confusion and some people giving information wrongly, but there should have been less 

confusion about what was a good vote and what was not, because actually there was 

more guidance and information.  I think it is really important at the end of the day that 

that guidance is consistent, so it is across everybody. 

 

George Cooper (Association of Electoral Administrators, London Branch):  

Having worked on three supplementary vote elections, one in the Midlands and two 

down here, I am absolutely convinced that there is quite a large body of the electorate 

that has one view.  They are going to express one preference because they have one 

party.  They are either going to not express a second preference, so leaving the second 

column blank, or they are going to reinforce their determination to support their 

candidate by placing the X again in the second preference against their first choice, 

which of course goes nowhere.  I sort of think that they either know that or they are 

just hedging their bets just in case. 

 

Those are overwhelmingly the two adjudications that we get.  I do get slightly 

concerned about the fact there is a few where the X goes in the right hand column and 

there is nothing else.  I think that is probably because people are used to right 

justification, but that is a much, much smaller number than people who are making a 

determined effort.  They do understand the system.  They are making a determined 

effort to say, “I support just one person”. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  My I ask what you do with that choice?  Is that a valid vote, just 

the second choice? 

 

George Cooper (Association of Electoral Administrators, London Branch):  If 

you have no first choice, it goes nowhere, in fact. 

 

Barry Quirk (Constituency Returning Officer, Greenwich and Lewisham):  It is 

never going to be counted again.  I agree entirely with what George has just said.  That 

Page 166



is by far the biggest.  The advice being given to people was, if they put the votes in the 

second column, then it would not be counted.  Personally, I think we should not have 

said that.  I think people should be able to have a first and second preference, even if it 

is not going to be counted, because we do not know whether the second preference is 

going to be counted anyway.  We have no notion of it, so you have to infer what the 

first is.  I think it is absolutely right.  I am trying to remember the percentages of those 

who voted for two candidates as a total of the spoilts.  I think it is very high and 

perfectly understandable.  If people want to do that, then fine.  I have no difficulty. 

 

Pauline Ferris (Electoral Services Manager, Harrow):  I think the one comment I 

would make is I agree entirely with George regarding the point he was making about: if 

you have a preference, you will express a preference or leave it blank etc.  I think, if the 

communication needs to grow anywhere in terms of communication, it is with regards to 

postal votes, because of the number of people that have a bank account signature, a 

postal vote signature, a family known signature.  Actually, one of the major problems 

that we faced in terms of spoilts was people forgetting what their signature was.  That is 

probably the area of communication that does need to be looked at to remind people, 

“You need to check your postal vote signature, your date of birth.  Make sure that 

information is right.” 

 

George Cooper (Association of Electoral Administrators, London Branch):  That 

is a national issue. 

 

Pauline Ferris (Electoral Services Manager, Harrow):  That is a national issue, not 

just a London one. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  Any more questions? 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  No, I do not think so, actually.  I am fine.  That is mine.  I think 

we are done. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  Yes, I think we are fine.  I think we understand about Alexandra 

Palace and all the issues there. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  Yes.  Actually, there was one thing.  There was some implicit 

criticism from the reports about IntElect, about the relationship between IntElect and 

London Elects.  Is that something you observed, communication between the two? 

 

George Cooper (Association of Electoral Administrators, London Branch):  Not 

so much--  

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  No, okay, that was all that was really on my mind.  Thank you. 

 
Len Duvall (Chair):  Okay, well, look, can I thank you and again thank you for the 
work that you do on behalf of Londoners in terms of the election processes that you 
undertake, not just for us, but for the parliamentary, and the nationals, and the 

Page 167



referendums.  Thank you and thank you for the way that you answered our questions 
this afternoon.  Thank you. 

Page 168



 
 

 
 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

MINUTES  
 

Meeting: Election Review Working Group 
Date: Thursday 12 July 2012 
Time: 2.00 pm 
Place: Committee Room 3, City Hall, The 

Queen's Walk, London, SE1 2AA 
 

Copies of the minutes may be found at: http://www.london.gov.uk/who-runs-london/the-london-

assembly/committees   

 
Present: 
 
Len Duvall AM (Chairman) 
Andrew Boff AM 
 
 
 

1. Apologies for Absence and Chair's Announcements  
 

2.1 There were no apologies for absence. 

 
 
2. Declarations of Interests  

 
2.1 Resolved: 
 

(a) That the list of memberships of functional bodies and London Borough 
Councils , as set out in the table at Item 2, be noted as disclosable pecuniary 
interests; and 
 

(b) That gifts and hospitality received by Members, as set out in the Authority’s 
gifts and hospitality register, be noted. 

 

 
 
3. Review of the London 2012 Elections  

 

Page 169



Greater London Authority 
Election Review Working Group 

Thursday 12 July 2012 

 

 
 

3.1 The Working Group received the report of the executive Director of Secretariat. 
 
 
3.2 The following people attended the meeting to answer the Working Group’s questions on the 

2012 Elections in London: 
 

! John Bennett, Greater London Returning Officer. 

! Keith Hathaway, Senior Elections Officer. 

! Duncan Wilson, Chief Executive, Alexandra Palace and Park.  

! Sonya Anderson – DRS, Head of Elections/IntElect. 

! Gary Brighton – DRS, Director of Operations/IntElect. 

! Simon Hearn – DRS, Director/IntElect. 

 

 
3.3  A transcript of the discussion is attached as Appendix 1. 

3.4  Resolved: 

That the discussion with the invited guests be noted 
 

 
 
4. Any Other Business the Chairman Considers Urgent  

 
4.1 There was no other business. 

 
 
5. Close of meeting  

 
5.1 The meeting closed at 5.00 pm 

 
 
 
 
 
 
    
Chair  Date 
 
Contact Officer: Nick Baker, Committee Assistant; Telephone: 020 7983 5525; E-mail: 

nick.baker@london.gov.uk; Minicom: 020 7983 4458. 
 
 

Page 170



 

Appendix 1 
 

Transcription of the Election Review Working Group - 12 July 2012 
 

Agenda item 3 – Review of the London 2012 Elections 
 

Moving on to item 3, which is our main business for this afternoon’s hearing, there are a number 

of questions that we want to pose to the people before us.  Just to set the scene, we have a 

number of core questions.  There may well be some questions that arise from your answers and 

we will try to facilitate business.  I think, Duncan [Wilson], you may be able to leave earlier than 

the others who may have to stay for the full session and the way the questions go.  We will 

indicate when we think our questioning has finished concerning the venues. 

 

Let us begin with the first set of questions.  Andrew? 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  Alexandra Palace was perceived to be the count centre on the evening of 

the count which delivered the latest results and we did get reports back that there were a 

number of problems with the centre.  First among those was the fact that we had a power cut.  

Could you tell us how and why the electricity supply was cut to Alexandra Palace on that 

morning?  What happened? 

 

Duncan Wilson (Chief Executive, Alexandra Palace and Park):  Obviously, we very much 

regret that it happened and it happened because a contractor ignored instructions not to carry 

out any maintenance work and was let onto the site by our facilities contractor.  A consequence 

of that was that we lost power at, I think, 7.52am for 16 minutes but the implications of that 

were that the screens, as I understand it, had a lot of security protection on them and rebooting 

them and resetting the security protocols took nearly two hours. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  So you are saying it was cut for 16 minutes?  When it was restored, are 

you saying that after 16 minutes as far as the -- 

 

Duncan Wilson (Chief Executive, Alexandra Palace and Park):  The power was back on. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  The power was back on and the venue was operational after 16 minutes? 

 

Duncan Wilson (Chief Executive, Alexandra Palace and Park):  Yes, but the computer 

systems had to be rebooted, yes. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  Do you have any kind of resilience in place to prevent that happening? 

 

Duncan Wilson (Chief Executive, Alexandra Palace and Park):  There is a backup power 

supply which has to be manually switched and I think actually the power supply was restored 

just about the time that switch was about to be thrown.  We do not have an instantaneous 

backup power supply, no. 

 

Page 171



Andrew Boff (AM):  Is any action being taken against those contractors with regard to this? 

 

Duncan Wilson (Chief Executive, Alexandra Palace and Park):  Yes, definitely, and the 

two managers concerned have moved elsewhere. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  OK.  When you say “managers”, Alexandra Palace managers or the 

contractor’s managers? 

 

Duncan Wilson (Chief Executive, Alexandra Palace and Park):  No, the contractor’s 

managers, yes. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  OK.  There is a question about the time it took to switch the machines 

back on, to power up.  How long should it take to restore the systems to their previous state 

after a power cut? 

 

Sonya Anderson (Head of Elections, IntElect):  The servers that support the system have an 

uninterruptable power supply, a battery, basically, that keeps them going and that is rated to 

last about 30 minutes.  So, for a minor interruption, certainly with regards to the servers 

themselves, they would continue to run and they did.  The challenge that we had was, although 

the interruption had been around 16 minutes, it took between about 8.00am and 8.30am.  We 

were trying to ascertain what had been the cause of the power cut and we were unsure at that 

point whether it would be repeated.  We did not know what the cause was, so we were nervous 

and concerned that there might be a repeat power cut.  So, a decision was made to take the 

servers down in a controlled fashion because if the battery runs out after 30 minutes on an 

uninterruptable power supply you would encounter greater problems, so the decision was to 

take the service down. 

 

Gary [Brighton], would you like to talk a little bit about the process of then bringing those 

servers back up? 

 

Gary Brighton (Director of Operations, IntElect):  Yes.  The expected time to recover from 

an emergency shutdown procedure, which is what was enacted properly at the time, and I think 

it was fairly quick that we got a response finally as to what had happened, why the power was 

restored and that there was confidence the power would remain.  But, we had already 

commenced our emergency shutdown and one has to finish that process before you can begin 

the process of cycling back up again.  We had stated that we would require about two hours as 

a contingency period to recycle all the servers.  In the end, we would have completed that in 

well under those two hours apart from having a different issue which I will come on to. 

 

But just to explain it, the server setup consists of three physical servers, a storage array, two 

fibre switches, two core switches, all of which must be powered up in a strict sequence.  In 

addition to this, we have 36 separate virtual servers which, again, all require starting in a strict 

sequence, so it is quite a complex process.  It is not just turning a personal computer (PC) back 

on again.  They all have to be done in a series of checks by the information technology (IT) 

staff. 

 

Page 172



In fact, we began that recovery process.  The order was given about 8.30am when we had been 

given instructions and were confident that the power would remain on.  The process was 

essentially complete by 10.15am.  Unfortunately, when we got to 10.15am and we had actually 

brought up a series of sites, one at a time prior to that, so we had sites coming up from 9.45am 

onwards, the final site, Brent and Harrow, when it came up, we were struggling to find that and 

have a network connection.  Investigation on that very quickly found that the two main switches 

that run the network for that individual site, the plug sockets that they were plugged into had 

their own individual trip switches and they had tripped as part of the overall power cut.  We had 

not realised that they had individual trip switches and the problem there was those switches 

themselves take a further 20 to 25 minutes to come up and reboot and format ready to run, so 

there was an additional delay from about 10.15am through to just before 10.45am for Brent & 

Harrow to come back online. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  Can we just be very clear?  I think you mentioned some communication 

issues, which comes up time and time again in the evidence we have.  So, in terms of the line of 

command, you obviously have your key person onsite. 

 

Gary Brighton (Director of Operations, IntElect):  Yes. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  You have a key person onsite and we also then have the various 

constituency key people onsite. 

 

Duncan Wilson (Chief Executive, Alexandra Palace and Park):  :  Correct, yes. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  ... and you have someone onsite who is there.  How did we not know 

what caused the outage? 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  London Elects was represented by a 

deputy, who was Richard Harbord on this occasion, at Alexandra Palace (Ally Pally).  He was 

liaising, I think, with your key person and the contractor’s centre manager was also in that loop.  

But I think there was some uncertainty upon the immediate power outage as to what the cause 

had been and therefore how long it would take to return.  It was during that time of uncertainty 

that the contractor took, I am sure, the right decision to do a graceful exit on the system and 

that is what required then this sequence that Gary [Brighton] has described of rebooting and 

recycling the system.  So, yes, people were talking to each other but I think there was the issue 

of getting hold of the contractors who were undertaking the test and ascertaining what exactly 

had gone on to establish the cause of the outage in the first place. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  Are we are quite clear about who took the final decision?  It was 

contractors or a contractor working with the people onsite from our side, as in London Elects. 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  Clearly, the Deputy Greater London 

Returning Officer (GLRO) onsite was involved but the key decision was properly with the 

contractor who was then responsible for the security of the system. 

 

Page 173



Andrew Boff (AM):  That was interesting.  Pleased you did that in terms of lines of 

responsibility.  You are saying that the system takes, for a graceful exit, a certain amount of 

time.  How much time does it take to power off? 

 

Gary Brighton (Director of Operations, IntElect):  About 20 minutes to go through the 

process of shutting everything down. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  So, you must have taken that decision within the first ten minutes, 

therefore, of the power outage? 

 

Gary Brighton (Director of Operations, IntElect):  That is correct. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  What this exposes is that there seems to be an issue with the location of 

the data, surely.  If there is so much hardware that needs to be onsite, I was surprised that it is 

all there, on one site, if you know what I mean, rather than at a datacentre and that you were 

not communicating with that data at a datacentre, rather than having to wheel all the stuff out 

onto site.  Why did you go for such a distributed system? 

 

Gary Brighton (Director of Operations, IntElect):  It was not a distributed system.  It was 

an enclosed system, which was from a security point of view a necessity.  We minimised any 

external contact to the systems from a security point of view.  There was only one link out to 

the central site that went through two separate firewalls on the way out and further firewalls on 

the way in.  So, from a security point of view, it is better to keep the system isolated. 

 

The logistics of it are not particularly complicated.  The actual servers are held in a box which is 

about a metre square footprint and about one and a half metres high, so it is one single chassis 

that comes in on a pallet. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  Is it not a weakness that it can take such a long time to both close the 

system down and start it up again?  It does seem a long time.  I am sure it is necessary in terms 

of the way the system is written or constructed, but it just does not -- 

 

Sonya Anderson (Head of Elections, IntElect):  I think it a consequence rather than a 

weakness.  I think it is a consequence of security.  As you know, London Elects worked with a 

third party, Actica, who understood a third-party audit and review of the system.  Really, at 

every step of looking at the system architecture and the hardware being deployed, huge 

importance was placed on security, so really ensuring that the security that surrounded the 

system and the inability for there to be any penetration on the system was placed at very high 

importance.  The consequences of that are your resulting system, whilst best of breed, is 

extremely complex.  So, yes, actually once the system is take down, there is a reasonable time of 

rebooting. 

 

Of course, we felt the time was reasonable and there have been lots of discussions with 

London Elects and Actica [an independent technical consultancy] about our perception.  Is it a 

uniformly-held perception that two hours is a reasonable time to bring the system back online?  

Page 174



Initial feedback from Actica, and from the GLA’s IT team, is that actually, with a methodical 

approach, two hours is a reasonable time to bring a complex infrastructure like that back online. 

 

Gary Brighton (Director of Operations, IntElect):  In addition, our contingency planning 

which we had been going through for a year beforehand, Alexandra Palace was a venue that 

was identified as having a backup generator, so we really did not expect both the main power 

and the backup generator to not be available in a window.  I think, on the issue of testing the 

fire sprinkler system, I am not entirely sure of the details, but I would expect that a backup 

generator cannot come straight back on if the power has been cut deliberately as part of a 

process for testing a fire process. 

 

Duncan Wilson (Chief Executive, Alexandra Palace and Park):  As I understand it, no 

backup generator switches over instantaneously.  Our backup generator did require manual 

intervention to switch it in.  Had we instantly identified the source of the problem you would 

probably not have had to take the whole system down, but it takes ten minutes to walk from 

one end of the building to the other, so realistically it was going to take a while given the 

circumstances that occurred. 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  I am not a technical type, as Members 

will appreciate, but the basic concept was very much that each count centre could be, and was 

for most purposes isolated, and the dependence on internet traffic of data was minimised so 

that if anything happened to the network overall or indeed any one site, if it was penetrated or 

hacked into each one could operate independently.  The results from that centre would then be 

transported by courier, if necessary, to bring them back to City Hall so the data could be 

aggregated and the results calculated.  It was an intentional part of the design that each one 

should operate independently as far as it could onsite under the risk assessment procedure such 

that, if anything happened at one site, as I say, other things could operate and the counts from 

that site could be transferred to another site if necessary and the process resumed from there. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  Just one thing.  Bearing in mind that effectively because of the 

uninterruptible power supply (UPS) lasts for only half an hour and the shutdown process being 

20 minutes you only have a 10-minute window for making a decision, does that not appear a 

terribly small amount of time? 

 

Sonya Anderson (Head of Elections, IntElect):  I think, again, we really cannot comment 

too much about the arrangements of switching over to a backup generator.  Whilst it was our 

understanding that there was not probably automatic failover, I think our understanding was 

that failover to the generator at Alexandra Palace would be, whilst not instantaneous, a very 

quick process. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  How did you glean that information?  Where did you get that? 

 

Sonya Anderson (Head of Elections, IntElect):  Really just through discussions, I think, 

between London Elects and ourselves about the backup that was across all three sites.  We had 

talked about contingencies that were in place at all three of the count venues. 

 

Page 175



John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  We had understood that there were 

backup generators at Excel and Alexandra Palace.  There is not at Olympia.  To hire in a 

generator that would be adequate for Olympia would have cost £25,000, so we took a 

conscious decision not to spend money on that.  If anything happened to take the power supply 

of Olympia down, that would have closed and transferred to Excel and would have carried on at 

the end of the Excel counts.  That was part of our business continuity plan.  As I say, there was, 

as I understood it, this uncertainty about how long the power would be out.  I think the lights 

were still on but it was the floor power circuits that were taken down at Alexandra Palace, so 

there was naturally a degree of confusion.  It clearly was not a total power failure, in which case 

I am sure the management would have rectified that straight away by switching to the 

generator.  But it was a partial outage. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  If this had happened at Olympia, you are saying -- sorry, Olympia ... 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  Does not have a generator, correct. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  If we had been operating this on a site that did not have a backup, then 

as soon as the power outage had come along you could take that decision in two minutes, not 

ten. 

 

Sonya Anderson (Head of Elections, IntElect):  To shut down, yes. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  And then you would shut down? 

 

Sonya Anderson (Head of Elections, IntElect):  Yes.  Then it would be a case of deciding on 

investigation do you sit and wait knowing power is likely to come on or are you then moving 

into the activation of more advanced contingency plans of relocating to alternative sites. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  Did people start to look at alternative sites on the day? 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  I think when the news came through 

within the half-hour that indeed, whilst the graceful exit was still being conducted, the cause of 

the problem was understood and known and could be remedied, the need to pursue the 

relocation fell away.  We did have the companies identified for coaches, lorries and so on, so if 

we had needed to transfer to Excel we could have done so. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  Just in your contingency plans, did you identify, if you needed to transfer 

out of Olympia to Excel, what the impact would have been on the timings of announcements? 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  There clearly would have been a fairly 

substantial impact because, whichever of the sites transferred to Excel, whether it was Ally Pally 

or Olympia, they would have been end-on and each constituency configuration would have had 

to have been reprogrammed for that constituency’s data so that they could work, essentially, 

into and if necessary through the night.  But at Excel we had taken the rental through the whole 

of the Saturday, whereas the other two sites, the rentals were closing down at lunchtime. 

 

Page 176



Andrew Boff (AM):  Still on Alexandra Palace, a number of people have commented that 

Alexandra Palace was quite chaotic and we have heard from London Elects that the venue was 

not ready for staff at 6.30am.  How would you respond to that? 

 

Duncan Wilson (Chief Executive, Alexandra Palace and Park):  I think that is a very unfair 

comment, to be honest.  We had an event manager who was dealing with co-ordination of the 

whole event.  We had a number of sub-managers dealing with different issues.  A number of 

issues were raised by us but did not appear in the report because I felt that we had satisfactorily 

answered them.  We responded to the fire officer.  We had on one occasion conflicting 

instructions about admitting people and we responded as a venue manager should.  It is a very 

big site and there are parts of it that are not in instant communication from one to the other, 

but I think we had a well set up organisation that responded to one particular circumstance 

which should not have happened. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  But with regard to getting set up to be ready, what time had you agreed 

for the site to be ready for? 

 

Duncan Wilson (Chief Executive, Alexandra Palace and Park):  Can I refer to my event 

manager who is sitting in the audience? 

 

Tom Hopkins (Senior Events Manager, Alexandra Palace and Park) :  We did actually 

have an event manager covering during the night for when all the papers came in and that was 

handed over to myself, so there was no break between the site being managed from the events 

department side and the venue side.  The contractors were in half an hour before and the 

security was in place half an hour before the doors were agreed to be opened. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  What time was it that they had agreed to be opened?  What time was it? 

 

Tom Hopkins (Senior Events Manager, Alexandra Palace and Park)  That was at 6.00am 

for people actually working on the event, 6.30am for people actually doing the count. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  I think we might need you to come to the table because we are not sure if 

our mikes are picking this up in the sense of the webcast.  I think we got the gist of your 

answer. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  Yes.  This is not me making the accusation.  This is what we have heard.  

It is that when people arrived at Alexandra Palace they found it in an unready state at the time 

they assumed it would be available for people to start work. 

 

Tom Hopkins (Senior Events Manager, Alexandra Palace and Park) :  I think where this 

has come from is when the doors were actually unlocked.  I was working with London Elects 

colleagues, about when to open those doors.  The doors were supposed to be open at 6.30am.  

They may have been opened slightly later than that but I wanted a go-ahead before opening 

those doors. 

 

Page 177



Andrew Boff (AM):  When you say “slightly later than that”, what does “slightly” mean?  Ten 

minutes? 

 

Tom Hopkins (Senior Events Manager, Alexandra Palace and Park) :  No, in terms of 

minutes.  Everyone was in position internally within the venue.  It was just a case of when we 

actually unlocked the door. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  What time was that?  It was 6.30am, was it? 

 

Tom Hopkins (Senior Events Manager, Alexandra Palace and Park):  It was 6.30am, yes. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  So by 6.35am, say, the doors were open and it was available and up and 

ready to go? 

 

Tom Hopkins (Senior Events Manager, Alexandra Palace and Park) :  That is right, yes. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  Is that how London Elects sees it? 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  Members may have had comments 

direct from constituency returning officers who were actually based there.  From London Elects 

staff who were present onsite I think we understood there were two issues.  One was an issue 

which was fairly easily overcome which was staffing of the cloakroom because the staff were 

delayed in arriving. 

 

But the other point about staff actually getting access into the main count venue part was the 

timing of the fire officer’s briefing.  There is a lack of corporate memory as to exactly what time 

that was scheduled for but I gather that staff were not actually allowed into the hall until they 

had had that briefing, rather than a cascade briefing which is what we had previously 

understood. 

 

Tom Hopkins (Senior Events Manager, Alexandra Palace and Park)  There are two 

separate issues there.  One was the manning of the cloakroom.  We got let down by the people 

that we subcontracted that to.  One person did not arrive until about 7.00am.  Obviously, the 

main point of having a cloakroom was for people doing the count to be able to go there and put 

their items in before going and doing the count.  I took the decision to open the cloakroom by 

pulling some of our floating security staff into that.  They and I opened up the cloakroom and I 

then left them to do that. 

 

That was delayed because of the need to do the fire briefing before allowing people to go into 

the Great Hall where the count was taking place.  I was under the guidance of the fire officer 

who was there onsite and who made it clear to me that before allowing everyone into their 

individual constituencies, the head of each constituency needed to be properly fire briefed so 

that they could then relay that information on to the rest of the people in their counting staff. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  This was a fire officer, was it? 

 

Page 178



Tom Hopkins (Senior Events Manager, Alexandra Palace and Park):  Yes, I think the 

agreement ahead of the -- 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  Was the fire officer a fire brigade officer?  Sorry, I just want to get the 

terminology.  Of course, it is not about blame.  We are just wondering about whose 

responsibilities are whose.  So the fire officer is who, in these circumstances? 

 

Tom Hopkins (Senior Events Manager, Alexandra Palace and Park):  To enable us to 

operate events, it is part of our licensing to contract fire officers who are part of the London 

Fire Brigade. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  Fine, OK. 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  I think our understanding had been 

that the staff would be allowed into the hall and then briefed in the hall at 7.30am.  In the 

event, the fire officer said, no, they had to be briefed before they entered the hall.  I think that 

was the point, was it not? 

 

Tom Hopkins (Senior Events Manager, Alexandra Palace and Park):  Yes, that is the 

point. 

 

Andrew Boff AM:  I see.  So we have identified the misunderstanding. 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  Yes. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  Just for clarity, then, your responsibilities were opening up the doors, 

providing security.  Of course, there was the outage and those issues.  The cloakroom: you 

sorted that.  There were no other issues.  The issues of the organisation and we have had 

evidence of the setup and all the rest of it is down to London Elects and not down to Ally Pally? 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  The days before the count, if we are 

talking about the Wednesday and Thursday and organising that, yes.  That is something we can 

answer to. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  I am talking about this from one of the chief execs, “Arrangements for the 

count at our venue were somewhat haphazard.  It did not appear to have been there was 

sufficient grip on what was required in terms of what was going-on on the day or at the 

beginning of the day”.  Other people wrote that the arrangements at the start of the count were 

“particularly chaotic with no proper reception arrangements resulting in long queues, no briefing 

from IntElect around that, but it could apply to others”. 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  Clearly, on the admission side of 

things, I am happy to speak to that.  On this occasion, we thought it a good idea to try 

centralising the accreditation and admissions arrangements for all staff, media, candidates, 

agents and so on.  In all honesty, I do not think it worked very well and it is not something that 

Page 179



we would not repeat.  We would put it back to the constituency returning officers to deal with 

locally. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  OK.  I just want to be clear about the questions we are asking of 

Ally Pally, asking of you and asking of IntElect.  OK. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  We are on the final straight on Ally Pally.  There was a problem that 

affected the Brent and Harrow count between 9.00pm and 10.00pm.  How was it discovered 

and dealt with. 

 

Sonya Anderson (Head of Elections, IntElect):  A problem that affected Brent & Harrow 

between 9.00pm and 10.00pm?  Can you be a bit clearer about the problem? 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  There were problems in completing the count but it was not clear at the 

time why and it gave rise to rumours going around that two ballot boxes had been lost, as I 

heard, in this building.  I was not there.  I was in here.  The news reports I was getting was that 

two ballot boxes had been lost and of course everybody threw up their hands and said, “Bloody 

hell.  It is the Olympics and we cannot even do this”.  You know, that is the kind of response 

that we got.  I since understand that it was not the case but could you tell me how that problem 

came to pass. 

 

Gary Brighton (Director of Operations, IntElect):  It might be worth pointing out, Chair, at 

this point that that is not a venue-related question and if you want to complete the venue part 

of this, we are very happy to answer it afterwards but it is your choice.  I am happy to answer it 

now or later. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  If you are saying that it was nothing to do with the venue, then, yes, 

absolutely.  I just wanted to make sure because it was there at that count venue. 

 

Sonya Anderson (Head of Elections, IntElect):  We can certainly address that. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  But it was not venue-related.  It was nothing to do with the venue. 

 

Sonya Anderson (Head of Elections, IntElect):  No. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  Yes, it is not to do with the venue. 

 

I think this question we probably need to be asked later.  We have covered that.  So, one other 

question, on the submissions around certain areas of Ally Pally work which were open to 

flooding or to that storage problems.  Is that a red herring?  I am just relying on the submissions 

we have had.  Is that not another problem to do with Ally Pally or is it? 

 

Duncan Wilson (Chief Executive, Alexandra Palace and Park):  There was an issue with a 

minor spillage of water but it was not flooding.  I think it was less than is in that jug.  We were 

clearing a blocked gutter in one corner into some buckets.  It sounds a bit “Heath Robinson”, 

but we have to do that from time to time in case we had a deluge and it overflowed.  I think 

Page 180



there was a spillage from that height which dripped onto the floor.  I honestly do not think it 

was anything more than that. 

 

Sonya Anderson (Head of Elections, IntElect):  I probably have to refute that a little bit.  I 

think on arrival at the site on the day of setup there were some large pools of water on the floor 

of the Great Hall, and we have some photographs of them, a number of metres in diameter. 

 

These are the setup days, so certainly on our arrival at the site to commence setting up and 

connecting the electronic systems, there was some diversion of managerial resources in 

understanding why there were some large pools of water on the floor, whether there would be 

recurrence once they had been cleared up because it took some time to clear them and the risk, 

obviously, to the systems onsite if that water was to penetrate again.  There were quite large 

pools of water. 

 

Tom Hopkins (Senior Events Manager, Alexandra Palace and Park):  Sure.  I would agree 

with you and I did liaise with Simon onsite.  But as to the source of where this water came from, 

I think there is a misunderstanding of how this came to be.  Basically, we contract Outback 

Riggers.  It is slightly archaic but there are certain areas in our roof which do leak from time to 

time.  As a measure, we do have buckets in case at strategic points around the venue.  We know 

from past experience that it needs at least three days of constant torrential rain for this to 

present the problem of overflowing-- 

 

Duncan Wilson (Chief Executive, Alexandra Palace and Park):  Which of course is very 

unlikely? 

 

Tom Hopkins (Senior Events Manager, Alexandra Palace and Park):  But as a measure to 

prevent that having an impact, we got Outback Riggers in the day before you came in.  In fact, 

the morning before you started setting up your equipment, they unloaded all the buckets.  

Unfortunately, on a couple of occasions they were careless with doing that, which resulted in 

puddles on the floor.  There were some residual drips from the draping.  I know that you guys 

had a gazebo over your equipment.  Speaking to Simon [Head, DRS, Director, IntElect] about 

that onsite, I did not feel there was a need to do that, but it was the main bit of kit powering 

the whole event so there was no harm in actually having an extra failsafe, if you like. It was not 

really necessarily to do that but I think .-- 

 

Duncan Wilson (Chief Executive, Alexandra Palace and Park):  I suppose just to 

summarise that, they were both spillages, both the incident I referred to and the one Tom was 

referring to.  I understand your concern at the time, but they were not water leaks descending 

from the roof. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  One of the issues is that in 2016, we have to discuss venues and all the 

rest of it.  So, tell me the lessons learned on venue-related issues in terms of responsibilities and 

what would you differently if you were in a position to be holding the count again in there?  

What changes have you made into your organisation and what would you handle differently if 

you could? 

 

Page 181



Duncan Wilson (Chief Executive, Alexandra Palace and Park):  We clearly need to make 

sure that everybody involved on the day is present at least one if not more event pre-briefings 

because I think the problem with contractor access was that there was a security person who 

had not been at the briefing even though his manager had and the message had not cascaded, 

so we need to make the system more fool-proof and we have taken steps to do that.  We need 

to have more kind of real-time information about any contractors that are onsite direct to us, 

the venue management, not necessarily to just our facilities subcontractor. 

 

On the rest of it, we perhaps need to over-cater for staff in the cloakroom, for example, so that 

if one does not turn up, we are not subject to late opening or only a few minutes.  We need to 

be more flexible and perhaps have a little bit more resource onsite to deal with issues such as 

that and make sure there is better real-time communication.  Given the scale of the event and 

that it was the first time it had happened on that scale, I suppose, with the exception of the 

power-down which must not ever be repeated, I would say that we responded reasonably 

effectively to the issues that were raised with us at the time.  It would have been surprising if 

there had not been any. 

 

I think it is also fair to say in the report that it refers to “conducting an electronic count in a 

venue with an interruptible power supply” as if Alexandra Palace is special in that respect.  Any 

venue has an interruptible power supply because, living in North London as I do, I know that 

power cuts are not infrequent.  The question is about whether we can tighten up procedures 

sufficiently to satisfy you internally but also between us whether we can agree a better backup 

system that avoids this risk in relation to an interrupted power supply. 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  Chair, just to say that obviously there 

were some unique challenges on the day at Alexandra Palace and maybe if there was some 

investment in the property, so there is a waterproof roof and so forth that would be very 

helpful.  However, in many respects Alexandra Palace are very good people to deal with because 

they are a single house, a one-stop shop, if you like.  Whether it is catering, security and so 

forth and so on, everything is organised through the management company, whereas for Excel 

and Olympia one has to go through a tendering process for every single service or facility that 

one is looking for.  In many respects, they have been very good to deal with, but we do need 

that reassurance and comfort that for the future we have a way forward in which we can have 

great confidence. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  Generally, I suppose, just in relation to venues, we hear that you had 

contingency plans.  The boroughs in their submissions to us say that actually you should have 

contingency plans, so it never quite got across to them that they felt they were there.  I think 

the wording was that they wanted “better project management and contingency planning”. 

 

So, in relation to the venues, I think we have heard from Ally Pally in terms of what they are 

saying about their response.  Let us start with you because you certainly had a contingency plan 

with a gazebo that you had in your back pocket or other interesting issues of that.  What do you 

say to that in terms of the boroughs around the venues issues?  What would you say about 

contingency planning and project management?  Do you think you had it about right?  Was 

there a bit more in terms of lessons learned around venues?  What would you say? 

Page 182



 

Sonya Anderson (Head of Elections, IntElect):  We cannot really comment too much on 

venues because we are not involved in the selection of the venues.  They are selected by 

London Elects and certainly at the time of London Elects going out to tender in 2010, the 

decision had been already made to use those three venues. 

 

Of course, there is then lots of discussion about how we are going to set up and configure those 

venues and much as with a manual count, for an electronic count the requirements for a count 

venue, many of them, are very similar.  Obviously we are probably more concerned with the 

differentials between an e-count, i.e. installing a large IT infrastructure, probably far more than 

maybe accommodating candidates, media and agents and those sorts of things whilst we know 

that the Greater London Returing Officer. (GLRO) has to consider all those things.  I think it is 

probably fair to say that maybe a site such as Excel which by its nature is just a much newer site 

is probably a little more easily set up for a large IT infrastructure. 

 

Again, I think we have worked very well with London Elects to talk through some of the 

challenges that we had on the three different venues and certainly we felt that contingency on 

power with the generator onsite was sufficient.  Again, I would agree that really the lesson 

learned was how we try to make some of the communication a bit more immediate so that all 

parties are informed about what is happening. 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  We worked very closely on risk 

registers, project plans and so forth with IntElect.  We acted effectively as an intermediary 

between the constituency returning officers and the Electoral Commission who for the 

performance standards for returning officers required the submission of various documents from 

the boroughs on a sequential basis, as indeed from us as well.  They went into the Commission.  

The Commission when they reviewed them if they had any concerns would feed that back to us 

and we would then deal with the boroughs direct. 

 

We also received those and certainly there are two things there.  One is that we went back to 

boroughs if there were any issues, development needed, greater detail, things of that sort.  

What we did not give was the positive feedback, the stroking, if you like, to confirm that 

everything was fine.  It was by exception and maybe a learning point for the future is that we 

would be giving positive feedback as we went. 

 

The business continuity plans we tried, bearing in mind that London Elects is operating at a 

strategic level, we tried to keep everything at a high level to make sure that we captured the 

nuances of difference which each constituency returning officer (CRO) brought to the process.  

So this was the last version that we circulated in the middle of April to the boroughs by way of 

our London Elects business continuity plans and, yes, they may have looked at that and seen 

under “backup resources” the emergency transportation of ballot papers from count centres on 

count day and thought that that was all there was to it.  In point of fact, as I say, we knew 

which companies we would go to for lorries, coaches, etc.  We knew that.  It was not all explicit 

in the document they received.  If we need to do more by way of communication with boroughs 

to comfort them that we have those plans in place and we have the processes that we need, 

then clearly that is something that we will take on. 

Page 183



 

It may come up later but the resourcing of London Elects is all credit to Keith [Hathaway, 

London Elects] and the other colleagues that we did survive with one person short because the 

permanent senior elections officer post which was agreed for appointment back at the end of 

2010, although we went through three recruitment exercises, we never managed to fill.  So 

other people had to cover larger areas of work.  Borough liaison was one of those and this is the 

sort of example of something which suffered as a result, I am afraid. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  On your risk register or risks here, it seems to me on all the venues that 

really your main risk would have been, given what we have heard around the importance of the 

infrastructure for e-counting, Olympia.  Is that not the case?  Weren’t we, even though it was a 

manageable risk, riding by the seat of our pants that nothing went wrong at Olympia because 

there was no backup generator? 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  Correct.  Olympia was used in 2004 by 

two constituencies, in 2008 by five constituencies and just by four this time.  There has not so 

far, thankfully, been a power cut.  Clearly, we knew it was an exposure to risk which would be, in 

terms of the very tight budget on which we operate, a relatively expensive item to mitigate.  So 

we decided not to. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  I think at this stage, Mr Wilson and your colleague, you can leave us or 

you can watch our deliberations further as we go into issues around the count process and other 

items.  Thank you very much.  OK.  Let us turn our attention to the count process, then.   

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  It is kind of the tail end of that one.  Back to that question about the 

Brent and Harrow count, the problems between 9.00pm and 10.00pm and the two “lost” ballot 

boxes ... 

 

Sonya Anderson (Head of Elections, IntElect):  “Misplaced”, I think, is probably a more ... 

 

Andrew Boff (AM): ... or virtually misplaced ballot boxes.  Can we find out from you now what 

happened with regard to those? 

 

Sonya Anderson (Head of Elections, IntElect):  I would like to just put a bit of context, if I 

may, back really to the start of the day and we have obviously discussed at great length the 

power cut.  Probably our starting position if we could have really all the constituencies in 

Alexandra Palace commencing their count, let us say for argument’s sake around about 

11.00am, so working on the basis that we were all aiming for a ten-hour count, probably, if 

everyone worked on the basis of commencing at that point, all the Alexandra Palace 

constituencies were up and running by that point.  Brent and Harrow had commenced with their 

registration just before 11.00am at 10.59am. 

 

In Brent and Harrow, as I am sure you will have picked up from the feedback, their constituency 

returning officer and others did experience a number of administrative challenges through their 

count, the first being the number of manual entries that they had to perform, which was 

exceedingly higher than any of the other constituencies in London.  They had to manually enter 

Page 184



around 7,500 ballot papers compared to the average across London of around 650.  As a result, 

that I think fairly diverted an awful lot of their managerial resources and time --  

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  Do we know why there were a large number of manual entries? 

 

Sonya Anderson (Head of Elections, IntElect):  A large number of the postal ballot papers 

were damaged during the opening of postal votes which either resulted in the ballot paper 

being cut in half or a portion of the ballot paper being removed from the top or bottom or top 

and bottom of the ballot paper.  When the ballot papers went through the scanner, they failed 

the security and authentication checks. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  From which borough, do we know? 

 

Sonya Anderson (Head of Elections, IntElect):  Brent.  As a result of that, I think a lot of 

the managerial resources were diverted to dealing with and managing that particular challenge.  

Brent and Harrow then, through the natural course of their count, placed a fairly large amount 

of their batches on hold. 

 

That is part of the procedure of all of the counts.  Once the batch is returned from the scanning 

process, if they fail to verify, i.e. the number of ballot papers scanned does not match what is on 

the ballot paper count, the batch is placed on hold and an investigation ensues as to why that 

could be.  Brent and Harrow placed quite a large amount of their batches on hold.  Through 

training and guidance and the process we had been through, the advice had been that when 

batches were placed on hold they would be dealt with immediately and so having a dedicated 

management team dealing with batches on hold.  In Brent and Harrow, I think it is probably fair 

to say that they stayed on hold for considerably longer, which unfortunately meant that a lot of 

those on-hold batches bottlenecked at the end of the count process. 

 

When we started to then work through with them, we had been advising them through the 

count that they needed to deal with the batches on hold.  When they then started to look at the 

batches on hold, it was identified that two of the batches that had been placed on hold were 

not on the on-hold racking where they should be, so, it was then a case of locating where they 

were in the count.  Those had been misplaced into the storage area.  Brent and Harrow had 

made the unique decision to begin the repackaging of their ballot papers before the conclusion 

of their count, so I think that added maybe to some of the time in trying to identify where these 

batches are and returning them to the correct location in the count so that they could be dealt 

with.  So, the system had identified which batches they were and there was a process ... 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  When you say “repackage the ballot papers”, could you tell me what that 

means?  What do you mean by “repackage”? 

 

Sonya Anderson (Head of Elections, IntElect):  When the ballot boxes are opened, they 

were opened, taken out of the ballot boxes and put into a labelled ballot paper tray.  That then 

transits through the workflow process and gets to racking at the end labelled “storage”.  The 

training and guidance given was to put those into storage in a methodical order until the point 

when the count was concluded and the results were announced, at which point borough staff 

Page 185



would then take those ballot papers, would return them to the original ballot boxes and using 

an alternative-coloured seal would reseal the boxes ready for them to go into permanent 

storage. 

 

So the lost boxes were not lost; they were misplaced.  It happens.  In all of the counts in 

London, we are dealing with a very large number of batches, 600 or 700 individual batches to 

move through a correct procedure.  Boxes are misplaced and the system is able to help with the 

identification of that.  If the system says there are six boxes on hold, you would expect six boxes 

or six trays to be on the on-hold racking.  If they are not there, then we can advise the returning 

officers of that so they can begin their investigations of locating them within the count area. 

 

Generally speaking, that happens through discussions with other constituency returning officers 

and that happened elsewhere.  But I think that that issue in isolation has a very minimal impact, 

then, on the CROs delivering their counts in the time expectations.  I think Brent and Harrow 

had a sequence of issues, exceptionally high numbers of manual entries, large numbers of 

batches placed on hold and then, when discovering boxes had been misplaced, it was very late 

in their count procedure in identifying those so it had a far greater impact than it would have on 

any others, I think. 

 

Gary Brighton (Director of Operations, IntElect):  It was further complicated by the fact 

that both of the boxes that had been misplaced were postal ballots that contained a large 

amount of these manual entries.  So, normally at the end of a count there is a process of simply 

reconciling and if there is a box or two that has missed a step, it is recovered.  It goes through 

its final step and then all the numbers reconcile and everything is complete, so it is a short 

period of 20-25 minutes to just reconcile the final numbers.  The problem here was that the 

boxes when they were discovered had hundreds of manual entry ballots, which is a 

time-consuming process, so it was a double whammy in that regard. 

 

Simon Hearn (Director, IntElect):  It should also be said, that when they had been packaged 

away in the ballot boxes, the manual entries that would have been identified through the 

scanning process had been taken out of the red wallet that they are stored in as exceptions and 

just put into the batch, so, we could not just get the batch and say, “These are the ones that 

need to be manually entered”.  We had to reset the batch and rescan it to determine about 800 

of one batch and 700 of another batch which needed to go through this manual entry process, 

so we had to go right back to the beginning.  If we were just finding that batch that had been 

put on hold and it had been in the box, we would have expected to go, “There it is and here is 

the one that needs to be dealt with manually”, but we had to go right back to the beginning of 

the process to rescan it, which is the process you saw at the end and is why we had to go back 

to the beginning. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  OK, so we have two.  One is not really error; it is just a fact of life.  But 

the next seems to be an error.  One is that you have a high number of ballot papers which had 

to be put in for manual entry.  That is going to happen.  It is just a disproportionate amount of 

time and there is something in wrong in the way that, presumably, the envelopes work.  I have 

seen that myself in previous elections when they have opened the postal vote envelope in the 

wrong way.  So that is that. 

Page 186



 

But secondly, there is an absolute error here whereby it sounds like those boxes were not put in 

the storage area.  This is a crash course for me on your processes.  Sorry.  They were not put in 

the racks.  They were put in the storage area and the storage area is meant for completed 

batches. 

 

Sonya Anderson (Head of Elections, IntElect):  Yes, they were put in the storage area 

meant for completed batches that have nothing outstanding. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  How did that happen? 

 

Gary Brighton (Director of Operations, IntElect):  The recommendation in the training was 

to leave the ballots in their trays in the state that they had been in at the end of scanning or at 

the end of manual entry.  So, if they had been left in that form, then the red wallet containing 

the manual entries would have been sitting on top of the ballots and therefore would have been 

immediately apparent.  We could have just taken those and moved to the manual entry stage 

and processed them.  Because they had taken the unique decision to decant all of their 

cardboard boxes back into the original ballot boxes at a much earlier stage of the count, when 

all of the other constituencies waited until the results had been announced before their teams 

went through this process, it meant that, as Simon [Head] said earlier, you could not tell which 

were the ballots that originally had been segregated for manual entry and which ones had been 

successfully scanned, so the process had to start right back at the beginning for those batches. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  Can I just be clear about what happened between 9.00pm and 10.00pm?  

It starts off with one of your staff deleting a box. 

 

Sonya Anderson (Head of Elections, IntElect):  No. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  So it is not a technical issue. 

 

Gary Brighton (Director of Operations, IntElect):  If I could be just clear on that point... 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  No one deleted any information off the system... 

 

Gary Brighton (Director of Operations, IntElect):  Mr Chair, if I could be clear on this 

point ... 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  If I can understand it, then you have explained it well.  You are saying 

that because those boxes on hold had not been dealt with as they occurred, you had a build-up 

of boxes on hold and therefore you could not see until about 9.00pm or 10.00pm the fact that 

there were two missing.  Is that right? 

 

Gary Brighton (Director of Operations, IntElect):  That is correct. 

 

Sonya Anderson (Head of Elections, IntElect):  Exactly, yes. 

 

Page 187



Andrew Boff (AM):  That is as I understand it.  If, however, they had been dealt with in a 

timely fashion, that error would have been exposed earlier.  Is that correct? 

 

Sonya Anderson (Head of Elections, IntElect):  Yes.  The error would have been exposed 

earlier and, much as you would not want it to happen, it is an error that sometimes happens but 

the impact is very minimal because you are able to work with the CROs to say, “The system is 

reporting these two batches require action still.  They are not on the rack.  Where are they?  

They have made their way into storage but they have retained their batch integrity.  Let us get 

them back and put them on the on-hold rack so we can deal with that as quickly as possible”. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  So the responsibility now for that bit is what we need to establish.  Who 

is responsible for putting those batches into storage or on the rack? 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  But, as we said, this is not an 

unprecedented situation.  It happens every election, unfortunately, even if we use acceptance 

testing. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  Well I personally have never made a mistake in my life. 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  There are two issues, if I can finish off.  

The usual exceptions testing in the boroughs is the sort of thing that we were talking about 

with our borough colleagues: “How do we stop this happening?”  They said, “Maybe have an 

extra member of staff guarding the storage racks so they make sure that only boxes which 

should be there are there and so forth”, and we came back with a procedure.  The system will 

identify any that are outstanding that have gone to storage that should not have as a means of 

tracking and so forth. 

 

Sonya Anderson (Head of Elections, IntElect):  There was a tick-box on the control sheet, 

John, you will recall to identify that it was ready to go to storage. 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  Yes.  Of the batches, we are talking 

about something like 0.1% that needed manual entry.  It is just that when you get some batches 

and you are actually finding them - and there is another story to that - but when we were 

eventually finding that it was not 0.1% that needed manual entry but it was 75% or something 

that needed manual entry or more and that is what caused the delay.  It happened to be at the 

end of the evening.  Because of the lack of separation of those that needed manual entry and 

those that did not, that is why some batches had to be reregistered.  This is why people talked 

last week about seeing 100% registered go back down to 98%.  They had to be deregistered, as 

it were, registered and scanned over again so that the accurate results could be ascertained. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  Take us through, then, that period in the hour which has been described 

to us as phone calls and discussions with various people over an hour-long period.  It was during 

that time that someone took a decision to start packing away the ballot papers.  Is that not 

true? 

 

Page 188



John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  They were packing away as they went 

during the course of the day.  That interlude - and Gary [Brighton], perhaps, can expand further 

on this - was clearly to identify and to go through a procedure that we had set up post-user 

acceptance testing (UAT) to be able to identify easily any batches that did go to storage 

prematurely.  We needed to be able to see exactly which batch reference it was on the system.  

Again, uniquely, the labelling or coding of the batches had taken more than the characters that 

were visible on screen.  I think this was it.  So a patch had to be installed to enable the full 

description to be viewable on screen so that one could identify which batches they were looking 

for in storage. 

 

Gary Brighton (Director of Operations, IntElect):  That is correct.  The naming convention 

that had been adopted by Brent and Harrow was different to the naming convention that had 

been recommended and was used by other boroughs and resulted in a much longer name.  The 

unique characters of that name were truncated and the system needed to identify exactly which 

box it was. 

 

Andrew Boff AM:  You had to patch the system while it was running? 

 

Gary Brighton (Director of Operations, IntElect):  It was a very minor patch that we had in 

place and it was implemented within a very short period of time.  I note comments about 

discussions and activities that were going on between 9.00pm and 10.00pm, but up to that 

point, just to put it in context, at 6.30pm in the evening there were still 39 batches or almost 

10% of all the batches in the count on hold, so there was a very large number of boxes that had 

spread off the shelf and onto the floor, so it was quite difficult to get a view of exactly what was 

there and compare it back against where the system was.  Over a period of time up until 

9.00pm, there was a concerted effort at that point to clear those down.  Only when they had 

finally run out and there were a number of boxes that were moving around as a result of dealing 

with the on-holds did it become clear that there were now no more boxes that were on hold or 

being actioned and yet the system still reported two missing batches.  That was what led us to 

about 9.00pm. 

 

From 9.00pm to 10.00pm, we had identified that the batches were misplaced.  We then 

identified that the non-standard naming convention meant we could not identify exactly which 

those boxes were.  We called down a patch from the central site and went through the 

authorisation process with the GLA to allow that patch to be implemented and there was a 

standard communication process to do that.  Once we had applied that patch and identified the 

exact boxes that were misplaced, those were then located within the storage area.  We then 

identified the fact that they were in their ballot boxes and also that they contained a high 

number of manual entries that were going to be required. 

 

We then identified an acceptable workaround process for those ballots because if we had dealt 

with them in the normal process, i.e. a single batch would have its manual entries dealt with at a 

single polling cente (PC), there would have been a much longer wait for a final result.  So, we 

made a number of suggestions about possible workarounds to Brent and Harrow.  They agreed 

on one of our solutions, which was to split the batches into ten different sets, which I think 

probably was why there was such a difference in the numbers of batches that had been seen to 

Page 189



be closed.  We used some spare batches that were not used and had been closed and then 

reopened them to allow us to use those batches to spread the ballots out so that we could get 

ten concurrent PCs working on the manual entering instead of only having two, which would 

have greatly slowed the result.  We then set up those batches, reregistered them and set up ten 

work stations. 

 

All of that was conducted within that period between 9.00pm and 10.00pm.  That, for me, is a 

very well-organised, regimented response to the issues that we saw.  It was not people standing 

around not sure what to do.  It demonstrated the experience and the knowledge and the 

flexibility of that staff that were dealing with the issues. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  If we could we go back, then, to a stage before that action was taken to 

rectify the situation, what was going on during the day to build up to that issue?  Why was this 

count so uniquely different in decisions than other counts that were going on in the same 

building and in other locations?  I do not quite understand that. 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  If I can start on that one certainly.  

First of all, all praise to the constituencies because they recovered from the power outage and, 

although all delayed, three of them finished well within the targeted 10-hour duration for the 

counts.  Brent and Harrow were the last ones to get running.  11.35 am, I have it, is the time at 

which all the scanners were running.  Some were running before that, but they were fully 

functioning.  08.45 was the original target for all constituencies to have all scanners running.  

They only hit that at 11.35am, albeit they started coming up earlier than that. 

 

Most of the issues they faced were the result of things that had happened before the count; 

indeed before polling day in terms of the opening of postal votes.  They had responsibly 

reported, in advance, that there would be something of the order of 1,800 that had been cut in 

half.  Maybe they did not notice or whatever, but what they did not report was that 6,000 more 

or so had had tops and/or bottoms of the ballot papers sliced as well.  Now, maybe they 

thought they would go through without problems because they were issued in two pieces.  The 

fact is that we had set the security on the system up very highly so that an A4 sheet needed to 

be recognised and if anything came through which was less than an A4 sheet ... 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  Excuse me.  I just have to clear this one up.  We have all these ballot 

papers in multiple parts.  Do you remember that filling station promotion they used to run?  It 

was called Match Money.  You know, you had to get two sides of the same note and then you 

won the amount.  So they had to match those up.  Was there any explanation as to why they 

were torn in half? 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  As we understand it, they were sliced 

by the envelope opener.  When colleagues and I went up to meet Gareth Daniel (Chief 

Executive, London Borough of Brent) and his team -- 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  Sorry.  There are two issues here.  One is about the postal votes and the 

perforated ... 

 

Page 190



John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  This had nothing to do with the ... 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  So, this was the way that they have opened up envelopes in that place. 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  Yes. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  Did we have any problems with that with other boroughs? 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  Yes, there were ... 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  There were? 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  Central had --. 

 

Sonya Anderson (Head of Elections, IntElect):  We believe West Central maybe had.  We do 

not know. 

 

Gary Brighton (Director of Operations, IntElect):  West Central had 1,210 ballots that 

required manual entry, but that does not necessarily mean that they were all damaged during 

opening.  There may have been other reasons why they may have needed ... 

 

Simon Hearn (DRS, Director, IntElect)  I think we just need to be clear that we believe 

about 1,800 had been sliced in half and about the remaining 6,000, which is what John was 

detailing there, had had the bottom sliced off.  If you imagine if you are opening an envelope 

with a machine, you can either open that way and it takes that bit off and it cuts it in half or the 

ballot paper is that way and it takes that bit off and it takes a bit off the top and the bottom.  

Just to again clarify, a lot of the time when it was taking that off it was not taking it off in a 

nice neat 2 mm, 3 mm, straight across, 4 mm.  Some of them were jagged.  Some of them of 

them were sloped.  So when they are going through the scanner, the scanner just says, “I don’t 

really know what this is”, and it rejects it. 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  What we do know from meeting with 

Gareth Daniel (Chief Executive, London Borough of Brent) and his team is that the ballot papers 

- three ballot papers in the envelope - were very tight in the envelope and maybe that was the 

problem.  Electoral Reform Society (ERS) in particular have experience of many postal ballots 

and maybe what we put in place for a future time is slightly more generous envelopes so that 

they can be knocked down before they are put through the slicer and ... 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  I have a recommendation to test the opener. 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  Having reported 1,800 sliced an hour, 

most of which have been sellotaped together again to be fair but still needed manual entry, that 

is what the system on the count day was geared up for, to deal with 1,800.  When it proved to 

be closer to 8,000 then obviously it was a much longer job, especially as some of those only 

became apparent towards the end of the day. 

 

Page 191



Andrew Boff (AM):  This is a very long question 1, is it not?  I am trying to see where the 

problem was here.  People make mistakes.  That is accepted.  It always happens at elections.  

There are always mistakes.  They do not tend to have the impact that this one did.  So the 

problem was not so much that we had problems with the sliced up ballot papers and not so 

much that it was placed in the wrong area.  I see you are saying the problem was attention to 

those manual entry ballots throughout the day and it sounded like they were leaving them too 

late to deal with.  Is that what you are saying? 

 

Sonya Anderson (Head of Elections, IntElect):  I think where you do not experience, 

maybe, such the issue with a large number of manual entries and those challenges is when you 

look at the processes and the efficiencies of the very fast constituencies, like Merton and 

Wandsworth who delivered their count in under seven hours, they were managing their counts 

very concurrently.  They had a management team dealing with on-hold batches, a management 

team dealing with storage and a management team dealing with manual entries and so 

everything happening concurrently and everything moving along in line and keeping up with the 

technology. 

 

I think that, as a result of issues that Brent and Harrow faced and the amount of time it took up 

for their management team, it probably meant that they operated slightly more serial.  So, it 

meant that, yes, there was a bottleneck in resolving manual entries and some of these issues 

towards the end of the count. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  So, actually we could take this back that one of the plausible 

explanations is still the power cut, even for that? 

 

Sonya Anderson (Head of Elections, IntElect):  I hate to admit it.  I think it is a bit of a 

perfect storm.  They started late.  If we say an 11.00am start, we know that all of the counts, as 

John [Bennett] mentioned, worked exceptionally hard.  There was a human factor.  With the 

loss of power there is a slowing down, I think, of the staff.  Actually, I think those counts that 

you saw starting at the other sites, they came in.  They were very geed up, they start very, very 

efficiently and very quickly and I think there is an element to Alexandra Palace where you 

needed to sort of re-motivate the count teams to get them going.  I think then you layer on at 

Brent and Harrow the manual entry issue, the bottlenecking of the on-hold batches and the 

misplacing of some of their batches into storage, the decision to start repacking the ballot 

papers into ballot boxes earlier than anyone else, I think a combination of that all resulted in 

their delay. 

 

Gary Brighton (Director of Operations, IntElect):  The perfect storm round really, from 

start to finish; from the power cut that happened, where they were the last to be restored, 

which was pure coincidence and it turned out they had the biggest mountain to climb because 

of the manual entries.  Their start was then further delayed because of the trip switches on the 

network, which added a further 30 minutes to their start time.  Whereas the other three sites in 

Alexandra Palace managed to start around about 10.00am, they started about 11.00am.  So, 

that added an extra hour in there.  You then have the damaged postal ballots, combined with 

the naming conventions, combined with their decision to repack during the court-- 

 

Page 192



Len Duvall (Chair):  The two scanning machines that had to have particular attention, is that a 

myth?  Is that not true, compared to other counts? 

 

Sonya Anderson (Head of Elections, IntElect):  There would definitely have been a scanner 

on that site at some point that required maintenance.  I feel there would be no doubt. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  What about two? 

 

Sonya Anderson (Head of Elections, IntElect):  Basically, all of the scanning across London 

exceeded expectations.  I mean you are looking, obviously, at all areas of the count technology 

and looking for single points of failure and contingency.  There are three main things that you 

apply to the scanning technology.  Every site had what we call an operational spare.  It means 

that you could lose one scanner in its entirety and still complete the count in the expected time, 

but it is better to have it on a desk working rather than sitting in a box not doing anything.  All 

of the venues have venue spare scanners.  So, if a scanner is lost you can bring that into a 

particular constituency and change it over. 

 

Then you apply a conservative and what is a realistic estimate to your throughputs on the 

scanners.  The scanners have a theoretical throughput for around about 9,000 A4 ballot papers 

per hour, but real evidence of real elections shows that you do not achieve that and that is a 

whole combination of reasons.  It is because there are gaps between finishing one batch and 

starting the next.  Postal ballots take a bit longer to scan because they have marmalade on them 

and various things. 

 

All of those factors add into the fact that you need to use a more realistic guestimate.  So we 

used an estimate for this project of 3,500 ballots per scanner and that takes into account the 

fact that you will stop the scanners occasionally, clean them, do some preventative 

maintenance.  There are rubber wheels on the scanners.  If we are seeing some wear we will take 

them off and replace them.  So it brings that 9,000 threshold down to a realistic and achievable 

throughput of 3,500 and across London the scanners achieved a throughput of about 4,074 

ballots an hour. 

 

So, we exceeded what we hoped to achieve.  That would have been one of the contributing 

factors to the fact that Merton and Wandsworth delivered their count in under seven hours and 

Bexley and Bromley in around seven hours rather than ten, because they gained some of that 

sort of efficiency back. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  I think that is number 1. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  All right.  We might come back to you more about some of the issues 

around the monitoring during the day, around the dashboards, what was controlling who and 

some of those issues.  We might follow up on that. 

 

Let us turn to the continuation of the count process in some ways.  Look, the borough electoral 

officers have indicated to us that a wholesale review of the flow of the count process would be a 

good idea.  We have had it suggested in their submissions that some of the processes are too 

Page 193



cumbersome.  Do you know what I mean; there are steps in the process that do not need to be 

there.  Would it be good idea?  If so, what would be the thinking to go about it and who should 

conduct it? 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  The contract that we have has a right 

on the Authority’s part to extend the services of IntElect to 2016.  That will, of course, be 

subject to a cost benefit analysis, the available budget and so on, but if it is decided to use 

e-counting for 2016 then I think a review of the process, in part certainly, though that may have 

cost implications if we substantial re-engineered it; particularly the actual workflow, the lifting 

and carrying of boxes or trays of thousands of envelopes and so forth. 

 

One could look again at that and I know there are observers out there who think maybe the 

boxes can just simply transit between the scanner and the racking and maybe a dispatch control 

sheet and the manual entry papers that need to be carried around rather than the whole box.  

Those are certainly things that need to be looked at and we can do so as we have done with 

borough colleagues on various other issues - postal votes, funding and all sorts of things - in 

the past.  Do so in participation with them again to try to refine and improve that process. 

 

Sonya Anderson (Head of Elections, IntElect):  Also, while we await the decision on the 

recommendations of whether e-counting will be used in 2016, which I think comes around 

autumn next year, we are very happy to engage in that process and obviously if we can identify 

opportunities for improvement to the workflow process.  One thing I would note is that, even 

during this project and through the use of acceptance tests, there were a number of suggestions 

that were made by constituency return officers which maybe felt that it would diminish the 

transparency of the count process.  Maybe it would streamline it but, from an observational 

point of view, observers would maybe see slightly less.  It is balancing all of those factors, of 

course, and what can be done technically, but we are very happy to engage in that process. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  When you had to reconfigure about Brent and Harrow and take the 

decisions, did you have to use other count staff or were they all gone and you just used the 

existing Brent and Harrow count staff to do that?  One of the issues that has been raised with 

us how feasible is it for staff and equipment from completed counts to go on to other counts?  

You talked about adding other scanners in if need be and all this.  How feasible would it have 

been to relocate or redirect staff into helping difficult areas? 

 

Sonya Anderson (Head of Elections, IntElect):  There is a technical feasibility and a physical 

feasibility, I think.  Technically, yes, you can move PCs and scanners from one constituency area 

to another.  I have to say, from working through the audit process with Actica, they were very, 

very keen to see very vigilant security delimiting the constituency areas from a system point of 

view.  So, they did not want you to have visibility from one constituency to the next within the 

network.  They wanted them to be very discrete for security reasons. 

 

So that adds some challenges in picking up a scanner and moving it, but there are physical 

challenges.  If you pick up a scanner and move it to another constituency, have you got a table 

to put it on?  Have you got a power socket to plug it into?  With regards to movement of our 

staff, yes, our staff can transit with great ease from one constituency to the other and we have 

Page 194



venue-level support so that we have that cross-constituency contingency.  What I cannot talk 

about and John [Bennett] might be able to comment on is the feasibility of constituencies 

sharing borough staff and how local authority staff might supplement. 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  Clearly, part of the preparation, the 

training sessions and briefings and so forth is about sharing best practice.  So hopefully, as far 

as one can see when looking ahead, we do get borough staff to talk to each other to try and 

overcome any issues and achieve best practice.  Having said that, I think once a count has 

actually started, if one finds themselves to be running somewhat slower than others for 

whatever purpose, it might be problematic to change the management teams and alter things in 

terms of the hierarchy at that point.  If it is simply more adjudicators or more carriers, that fairly 

easily fixed and can clearly be done if the CRO were happy to receive them, but I do not think 

one could necessarily, very easily, alter the management structure at the top end for the CRO 

and his/her immediate team. 

 

Gary Brighton (Director of Operations, IntElect):  :  One of the things raised last week was 

the number of count centres and, while a single count centre has a great deal of appeal, it also 

has a big risk, clearly, that if there is one site and the power goes down that is a big problem.  

Nonetheless, one can get some economies of scale by concentrating effort.  Certainly 

concentrating technical resource in, say, might have appeal.  There may be a cost advantage as 

well, I do not know.  Again, if you have CROs able to talk to each other and whether a deputy or 

otherwise to facilitate those discussions if issues are emerging then that could be useful. 

 

Andrew Boff AM:  Does it really have those risks on only having one?  I mean, if it was one 

count centre and the power went you do not get a Mayor of London.  If just one of three goes 

down and you cannot get a result you still do not get a Mayor of London. 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer I think the arrangement this time was if, 

say, Ally Pally had gone down we would have had the data produced by the count centre and, 

as in 2004, we would have had Sonya [Anderson] in her leathers on the back of a motorbike 

bringing it across on a hard drive and we would have plugged it in here and calculated the 

results.  That could be done.  One site does have a lot of appeal and I do not want to be drawn 

on that at this point but it certainly will feature as part of our cost benefit analysis, financial and 

non-financial factors. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  I just want to go back on the last issue that seems to rankle, a press 

release issued at 10.30pm on the night by your team, John [Bennett], in terms of that.  What 

was the purpose?  I think Brent and Harrow feel that it was more about blame culture or 

whatever. 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  It is not at all blame.  Excuse me, I am 

just trying to find it now.  The first we heard about it here, I am told by any of my team, was 

from a police officer upstairs who said that he had heard from a colleague from Alexandra 

Palace that two boxes had been lost and that concerned us somewhat.  So, we immediately tried 

to establish the facts and it was fairly late in the day at that point. 

 

Page 195



I tried to get hold of my deputy on the mobile phone.  His battery had died.  I could not get 

hold of him.  I could not get hold of my count centre co-ordinator.  I could not get hold of 

anybody there, although I think IntElect were able to communicate with Simon [Hearn] up 

there, but what we did establish was what had actually happened.  Indeed, I think the update 

that was issued at 10.30pm that night was factually correct.  It said two batches went to storage 

without some ballot papers being manually entered as required and that was the fact of it. 

 

As I say, to us it was not an unprecedented situation.  It was not intended to point a finger at 

anybody.  It was a statement of fact that human beings are human beings and these things 

happen.  It was not the only constituency that had that issue this year and it certainly was not 

the first year that it had happened.  We did not feel that that was anything more than trying to 

put the record straight.  Boxes were not lost.  We knew where they were, the general area.  It 

was finding the actual boxes within those storage racks. 

 

Now, how the media reported that, I gather, was somewhere else.  The word “lost” then did 

come into play.  I confess I did not speak to many media myself here, but, the agents that I 

spoke to here, I remember handing this update out to them and making plain that they were not 

lost.  They were simply in store and we were tracking them down so that we could complete the 

manual entries. 

 

Andrew Boff AM:  Was there not a better way to say that?  The piece that actually went out in 

the media was there was a couple of boxes lying on some siding on Kensal Rise or something 

like that that somebody had forgotten and that is how it ended up.  It just did not give a really 

good impression of the process and I am wondering, much as that is factual, ultimately they do 

not want facts, the media.  They want the story.  If the story was, “There is a reconciliation 

problem within the computer that resulted in 10 million ...”  I only understood what you said by 

that press release because I have been made aware what the process is.  I cannot say this live, 

but some journalists are not the sharpest knives in the box and they will just make a story up 

with what they have. 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  Yes.  Clearly, I did not visit the ninth 

floor myself but I gather, somehow or another, the media managed to get some alcohol into the 

building and were imbibing it and may indeed have added two and two and made five.  We were 

trying to allay misplaced rumours that we were hearing from Alexandra Palace.  That was our 

attempt.  It clearly did not work hugely successfully.  All I can say is that as we handed it out 

individually we were able to explain. 

 

To me, the one error, if you like, in terms of looking in the rear-view mirror was sending it as 

widely as we did.  It was the standard distribution list but, having sent it to so many people who 

were not on site here or at Alexandra Palace, that was a mistake for sure.  I think the benefit of 

e-counting and the way we actually mobilised it and delivered it on this occasion was that it 

provides a huge amount of detail.  Every action gets attributed to an individual whose Smart 

Card was inserted at that time; so every adjudication can be tracked back to an individual at a 

time at a particular PC.  It does ensure that nothing goes missing.  That is the guarantee and we 

built in all the sanity checks, the reality checks and so forth. 

 

Page 196



If Members read the media at the time about e-counting used elsewhere in the UK on the same 

day, clearly something did go wrong there and I do not know quite what processes they were 

following, but to enter a ward’s votes as zero was a mistake and the RO had, properly, to go to 

court to get permission to open up that batch.  Nothing like that happened here.  We had 

double-checking to make sure that everything was recorded properly. 

 

Sonya Anderson (Head of Elections, IntElect):  Absolutely.  The system is pedantic in that 

every single batch and every single ballot paper has to be resolved before you can produce a 

result.  So the manual stories, which we would all have heard at various times, of declare the 

result, “Oh, look, I’ve just found the ballot box under the table”, just simply cannot happen in 

the structure of the system that is there. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  It does beg the question why a police officer needs to tell you - even 

though it is an issue that is under control, knows where it is, does happen from time to time - of 

a significance like that on top of everything else that has gone on in that count.  There is a 

problem with communication here.  Whether batteries go down or not, what is the centre told at 

different times and where are you in the loop of those issues?  Communication feature strongly 

in these elections. 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  Indeed.  Despite our best efforts, we 

have not been able to ascertain who first told the police or media at Alexandra Palace that there 

was any concern over two batches.  Clearly the managers knew.  The agents I believe were told 

at the time what was going on.  They were getting updates.  Our press people and our deputy 

and council co-ordinator are adamant that they did not have any communication with the media 

or the police at Alexandra Palace on this subject, much less use the word “lost”.  So I am afraid I 

cannot help as to how that came out in the first place, but, as I say, as soon as we picked up 

that that was being talked about, this is the way we responded.  I think we would do it 

differently on another occasion. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  Returning officers and staff generally have been very complimentary 

about training from London Elects and I think you should be proud of yourself for doing that.  It 

has made a huge contribution.  There were, however, some concerns about training.  That is 

why I did that introduction.  We have reported back that they felt that some of their 

suggestions had not made it into the training that they had made on previous occasions.  How 

can you ensure that the feedback from boroughs on the strengths and experience of this year’s 

training is reflected in the development of the training plans for 2016? 

 

Keith Hathaway (London Elects):  As we always do after each election, we do have a review 

of the whole election process with managers.  We had that at the end of May and, of course, 

training featured a lot in that; so all the suggestions from there will go forward for the next type 

of election.  As this is a public forum as well, I would like to pay tribute to our colleagues in the 

boroughs because what we have done for all elections is get borough representatives be on 

working groups and we have borough managers on the working groups to develop the training 

strategy.  It is them we need to pay tribute to as well. 

 

Page 197



I think that is something we must always bear in mind.  I think that is something we must always 

bear in mind.  So we will work with them.  We will set up work groups again and take these 

things forward for the future and it is certainly something we would take on board.  There are 

two elements to training, of course.  There is the polling station training element as well as the 

e-counting training element.  So, we will work with the e-counting contractor to learn lessons 

and that is the one around movement of ballot boxes at the count.  That will be part of our 

training strategy to look at for future elections. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  One returning officer said to us that even though the relationship 

between themselves and London Elects was excellent - there is nothing to criticise - and the 

relationship between London Elects and IntElect was excellent, they did not perceive the 

relationship between them and IntElect being as strong as it could be.  Is that a criticism you 

recognise or have heard before? 

 

Keith Hathaway (London Elects):  Not in any strength.  As we all know, elections is a wide 

range of tasks and it all comes to fruition towards the end of the process where we procure 

certain things for polling stations and IntElect will procure e-counting things.  It is at that stage, 

perhaps, communication may not have been at its best.  Again, one of the lessons we have 

probably been looking at already is thinking how we improve on that.  Perhaps we need to have 

smaller workshops here at City Hall in the period three months before the election, sharing the 

minute detail of how you do your polling station box naming, those sorts of things. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  You do need to do that. 

 

Keith Hathaway (London Elects):  Yes, but they are to a much more local level.  They also 

get ownership as well. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  I do want to get clarity because it might feature as part of what we say.  

In terms of the naming of the batches and the rest of it, is that because it is the constituency 

returning officer’s decision on that or is that your decision on it?  We seem to have had 

consistency somewhere else but we did not have consistency then. 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  You said “guidance”, there was 

guidance about the naming of the batches. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  There is a choice, is there? 

 

Keith Hathaway (London Elects):  Clearly the batch will revolve around the name of polling 

station.  So if you have some areas in “St Peter’s School” -- 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  I have the gist of it. 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  What we did ask for was a suffix, as I 

recall, if there was going to be more than one ballot box from a polling place because this for 

verification purposes, the ups and downs ... 

 

Page 198



Andrew Boff (AM):  I do not understand that.  If every single polling station has a code 

number and the longest code number I have ever seen for a polling station is probably seven 

characters ... 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  Is it not a case of just making sure that somebody just sticks to one 

system and there is no discretion on that?  Clearly there is not, because everyone else has opted 

to do it one way and only one has opted to do it the other. 

 

Keith Hathaway (London Elects):  Do not forget, the boroughs work on election 

management systems.  We have three different systems and, of course, they use their ballot box 

numbering process for different types of election.  So, at a previous election they might use a 

very short prefix, whereas for e-counting they want a bit more to identify it.  So it is just moving 

that goalpost. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  I understand.  Thank you for that. 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  Can I just add to it?  I think 

Government departments a few years ago were working towards what was then going to be 

called CORE, the computerised online register of electors, to produce common EML for all the 

management system suppliers.  I think, as with e-counting, if there is to be a future for 

e-counting in this country then a national framework would be very valuable and that national 

framework should tie in with the EMS suppliers so that we have common protocols and common 

standards for all of these things.  It would overcome some of these issues, I am sure. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  Islington has a really long polling district number and that is only five 

characters on their polling.  It is not as though it is unfamiliar to the returning officer what their 

own polling district code is.  It is just peculiar. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  Just in terms of the training and liaison so we get a flavour of this and 

understand this when we come to look at recommendations.  When are you put in the room 

with the people that you are going to be working with on the day so you get to eyeball each 

other and understand each other needs and how often are you in that room in the run up to the 

election or do you just come together for the day and -- 

 

Sonya Anderson (Head of Elections, IntElect):  No. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  Some may be forgiven to think that. 

 

Sonya Anderson (Head of Elections, IntElect):  Yes, possibly.  Certainly that is not the case.  

There are lots of opportunities where see the whites of each other’s eyes.  London Elects hold a 

series of briefings and workshops in the lead up to the election event and very often, if we know 

that e-counting or the count itself is going to be discussed, we are asked to attend those.  That 

can be either constituency returning officers (CROs) or Borough Returning Officers (BROs) or it 

may just be the administrative team who are in attendance at those.  So we tend to be involved 

in all of those. 

 

Page 199



I think it is probably fair to say, as Keith [Hathaway] mentioned there, that they are very busy 

times and lots of the constituencies and boroughs are very keen on working in a particular way.  

The count, in their mind, comes at the end.  So, when they turn their attention to count issues, 

which are at the forefront of our minds, it tends to be much later in the process than maybe we 

would like to engage.  So maybe trying to engage them slightly earlier in that process would be 

beneficial, but we understand they have a lot to do. 

 

When we deliver the live count training, which again is tiered - there is training for scanner 

operators, scanner supervisors and entire count teams and returning officer briefings - we would 

always make every attempt that the team who would work with a CRO is present at their 

training event so that they go through training together.  Also, obviously trying to make sure 

that that training is representative and that you create an environment that looks very much like 

a live count; that you put into the training, realistic experiences of where batches have been 

misplaced or things can go wrong and how you rectify them.  So making sure that the training is 

as much about the unhappy path as the happy path. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  Is there any one meeting in that process you have described to me of 

where you are in the room with your representative for the count and the constituency officer 

where you are talking about, “Okay, this is the final bit”?  Some of those constituency returning 

officers are chief executives, are they not?  So is there anywhere, whether it is one place, where 

the senior people of those venues come together for 10 or 15 minutes, rather than on the day, 

to say, “Right, this is where we are”? 

 

I would imagine some of those chief executives use other people to turn up at some of those 

meetings you are at.  If they are going to take crucial decisions on the day that may affect either 

your operations or our operations, how does that work if you do not know how they are going 

to operate or they do not understand how they are going to operate because they are relying on 

someone else, or you are relying on someone else, telling them it is going to operate and they 

change their mind or, say, have a particular view of how they are going to operate? 

 

Keith Hathaway (London Elects):  Can I come back in just quickly on that?  We set up a 

day’s training for each constituency where we invite everyone along who is going to be involved 

who can be.  Again, you always have to bear in mind that the numbers in a constituency count 

can be 80-plus people.  You will not get everyone there.  That is why you have to have support 

tools to help them.  We invite everyone including the CRO, if they want to come along.  As you 

say, they are very busy people, but this time we did have quite a representative number of CROs 

come along to that big group training session. 

 

On top of that, we also had separate briefings for CROs at Hercules  House.  John [Bennett] did 

an overall briefing of election arrangements, but then that was supported by a walk-through 

again of the e-counting system; the role that we felt was theirs - that is the dashboard, the 

monitoring role - for them to have a better understanding.  I think, without exception, all CROs 

signed into that.  Sonya took them around and showed them the system again.  So, there is 

that.  Then we also had a couple of days in April, which was a sort of drop-in day, for those 

people who felt a little unsure. 

 

Page 200



Len Duvall (Chair):  What we would like in terms of a note from you is questions asked at that 

meeting by those CROs and the attendance in terms of percentages of those people.  It might 

well be a joint note in some ways.  Everyone has their respective decisions they take on that 

day.  We hope, and you are telling me, that everyone understands what they are doing and how 

it all works.  What I am trying to ascertain in terms of my questioning is, in terms of key people, 

how often you come together and how far that understanding penetrated down. 

 

Keith Hathaway (London Elects):  Of course, notice of election goes up on 20 March this 

year, so we try and avoid the nominations period, so you start your actual training quite well in 

advance of early March for the first training session.  It does concern us sometimes whether that 

is too far out from count day, for people to come in on the first session and then not have any 

more practical training for two months until they go out to the site.  Again, from surveys that 

we conducted internally after the election, they feel that is about right. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  What I would also like to ask is, and you can put that in a note to us, at 

that key meeting did you break down to deal with issues about the practical nature of the 

venues where these people were operating on the day and some of those issues.  I think we 

would just like get feedback about that, because I do almost think the events of the day are 

about some individual decision-making.  We are not here to seek blame but we want to 

understand how we learn the lessons in the future about that.  It has happened.  We cannot 

turn back the clock. 

 

Actually, in the wrap up of things, these are reputational issues that are from all parties 

involved, to be honest, and how they reflect on us and I think what we want to do is minimise 

these happening again.  If individual decisions contributed to that, then we want to try and 

work those through.  It is not our job to go round beating people up over the head, so I want to 

reassure people about that, but it is about trying to get back to those issues about when and 

where people were briefed in terms of some of the issues and their opportunity to raise issues 

around the venues.  Some of our submissions have said there are always problems with 

Alexandra Palace.  If they have not been raised then we would like to see evidence of whether 

they were raised or not raised.  Also, how you interact with each other when you come together 

on the end process, of the democratic process in many ways. 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  In terms of the sharp-end build-up 

Keith has described.  Working backwards, certainly through last autumn I had meeting with 

chief executives and the Commission myself about the directions going to be issued to CROs, 

about the reduction in their fees and things of that sort, but then during those last six months 

there were meetings on the count sites with the relevant people, IntElect and so forth included, 

so they could work through and tick off the menu they wanted for breakfast and so forth and so 

on.  They did have the opportunity this time, first time, to actually go through that level of 

detail. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  OK.  Well, maybe you can provide a note to us around that and some of 

those issues and I would appreciate if we could try and bring those together in either one note 

or if you feel you have to do separate notes do so.  Sorry, Andrew [Boff].  Have we finished with 

count training? 

Page 201



 

Andrew Boff (AM):  Yes. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  I think you have the gist of where we are.  Project and contingency 

management I think we have covered.  We all feel we need to do a little bit more.  Can I just say, 

in terms of some of the processes arising from that, you requested from the boroughs their 

plans.  Did we give them any feedback on their plans and did we share your own plans with the 

boroughs?  They say it was too late when you shared it.  I am not sure why, but that is one of 

the submissions.  I would just like to get that in my own mind around project management and 

contingency planning. 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  Yes, Chair.  As I say, the project plan 

that we operate from is a very full project plan, based on a MS project for 430-something lines; 

some of which cover a multitude of sins, as it were.  That is London Elects plan.  IntElect and 

any of these other contractors will have their own project plans, which we here try to ensure 

mesh and are complementary.  We have project plan, we have a risk register and we have a 

business continuity plan.  I have mentioned the business continuity plan earlier on, but that is 

fairly high level and boroughs may not think it goes into the same level of detail as theirs does 

and that is absolutely true.  They do not. 

 

The Electoral Commission, on the other hand, require ROs to submit a project plan, in particular 

a template which includes their contingency plan, and a separate risk register.  Now, this 

multiplicity of documents means that we had to be fairly light-footed to try to ensure some 

symmetry, some complementarity.  Our directions, which require business continuity plans, 

project plans and risk registers, were sent out to CROs at the end of November and the 

Commission’s standards were issues on 20 December.  That is where we found that there was 

some lack of consistency between the two sets. 

 

It was meant to amend this time.  It is something we have agreed with the Electoral Commission.  

Ahead of any future election, we will ensure we have a good run at and make sure we are asking 

for the same things over the same timescales.  Now, that is the starting point.  I admitted earlier 

on, I think, that we could have done more by way of positive feedback to boroughs on their 

business plans, project plans and so on because they were, in the vast majority, entirely 

satisfactory.  There were very few, two or three occasions I think, where we had to go back to 

boroughs and say, “Actually, could you strengthen this bit or modify that”. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  Could you supply copies of the relevant documents you have? 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  Our documents? 

Andrew Boff (AM):  Yes, please.  To what extent did London Elects draw on the resources 

available across the GLA and to what extent can this be developed further for the 2016 

elections? 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  We had, traditionally, a very strong 

working relationship particularly with IT and they were absolutely fantastic and devoted a huge 

amount of time to the whole project; finance project management, we had support from 

Page 202



resources directed on that; facilities; HR; and indeed, at the very end of the process, the 

Intelligence Unit came in with a freebie, the Polling Station Finder which was on the website 

and was very well-used.  For the last couple of years obviously legal and procurement services 

are provided by TfL.  Legal has also been entirely satisfactory: timely advice, access to Tim 

Straker when required and so forth. 

 

Procurement was different, I think. We were not asking for signalling systems or fleets of buses 

or anything like that, so there was a certain lack of familiarity at the beginning, on their part, I 

think, of our needs and, on our part, of their processes, because it is far more 

document-oriented than the arrangements we have had in place for previous elections.  So 

there is learning to be taken on board on both sides for that and, I think, for that purpose we 

would certainly be proposing that there be a senior procurement manager on the election 

steering group here so that they could be party to the programme right the way through. 

 

We did lose time, undoubtedly, on procurements as we went along and some of the contracts 

for the count centres were actually only signed a week or so before the counts themselves.  

Thankfully we did get there.  We did have all the furniture in place, the security, catering and 

everything else, but that really is not the way it should be and we did encounter some problems 

along the way.  So that will need to get better. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  Why was it not possible to appoint one of the permanent posts in the 

team prior to the 2012 election?  You alluded to it earlier, but what impact has that had? 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  When it was agreed that we should 

have a senior elections officer, as well as an elections operations manager, as permanent 

members of London Elects with myself the only permanent member of London Elects, it was 

very much envisaged that that person would, with Keith Hathaway, play a key role, particularly 

in borough liaison.  The structure then for the 2012 project was that were going to or did 

eventually continue to use the services on a part-time basis, on a fixed-term basis as well, Pat 

Parker and Pieter Loveday [former London Elects staff], who have been part of the teams in 

2004 and 2008.  The concept was that they would hand over some of their experience and 

knowledge and skills to the Senior Election Officers (SEO) by then appointed. 

 

When we advertised - and we advertised three times - we unfortunately did not get the sort of 

field that we were hoping for.  We did not get candidates with the breadth of vision we were 

looking to fulfil that role, with a view to succession planning as well.  Therefore, what we did do 

through last year, the 2011 calendar year, was increase the hours of the part-timers that we 

already had on board by that time, but all of them moved up to full-time working anyway in 

their own right by the autumn of last year.  So, this last six months we were effectively 

operating one full time equivalent (FTE) short and the impact, I think, was clear. 

 

You have heard boroughs, some last week and through written evidence I am sure, that some of 

the aspects of liaison with the boroughs could have been improved upon.  The constant stream 

of emails rather than having it all consolidated through one person responsible for stakeholder 

management, for borough liaison, was regrettable.  Clearly, that did not help boroughs whose 

staff are themselves going to be under a lot of pressure as they build up to these very complex 

Page 203



elections.  So the nature of the role, indeed the creating of the role because I am sure that had a 

material part to play in our failure to recruit, are things that we have to revisit. 

 

Very helpfully, we have had a number of borough colleagues who volunteered for secondment 

for a day or two a week, but that did not really fit the bill.  They are wonderful people, but just 

for them to come in for a day or two each week - bearing in mind that those functions do not 

go away for the days that they are not here - would not have provided the continuity we 

needed.  It is a very intensive last six months.  So we needed somebody here full-time and that 

we did not have. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  We know that we will not be having the same staff in 2016.  How are we 

going to guard against that loss of expertise?  There are not many elections like this one. 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  I hope there are no other elections like 

this one, triple elections or triple time.  We have to look at what is required.  There clearly needs 

to be, for London Elects, a combination of electoral practitioner expertise, some project 

management and contract management expertise and some communications expertise.  How 

they are blended together and wedded together and whether permanent or fixed term is 

something we will need to review over the coming months.  Certainly if we do not have a third 

permanent person in post by the end of this calendar year I think we will certainly have lost 

something in terms of the Authority’s preparation for 2016. 

 

Pieter Loveday will be coming back in December, I think, for six months, primarily to oversee the 

borough expenses returns; validate those, check them and see if they are due any more money 

or whether they have been overpaid and so forth.  So, he will be around and be able to pass on 

those particularly unique skills in terms of the financial dimension.  I think it was 2004 that role 

was undertaken through finance by Deloittes and, to be frank with you, they have no 

understanding or experience or elections finance.  So there is nobody else in the building who 

knows that and so we need to get somebody in fairly quickly so they can take over that element 

at least and then learn the issues such as training that we mentioned before and so forth.  The 

rest we can hand over. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  On rules and directions, I want you to write to the Committee to outline 

around issues of inconsistency.  I think we understand the issues between the Electoral 

Commission and your advice that you sent out.  We will have to talk to my colleague, but in my 

person view it is commonsense versus standards issues.  I understand that, but there are other 

inconsistencies and approaches that have come up, not just today, it seems to me, in terms of 

account, but in terms of people behaving on behalf of London Elects during this election.  Of 

course, boroughs do things a certain way but they are contracted no differently, to be honest, 

than our contractors in some ways.  So, can you drop us a line around those inconsistencies as 

you see them and how we get some commonsense in.  I think you heard some of the evidence 

given to us last week.  We will deal with that in a written form. 

 

Just on communications, I think we would like something in writing about communications 

because there are two forms.  I think we have heard some general issues of communications in 

the run-up via training, communications on the day, communications in general.  In terms of 

Page 204



your written response for that, basically let us just give you a little pen picture.  It may well be 

unfair, but I think you need to address those around communications.  From the submissions of 

evidence, we have had issues around make provisions of key documents and information, lack 

of clarity on some of the processes, unclear and incomplete email communication, lack of 

regular updates, last-minute changes to insurance rates (admittedly it is a specific issue), and 

then the relationships with IntElect. 

 

I have to go back over the submission because it is either claiming that your relationship is not 

stronger with IntElect or there is a lack of communication between yourselves, IntElect and 

them.  You have seen the submissions that we have had before us.  They are open and I do not 

think we need to give you any more guidance, but I think somehow you need to address the 

communication pitch overall from your perspective in terms of working on this particular issue 

and from your perspective of dealing with some of those charges or not.  I think really 

explanations are in order around what led to those, if they are correct, or if not, why they are 

not correct.  The reason why I think we need that, communications is probably such a key part 

of some of the issues and learning lessons.  I would like to see how we are going to deal with 

those. 

 

Let us move on then.  Yes, this is a particular issue: provision of supplies to the boroughs.  Some 

borough election teams raised concerns about the timing, quantity and quality of supplies for 

the boroughs.  London Elects yourself report that supplies were sporadic.  So what lessons are 

we going to take from that and what do you think we need to do differently? 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  I am not quite sure which supplies we 

are talking about here.  We had an agreed programme for the supply of ballot papers, for 

example, and I know in some cases we said that we hoped we would be able to do something 

that was earlier than scheduled.  Some were earlier than scheduled, but some were not.  It was 

within a day or so; there may have been some uncertainty as to whether it was to be the 

Thursday or the Friday, that sort of thing.  I think the issues around the delivery of ballot boxes, 

seals, et cetera, and all the rest, that was Hammersmith and Fulham.  I think those issue were 

resolved, were they not? 

 

Sonya Anderson (Head of Elections, IntElect):  Absolutely.  If it is about those sorts of 

stationery issues, I think we had some issues where the amount of supplies required by each 

borough was consolidated by London Elect.  It was confirmed by London Elect back to the 

boroughs and I think then, when deliveries took place, some of the boroughs then 

communicated to say, “Actually, in retrospect, it is not enough.  Could we have more?”  So then 

there was maybe some delay in them getting those additional supplies; maybe we had exceeded 

what was in stock and so we needed to do additional production on some of those supplies.  I 

am not aware of any other issues in that everybody had all the materials they required and a 

timetable had been agreed and communicated with the boroughs of when those were being 

delivered. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  There are various issues raised by a whole host of boroughs: problems 

with supplies about ballot papers, issues around delays in finalising key contracts, problems with 

some of the materials provided - I think this refers to the postal votes and I think we have a 

Page 205



recommendation that you are working, but they talk about insufficient quantities - a lack of 

flexibility, requiring early orders, those issues; quality issues, London electoral resources, which I 

think are specific around some issues that you may have been providing the boroughs; 

insufficient flexible allocation of ballot papers to boroughs is a key one from a whole host of 

boroughs.  You may wish to reflect further on that, again, if you want to provide us with any 

further written evidence around those issues, I think it is quite clear in the submissions that they 

are pointing to an issue, an overall issue around the conduct of the electoral process and I think 

we need to address it. 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  I think it is a significant one, Chair.  

The Commission takes the line that there should be 100 per cent provision of ballot papers for 

any electoral event, so in the referendum last year on alternative vote (AV), I mean it is 100% 

ballot paper provision.  We stepped up this time from 75% to 80% of the estimated electorate, 

and so in effect the estimates at electorate were higher than actually happened, so I think they 

ended up with 83% provision for their electorate.  Obviously postal voters, of which there are 

over 800,000 in London, they all get it, their sets of ballot papers, so they get 100%.  It does 

mean therefore that the provision for those entitled to vote at polling station is around the 78% 

mark.  That is still very much enough, I would suggest, for the vast majority of polling stations, 

but within the allocation each borough is able to say, “We will put more into one ward and less 

into another”, if that is the way it works out.  We could do 100%,  It would cost I think 

something like an extra quarter of million pounds to provide 100% ballot papers, and it would 

be something over - I think we worked out earlier, 20 tonnes more paper that would be 

required. 

 

Keith Hathaway (London Elects):  Equally, it is the timing issue of course. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  How can it be a quarter of a million pounds, the contract is only -- how 

much does it cost to run the election? 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  The contract is about £3.7 million. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  You pay the ballot paper -- 

 

Sonya Anderson (Head of Elections, IntElect):  Yes, about £800,000. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  The increase is not going to be £250,000. 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  3.6 million ballot papers at the unit 

price under the contract works to almost a quarter of a million pounds. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  Sorry, if the price is included in the contract of £3.7 million and there are 

how many ballot papers printed; you are saying 80%? 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  14.8 million. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  You are adding another -- 

Page 206



 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  20%.  I will confirm the figures from 

the contract. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  I do a lot of printing, right, and it is almost as cheap to print 20,000 as it 

is 15,000, it is the start-off fee that is the cost that is the expensive bit, but to print the 

additional is not going to be £250,000, it cannot be £250,000. 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  Under the contract is a unit price, so I 

just took the contract unit price.  This was a restricted tender exercise, not a negotiated tender 

exercise, and we have talked about the price of ballot papers, have we not, in the past. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  Sorry, it just struck me that -- 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  I am not sure whether it is 80% or 100%, it is just the reflections that run 

through the core of submissions, there is such weight given to some of the problems that were 

there, I think we would like to see some of those issues back in writing to us.  I think there are 

submissions arising; I think they are coming through.  In the nature of the contract, the 

provision, everyone is looking at the cost of these elections, and it may well be something 

further that you take onboard. 

 

I think we are interested in terms of the smooth running, the trust and confidence within the 

people that are working together in delivering these elections, never mind the trust and 

confidence that arise when things may go wrong. 

 

Andrew Boff AM:  We must never, ever, ever have 2010 again when we had those appalling 

scenes of people not being able to vote.  It must never, ever, ever happen again.  If I thought 

the only way to do that was to print the 100%, and then it is worth printing 100%, you cannot 

put a cost on democracy. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  OK, shall we move on? 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  Yes.  There were troubles with the IntElect web portal, as I understand.  

What went wrong?  Because we have had a number of calls back from boroughs about this, and 

what are the lessons that you learned from that? 

 

Sonya Anderson (Head of Elections, IntElect):  There were some issues.  As Keith 

Hathaway already mentioned, the objective of the web portal was a number of things.  It was a 

method in which the constituency returning officers and London Elects could, with great ease, 

produce the ballot paper templates and sign off the ballot paper templates, so we can greatly 

reduce the time it takes to get proofing of the ballot papers to print basically, so that the 

presses can start very quickly, rather than the sort of old-fashioned method of printing of proofs 

and marking them over and someone physically looking at them, signing them, and I think for 

that regard, the production of the ballot paper designs and the proofing process, I think worked 

very well. 

 

Page 207



But what we had also attempted to do through the portal was to gather all of the unique data 

that we need from the boroughs to set up the structure within the e-counting systems, so that 

is batch names, polling station names, names of staff, numbers of ballot papers, all of these 

sorts of things.  To do that, what we wanted to do was take direct data feeds from the election 

management system.  Keith [Hathaway] mentioned, there are three main systems that are used 

in London.  We began engagement through London Elect with those three suppliers in February 

2011, and what we had worked through with them is that, could we agree a standardised data 

import based predominantly around the election management language (EML) format, which is 

an eXtensible Markup Language (XML) data format really. 

 

London Elect has led those engagements because there was a possibility that they would need 

to contract with some of those suppliers if some additional work needed to take place, so they 

led those communications.  I think it is probably fair to say that it took longer for certainly one 

of those suppliers to engage in those discussions; it was not their priority, I think they had lots 

and lots of work, there is an awful lot going on with individual registration at the moment, so it 

probably was not at the top of their list of priorities, so it took a little longer for them to 

engage.  We did get to a position where we had three agreed data import formats. 

 

Once we got to the process of actually receiving the data imports from the boroughs and from 

the constituency returning officers, it became clear that there were far greater differences in 

those data formats that we were receiving than had been pre-agreed.  Through lessons learned 

and discussions, we believe that is down to a greater level of customisation at a borough level 

on their EMS systems than we had realised.  I think it is fair to say, with the web portal, we 

should have worked, I think in reflection, to have done more testing with the election 

management system providers and taken more sample data prior to the sort of uploading of the 

data, and I think the problem maybe would have revealed itself then.  But we did not, we had 

taken some samples, they matched the format, we assumed them to be correct across London, 

and the ones that did match the format uploaded very quickly and automatically. 

 

As a result of that, when we realised the problem, we then set aside additional resources to work 

with the boroughs to allow them to send the data to us, and if we needed to do any changes to 

their data format to import it to the portal, that is what we did, which resulted in all the data 

being collected, all the systems being established, and all the e-counting systems being ready 

on time.  But appreciating that I think it was frustrating for some of the borough returning 

officers that had hoped to see a very slick and automated process and it needed now some 

intervention with us to get their data into the e-counting systems. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  I think, for the record, we should know that is the second time that 

criticism has come up, of the systems in London, that there is not a standard export, if you like, 

from their systems, and you have confirmed it, so I like it when that happens. 

 

Sonya Anderson (Head of Elections, IntElect):  It goes back to John’s [Bennett] point 

really; I mean right back to the pilot projects that have been taking place.  London’s use of e-

counting is ground-breaking and unique, but if it is to lead to further use of e-counting across 

the country for other elections, with the continuing complexity of elections that are coming 

onboard, there has to be standardisation, there has to be certification so that returning officers 

Page 208



know they are buying into systems that export data and import data and handle ballot papers in 

a consistent fashion. 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  This caused a problem also for Sarah 

and her comms team in terms of the booklet, because the export from the different systems was 

not compatible.  A lot of work had to be done here to be able to transmit that on to the fulfiller; 

the ones who actually addressed the booklets, the envelopes, etc, to go out. 

 

Andrew Boff AM:  You do not have to tell me that, I think I said, look, all the registers have 

been astonishing to me, how you managed to get them all together, to be honest, in widely 

different formats. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  At this stage, we have some further questions for London Elect.  You do 

not need to be here but you are welcome to stay.  If you want to leave, is there anything you 

wish for us to understand about aspects of your operations in these elections that you feel that 

you just want to put across to us? 

 

Sonya Anderson (Head of Elections, IntElect):  I think the only point really we would like to 

put on record here in the public forum really is about the successes.  I know Keith [Hathaway] 

mentioned this, about the hard work and dedication demonstrated by the constituency 

returning officers and the borough returning officers.  The challenge that we were given in 

sizing the technology and the resources was to support a ten-hour count, and what we saw in 

London this time was some huge successes.  We saw Merton and Wandsworth come in, in six-

plus hours; we saw Bexley and Bromley come in around seven hours; Croydon and Sutton.  

These were constituency returning officers and management teams that worked with us, worked 

with London Elect, harnessed the power of their e-counting system, and worked hard to put in 

place a management and workflow process that really made the robust use of that technology, 

and far exceeded our expectations of what they could deliver, and I am sure, as part of this 

review process and the lessons learned, it is very much going to be about as much attention to 

the success stories as maybe some of the challenges that were seen in Alexander Palace and 

particularly Brent and Harrow.  So I think it is just a word to say, we will certainly be doing 

everything we can to bottle what happened in those constituencies to try and ensure that is 

what is replicated at any future events. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  Very fair comment. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  OK, well thank you. 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  Chair, just before IntElect disappear, I 

think, picking up on something mentioned last week, this idea of being able to track postal 

votes back to wards is something we have been discussing. 

 

Sonya Anderson (Head of Elections, IntElect):  Yes, I know that, again, talking about sort 

of the immense benefits that London receives from the use of e-counting, one of the real 

benefits clearly is the amount of data analysis that can take place post the event, clearly being 

able to take results, performance, statistics, all of this, down to a ward level is only possible 

Page 209



through the use of e-counting and obviously would not be possible through a manual count.  I 

know it has been expressed that certainly the data that came on to the system this time, while 

broken down to a ward level, postal ballots at a constituency or borough level. 

 

There are probably three approaches that you could use to break down your postal ballot 

information to ward level.  You could do some additional encoding on the ballot papers at print 

production stage; it is probably not the most practical solution, it will add cost to the production 

of those ballot papers and it comes back to some of the things we talked about earlier where 

the boroughs would have to be very accurate in the estimates that they wanted for their ballot 

papers, because they would be estimating postal votes down at a ward level to get the right 

numbers for each ward.  So I think probably a costly exercise and maybe not practical for all of 

the boroughs to do that. 

 

When the postal ballot papers are returned to the borough level, they could batch them at ward 

level, and you can use identifiers on the inbound envelope to do that, to Royal Mail effectively 

pre-batch them.  Again though, what you can get as a result of that is considerably more 

batches to have to scan at the count, because you are now breaking your postal ballot papers 

down to a ward level.  If you did five opening days in the lead-up to your election, you have 20 

wards, you multiply that out, that is now how many postal batches you have to process, so that 

would definitely add time to the count. 

 

But what you could do is a post analysis.  What you would be able to do is take information 

from each of the electoral management systems, which would be anonymised, which would 

identify which ballot paper numbers had been allocated to which ward.  We would then be able 

to use the count data to say, “These were the votes cast on those particular ballot papers within 

those wards”.  So you would be able to get that breakdown as a post analysis.  There would be, 

I think, some costs involved in that, again working with election management systems, and 

some query writing beforehand, but I think probably perfectly feasible to do that. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  Thank you, that is very useful, and thank you very much for the way you 

have answered the questions.  Are there any more questions that you want to ask? 

 

Andrew Boff AM:  There was one I was just thinking, it might be anonymised, but it depends 

which index number you are using as the reference, because you cannot really, under those 

circumstances, use the polling number. 

 

Sonya Anderson (Head of Elections, IntElect):  No, not the polling number.  The ballot 

paper number allocated to the ward, but it would have no tie to the voter. 

 

Andrew Boff AM:  The ballot paper number to the ward rather than to a person? 

 

Sonya Anderson (Head of Elections, IntElect):  Yes. 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  We know the sequence of numbers 

that has been issued for a ward. 

 

Page 210



Len Duvall (Chair):  Thank you very much. 

 

(Simon Hearn, Gary Brighton and Sonya Anderson leave the room) 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  Advertising and media.  What was the main reason for the website being 

set up this time around than in previous years?  How useful would it be to keep the website 

ticking over between elections rather than starting afresh each time? 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  Sure, if I can take the last point first.  

The design this time has been as future-proofed as can be done, so, unless there is a remarkable 

development in technology over the next few years, it should be this time a good platform on 

which to run the 2016 election campaign.  It was late; there were some difficulties with the 

contractors who were designing and building the website, and two successive account managers 

effectively left without a proper handover, so there were delays and the basic contract was 

fulfilled, but it was not extended as was being considered, rather the work was brought in-

house. 

 

The intention had been to soft-launch back last autumn but then that we would do the hard 

launch at the hundred days to go; that latter objective was indeed still achieved, but it was not 

available for boroughs and others to test and play with before mid-December, so it was a little 

bit later for the boroughs’ purposes, but it was not ever going to be made public, or publicly 

promoted, before the latter part of January, which was indeed achieved. 

 

The cost this time was actually less than half of what we spent on the website for 2008, so we 

think in the overall pattern of things, although there was a fair bit of work in-house, it still was a 

fairly good deal, and certainly it achieved over 3.2 million views, 750,000 unique visits, 500,000 

people checked on it for the live progress during the count day, and over 100,000 used the 

polling station finder.  So overall it was a good story.  If it needs to be maintained in the 

meantime, we can find a way of doing it, it is all controlled in-house. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  Let us move on.  In terms of some of your publicity, you have received 

praise for.  One aspect of the publicity, “How do you like your London” campaign, it’s been 

suggested that it was quite slightly biased and not impartial.  Can you tell us the process that 

you went through there in commissioning this work, and what lessons you have learned, 

because you clearly have had representations direct? 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  We went to competitive tender for the 

creatives, and during the pitch process WCRS [Advertising Agency], who ultimately received the 

contract, we procured them through the framework, they had this idea, this concept across a 

number of different service areas or topics.  As you know, obviously once we had awarded the 

contract we worked with them, we narrowed it down through independent market testing to 

ensure that we were touching on the subjects, the topics, which were most relevant to people, 

to the average Londoner, and the things that would attract their attention, get conversations 

going, and encourage them to engage with the sorts of issues, which are about London. 

 

Page 211



Clearly there has been comment made and questions were asked during the campaign period, 

during the statutory timetable, while these adverts were running, about the use of the “How do 

you like your London?” or “How do you like ...” whatever else it may be.  I think the intent was, 

and certainly what worked during the testing, was the idea of an open question rather than a 

closed question.  If you drop the “how” and just said, “Do you like your transport?  Do you like 

your policing?”  That would have been a very closed question, pejorative in terms of the 

incumbent.  To ask “how” makes it an open question and is a conversation stimulator.  I think 

the analogy to me would be to ask somebody who is queuing up at a café, and say, “How do 

you like your coffee?” you know it is something about what they are going to receive.  If you 

ask somebody who is sitting down at a table drinking their coffee, “How do you like your 

coffee?” that is something post hoc, it is something else.  So we are talking here about an 

election where people are voting for what they are going to get rather than a recall referendum 

where you are actually saying, “Do you actually like what you are getting and should we do an 

MP recall?” or whatever. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  The prime submission is saying that the interpretation has an effect upon 

the incumbent, because, even though we are having an election and we are voting on a new set 

of people, fair enough, you can all change if the public choose to change the lot, or you can all 

stay the same if the public choose to stay the same, but that terminology forms a judgment 

upon the incumbent that it does not form upon the competitors.  That was the point. 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  I understand.  I would take the view, 

as I have described, that I think if one dropped the “how” it would indeed be a problem, we 

would not have used it essentially.  We did not use some of the other ideas that were put 

forward; we very much vetted them as we went through, both from a legal and also a 

commonsense perspective.  I think on this one, in terms of getting a discussion going with the 

thousand or so people on whom it was tried and so forth, indeed those interviews were filmed 

and so forth so that we could see people’s reactions, and the view was taken they encouraged 

debate.  I do understand the points being made, but, having said that, the incumbent at the 

time during the election campaign had no entitlement to hold office beyond the second day 

after the count, so it was, rather than a recall type situation, it was, “How do you like it?  If you 

like it you have more, if you do not like it you may want to consider something different.”  But 

it was a stimulant for discussion. 

 

The raising, the identification of key topics, is something that has featured in each of our 

advertising campaigns, 2000 the Government for London office for London campaign, 2004 and 

2008, presented in different ways obviously, but it did feature police and transport amongst 

other things.  Just to emphasise, because I think there has been suggestion to the contrary, but 

we did not run the “How do you like your public transport” on the tube or in a tube station or 

anything like that, because that would have been potentially too provocative. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  So you actually made that judgment because you thought that would 

have been provocative.  Could you give us a copy of those notes of the ‘thousand’ as a 

background to it, and we may well be commenting further on this particular issue.  We might 

come back to you about that.  Were there any other areas where you felt you restrained yourself 

or rejected other advertising because you thought it was probably -- 

Page 212



 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  Everything passed the legal test 

before it came to me, I have to say.  On the commonsense test, there was one suggestion for a 

script for a radio advert from Nelson on the top of his column talking about various things that 

he saw below, including “bobbies” walking to and fro.  I pulled that on the basis that some 

people might feel they did not see enough “bobbies” walking to and fro. 

 

Andrew Boff AM:  Probably some feel there are too many? 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  Some people might.  But, yes, we 

exercised both the legal and the commonsense judgment, and you may have views on that I am 

sure. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  How realistic is it to expect the government to change the requirements 

of the delivery of the booklet in the context of whether it goes to an individual or to a 

household rather than to an individual? 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  I am advised by civil servants that 

Messrs Clegg and Harper, just in November, decided that things should stay the same.  That 

said, clearly those Ministers in control of the Home Office, in terms of the police and crime 

commissioner elections for November outside London have clearly decided that budget 

constraints are significant and are basing the candidates’ manifesto arrangements on a website 

with printed copies only on request.  So, maybe there is a move possible, I think it is certainly 

worth asking again whether there should be a booklet at all, and, if so, whether it should be one 

per elector addressed, one per household addressed, one per household unaddressed, each 

would come with their own price tag obviously. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  Yes, can you just confirm if there were any significant allegations or 

concerns about the integrity and security of the electoral process in particular? 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  We have had one group of people, I 

think it would be fair to say, who seem to be aligned, and we conclude that simply because they 

are cross-referring to each other, whose full number - was it 3, 2 - who have concerns or have 

expressed concerns, and have now complained to the Electoral Commission about the way the 

ballot boxes were handled after the close of count in Tower Hamlets and Newham.  It revolves 

around the fact that the boxes were gathered, collected, at the respective town halls, council 

offices, and observers were not allowed inside the building while they were being stacked and 

checklists ticked off and so forth.  The view I think is that there is the opportunity for ballot box 

stuffing - I think is the expression for it - and the respective returning officers have not given 

these complainants answers that they regard as satisfactory. 

 

There are several things, there is the issue about electoral registration, which was raised in the 

media and so forth a few weeks before the elections, those complaints have been referred to 

the Metropolitan Police Service who are investigating.  I know Keith [Hathaway] had a meeting, 

or you attended a meeting at Tower Hamlets with the Electoral Commission and the auditors 

there and -- 

Page 213



 

Keith Hathaway (London Elects):  Shall I just briefly come in on that one.  Bear in mind that 

John [Bennett] as GLRO has no involvement on the registration process, but as the registry can 

be used for that election, it is felt right that we were informed of the processes.  I was invited to 

a meeting at Tower Hamlets on 6 March 2012when they explained to me the processes they 

went to, to get people registered, and identified properties where they felt extra work needed 

to be undertaken.  Irrespective of the GLA election, prior to the close of registration on 18 April, 

Tower Hamlets carried out three special canvasses to properties where there were more than six 

persons registered in a household.  That is their usual practice before every election anyway, 

and they also got seven, this sort of thing, so they do identify those properties.  They visited 

611 properties, which equated to about 4,700 electors, and the outcome of their canvas was 

890 electors were deleted, 2,000 were no change to the electors anyway, they were actually 

authorised electors, and as a result of that 334 were added to the register. 

 

The deletions against the total of the electorate were about 18.7%.  What they were 

demonstrating to us, and it was also attended by the Electoral Commission, was that the 

robustness of what they undertook to ensure this was addressed as soon as they saw them, and 

it was not in isolation just for this election, they do this at all elections.  As in most London 

boroughs, the turnover of electorate in properties is very high anyway, so they are very much on 

the case and they are constantly reviewing those processes.  Equally, they review the same 

processes when they get applications for postal votes. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  Is 18.7% deletions a high figure in your experience, or a low figure? 

 

Keith Hathaway (London Elects):  No, that is pretty average for a borough like that, I mean 

even coming from my borough days.  That is quite high because you have to bear in mind that 

the register is published on 1 December; there is then the sort of rolling registration up until 

March, and it is at that stage of course there are adds and deletions, and there is always the net 

change of often more deletions than additions, so they are cleansing that register constantly. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  How feasible would it be to carry out a manual sample to verify the count 

machines are returning accurate results? 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  Anything is possible.  I think the 

challenge would be that essentially a count has to be conducted under either, electronic count 

rules or manual count rules.  At the moment there is no hybrid that provides for a little bit of 

each.  So what are the principles?  The principles are secrecy of the ballot and so forth.  That 

means that, before you start looking at actual votes cast, you need to mix the votes from more 

than one polling station.  So the mixing of the boxes in a manual count so you are not actually 

counting the votes from St James’ Church Hall or whatever; you are counting the votes from 

whatever number of polling stations within a particular ward.  So it is not a case of just counting 

one batch and looking at the votes; this time what we did - there seemed to be no problem, no 

challenge about it - was to do the verification stage; that is easy, ballot papers face-down so 

you do not see the actual votes, you are just counting the numbers of bits of paper of each of 

the three types. 

 

Page 214



To be able to do the count of the actual votes cast, one has to get into a mixing situation; there 

has therefore got to be a different reporting system put into the IntElect system so that they 

can amalgamate the results from more than one polling station and then one can look at the 

individual ballot papers.  On that case, it would be a case of hiding the serial numbers so that 

there can be no tracing back of the actual votes cast to the individual.  So it is not impossible, it 

just needs a little bit of a change to the arrangements so that the data from two or more polling 

stations are mixed to achieve that desired effect. 

 

What I would say is that the usual acceptance testing, with well over a million ballot papers in 

total run through, was very thorough testing undertaken under the observation of Actica, 

accompanied obviously, so I think we have high confidence, very high confidence, that the 

machines are counting accurately; that the software that is deployed to detect marks and so 

forth and so on is exactly that, which has been signed off by the independent auditors, put into 

escrow and taken out again, ready to load on to the scanners and so forth.  So we have that 

confidence.  But what you are saying I think is the public confidence that what is marked on the 

ballot paper is actually what is counted.  It would be another stage in the -- 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  So it will be another stage, and some redesign of the ballot paper and 

processes would have to take place. 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  I am not sure that the ballot paper 

itself would need redesign, no. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  You reference, ballot papers always have serial numbers on them, do they 

not? 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  Yes, it is generally on the back. 

 

Keith Hathaway (London Elects):  On the back, it is the coding on the back. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  OK, thank you. 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  You can actually do the verification bit 

a bit by deduction, the address of the borough papers face-up and then just add up the totals 

and say, “OK, we will send the number that the machine has counted in total”. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  Just going back to Tower Hamlets, you were saying that they had no 

reports of any problems at polling stations or anything like that; it was just the transfer of the 

ballot boxes? 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  That is the one incident at the polling 

station at Tower Hamlets that the police and PCSO had to deal with. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  But there were issues raised in the London Electoral Commission’s report 

about them offering advice, not just about Tower Hamlets, there were submissions around some 

other polling stations I think.  Is that not what they say in their report?  They are thinking of 

Page 215



offering guidance to local returning officers about issues around polling stations.  I think we had 

some evidence at our last session, officers raising some concerns around family members 

venturing into the polling booths and -- I presume that is what this was alluding to.  I cannot 

quite find the page. 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  I know what you are talking about. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  Yes, there is a case outside London. 

 

Well thank you for that.  If we can now look at the budget.  Apart from the booklet, which is 

obviously a major cost, are there other areas where there may well be potential areas for 

reduction in this budget in 2016, or is it, actually, this is more likely going to continue, it is not 

going to decrease? 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  Booklet or otherwise, an election is 

made up of mostly mandatory activities, functions.  The only discretionary elements, if you like, 

in terms of the type of activity, is the fulfilment of the section 69 duty to promote participation.  

At the moment, we do spend money on public relations (PR) and advertising and so forth.  The 

advertising is a little over half of what we spent last time.  Some of the other items are indeed 

less than last time.  But some money is spent on that and members may have a view as to 

whether that is appropriate or not. 

 

The risk that is a large element of it, apart from the e-counting the ballot papers, the ballot 

marks and so forth, is people, the spend on people, and we have reduced the sums available 

that we pay for people drastically over the last eight years, or 12 years if you like.  For 2000, the 

Government Office, in their wisdom, set the fee rates double that which would be paid for the 

Parliamentary election, on the basis that a combination.  Just to take this year compared with 

2008, polling station staff rates of pay in cash terms were down 25% and the allowance we 

made for count staff was down 60%, dramatic reductions. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  Could you give us some written commentary back on those issues around 

the savings where you have, because that is quite interesting.  I do not think anyone would have 

thought that you had reduced your publicity bill by 50% in that sense, so around some of those 

issues.  It will be interesting to see, I presume the increase is about people then? 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  There is price inflation, and pay 

deflation in this particular case.  Yes, the electorate goes up every time, so far it has gone up, 

now it is just over 5.8 million, so, yes, everyone gets a booklet, Royal Mail put their prices up, 

and -- 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  If you could give us some commentary about that, it would be very useful 

I think.  Andrew? 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  I can remember myself asking this question four years ago.  I know what 

the answer is and we are going to disagree.  What is your opinion about the balancing 

arguments between manual and electronic counting for 2016? 

Page 216



 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  I do not remember my precise words 

for each year.  What I do remember is that overall I would expect, no, that electronic counting is, 

despite the problems at Alexandra Palace, it is faster, it is more accurate, and I would hope that 

over the course of time the public’s and the special interest groups’ concerns about e-counting 

will be allayed.  I think the Electoral Commission report this time is somewhat less critical than 

the report last time; it raises fewer questions about e-counting.  I was here to hear Jim Killock’s 

[Open Rights Group] comments last week, we have not seen his report yet, and I do not know 

what line he will take.  E-counting I do believe has a future.  When one looks at the discrepancy, 

for example, take last year’s referendum, for example, the discrepancy between the verification 

total and the total of votes cast and ballot papers rejected, there are big differences, sometimes 

four-figure differences, in any one borough.  This is purely the fact that people are human 

beings and need to count bits of paper more than once and they come up with different 

answers. 

 

Perhaps if they were checked here they might maintain, I do not know that their machines are 

100% accurate, but I certainly believe the scanning is 99.999% accurate and it is of a far higher 

order than human beings are ever going to be able to achieve.  So, yes, I believe that if it is 

cost-effective it is certainly worth considering.  Cost-benefit analysis is something that we will, 

as I say, rework.  The benefit of the current contract is that there is something of the order of 

the price difference for 2016, if the same software is used, is about £800,000 less than this 

time.  Clearly, we might want to have some improvements, the postal vote tracking and various 

other bits and pieces, which might erode that price differential, but it would project face value 

at the moment as being cheaper than the manual count at current pay rates. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  The only thing that made it cheaper of course was - I remember the 

negotiation - that it was a two-election deal, rather than just for one election, because 

beforehand, we cannot predict exactly, but the manual count looked cheaper than the 

electronic count.  Does the count contract include the possibility of a recount? 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  Yes.  The recount can either be just 

that very simple recalculation for the second preferences or the d’Hondt formula for the London 

Members and so forth, or effectively a total rescan.  Clearly, there is a price to be paid for a total 

rescans, but that is possible. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  Hold on; there is a price? 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  Yes. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  So, it is not included in the contract, it is an additional amount to count 

again if Boris Johnson had won by ten votes, Len [Duvall] would be jumping up and down and 

saying, “Recount”. 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  If I could draw Members’ attention to 

the fact that the GLRO, him or herself, has no power to order a recount across London, such any 

request for a recount has to be made at the constituency returning office level, and -- 

Page 217



 

Andrew Boff (AM):  But, if it is that narrow, the losing party, what do they have to lose if 

there is only ten votes in it?  That is plausible.  It was a fine-run thing this time.  It was close; 

there was a point where I was thinking I would start shredding things. 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  That is only of course known after the 

14th constituency declares, and the chances are that 13 constituencies will have packed up and 

gone home by then, and so after the declarations are made there can be no further call for a 

recount. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  There is a problem and a flaw, is there not?  There is a flaw here about 

recounts and who injuncts who and all the rest of it, and we were told anecdotally of what was 

occurring at City Hall during those final moments around going on.  Is that not - particularly if 

there is a close election - sort of wrong then?  Is there not some other provision that allows for 

those who participate in the democratic process to demand their right if it is appropriate?  There 

must be some sliding scale here, I mean 3% is close in that sense, I do not think even we would 

have demanded or even thought about contemplating that on -- 

 

Andrew Boff AM:  No, but it is not as though this never happens, you get ten-vote margins on 

very bid constituencies. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  What is the plan; what is the contingency in respect of a recount? 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  The Committee pressed Government 

that there should be a change in the approach to legislation, because if you take the sort of 

situation of any tiered election, so whether we are talking European, Parliamentary, just looking 

at the police and crime commissioner elections, and so forth, it is initially at the local returning 

officer’s area that the challenge would come; it is not where the regional returning officer, the 

police area returning officer, the Greater London Returning Officer, whoever, aggregates the 

figures. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  So recount really is practically impossible. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  It is wrong in theory that you have to go down a court route.  My 

understanding is the Conservatives would have injuncted you or tried to injunct whatever or 

whoever to get back into the courts, and then a judge instructing a recount, which would have 

been done, rather than go down the constituency routes, because, as you said, they had all 

packed up and gone home. 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  Clearly, if I had not known that the 

Mayor’s working majority after the 13th constituency was more than could ever be eroded by 

the 14th constituency’s results, I would have been approaching it much more cautiously, but I 

did know what I did know and I could not tell agents that because that was not common 

knowledge at that point. 

 

Page 218



To say that the European Parliamentary rules and the GLA election rules are very unclear, what 

they are clear about, and Queen’s Counsel’s opinion is absolutely categorical, under no 

circumstances can the Greater London returning officer order a recount of the ballots cast.  That 

is his very firm view.  European elections, similarly, it is the local returning officer who would 

need to recount the results of the individual borough.  But the police area -- 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  So, in theory, if we ever came to that, if there was a close call, the legal 

officers, on behalf of the Conservative Party that are present in this building need not have 

been in this building, they needed to be waking up a judge somewhere or dragging a judge out 

of a club to actually get them to do -- no, because I think this is very important about people’s 

rights.  Because they needed to get a judge to say, “Actually, I think you have a case here”, and 

then it would have been -- it is to apply to the electoral courts, is it not, to get a session of the 

electoral courts to do a session? 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  I am not a lawyer, and I do not know 

whether a lawyer who is present could advise on that one.  If I could say that, in trying to 

clarify -- 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  Could you give us some narrative here, because I take the Andrew [Boff] 

approach, you prepare for everything, or one day we will be caught short. 

 

Male Speaker:  One day, in the next 50 years, the Mayor of London margin is going to be so 

tiny as to be inside that level of doubt on the accuracy of an electronic count. 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  I think there is some shift in thinking.  

The police elections order for this year’s says that, 

 

“The police area returning officer may give a direction to a local returning officer that a 

vote is recounted only if the police area returning officer has reason to doubt the 

accuracy of the counting of the votes in the voting area for which the local returning 

officer acts.” 

 

So there is some movement from where we were before, but I still take your point.  I think you 

do not know where the inaccuracy has occurred -- 

 

Andrew Boff AM:  We do not want to end up in the situation of the hanging chads of Florida, 

do we?  We just do not want to have that. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  So will you give us some commentary around that? 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  Just to finish off, of course, have we ever - just to get this on the record 

- in London, apart from outside the City of London, run a situation where we have done counts 

in the polling stations? 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  In my experience, no.  

 

Page 219



Keith Hathaway (London Elects):  No.  By-elections, they tend to do it 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  But not at polling station level? 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  No. 

 

Keith Hathaway (London Elects):  No. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  Thank you very much. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  OK.  On the issue of spoilt ballots, what further work could be applied to 

reduce the proportion of rejected ballots for the GLA elections? 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  I think the first task really has to be 

some very early post-election survey work.  The margin of error, statistical error, etc.  But to try 

and find out whether those who do not make a mark in the second preference column, for 

example, on Mayoral ballots, because that is the one we are talking about, whether they really 

intended to abstain or not.  It has plateaued.  Things improved in 2004 over 2000, but now 

more or less the percentage that is apparently abstaining on the second preference vote has 

more or less plateaued.  The unmarked 31%, compared with 31.6% this year, and we had 31.8% 

last, is fairly static.  It may well be - I think we used to hear Sally Hamwee [former GLA member] 

say she would only ever mark her first preference, that was it, full-stop.  It may be there are a lot 

of voters such as that. 

 

The percentage rejection rates for constituency and London members are really not that 

different from your average Parliamentary or other election, so I do not think much work needs 

to be done on that.  It is understanding certainty, now is probably not the time for me to make a 

pitch for e-voting, given one-half of the Committee’s membership, but at least one could be 

sure that people were abstaining, they could not move from a particular page or screen shot 

until they had indicated that they were clearly abstaining. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  I was a dreadful hypocrite in this election.  You are not supposed to 

reveal what you vote, I will not say who I voted first preference then, but I actually did not 

exercise my second preference.  I was completely ashamed when I left the polling station; I 

really should have because I go around telling everybody they should.  But I just could not do it.  

I think it is perfectly valid.  Can you just answer one thing, what is the absolute line on no votes 

in the first column, but votes in the second column? 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  If there is a one and a two -- 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  Second preference, but no first preference. 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  If the digits 1 and 2 are marked in the 

second preference column, the new guidance issued on 25 March, which we applied, or tried to, 

was that they should accept it as first and second preferences.  If there are two crosses in the 

second preference column, that is clearly over-voting.  If there is only one mark in the second 

Page 220



preference column that is a rejection for uncertainty, albeit we know that something like four or 

five ballot papers in northeast constituency were allowed on that basis and that was the subject 

of your subsequent concern. 

 

Keith Hathaway (London Elects):  Just on stats, we have the police elections in November 

using this voting system, so it will be interesting to see what the rest of the country cope with 

first and second preferences and see if there is a similar model coming in to this.  We will watch 

that with interest. 

 

Andrew Boff AM:  It has improved, has it not, over the years?  I mean it has improved in 

London, has it not?  It was pretty dire the first time around and not that much better the next 

time around, but it really improved in 2008. 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  In terms of voter education, if that is 

the right term, there are those levels, clearly you want people to mark their ballot papers in a 

way that is valid, but you want them to mark them in an effective way, and what is then 

distressing is to see the hundreds of thousands who are exercising second-preference 

candidates.  Maybe, they are just saying, “I have a second preference, so I will use it”. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  How would you, in a completely impartial way, relate that message?  I 

think it is a valid thing to say and it is a shame.  How do you say it impartially? 

 

Keith Hathaway (London Elects):  We had only two or three phone calls on election-day 

saying, “Polling station staff were not helpful in helping me how to use my second-preference 

vote”, and it is very difficult, without getting political.  I think that is our problem in trying to 

explain that. 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  After 2000, we met the two 

professors, Patrick Dunleavy and Helen Margetts, who designed our combination of electoral 

systems and they say, “You should have clearer voter instructions”.  “OK, what are the clearer 

voter instructions?”  Their idea was you effectively vote with your heart first preference, and 

then you make an assessment as to who is to get through to the second round, and then vote 

for the least-bad option.  I am not sure how we can put that. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  What we might have to put there is “the best of a bad lot” situation.  

Their first preference on the vote of their heart. 

 

Andrew Boff AM:   I do not know if it is just time, but there is this incredible level of 

sophistication with regard to the way the Irish use their single transferable vote (STV), and it 

seems to have permeated all through Irish society, southern Irish, and there is a level of 

sophistication where they use those preferences in a very adept way to achieve their particular 

ends, and I do not know if there is something we can learn from them -- 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  STV is an acquired taste and I think 

the Scottish people are getting used to it, or Scottish parties are getting used to it.  When Keith 

and I were observing the Northern Ireland Assembly elections in March 2007, the parties were 

Page 221



outside the polling stations handing out sheets to the voters, suggesting to them how they 

should cast their votes, and because they have the quota system and everything else, that was 

quite crucial.  I think we were very close to a candidate of Sinn Fein in the count, who was 

expressing a particular view in his own vernacular that too many people have voted for him.  

Nonetheless, they still got all the seats in West Belfast, but the voters had not done what they 

were told.  So, I think there is a big role for the parties to play in communicating the system, but 

that is not only the parties.  It is the media, it is also the -- 

 

Andrew Boff AM:  That is our issue.  It is extraordinarily hard for a political party like Labour or 

Conservatives to actually say, “This is how you should use your second preference”, we cannot 

really do something like that. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  All right, if you think, the smaller parties do it. 

 

Andrew Boff AM:  The Greens do. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  Well they do, but they do not.  If you look at their electoral material that 

goes through doors, it is not implicit.  What they say verbally is different.  I do not think I have 

seen it printed they say for any other candidate. 

 

I have one or two other questions, just issues again, communications, what happened in this 

building, and arrangements on the night.  I think we have a flavour of the communications 

between you and the outposts, and there are communications in this building about people with 

information, of course you had the agents here present, you were relying on people giving you 

information from what was going on at Alexandra Palace.  How do you think the 

communications went within this building about some of the things that you could 

communicate or not communicate? 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  About the count itself? 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  Yes. 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  About the build-up to it or whatever, 

yes.  As you say, I think the arrangements with the count centres were better, but essentially we 

had more people on the ground than we had done previously, so they should have worked a bit 

better.  Within the building, I am not sure whether either of you were present when the first 

constituency’s result came through, but the announcement that went out over the tannoy that 

the Labour candidate had won in Wandsworth I think was somewhat embarrassing; they had 

been given the wrong bit of paper or had misread it.  Certainly, there are things that happened 

within the building that should be better.  Improved communication, even though we had 

personal radios, they did not always work very well.  Communication between ourselves and the 

media centre was not very effective.  So, yes, things could be better.  We will look at it again 

next time if we use this building, or if we happen to use ExCel that will be a whole different 

ballgame that would need to be planned and organised. 

 

Page 222



I think in many respects, the - I was going to say “distraction” but that is entirely the wrong 

word - but the display of screens on the map area seems to be very well appreciated, and gave 

the casual observer a lot more information more efficiently. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  There is one point on that though, that was very good, those displays, 

but the comment - and I have already had a discussion with you but I might as well say it here - 

people were complaining that they could not see their numbers; they could not see the numbers 

of the counts, all they could see was the graph, and what they really wanted to see -- and I 

understand that there is a problem expressed with that. 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  Yes, the legal advice we have had is 

that we should not be showing real numbers, but that is what we followed this time.  Those who 

were looking at it on the website found a way around it. 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  Absolutely, view hypertext meta language (HTML) and there were the 

numbers, but not many people know that. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  My last question was, you sought legal opinion about the contents of the 

Mayoral booklet of one of the candidates following complaints from people.  Of course you 

have gone back to those people to explain the action you have taken.  Of course the process 

within that, are you happy with the process that you followed and that the right outcome took 

place? 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  In terms of the input to the booklet, 

the first two submissions from that particular candidate were rejected for different reasons, 

around authorisations - I will have to be careful what I say I guess - of photographs and quotes 

and so forth.  However, the third submission was passed for legal advice and was given the 

clearance.  So that is what we did, because that is what the GLRO understood was his duty. 

 

There were something like 100 complaints I think over a period of the last ten days or so, and 

the complaints sought explanation, the vast majority of those complaints were, if not satisfied 

with, at least did not follow up on, our initial standard response.  We did then receive one 

freedom of information (FOI) request, which, because it came in from an individual, legal 

protection - I do not know what the word is - but we did not share the counsel’s opinion, which 

was what was being sought, we did not give that out because we did not feel that was right.  It 

was an exemption within the FOI arrangements and we have applied FOI arrangements, the FOI 

does not apply to the RO.  But we did also indicate to that individual - who happens to be an 

Assembly Member - that if the Assembly, through this working group, as a representative body, 

made the request then we would be willing, without setting precedents and so forth, to share 

that advice.  I know ROs in other areas who have had similar sorts of requests, similar sorts of 

issues, have stopped at simply giving a summary of the advice rather than the actual opinion 

itself. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  We need to have a discussion among ourselves to see whether it is 

appropriate and if it is a matter for public -- but I am glad essentially you have given us some 

Page 223



answers on what your view would be and we need to consider if we think it would be 

appropriate.  We will have a further discussion about that outside this meeting. 

 

Is there any more further questions, Andrew, that you wish to ask? 

 

Andrew Boff (AM):  No, I am intrigued, because I do not know what you are talking about.  

We will review that afterwards.  Yes, I am finished. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  OK, well can I say thank you for the way you answered our questions.  If 

there is anything that comes up afterwards on further reflection then we will write further to 

you. 

 

John Bennett (Greater London Returning Officer):  We will try and get these written 

briefings to you as soon as we can. 

 

Len Duvall (Chair):  Thank you very much; that would be very useful.  We have come to the 

end of this session.  There is no other business; I can announce we are closing this meeting.  

Thank you. 

 

Page 224



�

The�2012�Mayoral�and�London�Assembly�
Elections�

Report�of�the�London�Assembly's�Election�Review�
Working�Group�

November�2012�
�

�

�
�
�

�
�
�
�
�
�

�

�

Election�Review�Working�Group�

Appendix�2�

Page 225



�
�

Page 226



�

�

The�2012�Mayoral�and�London�Assembly�
Elections�

Report�of�the�London�Assembly's�Election�Review�
Working�Group�

November�2012�
�

�

�
�
�

Election�Review�Working�Group�

Page 227



Copyright�

Greater�London�Authority�

November�2012�

Published�by�

Greater�London�Authority�

City�Hall�

The�Queen’s�Walk�

More�London�

London�SE1�2AA�

www.london.gov.uk�

enquiries�020�7983�4100�

minicom�020�7983�4458�

ISBN��

This�publication�is�printed�on�recycled�paper�

�

Page 228



�

�

� �

� �

Len�Duvall� Labour,�Chair�

Andrew�Boff� Conservative�

�
At�its�meeting�of�22�May�2012,�the�GLA�Oversight�Committee�agreed�to�
establish�an�Election�Review�Working�Group�consisting�of�Len�Duvall�AM�
and�Andrew�Boff�AM,�with�the�following�terms�of�reference:�
�

• To�review�the�planning,�conduct�and�costs�of�the�elections�and�
identify�improvements�for�future�years;�and�

�
• To�identify�and�collate�from�London�Elects�and�other�stakeholders�

and�participants,�accounts�and�explanations�for�issues�that�arose�
during�the�election�process.�

�

On�5�July�the�Election�Review�Working�Group�questioned�the�following�

guests�about�arrangements�for�the�conduct�and�counting�at�the�2012�GLA�

elections.��

Agents�and�observer:�

• Martin�Bleach�(Green)�

• Patrick�Heneghan�(Labour)�
• Ashley�Lumsden�(Liberal�Democrat)�

• Ian�Sanderson�(Conservative)�

• Jim�Killock�(Open�Rights�Group)�
�
Returning�Officers/electoral�administrators:�

�
• Barry�Quirk,�Constituency�Returning�Officer,�Greenwich�and����

Lewisham�
• Fiona�Ledden,�Deputy�Returning�Officer,�Brent�

• Pauline�Ferris,�Electoral�Services�Manager,�Harrow�

• George�Cooper,�Association�of�Electoral�Administrators,�London�
Branch�

�

On�12�July�the�Election�Review�Working�Group�questioned�the�Greater�

London�Returning�Officer�and�representatives�of�the�electronic�count�
contractor,�IntElect,�and�the�CEO�of�Alexandra�Palace�and�Park.��

The�minutes�of�those�meetings,�including�transcripts�of�the�discussions,�are�

available�on�the�Assembly�website.�The�working�group�received�16�written�
submissions�and�they�are�also�available�on�the�website.���

Election�Review�Working�Group�
Members�

Page 229



�

�
6�

Chair’s�Foreword� 7 

Executive�Summary� 9 

1 Introduction� 10 

2 Overview� 11 

3 The�Count� 13 

4 Resources�to�plan�and�manage�the�elections� 22 

5 The�GLRO�and�London�Elects’�relationship�with�stakeholders� 28 

6 Conclusion� 35 

Summary�of�Recommendations� 37 

Appendix�1�Orders�and�translations� 39 

�
�

Contents

Page 230



�

�
7

�

More�than�2�million�Londoners�came�out�to�cast�

their�votes�on�3�May�2012�for�their�preferred�

Mayoral�candidate�and�Assembly�Members.�In�

voting�for�their�preferred�Mayoral�candidate�

Londoners�were�also,�though�few�realised�it,��

voting�for�the�first�elected�Police�and�Crime�

Commissioner;�a�new�role�for�an�elected�

politician�that�will�support�the�process�of�accountability�so�vital�to�

ensuring�public�confidence�in�our�police�force.��

Delivering�such�a�technically�complex,�large�scale�and�high�profile�

election�is�a�costly�and�resource�intensive�exercise.�So�I�welcome�

efforts�made�across�London�to�ensure�that�voters�are�aware�of�the�

issues�being�debated�by�the�candidates.�The�vibrancy�of�the�political�

debate�is�vital�to�the�democratic�health�of�the�city.����

Our�review�has�covered�a�wide�range�of�issues�from�the�advertising�

campaign,�to�the�ballot�paper�design,�to�how�the�website�worked.�

Crucially�we�drilled�down�into�the�events�that�led�to�the�serious�delay�

in�the�time�taken�to�count�and�verify�the�votes�at�one�count�centre�

which�delayed�the�final�Mayoral�and�Assembly�declarations.�This�delay�

and�confusion�over�the�reason�for�it�damaged�London’s�reputation�–�

our�report�and�recommendations�are�therefore�designed�to�ensure�

lessons�are�learned�and�that�in�2016�the�count�process�delivers�a�result�

to�time.������

�

�

�

�

�

�

Chair’s�Foreword

Page 231



�

�
8�

�

Page 232



�

�
9

This�report�presents�the�findings�and�recommendations�of�the�London�

Assembly’s�working�group�on�the�2012�Mayoral�and�London�Assembly�

elections.�It�is�a�wide�ranging�report�which�touches�on�many�different�

aspect�of�the�election,�but�specifically�the�management�processes�

involved�in�delivering�the�count.�We�very�much�value�all�the�hard�work�

that�went�into�ensuring�over�2�million�Londoners�could�cast�their�vote�

securely.�While�the�results�of�the�election�for�Mayor�and�London�

Assembly�members�commanded�the�confidence�of�Londoners,�the�

delay�in�the�count�process�damaged�the�reputation�of�London.�The�

recommendations�in�this�report�are�designed�to�ensure�that�the�

process�for�counting�the�vote�in�2016�delivers�to�time.��

While�our�hearings�and�written�submissions�shed�light�on�what�went�

wrong�and�caused�the�declaration�of�the�results�to�be�delayed�by�

several�hours,�there�are�still�many�lessons�to�be�learnt�and�further�work�

reviewing�the�end�to�end�process�for�ballots�and,�crucially,�issues�

around�communications�at�and�from�the�count�centres�is�needed�by�

London�Elects.�

Furthermore,�there�are�a�number�of�significant�issues�that�need�to�be�

resolved�around�the�funding�of�London�Elects�and�the�way�it�is�staffed�

and�our�report�calls�for�a�review�of�the�resourcing�requirements�to�be�

completed�by�March�2013�in�order�that�account�can�be�taken�in�the�

budget�for�the�2016�election.��

Our�report�also�highlights�the�challenges�that�London�Elects�faced�in�

putting�a�full�team�together�in�time�to�be�fully�effective,�the�problems�

caused�by�different�sets�of�guidance�being�issued�and�difficulties�with�

communication�between�London�Elects�and�key�stakeholders.�We�

want�to�see�the�GLRO�have�the�authority�to�be�able�to�offer�the�

leadership�needed�to�ensure�that�as�many�Londoners�as�possible�are�

able�to�cast�their�vote.�

Cost�effectiveness�is�crucial�at�these�straitened�times�and�our�review�

highlights�ways�in�which�the�GLA�can�bear�down�on�costs�including�

looking�at�moving�to�a�two�count�centre�model�which�should�deliver�

significant�economies�of�scale�and�increase�flexibility�on�site.��

Finally,�we�highlight�a�serious�flaw�in�the�current�count�process�which�

means�that�there�is�no�mechanism�by�which�the�GLRO�can�call�for�a�

London-wide�recount�if�the�closeness�of�the�vote�meant�this�was�
necessary.�This�flaw�must�be�addressed�before�2016.�

Executive�Summary

Page 233



�

�
10�

1.1 This�report�presents�the�findings�and�recommendations�of�the�London�

Assembly’s�working�group�on�the�2012�Mayoral�and�London�Assembly�

elections.��The�purpose�of�the�report�is�to�identify�the�key�lessons�to�

be�learned�for�2016�and�make�recommendations�to�improve�the�

management�of�future�London-wide�elections.�Of�particular�concern�is�

the�need�to�understand�why�the�declaration�of�the�Mayoral�and�

London�Assembly�elections�took�place�more�than�five�hours�later�than�

the�target�time;�London’s�reputation�was�on�the�line�and�we�need�a�

complete�review�to�be�clear�what�steps�will�be�taken�to�ensure�that�the�

process�for�counting�the�vote�in�2016�delivers�to�time.�����

1.2 To�inform�the�report,�we�gathered�written�views�and�information�from�

the�Greater�London�Returning�Officer�(GLRO),�constituency�and�

borough�returning�officers,�party�agents,�the�Metropolitan�Police�

Service�and�election�observers.��We�held�two�meetings�to�discuss�the�

key�issues�with�invited�experts�including�senior�representatives�from�

IntElect�who�ran�the�count�process�itself,�and�followed�those�up�with�

further�written�information.��We�have�also�reviewed�the�Electoral�

Commission’s�reports�on�the�elections.��We�are�grateful�to�all�those�

who�gave�their�time�and�expertise�to�the�review.�

1.3 The�Mayoral�and�London�Assembly�elections�are�planned�and�funded�

by�the�Greater�London�Authority�(GLA)�and�overseen�by�the�Greater�

London�Returning�Officer.��The�GLRO�is�supported�by�the�London�

Elects�team,�which�operates�as�a�small�core�team�between�elections�

and�is�then�built�up�as�the�workload�increases�in�the�final�year�before�

the�elections.�The�contract�for�running�the�e-counting�process�was�

awarded�to�IntElect�in�September�20101.�Our�report�highlights�a�

number�of�concerns�about�the�London�Elects�team;�why�wasn’t�the�

full�London�Elects�team�in�place�earlier,�why�couldn’t�London�Elects�fill�

one�of�its�established�posts�and�how�could�they�better�draw�on�

internal�GLA�resources.�����

1.4 In�this�report,�we�make�a�number�of�recommendations�and�call�for�the�

GLA’s�Head�of�Paid�Services�to�conduct�a�review�of�the�resourcing�of�

the�London�Elects�team,�and�ask�the�Greater�London�Returning�

Officer�and�others�to�respond,�setting�out�how�our�recommendations�

will�be�implemented,�when�and�by�whom,�by�21�March�2013.�

�������������������������������������������������

1�For�more�details�on�the�contract�with�IntElect�see�the�written�submissions�p.�8��

1 Introduction�

Page 234



�

�
11

2.1 The�most�important�key�success�criteria�for�elections�are�that�people�

are�able�to�exercise�their�vote,�in�secret,�an�accurate�result�is�returned�

and�that�people�have�confidence�in�the�process.��Against�these�

criteria,�the�2012�Mayoral�and�London�Assembly�elections�were�a�

success.��The�project�was�delivered�within�the�allocated�budget,�and�in�

general�the�feedback�from�stakeholders�was�positive.�����

2.2 However,�the�main�issue�of�concern�to�the�public�and�politicians�was�

the�time�taken�to�complete�the�count�and�Section�3�of�this�report�

looks�in�detail�as�to�why�the�completion�of�the�count�took�longer�than�

expected.��Poor�communication�flows�between�London�Elects�and�

external�stakeholders,�between�the�count�centres�and�with�City�Hall�

during�the�count�were�also�highlighted.�Our�report�also�sets�out�the�

strategic�issues�that�we�argue�need�to�be�addressed�in�advance�of�the�

start�of�the�preparations�for�the�GLA�elections�in�2016.�In�particular,�

whether�there�should�be�one�or�more�count�centres�and�how�to�

mitigate�the�risk�of�a�future�Mayoral�vote�that�is�very�close�being�

challenged�in�the�courts.�Our�report�does�not�aim�to�comment�on�all�

the�many�smaller�technical�issues�highlighted�in�the�submissions�to�us�

that�will�be�collected�and�analysed�by�the�London�Elects�team�for�their�

own�lessons�learned�exercises.2�

2.3 The�elections�are�technically�complex,�large�in�scale,�and�involve�a�

range�of�people�and�organisations�of�varying�degrees�of�authority�and�

responsibility.��Inevitably�with�a�project�of�this�complexity�and�on�this�

scale,�there�will�always�be�lessons�to�learn�and�opportunities�to�

improve�processes,�communications�and�efficiency.�We�want�to�ensure�

that�there�is�no�buck�passing�and�that�the�GLRO�has�a�strong�sense�of�

direction�as�to�what�changes�are�needed�to�take�London�Elects�

forward.�

2.4 While�turnout�was�down�from�45.3�per�cent�of�the�electorate�in�2008�

to�38.8�per�cent�in�2012,�benchmarking�data�indicate�that�Londoners�

are�becoming�more�familiar�with�the�election�process�for�the�Mayor�

and�London�Assembly.�The�Electoral�Commission’s�opinion�poll�found�

that�73�per�cent�of�those�surveyed�in�London�knew�a�great�deal�or�a�

fair�amount�about�what�the�election�was�about3�and�76�per�cent�of�

�������������������������������������������������

2�A�summary�of�the�written�evidence�is�attached�as�Appendix�1��
3�This�compares�to�56%�in�Scotland,�55%�in�Wales�and�51%�in�areas�of�England�with�local�government�
elections,�the�report�is�available�at:�
ttp://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0015/150504/May-2012-Summary-
report.pdf�

2 Overview�

Page 235



�

�
12�

those�surveyed�felt�they�had�enough�information�to�make�an�informed�

decision�when�they�voted4.�None�of�the�boroughs�reported�concerns�

or�issues�about�integrity�or�security�issues,�while�the�Metropolitan�

Police�Service�received�just�three�allegations�under�the�Representation�

of�the�People�Act�19835.��

2.5 Postal�voting�remains�popular,�increasing�from�634,838�postal�voters�

in�2008�to�817,105�in�2012.��Spoilt�ballots,�however,�are�still�an�area�

of�concern.�The�proportion�of�spoilt�ballots�in�2012�(1.8�per�cent)�was�

similar�to�figures�for�2008�(1.7�per�cent).�Analysis�by�the�Electoral�

Commission�indicates�that�in�London,�over�half�(53%)�of�all�rejected�

first�preference�mayoral�ballot�papers�were�due�to�people�voting�for�

too�many�candidates�as�their�first�choice�–�in�2008�this�figure�was�just�

over�60%.�A�third�(31%)�of�these�were�rejected�for�not�containing�a�

first�preference�vote�and�a�further�13%�were�rejected�because�the�first�

choice�vote�was�uncertain.�With�elections�for�the�Police�and�Crime�

Commissioners�in�November�2012�also�using�the�supplementary�vote�

system�as�London�does�for�its�Mayoral�election,�there�is�an�

opportunity�to�review�the�design�of�these�ballot�papers�to�reduce�

further�the�number�of�spoilt�first�preference�mayoral�ballot�papers.���

2.6 We�received�a�number�of�comments�in�written�submissions,�suggesting�

that�there�may�be�opportunities�to�refine�further�London�Elects�

approach�to�resourcing�its�team,�including�suggestions�as�to�what�

particular�skills�staff�will�need.��Section�4�looks�at�this�issue�and�

recommends�that�the�Head�of�Paid�Service�review�GLA�resourcing�for�

London�Elects,�in�consultation�with�the�GLRO,�and�produce�a�report�

for�consideration�by�the�Assembly’s�GLA�Oversight�Committee�setting�

out�his�proposals�for�resourcing�the�2016�elections.��

2.7 Section�5,�looks�at�the�way�London�Elects�and�the�GLRO�

communicated�with�key�internal�and�external�stakeholders.�And,�in�

particular�we�look�at�the�tension�between�particular�Election�

Commission�rules�and�GLRO’s�guidance.�We�argue�that�to�avoid�

confusion�there�should�have�been�only�one�set�of�guidance�and�that�

should�have�come�from�the�GLRO.�It�is�the�GLRO�that�should�have�the�

authority�to�provide�the�leadership�needed�to�deliver�the�elections�in�

London.��

�������������������������������������������������

4�Just�under�two-thirds�in�Scotland�(65%),�Wales�(64%)�and�England�(62%)�agreed�they�had�enough�
information�to�vote�in�the�local�council�elections.�
5�Written�submission�p.�143�

Page 236



�

�
13

3.1 The�count�for�the�Mayoral�and�London�Assembly�elections�is�carried�

out�at�three�separate�count�centres,�each�hosting�four�or�five�

constituency�counts.��As�shown�in�figure�1,�below,�the�majority�of�

counts�were�completed�by�just�after�6pm�but�those�that�came�in�after�

that�time�were�all�from�the�Alexandra�Palace�count�centre.6�The�Brent�

and�Harrow�count,�which�had�its�own�specific�difficulties,�was�not�

completed�until�11pm,�almost�three�hours�later�than�the�penultimate�

count.�The�objective�was�to�complete�the�electronic�count�within�10�

hours�of�all�scanners�being�operational,�based�on�a�50%�turnout.�In�

the�event�overall�turnout�was�below�40%�and�all�constituencies�at�

ExCel�and�Olympia�worked�efficiently�and�effectively�to�conclude�their�

counts�within�that�time,�the�first�concluding�in�less�than�six�hours.�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�������������������������������������������������

6�Post�election�data�supplied�to�the�GLRO�by�the�e-counting�contractor,�IntElect�

3 The�Count�

Figure 1: Time results were produced for each 

constituency

23.00

20.06

19.28

19.11

18.18

17.16

17.14

17.01

16.52

16.17

16.04

15.46

15.42

14.34

14.00 15.00 16.00 17.00 18.00 19.00 20.00 21.00 22.00 23.00 24.00

Brent & Harrow

Enfield & Haringey

North East

Barnet & Camden

South West

West Central

Ealing & Hillingdon

City & East

Lambeth & Southwark

Havering & Redbridge

Greenwich & Lewisham

Croydon & Sutton

Bexley & Bromley

Merton & Wandsworth

Time

Page 237



�

�
14�

�

3.2 However,�delays�at�Alexandra�Palace�and�particularly�the�delay�in�the�

conclusion�of�the�Brent�and�Harrow�count�meant�that�the�declaration�

for�the�Mayoral�and�London�Assembly�list�Member�results�was�some�

five�hours�over�the�target�time.�This�led�to�unfavourable�media�

coverage�of�the�count�and�caused�frustration�for�candidates,�party�

agents�and�all�those�waiting�for�the�results�to�be�declared.��This�led�to�

reputational�damage�to�the�city�and�the�GLA.�The�situation�was�not�

helped�by�the�lack�of�clarity�about�the�cause�or�likely�duration�of�the�

delay.�

3.3 There�were�five�main�causes�of�the�delays�that�affected�the�Alexandra�

Palace�count�centre�and�in�particular�the�Brent�and�Harrow�count.�The�

combination�of�the�different�but�related�events�caused�what�the�Head�

of�Elections�at�IntElect�described�as�“a�perfect�storm”�which�led�to�the�

long�delay�in�declaring�the�result.��

Delays�preventing�staff�from�entering�the�count�hall�as�

planned�upon�arrival�

3.4 There�were�delays�and�complications�preventing�staff�from�accessing�

the�venue�and�taking�up�their�positions�first�thing�in�the�morning.���

There�was�some�critical�feedback�about�the�accreditation�process�for�

the�Alexandra�Palace�count�centre,�which�some�felt�was�“confusing”7.�

The�cloakroom�was�not�fully�staffed�as�planned,�and�the�fire�officer�

decided�that�staff�should�be�briefed�before�entering�the�count�hall.��

These�delays�would�have�affected�all�four�constituency�counts�at�the�

count�centre,�and�caused�no�more�than�a�30�minute�delay8�in�the�

times�the�constituency�teams�were�ready�to�begin�counting�compared�

to�other�count�centres.9��According�to�the�information�provided�by�

London�Elects,�the�count�teams�were�ready�to�start�from�7.19�am,�

which�is�in�line�with�the�teams�at�other�centres.10�

�

�

�

�������������������������������������������������

7�Written�submission�p.�2�In�response�London�Elects�stated�that�the�“experiment�of�centralising�all�
accreditations�was�worth�trying�but�not�wholly�successful�and�that�for�2016�CROs�should�coordinate�
accreditation�for�constituency�candidates.”�
8�Written�submissions,�p.�3�
9�Written�submissions,�p.�108�
10�Written�submissions,�p.�108�

Page 238



�

�
15

Power�Supply�cut�

3.5 The�power�supply�to�the�scanning�machines�was�cut�off�at�7.52�am�for�

approximately�16�minutes.��The�cause�(a�contractor�turning�off�the�

electricity�supply�to�the�floor)�was�not�known�to�Alexandra�Palace�

management�or�those�managing�the�count�until�8.30�am.��Alexandra�

Palace�has�back-up�generators,�and�these�were�about�to�be�activated�

at�the�time�the�power�supply�was�reinstated.11�

3.6 In�the�event�of�a�cut�to�the�power�supply,�the�scanning�machines�can�

continue�to�operate�for�30�minutes.��However,�it�takes�20�minutes�to�

power�down�the�scanners�so�if�they�are�to�be�powered�down�through�

the�‘graceful�exit’�procedure,�this�decision�must�be�taken�during�the�

first�ten�minutes�of�a�power�supply�cut.��Because�the�cause�and�likely�

duration�of�the�power�supply�cut�was�not�known,�representatives�of�

London�Elects�and�IntElect�at�Alexandra�Palace�decided�to�power�

down�the�system�at�about�8.00�am.���

3.7 The�cause�of�the�power�cut�was�identified�at�8.30�am,�at�which�point�

IntElect�began�the�process�of�powering�up�the�system.��This�process�

takes�around�two�hours.��Three�out�of�the�four�constituencies�were�

able�to�start�scanning�by�10:43�am,�with�the�earliest�constituency�

starting�at�10.20�am.���

3.8 The�recovery�process�for�the�Brent�and�Harrow�count�was�further�

delayed�by�a�failure�to�recognise�that�the�two�main�switches�that�ran�

the�network�had�their�own�trip�switches�which�had�tripped,�causing�

the�network�not�to�connect.��This�took�additional�time�to�resolve.���

3.9 Figure�2,�overleaf,�shows�the�impact�these�problems�had�on�the�start�

times�for�the�scanners�at�each�constituency.��The�four�constituencies�

at�Alexandra�Palace�did�not�begin�scanning�until�10.20�am�at�the�

earliest,�and�the�Brent�and�Harrow�scanners�did�not�start�until�11.35�

am,�an�hour�after�the�other�three�counts�in�the�centre�and�a�full�three�

hours�after�most�of�the�constituencies�at�other�count�centres�had�

started�scanning�ballot�papers.���

�

�

�������������������������������������������������

11�Transcript�of�working�group�meeting,�12�July�2012,�p.�1�

Page 239



�

�
16�

Figure 2: Time scanners started at each 

constituency

11.35

10.28

10.20

10.43

8.23

8.41

9.09

8.37

8.23

8.19

8.15

8.12

8.24

8.09

7.00 8.00 9.00 10.00 11.00 12.00

Brent & Harrow

Enfield & Haringey

North East

Barnet & Camden

South West

West Central

Ealing & Hillingdon

City & East

Lambeth & Southwark

Havering & Redbridge

Greenwich & Lewisham

Croydon & Sutton

Bexley & Bromley

Merton & Wandsworth

Time scanners started

�

3.10 The�Constituency�Returning�Officer�for�Brent�and�Harrow�told�us�that�

communications�from�Alexandra�Palace�management,�London�Elects�

and�IntElect�were�inadequate.��He�advised�us�that�count�teams�were�

not�given�accurate�advice�about�how�long�the�process�would�take�to�

restart�the�system�until�about�9.30am,�an�hour�into�the�process.12��

IntElect�representatives�told�us�that�the�process�could�reasonably�be�

expected�to�take�two�hours13.��It�is�therefore�not�clear�why�count�staff�

were�not�made�aware�of�this�at�8.30am,�when�the�process�was�started.��

�

�

�

�������������������������������������������������

12�Written�submissions,�p.�3�
13�Transcript�of�working�group�meeting,�12�July�2012,�pp/�4-5�

Page 240



�

�
17

The�Brent�and�Harrow�count�process:�manual�counts�and�“On�

Hold”�boxes�

3.11 The�Brent�and�Harrow�count�proceeded�more�slowly�on�average�than�

all�the�other�constituency�counts,�as�shown�in�figure�3,�overleaf.��This�

was�caused�by�two�main�factors.���

3.12 First,�Brent�and�Harrow�had�a�much�higher�proportion�of�ballot�papers�

that�had�to�be�manually�entered�–�1.66%�compared�to�an�average�of�

0.13%�for�other�constituencies14.��This�was�because�postal�ballots�were�

damaged�during�opening�by�an�automatic�envelope�opening�machine.��

The�machine�had�sliced�off�the�edge�of�the�ballot�papers,�and�

depending�on�the�orientation�of�the�envelope�this�resulted�in�either�a�

thin�portion�being�sliced�off�or�the�ballot�papers�being�sliced�in�half.��

The�affected�ballot�papers�were�not�accepted�automatically�as�valid�by�

the�scanning�machines,�so�they�had�to�be�manually�entered.��This�

issue�was�known�about�in�advance�of�the�count,�but�the�quantity�of�

damaged�papers�was�underestimated�and�the�two�final�boxes�to�be�

counted�contained�particularly�high�quantities�of�damaged�ballot�

papers,�causing�further�delays�at�the�end�of�the�count.���

3.13 Secondly,�a�large�build-up�of�”on�hold”�boxes�(10%�of�all�the�batches�

in�the�count),�that�had�to�be�dealt�with�late�on�in�the�day15,�slowed�

their�count.�Some�of�these�“were�not�dealt�with�as�efficiently�as�they�

should�have�been”�and�had�to�“be�sent�for�re-scanning�and�with�

hindsight�possibly�a�few�of�these�boxes�could�have�been�dealt�with�

slightly�sooner”.16�Brent�Council’s�written�submission�also�highlighted�

concerns�over�some�of�the�labour-intensive�activity�involved�in�

managing�the�way�the�ballot�boxes�and�papers�were�moved�around�

during�the�count�process.�Indeed�several�boroughs�commented�on�

inefficiencies�in�the�process�flow�of�the�counts,�primarily�the�

requirement�to�transfer�ballot�papers�into�a�tray�prior�to�being�

scanned.��This�was�seen�as�creating�unnecessary�additional�steps�in�the�

process.17��

�

�������������������������������������������������

14�Written�submissions,�p.�108.�
15�Transcript�of�working�group�meeting,�12�July�2012,�p19.�
16�Written�submission�Brent�Council,�page�4�and�6�
17�Written�submissions�(Brent�and�Harrow,�p.�6,�Camden,�p.�12,�Havering,�p.�25,�Lewisham,�p.�28).���

Page 241



�

�
18�

3.14 Boroughs�suggested�that�there�should�be�“a�complete�review�of�the�

end�to�end�process”18.�Lewisham�pointed�out�the�differences�between�

constituencies,�putting�aside�the�issues�at�Alexandra�Palace,�and�wrote�

“we�believe�that�an�analysis�of�the�processes�and�procedures�followed�

by�all�the�count�teams�should�be�examined�for�best�practice”.��London�

Elects�stated�that�they�would�consider�“changing�how�batches�are�

processed�through�the�count,�particularly�to�reduce�the�amount�of�

movement�of�ballot�papers�and�so�reduce�the�likelihood�of�batches�

being�misplaced”19�Furthermore,�Brent�and�Harrow�had�some�problems�

with�the�scanning�machines,�with�two�machines�requiring�regular�

maintenance�throughout�the�day20.�Nevertheless,�while�Brent�and�

Harrow�were�the�slowest�of�the�constituencies�all�14�constituencies�

achieved�average�rates�well�in�excess�of�the�expected�rate�of�3,500�per�

hour�–�see�figure�3�below.21�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�������������������������������������������������

18�Written�submissions�(Camden,�p.�12,�Hackney,�p.�22).���
19�Written�submissions,�p.�84.�
20�There�was�no�widespread�reporting�of�problems�with�scanning�machines�-�at�Camden�there�were�some�
problems�with�scanners�miscounting�batches.�However,�Lewisham�reported�that�‘the�equipment�was�
robust�and�fit�for�purpose’�
21�Transcript�of�working�group�meeting,�12�July�2012,�p.�23�

Figure 3: Average scan rate / hour (excluding idle 

time)�

0 1000 2000 3000 4000 5000 6000 7000 8000

Brent & Harrow

Havering & Redbridge

City & East

South West

Barnet & Camden

North East

West Central�

Lambeth & Southwark

Merton & Wandsworth

Enfield & Haringey

Croydon & Sutton

Greenwich & Lewisham

Bexley & Bromley�

Ealing & Hillingdon

Page 242



�

�
19

Delays�at�the�end�of�the�count�

3.15 At�about�9.00�pm,�while�Brent�and�Harrow�staff�believed�that�the�

count�had�been�concluded,�it�became�apparent�that�this�was�not�the�

case.��It�took�around�an�hour�to�identify�what�the�problem�was�and�

start�to�deal�with�it.�One�box�of�ballot�papers�had�been�deleted�from�

the�system,�which�had�to�be�reinstated,�and�two�boxes�still�had�ballot�

papers�to�be�counted.��These�two�boxes�had�been�prematurely�moved�

to�the�area�where�fully�completed�boxes�were�stored,�so�staff�had�to�

locate�the�boxes�before�they�could�be�scanned.��Once�the�boxes�were�

located,�it�then�became�clear�that�they�contained�large�numbers�of�

damaged�postal�ballot�papers.��These�had�to�be�separated�from�the�

other�ballot�papers�and�manually�entered.�This�inevitably�took�time�

and�came�at�the�end�of�what�for�staff�had�been�a�long�and�tiring�day.�

Nevertheless,�for�the�Director�of�Operations�(IntElect)�the�response�

was�“a�very�well-organised,�regimented�response�to�the�issues�that�we�

saw.�It�was�not�people�standing�around�not�sure�what�to�do”.�(p20)���

3.16 However,�communications�between�London�Elects,�IntElect�and�the�

Brent�and�Harrow�count�team�were�far�from�ideal�during�this�period�of�

acute�stress.�The�Constituency�Returning�Officer�for�Brent�and�Harrow�

expressed�frustration�about�the�“considerable�confusion”�during�the�

period�from�9.00�pm�to�10.00�pm,�when�it�was�unclear�to�count�staff�

why�the�count�was�not�showing�as�concluded.22�

3.17 There�was�also�a�lack�of�clear,�accurate�communication�with�the�media�

and�other�stakeholders�about�the�cause�of�the�delay.��The�GLRO�at�

City�Hall�struggled�to�find�out�what�was�going�on.�“I�tried�to�get�hold�

of�my�deputy�on�the�mobile�phone.�His�battery�had�died.�I�could�not�

get�hold�of�him.�I�could�not�get�hold�of�my�count�coordinator.�I�could�

not�get�hold�of�anybody�there…”23�In�the�absence�of�reliable�official�

information,�rumours�circulated,�including�a�rumour�that�two�ballot�

boxes�had�been�‘lost’.��London�Elects�issued�a�statement�at�10.30�pm�

stating�that�“two�batches�went�to�storage�without�some�ballot�papers�

being�manually�entered�as�required�…�it�is�not�an�issue�with�the�

scanners”,�but�this�statement�was�not�agreed�with�the�Brent�and�

Harrow�Constituency�Returning�Officer�and�was�perceived�at�the�time�

to�have�been�inappropriately�attributing�blame�to�the�count�staff.�With�

hindsight�this�was�a�mistake.��

�������������������������������������������������

22�Written�submissions,�p.�5�
23�Transcript�12�July,�p26�

Page 243



�

�
20�

3.18 Given�that�the�time�taken�for�the�count�exceeded�the�target�time�by�

some�five�hours,�some�respondents�have�again�raised�the�question�of�

ensuring�that�for�the�2016�election�a�move�to�manual�counting�is�

costed�for�comparison�with�an�e-counting�solution.24�We�welcome�that�

suggestion.�However,�we�note�that�in�discussion�with�this�Working�

Group,�the�GLRO�stated�that�“electronic�counting�is,�despite�the�

problems�at�Alexandra�Palace,�more�accurate”�and�quicker;�London�

Elects�pointed�out�that�the�results�were�achieved�“two�or�three�days�

earlier�than�would�have�been�possible�from�a�manual�count.“25�

Furthermore,�the�GLRO�asserted�that�“I�would�hope�that�over�the�

course�of�time�the�public�and�the�special�interest�groups’�concerns�

about�e-counting�will�be�allayed.”��

3.19 As�has�been�the�case�in�previous�reviews�of�the�GLA�elections,�there�is�

a�range�of�views�as�to�the�optimum�number�of�count�centres.26�

Bringing�together�all�the�counts�into�one�centre�would�yield�significant�

economies�of�scale�in�terms�of�contract�management�and�resourcing.�

Crucially,�London�Elects�senior�management�and�the�GLRO�would�be�

in�one�place�and�exercise�real�grip�on�the�count�without�having�to�rely�

on�complex�layers�of�authority�and�communication�to�work�out�what�

was�going�on.�It�would�make�it�easier�for�resources,�including�staff,�to�

transfer�from�counts�that�had�finished�to�those�that�needed�any�

additional�support.�Understandably�there�is,�however,�some�concern�

about�this�possible�way�forward�from�a�risk�management�position;�

there�being�no�back-up�solution�if,�for�example,�a�power�outage�were�

to�take�out�the�one�site.�Given�the�size�and�complexity�of�the�event,�

moving�to�a�two�count�centre�solution�would�build�in�necessary�

resilience�as�well�as�yielding�further�economies�of�scale�in�terms�of�

flexibility.�Furthermore,�there�is�a�need�to�ensure�that�the�GLRO�has�a�

grip�on�the�count�itself�and�ensures�there�is�effective�communication�

between�centres�and�with�City�Hall.���

3.20 Conclusion:�London�Elects’�review�of�the�way�the�count�

unfolded�at�Alexandra�Palace�must�include�the�way�staff�

accessed�the�building�and�were�briefed�at�the�start�of�the�day,�

re-checking�contingency�plans,�reviewing�the�end-to-end�

process�for�ballots�and�crucially�issues�around�communications�

�������������������������������������������������

24�See�for�example�written�submission�p.�13�
25�Written�submission�p.�72�
26�See�for�example,�written�submissions�p.13,�p.24,�p.�29,�p.�91�

Page 244



�

�
21

at�the�count�centre�between�constituency�staff�and�IntElect�

and�London�Elects�and�between�the�count�centre�and�City�Hall.���

Recommendation�1�

London�Elects’�proposals�for�the�2016�elections�should�

provide�the�GLA�with�a�cost�and�benefit�analysis�of�moving�

to�two�centres�for�the�count.��

�

�

Recommendation�2�

GLRO�should�review�and�ensure�there�are�adequate�

contingency�arrangements�in�place,�including�arrangements�

for�communications�within�count�centres�and�between�the�

centres�and�City�Hall�(if�City�Hall�is�again�used�as�the�

declaration�venue).��He�should�ensure�these�arrangements�

are�agreed�with�all�partners�in�advance�and�known�to�all.�

�

�

Recounting�the�Mayoral�Vote�

3.21 Members�of�the�working�group�are�concerned�that�that�there�is�no�

process�for�holding�a�re-count�for�the�aggregated�Mayoral�vote.�

Should�the�result�of�the�Mayoral�election�be�so�close�that,�despite�the�

recognised�accuracy�of�e-counting,�there�was�a�perceived�need�to�hold�

a�re-count�to�ensure�full�confidence�in�the�result,�the�GLRO�has�no�

power�to�order�such�a�re-count.�A�re-count�can�be�ordered�by�the�

Constituency�Returning�Officer�but�just�for�that�constituency.�Because�

the�final�Mayoral�declaration�is�the�result�of�a�series�of�separate�

constituency�declarations�to�produce�an�aggregated�total�it�is�only�as�

the�last�few�constituency�declarations�are�made�that�the�closeness�of�

the�result�will�become�clear.�However,�it�would�then�be�too�late�to�call�

for�a�re-count�across�all�London�constituencies.�This�is�a�problem�and�

a�serious�flaw�in�the�count�process,�and�is�not�something�we�can�allow�

to�be�left�undetermined.��

Recommendation�3�

The�Electoral�Commission�should�establish�whether�and�

under�what�circumstances�the�GLRO�should�be�able�to�call�

for�a�full�Mayoral�re-count�and�press�Government�for�a�

change�in�the�law�to�accommodate�it.����

�

Page 245



�

�
22�

The�budget�for�the�elections�

4.1 The�Mayor�established,�through�Mayoral�Decision�400�(September�

2009),�an�election�reserve�to�fund�London�Elects�and�all�aspects�of�the�

elections�of�just�under�£21million.�The�breakdown�of�spend�was�

broadly�as�follows:�

Budget�summary�–�elections�2012�

• Employee�related�(The�London�Elects�team)�£1,600,000�
• Election�costs,�including�London�Boroughs�and�E-counting�

£16,130,000�

• Advertising�and�other�communications�£2,800,000�
• Hire�of�count�centres�£470,00027�

The�most�recent�figures�we�have�indicate�that�spending�on�the�2012�
elections�came�in�just�under�budget�at�£20.3million,�compared�to�
£18.7million�in�2008.28�
�

4.2 Several�boroughs�raised�concerns�about�pressures�on�the�budget�for�

2016.��Camden�pointed�to�the�possibility�of�higher�turnout�in�2016�

and�raised�concerns�about�the�lack�of�contingency�funding�for�

boroughs�and�the�relatively�limited�budget�for�electoral�registration�

promotion�compared�with�2008�and�Hackney�echoed�this�concern.�

4.3 The�e-counting�contract�signed�for�delivery�of�the�2012�election�has�a�

provision�for�the�GLA,�at�its�discretion,�to�extend�the�service�to�include�

the�2016�elections.�The�GLRO�stated�that�the�cost�at�current�prices�

should�“allowing�for�the�desirable�enhancements�identified�–�still�

produce�a�saving�of�some�£0.5m�if�the�same�basic�software�is�used”.�

We�again�heard�calls�for�a�national�framework�to�support�procurement�

of�e-counting�solutions�that�would�establish�common�protocols,�

common�standards,�and�common�certification.�This�would�improve�

confidence�in�e-counting�solutions�and�the�move�to�a�more�

standardised�product�which�could�yield�further�efficiencies.��

Recommendation�4�

Government�should�consider�the�feasibility�of�establishing�a�

national�framework�for�e-counting�procurement,�by�the�end�

of�2012.�

�

�������������������������������������������������

27�Written�submissions�p.101�
28�Written�submissions,�p.�42�

4 Resources�to�plan�and�
manage�the�elections�

Page 246



�

�
23

�

4.4 A�number�of�other�proposals�were�made�during�our�hearings�about�

possible�ways�to�bear�down�on�costs.�These�included:�reviewing�the�

staffing�of�London�Elects�between�elections,�self-insuring�for�a�

possible�Mayoral�by-election�or�constituency�by-election�rather�than�

opting�for�commercial�insurance;�and�asking�government�to�look�at�

the�requirement�to�produce�and�distribute�to�every�named�registered�

elector�an�election�booklet.�If�the�law�were�changed�to�omit�the�

booklet�in�favour�of�an�online�and/or�reactive�service,�the�saving�

might�be�in�the�order�of�£1.4million.�Alternatively,�if�the�law�were�

retained�but�the�booklet�was�distributed�at�only�one�per�household�

unaddressed�there�might�be�a�saving�at�today’s�postal�rates�of�some�

£600,000.�Nevertheless�many�Party�agents�spoke�in�favour�of�having�

the�booklet�as�it�is�personally�addressed�and�“interrupts�them�and�

shows�them�the�election”.29�

London�Elects:�Timing�of�the�team’s�establishment�

4.5 Some�boroughs�commented�on�the�fact�that�the�full�London�Elects�

team�was�in�place�only�nine�weeks�before�the�election,�and�suggested�

this�had�implications�for�the�team’s�effectiveness.��For�example,�Neil�

Kennett�(Wandsworth)�wrote�that�“this�meant�they�were�not�able�to�

provide�the�comprehensive�service�required”.30��Several�boroughs�

suggested�that�a�full�time�permanent�team�is�necessary�and�should�be�

recruited�further�in�advance�of�the�2016�elections,�particularly�if�some�

of�the�staff�who�have�worked�on�the�last�three�elections�will�not�be�

working�on�the�2016�elections.31��The�Greater�London�Returning�

Officer�told�us�that�he�had�been�unable�to�fill�one�of�the�established�

posts�within�the�team�and�that�this�had�had�an�impact�on�the�team’s�

ability�to�manage�its�workload,�and�crucially�affected�the�

communications�between�boroughs�and�London�Elects.32�There�must�

be�a�plan�in�place�to�address�this�issue�for�the�2016�elections.�

�

The�balance�between�permanent�and�temporary�staff�

4.6 The�feedback�from�stakeholders�about�London�Elects�was�broadly�

positive,�but�there�are�a�number�of�areas�where�there�is�the�potential�

to�achieve�greater�efficiency�and�effectiveness.��These�include:�the�

�������������������������������������������������

29�Transcript,�5�July,�p.�6�
30�Written�submissions,�p.�34���
31�For�example,�written�submissions,�p.�16�
32�Transcript�12�July,�p.�33�

Page 247



�

�
24�

composition�of�the�London�Elects�team;�integration�with�the�rest�of�

the�GLA�and�making�effective�use�of�the�organisation’s�existing�

resources;�the�procurement�process;�communications�with�local�

authority�elections�teams;�and�the�balance�between�permanent�and�

temporary�staff.�

4.7 On�this�latter�point�the�Association�of�Electoral�Administrators�(AEA)�

commented�that�“London�Elects�still�seems�to�overly�rely�on�the�

expertise�and�advice�of�professionals�brought�in�on�short-term�

contacts�and�general�clerical�support.��There�remains�a�clear�need�for�

additional�full-time�professional�support�to�the�manager�as�well�as�a�

more�focused�administrative�resource”�(p.�50).��Camden�supported�

this�view,�emphasising�the�need�for�a�dedicated�project�manager�and�

pointing�out�that�boroughs’�involvement�during�2014-15�will�be�

limited�given�the�local�and�general�elections�scheduled�to�take�place�in�

those�years�(p.�11).���

4.8 Acknowledging�these�comments,�London�Elects�proposes�that�for�the�

2016�elections�it�will�appoint�a�project�manager�“to�coordinate�all�

aspects�of�London�Elects�responsibilities�for�e-counting�and�count�

centres”�(p.�74).�London�Elects�also�highlighted�the�social�media�

activity�carried�out�by�the�team,�and�suggested�that�for�2016,�

“consideration�will�need�to�be�given�to�providing�a�dedicated�staff�

resource�and�budget�to�deliver�social�media�activity”�(p.�95).���

Integration�of�the�London�Elects�team�with�the�rest�of�the�

organisation�

4.9 Peter�Stanyon�(Enfield)�suggested�that�following�the�abolition�of�the�

role�of�GLA�Chief�Executive,�which�included�the�role�of�GLRO,�“the�

role�of�GLRO�does�not�currently�have�the�status�previously�accorded�

to�it�and,�despite�the�obvious�skills�brought�to�the�position�by�the�

incumbent,�our�perception�is�that�this�had�a�negative�effect�on�the�

delivery�of�the�elections”.33��Peter�Stanyon�perceived�that�the�London�

Elects�team�“was�constantly�having�to�deal�with�barriers�set�by�the�

organisation�and�did�not�have�the�reassurance�of�sufficient�weight�

behind�it�to�circumvent�some�of�those�issues”34.��We�did�not�receive�

any�other�evidence�to�support�these�observations.��However,�they�are�

worthy�of�further�consideration�by�the�Head�of�Paid�Service�in�the�

�������������������������������������������������

33�Written�submissions,�p.�15�
34�Written�submissions,�p.�16�

Page 248



�

�
25

context�of�our�recommended�review�of�how�the�GLA�resources�the�

elections�(see�below).�

4.10 The�GLA’s�Executive�Director�of�Resources�suggested�that�savings�

might�be�achievable�if�“further�use�could�be�made�of�the�GLA’s�

existing�corporate�resources”.35��The�GLA’s�Head�of�Paid�Service,�

highlighted�the�need�to�ensure�“that�there�are�good�corporate�liaison�

arrangements�in�place�within�the�Authority�so�that�help�and�advice�can�

be�provided�as�necessary,�for�example�of�finance�matters,�and�to�

ensure�good�communications”.36���

4.11 Procurement�is�an�area�where�traditionally�the�GLA�has�sought�to�

make�efficiencies�and�illustrates�how�the�GLA’s�existing�staff�can�

support�London�Elects�.�Procurement�was�different�this�time�as�the�

function�transferred�to�Transport�for�London�in�2010.�For�the�GLRO�

the�new�process�for�procuring�was�more�document-oriented�than�the�

arrangements�that�had�been�in�place�for�previous�elections�and�there�

were�delays�and�slippage�on�the�award�of�a�number�of�contracts.�“We�

did�lose�time,�undoubtedly,�on�procurements�as�we�went�along�and�

some�of�the�contracts�for�the�count�centres�were�only�actually�signed�

a�week�or�so�before�the�counts�themselves”.37�This�can’t�be�an�

acceptable�way�to�manage�such�a�complex�event�and�it�is�clear�that�

additional�support�from�within�the�GLA�could�be�used�to�provide�

clearer�timetabling�and�the�required�expertise�to�ensure�this�process�

proceeds�more�efficiently�in�2016.��

4.12 Given�the�concerns�raised�about�the�timing�of�the�team’s�

establishment,�the�need�for�clarity�over�the�balance�between�

permanent�and�temporary�staff�and�also�the�need�to�make�more�

effective�use�of�existing�GLA�resources�we�recommend�that�the�Head�

of�Paid�Service�review�the�resourcing�of�the�London�Elects�team.�

There�is�a�particular�need�to�look�at�how�the�GLA�can�keep�the�

knowledge�and�experience�of�running�elections�within�the�

organisation�and�between�elections;�and�also�to�what�extent�existing�

GLA�staff�with�the�right�skill�set�can�migrate�into�election�roles�as�and�

when�the�need�arises.��

�������������������������������������������������

35�Written�submissions,�p.�42�
36�Written�submissions,�p.�41�
37�Transcript�12�July,�p.33�

Page 249



�

�
26�

Recommendation�5:��

The�Head�of�Paid�Service�should,�in�consultation�with�the�

Greater�London�Returning�Officer,�review�the�resourcing�

requirements�for�the�London�Elects�team�and�for�the�2016�

elections�and�produce�a�report�for�consideration�by�the�GLA�

Oversight�Committee�by�21�March�2013.���

�

The�Head�of�Paid�Service’s�review�should�include�

consideration�of�the�following�issues:��

�

-What�options�are�available�to�embed�the�London�Elects�

team�within�the�GLA,�including�drawing�on�the�GLA’s�

existing�resources�to�support�the�elections�function�as�

necessary;��

�

-What�specific�resources�and�arrangements�are�required�to�

provide�effective�arrangements�for�communicating�with�

local�authority�elections�teams;�and�

�

-What�the�budget�provision�should�be�for�the�2016�GLA�

elections.����

�

�

�

The�Mayoral�Booklet�

4.13 The�Mayoral�booklet�is�prescribed�in�law,�and�has�to�be�delivered�in�

hard�copy�to�every�elector.��The�booklet�for�2012�cost�£1.445�million,�

of�which�£1.07�million�was�for�delivery.��London�Elects�suggested�“it�

may�reasonably�be�assumed�that�the�cost�in�future�years�will�increase�

because�of�rising�electorates,�the�increased�cost�of�paper�and�the�

significantly�higher�postal�charges�that�came�in�shortly�after�this�year’s�

booklet�was�despatched”.�

4.14 London�Elects�suggested�“the�Government�should�be�asked�to�

consider�whether�the�cost�to�the�public�of�the�GLA�booklet�is�still�

justified,�and�whether�alternative�means�could�be�used�to�disseminate�

the�information�it�contains”.��Havering�suggested�that�“this�is�one�area�

where�huge�savings�can�be�achieved”.��The�GLA’s�Executive�Director�

of�Resources�also�highlighted�the�potential�for�savings.���

Page 250



�

�
27

4.15 The�Assembly�has�previously�recommended�that�the�rules�should�be�

changed�to�allow�delivery�to�every�household�rather�than�every�

elector.��However,�party�agents�highlighted�the�value�of�a�hard�copy�

booklet�for�each�elector�that�interrupts�their�daily�lives�and�draws�their�

attention�to�the�candidates�in�the�Mayoral�election.��They�also�pointed�

out�the�importance�of�the�booklets�being�addressed�to�an�individual,�

as�they�are�much�less�likely�to�be�discarded�as�junk�mail.���

�

Page 251



�

�
28�

5.1 The�GLRO�and�London�Elects�team�(and�contractors)�sit�at�the�centre�

of�a�complex�network�of�working�relationships.�Clear�and�timely�

communication�is�necessary�to�ensure�that�all�parties�are�able�to�play�

their�part�effectively�in�the�election�process.�Submissions�to�the�

Working�Group�have�highlighted�a�number�of�areas�of�concern:�the�

meshing�of�Electoral�Commission�rules�and�GLRO�guidance,�liaison�

between�London�Elects�and�constituencies�and�local�authority�

managers,�including�training�provision�and�London�Elects’�broader�

communication�campaign�with�Londoners.�These�issues�are�explored�in�

the�following�paragraphs.����

Communicating�with�Constituency�Returning�Officers:�

Elections�rules�and�the�GLRO’s�use�of�his�powers�to�direct�and�

guide��

5.2 While�the�Greater�London�Returning�Officer’s�‘light�touch’�approach�

to�issuing�guidance�and�directions�to�Constituency�Returning�Officers�

(CROs)�was�widely�welcomed�by�local�authority�electoral�services�

managers�and�returning�officers38this�proved�unhelpful�when�boroughs�

found�themselves�having�to�deal�with�two�sets�of�guidance.��Boroughs�

pointed�out�inconsistencies�between�GLRO�directions�and�Electoral�

Commission�performance�standards.��For�example,�Sandra�Cottle�

(Havering)�wrote�that�“the�GLRO�and�Electoral�Commission�both�

issued�a�mass�of�guidance�including�slightly�differing�instructions”.��

She�reported�that�complying�with�the�GLRO’s�guidance�about�the�

timing�of�polling�card�delivery�was�not�sufficient�to�meet�Electoral�

Commission�performance�standards.��Gareth�Daniel,�CRO�for�Brent�and�

Harrow,�noted�the�same�example�and�commented�that�“it�is�very�

unhelpful�to�have�a�situation�where�the�directions�given�by�the�GLRO�

have�not�been�co-ordinated�or�aligned�with�the�Electoral�Commission�

standards”.��Officers�from�Hackney,�Lewisham,�Wandsworth�and�

Westminster�also�reported�this�general�issue.���

5.3 The�Electoral�Commission�noted�that�“Nine�CROs�did�not�meet�the�

Commission’s�standard�for�producing�ballot�papers,�poll�cards�and�

notices,�as�they�despatched�their�poll�cards�later�than�the�date�

required�by�our�standards”.�This�meant�that�electors�across�London�

experienced�inconsistent�levels�of�service.�“Some�people�had�almost�a�

week�less�than�others�to�update�their�registration�information�or�to�

�������������������������������������������������

38�See�for�example�written�submissions�from�Brent,�p.�2,�Camden,�p.�10,�Lewisham,�p.�31,�Westminster,�p.�
38,�and�Association�of�Electoral�Administrators,�p.�45�

5 The�GLRO�and�London�
Elects’�relationship�with�
stakeholders�

Page 252



�

�
29

apply�for�an�absent�vote.”39�This�is�not�an�acceptable�situation�and�

such�discrepancies�must�be�identified�and�ironed�out�in�advance�of�the�

election�period.��The�GLRO�needs�the�authority�to�provide�the�clear�

leadership�that�running�the�GLA�elections�requires.���

Recommendation�6�

There�should�be�one�set�of�guidance�which�London�Elects�

should�produce.��This�should�be�published�in�draft�form�by�

June�2015�to�allow�for�consultation�and�amendment.���

�

�

Communicating�with�constituencies�and�local�authority�

elections�managers�

5.4 Following�the�2008�elections,�the�Election�Review�Committee�reported�

that�there�had�been�generally�positive�feedback�from�stakeholders�

about�communications�with�London�Elects�and�between�London�Elects�

and�the�contractor.���

5.5 In�2012,�some�boroughs�complained�of�inadequate�communications�

from�London�Elects�and�between�London�Elects�and�the�contractor,�

IntElect.��For�example�Mike�Cooke,�Borough�Returning�Officer�and�

Chief�Executive,�Camden,�wrote�that�“at�times�the�team�appeared�to�

be�struggling�with�the�demands�placed�upon�them”.��Malcolm�

Constable�(Lewisham)�observed�that�“the�GLRO’s�team�were�stretched�

and�did�not�provide�the�continuity�of�contact�we�would�normally�

expect”.���

5.6 Not�all�boroughs�shared�these�concerns�entirely,�and�there�were�

positive�comments�about�the�team�and�its�communications�with�

boroughs.��For�example,�Gareth�Daniel,�CRO�for�Brent�and�Harrow,�

reported�that�“there�was�ample�opportunity�for�London�boroughs�to�

communicate�with�London�Elects�through�various�channels�and�we�

were�happy�with�the�access�to�information�that�we�were�afforded”.��

The�Association�of�Electoral�Administrators�wrote,�“it�should�be�

emphasised�that�election�professionals�generally�had�and�have�high�

confidence�in,�and�a�feeling�of�considerable�support�from,�London�

�������������������������������������������������

39�The�Electoral�Commission:�“Summary�report�on�the�administration�of�polls�held�on�3�May�2012”�
paragraphs�1.11�and�1.12�

Page 253



�

�
30�

Elects�regardless�of�whatever�specific�issues�there�may�be�for�the�

future”.�

5.7 London�Elects�reported�that�there�were�regular�meetings�between�

them�and�the�boroughs�and�a�regular�item�on�the�AEA�London�branch�

agenda.��However,�London�Elects�noted�that�they�had�not�

implemented�the�planned�online�discussion�forum�for�administrators,�

which�they�stated�will�be�implemented�well�in�advance�of�2016.���

5.8 Greater�clarity�over�the�guidance�given�by�the�GLRO�to�the�boroughs�

coupled�with�better�communication�between�London�Elects�and�the�

boroughs�will�ensure�that�there�is�a�consistent�level�of�service�across�

London.�Given�that�the�GLA�is�funding�the�elections�it�is�appropriate�

that�London�Elects�guidance�and�direction�provides�the�clarity�that�the�

boroughs�need�in�order�to�deliver�the�election�service.����

Recommendation�7�

The�Greater�London�Returning�Officer�should�develop�a�

draft�communications�strategy�setting�out�his�plans�for�

communicating�with�local�authority�elections�teams�and�

Constituency�Returning�Officers,�share�it�with�returning�

officers�and�seek�their�input.��This�should�be�completed�by�

March�2015.��

�

�

�

5.9 Several�boroughs�gave�negative�feedback�about�the�IntElect�web�

portal,�which�was�supposed�to�be�used�by�boroughs�to�upload�data.��

Gareth�Daniel,�CRO�for�Brent�and�Harrow,�wrote�that�“Access�to�

IntElect’s�web�portal�was�late.��There�was�a�lack�of�clarity�in�the�

guidance�manual�which�led�to�uncertainty�as�to�what�exactly�was�

required.��At�a�crucial�point�in�the�election�timetable,�IntElect’s�

helpline�failed�to�respond�satisfactorily�when�these�problems�occurred.�

Given�the�difficulties�that�occurred�at�the�Alexandra�Palace�venue�the�

lack�of�clarity�in�the�guidance�manual�was�unfortunate�and�extremely�

unhelpful”.��Other�boroughs�made�similar�criticisms�of�the�portal�and�

of�IntElect’s�handling�of�these�issues.40�

�������������������������������������������������

40�Written�submissions�from�Camden,�p.�12,�Hackney,�p.�21,�Havering,�p.�25,�Lewisham,�p.�31,�

Wandsworth,�p.�36.�

Page 254



�

�
31

5.10 The�exports�of�data�from�borough�electoral�management�systems�to�

the�contractor’s�system�were�“not�properly�tested�and�did�not�work”,�

according�to�Havering,�Lewisham�and�Newham.��Westminster�reported�

that�it�was�“cumbersome,�not�at�all�user�friendly,�and�should�not�be�

used�in�the�future”.�Gareth�Daniel�commented�that,�other�than�the�

issue�with�the�web�portal,�liaison�with�IntElect�staff�worked�well�and�

Camden�made�similar�comments.��

5.11 The�Head�of�Elections�at�IntElect�recognised�these�concerns�and�noted�

a�broader�point�about�the�challenge�of�delivering�a�unique�e-counting�

solution;�“London’s�use�of�e-counting�is�ground-breaking�and�unique,�

but�if�it�is�to�lead�to�further�use�of�e-counting�across�the�country�for�

other�elections,�with�the�continuing�complexity�of�elections�that�are�

coming�onboard,�there�has�to�be�standardisation,�there�has�to�be�

certification�so�that�returning�officers�know�they�are�buying�into�

systems�that�export�data�and�import�data�and�handle�ballot�papers�in�a�

consistent�fashion.”��

5.12 Common�formats�and�standards�was�also�an�issue�that�also�came�up�in�

discussions�about�candidates’�access�to�the�electoral�register�as�all�the�

registers�were�in�widely�different�formats�and�had�to�be�pulled�

altogether.��

Communicating�with�election�staff�

5.13 There�was�almost�universally�positive�general�feedback�from�returning�

officers�and�electoral�administrators�about�the�training�provided�by�

London�Elects.��For�example,�The�CRO�for�Brent�and�Harrow,�wrote,�“I�

would�congratulate�London�Elects�for�the�quality�and�range�of�training�

that�was�provided�and�the�opportunities�granted�to�all�levels�of�

election�staff�to�take�part”.��Enfield�made�similar�comments,�as�did�

Camden,�Hackney,�Havering,�Lewisham�and�Westminster.��

5.14 London�Elects�established�a�working�group�involving�all�the�boroughs.��

This�was�positively�received�and�seen�to�have�helped�make�the�training�

relevant�and�consistent.�Nevertheless,�a�number�of�issues�were�raised�

and�suggestions�made�to�further�improve�the�training�in�future.�

�

����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������

�

Page 255



�

�
32�

Content:�

• Some�boroughs�would�prefer�a�greater�focus�on�the�potential�
problems�that�could�occur,�and�the�management�and�other�more�

complex�elements�of�the�process.�

• The�count�training�focused�too�much�on�the�technology�and�not�
enough�on�the�manual�processes.�

• Sub-division�of�scanner�operator�training�from�other�staff�‘created�
unnecessary�barriers�and�misunderstandings�within�constituency�

count�teams’41�

Materials:�

• Some�materials�were�provided�late�and�a�number�of�amendments�
were�required�late�in�the�day.�

• Mixed�messages�about�how�the�second�ballot�box�in�polling�

stations�should�be�used.�

Delivery�

• The�count�training�could�have�been�less�time�consuming.�
• London�Elects�suggested�that�for�2016,�more�use�could�be�made�of�

distance�learning�approaches�in�order�to�reduce�the�time�staff�have�

to�spend�away�from�their�office�on�training�courses.�

Conclusion:�the�training�programme�devised�and�
delivered�by�London�Elects�was�very�well�received�by�
borough�elections�teams.��Boroughs�identified�some�
further�improvements�that�could�usefully�be�made�to�
make�the�training�even�better�in�advance�of�the�2016�
elections.�
�

Recommendation�8�

London�Elects�should�consider�the�proposals�made�by�

boroughs�in�their�feedback�on�the�training�and�where�

possible�ensure�that�training�plans�for�2016�reflect�these�

proposals.��

�

�

Communicating�with�Londoners:�the�web�site�

5.16 As�a�result�of�feedback�from�2008,�the�web�site�structure�was�built�

around�the�five�audiences�–�voters,�candidates,�the�media,�community�

�������������������������������������������������

41�Written�submission�from�Enfield,�p.�17.�

Page 256



�

�
33

groups�and�electoral�administrators�–�to�ensure�they�could�find�the�

information�that�was�most�relevant�to�their�needs.�The�website�was�

integrated�with�social�media,�included�information�in�English�and�16�

additional�languages,�hosted�a�pan-London�polling�station�finder,�and�

for�the�first�time�streamed�the�live�count�progress�on�4�May.�Overall�

the�website�out-performed�the�2008�campaign,�with�3,228,083�page�

views�and�741,190�visits�to�the�site�over�the�course�of�the�campaign.�

5.17 The�website�was�generally�seen�as�effective.��For�example,�Camden�

commented�that�it�“was�again�excellent�and�provided�an�easy�means�

to�direct�electors�to�information�about�the�elections”.42���However,�

Havering�wrote�that�the�website�was�“far�too�late�and�should�have�

been�up�and�running�from�the�beginning�of�the�year”.��Party�agents�

agreed�with�this,�pointing�out�that�the�website�for�the�2008�election�

was�up�in�September�2007�whereas�for�the�2012�election�the�website�

was�not�up�until�January�2012.�London�Elects�told�us�that�the�website�

should�not�require�a�complete�rebuild�for�2016�–�the�site�developed�

for�2012�should�be�adequate�as�a�basis�for�the�2016�elections.�

Recommendation�9:�

The�Greater�London�Returning�Officer�should�ensure�that�

the�London�Elects�website�is�fully�up�and�running�by�

September�2015.�

�

�

London�Elects�Advertising�Campaign�

5.18 Some�of�the�submissions�we�have�received�expressed�doubts�as�to�the�

value�of�the�wider�awareness�raising�campaign�conducted�by�London�

Elects,�and�questioned�whether�such�activities�represent�value�for�

money.��The�GLRO�is�under�a�statutory�duty�to�promote�participation�

in�the�elections.��It�is�vital�to�fulfil�this�duty�whilst�also�fulfilling�the�

essential�requirement�to�act�impartially.��The�Conservative�Party�and�

the�Mayor’s�Chief�of�Staff�raised�concerns�about�some�aspects�of�the�

elections�advertising�campaign,�suggesting�that�the�“How�do�you�like�

your�London?”�tagline�suggested�an�implicit�criticism�of�the�

incumbent.��Sir�Edward�Lister,�Chief�of�Staff�and�Deputy�Mayor,�Policy�

and�Planning,�observed�that�“it�is�important�for�the�GLA�to�have�a�

�������������������������������������������������

42�Written�submissions�from�Hackney,�p.�21,�and�Wandsworth,�p.�36.�

Page 257



�

�
34�

process�in�place�to�ensure�that�all�the�election�literature�it�issues�is�

seen�to�be�impartial”.���

5.19 The�GLRO�has�provided�us�with�the�legal�advice�he�obtained�regarding�

these�matters,�and�has�assured�us�of�the�processes�that�are�in�place�to�

ensure�that�advertising�materials�are�impartial.�London�Elects�reported�

that�the�concepts�for�adverts�were�checked�with�Transport�for�London�

(TfL)�lawyers�and�the�Assembly’s�Head�of�External�Relations�and�

presented�to�the�Elections�Steering�Group,�and�that�adverts�were�

tested�with�the�public�before�finalising�them�to�ensure�they�were�

effective.��

�

Page 258



�

�
35

6.1 While�the�2012�GLA�Elections�were�seen�as�accurate�and�commanded�

the�confidence�of�Londoners,�they�were�marred�by�the�long�delay�in�

declaring�the�result.�London’s�reputation�was�on�the�line�during�the�

count�process�as�Londoners�chose�their�Mayor�and�Assembly�

Members.��

6.2 It�is�vital�after�delivery�of�such�a�complex�and�unique�election�that�

lessons�are�learned�in�preparation�for�putting�in�place�budgets,�teams�

and�contracts�for�the�2016�GLA�elections.�Our�report�is�designed�to�

support�that�process�and�it�picks�up�on�and�makes�recommendations�

in�the�following�areas:�

• The�GLA�must�also�consider�the�costs�and�benefits�of�using�one�or�
more�count�centres,�and�how�to�deal�with�the�inherent�flaw�within�

the�current�set-up�of�ever�having�a�Mayoral�recount�if�deemed�

necessary.�The�GLA�also�needs�to�review�London�Elects’�budget,�

composition�and�the�timing�of�the�set�up�of�the�team,�and�what�

further�steps�can�be�taken�to�integrate�London�Elects�into�the�GLA.��

�

• There�are�also�a�series�of�issues�to�be�addressed�by�the�GLRO�and�
London�Elects�including�a�full�review�of�the�delays�at�the�Alexandra�

Palace�count�centre,�reviewing�what�changes�to�the�ballot�paper�

design�can�be�taken�to�reduce�further�the�number�of�spoilt�first�

preference�Mayoral�ballots.��

�

• The�GLRO�should�be�able�to�issue�a�single�set�of�guidance�that,�
coupled�with�a�robust�communications�strategy�and�strong�

leadership,�will�ensure�that�there�is�a�consistent�level�of�election�

service�delivered�across�London.���

�

• Our�report�also�calls�on�central�Government�to�consider�the�
feasibility�of�establishing�a�national�framework�for�e-counting�

procurement.��

6 Conclusion�

Page 259



�

�
36�

�

Page 260



�

�
37

Recommendation�1 

London�Elects’�proposals�for�the�2016�elections�should�provide�the�

GLA�with�a�cost�and�benefit�analysis�of�moving�to�two�centres�for�the�

count. 

Recommendation�2 

GLRO�should�review�and�ensure�there�are�adequate�contingency�

arrangements�in�place,�including�arrangements�for�communications�

within�count�centres�and�between�the�centres�and�City�Hall�(if�City�

Hall�is�again�used�as�the�declaration�venue).��He�should�ensure�these�

arrangements�are�agreed�with�all�partners�in�advance�and�known�to�all. 

Recommendation�3 

The�Electoral�Commission�should�establish�whether�and�under�what�

circumstances�the�GLRO�should�be�able�to�call�for�a�full�Mayoral�re-

count�and�press�Government�for�a�change�in�the�law�to�accommodate�

it. 

Recommendation�4 

Government�should�consider�the�feasibility�of�establishing�a�national�

framework�for�e-counting�procurement,�by�the�end�of�2012. 

Recommendation�5: 

The�Head�of�Paid�Service�should,�in�consultation�with�the�Greater�

London�Returning�Officer,�review�the�resourcing�requirements�for�the�

London�Elects�team�and�for�the�2016�elections�and�produce�a�report�

for�consideration�by�the�GLA�Oversight�Committee�by�21�March�2013. 

The�Head�of�Paid�Service’s�review�should�include�consideration�of�the�

following�issues: 

-What�options�are�available�to�embed�the�London�Elects�team�within�

the�GLA,�including�drawing�on�the�GLA’s�existing�resources�to�support�

the�elections�function�as�necessary; 

-What�specific�resources�and�arrangements�are�required�to�provide�

effective�arrangements�for�communicating�with�local�authority�

elections�teams;�and 

-What�the�budget�provision�should�be�for�the�2016�GLA�elections. 

Recommendation�6 

There�should�be�one�set�of�guidance�which�London�Elects�should�

produce.��This�should�be�published�in�draft�form�by�June�2015�to�

allow�for�consultation�and�amendment. 

Summary�of�
Recommendations�

Page 261



�

�
38�

Recommendation�7 

The�Greater�London�Returning�Officer�should�develop�a�draft�

communications�strategy�setting�out�his�plans�for�communicating�with�

local�authority�elections�teams�and�Constituency�Returning�Officers,�

share�it�with�returning�officers�and�seek�their�input.��This�should�be�

completed�by�March�2015. 

Recommendation�8 

London�Elects�should�consider�the�proposals�made�by�boroughs�in�

their�feedback�on�the�training�and�where�possible�ensure�that�training�

plans�for�2016�reflect�these�proposals. 

Recommendation�9: 

The�Greater�London�Returning�Officer�should�ensure�that�the�London�

Elects�website�is�fully�up�and�running�by�September�2015. 

�

Page 262



�

�
39

How�to�order�

For�further�information�on�this�report�or�to�order�a�copy,�please�

contact�Richard�Derecki,�Scrutiny�Team�Manager,�on��or�email:�

richard.derecki@london.gov.uk�

See�it�for�free�on�our�website�

You�can�also�view�a�copy�of�the�report�on�the�GLA�website:�

http://www.london.gov.uk/who-runs-london/the-london-

assembly/publications�

Large�print,�Braille�or�translations�

If�you,�or�someone�you�know,�needs�a�copy�of�this�report�in�large�print�

or�Braille,�or�a�copy�of�the�summary�and�main�findings�in�another�

language,�then�please�call�us�on:�020�7983�4100�or�email:�

assembly.translations@london.gov.uk.�

Chinese�

�

Hindi�

�

Vietnamese�

�

Bengali�

�

Greek�

�

Urdu�

�

Turkish�

�

Arabic�

�

Punjabi�

�

Gujarati�

�

�

Appendix�1� Orders�and�
translations�

Page 263



�

�

�

Greater�London�Authority�

City�Hall�

The�Queen’s�Walk�

More�London�

London�SE1�2AA�

www.london.gov.uk�

Enquiries�020�7983�4100�

Minicom�020�7983�4458�

Page 264



 

                                                                    

�
City�Hall,�The�Queen’s�Walk,�London�SE1�2AA�
Enquiries:
020
7983
4100
minicom:
020
7983
4458
www.london.gov.uk






 

Subject:��The
Head
of
Paid
Service
Performance

Review
Panel�


Report
to:
 GLA
Oversight
Committee




Report
of:

Executive
Director
of
Secretariat




Date:
28
November
2012

�



This
report
will
be
considered
in
public
�






1.
 Summary



�

1.1 This�report�provides�an�update�for�the�Committee�on�the�work�of�the�Head�of�Paid�Service�

Performance�Review�Panel�and�asks�that�the�Committee�agrees�the�minutes�of�its�recent�meeting.����





2.
 Recommendation
�


2.1 That
the
Committee
confirms
the
minutes
of
the
Head
of
Paid
Service
Performance


Review
Panel
meeting
of
13
November
2012,
to
be
signed
by
the
Chair
as
a
correct
record.









3.
 Background



�

3.1 At�its�meeting�of�22�May�2012,�the�GLA�Oversight�Committee�agreed�that�the�Head�of�Paid�Service�

Performance�Review�Panel�be�established�as�a�working�group,�with�the�following�term�of�reference:�

To�conduct,�in�conjunction�with�the�Mayor,�the�performance�review�process�for�the�

Authority’s�Head�of�Paid�Service,�reporting�relevant�matters�requiring�formal�decision�and/or�

for�consideration�as�necessary�to�the�GLA�Oversight�Committee.�




3.2 It�was�also�agreed�that�the�Head�of�Paid�Service�Performance�Review�Panel�be�composed�of�the�

following�Members:�

• Caroline�Pidgeon�AM�

• Gareth�Bacon�AM�

• Darren�Johnson�AM�

• Len�Duvall�AM�






Agenda Item 13

Page 265



        

4.
 Issues
for
Consideration�

�

4.1 The�first�meeting�of�the�Head�of�Paid�Service�Performance�Review�Panel�was�held�on�Tuesday�

13�November�2012.�The�minutes�for�that�meeting�are�attached�as�Appendix
1�which,�as�the�parent�

body,�the�GLA�Oversight�Committee�is�asked�to�confirm�for�signature�by�the�Chair�as�a�correct�

record.�

�

�

5.
 Legal
Implications

�

5.1 The�Committee�has�the�authority�to�do�what�is�recommended�in�this�report.�



6.
 Financial
Implications

�

6.1 There�are�no�financial�implications�arising�directly�from�this�report.�

�

�

�

�

�

List
of
appendices
to
this
report:


�

Appendix
1�–Minutes�of�the�meeting�of�the�Head�of�Paid�Service�Performance�Review�Panel�13�Nov�2012�

�

�

Local
Government
(Access
to
Information)
Act
1985


List�of�Background�Papers:�

None�

�

Contact�Officer:� John�Barry,�Senior�Committee�Officer�

Telephone:� 020�7983�4425�

E-mail:� john.barry@london.gov.uk�

�

��
�

Page 266



�
�

�
�
City�Hall,�The�Queen’s�Walk,�London�SE1�2AA�
Enquiries:
020
7983
4100
minicom:
020
7983
4458
www.london.gov.uk


�

MINUTES


�

Meeting:
 The
Head
of
Paid
Service

Performance
Review
Panel


Date:
 Tuesday
13
November
2012

Time:
 5.00
pm

Place:
 Committee
Room
2,
City
Hall,
The


Queen's
Walk,
London,
SE1
2AA

�
Copies�of�the�minutes�may�be�found�at:
http://www.london.gov.uk/who-runs-london/the-london-
assembly/committees/oversight�

�

Present:

�
Len�Duvall�(Chair)�
Andrew�Boff�
Jenny�Jones�
Caroline�Pidgeon�
�
Also�in�attendance�
�
Boris�Johnson,�Mayor�of�London�
Sir�Edward�Lister,�Chief�of�Staff�and�Deputy�Mayor�for�Planning�
Juliette�Carter,�Assistant�Director�of�Human�Resources�and�Organisational�Development�
�
�
�
�

1. Apologies
for
Absence
(Item
1)�



1.1 Apologies�for�absence�were�received�from�Darren�Johnson�AM,�for�whom�Jenny�Jones�AM�
attended�as�a�substitute,�and�Gareth�Bacon�AM,�for�whom�Andrew�Boff�AM�attended�as�a�
substitute.�
�

�
�
�
�
�

Appendix 1 

Page 267



Greater
London
Authority

The
Head
of
Paid
Service
Performance
Review
Panel



Tuesday
19
June
2012


�

�
2�

�



2. Declarations
of
Interests
(Item
2)�




2.1� Resolved:�

�

(a)

 That
the
list
of
memberships
of
functional
bodies
and
London
borough


councils,
as
set
out
in
the
table
at
Item
2,
be
noted
as
personal
interests;
and





(b)
 That
gifts
and
hospitality
received
by
Members,
as
set
out
on
the


Authority’s
gifts
and
hospitality
register,
be
noted.






3. Exclusion
of
Public
and
Press
(Item
3)�




3.1� Resolved:�

�
That,
pursuant
to
Schedule
12A
of
the
Local
Government
Act
1972,
the
public
and

press
be
excluded
from
the
meeting
for
the
following
item
of
business
on
the

grounds
that
it
would
involve
the
likely
disclosure
of
exempt
information
as
shown

below:



Item
Number.

 4



Grounds



Paragraph
1
of
Schedule
12A
of
LGA
1972:




1.
Information
relating
to
any
individual






4. Performance
Review
of
the
Head
of
Paid
Service
(Item
4)�




4.1
 The�Panel,�together�with�the�Mayor�carried�out�the�performance�review�of�the�Head�of�Paid�

Service,�Jeff�Jacobs,�who�was�in�attendance�at�the�meeting.�




4.2� Resolved:


� That
the
assessment
of
the
performance
of
the
Head
of
Paid
Service
in
2011/12
be


agreed
and
the
objectives
of
the
Head
of
Paid
Service
for
2012/13
be
circulated


with
the
revisions
as
discussed
at
the
meeting,
to
then
be
agreed
by
the
Members


of
the
Panel.











Page 268



Greater
London
Authority

The
Head
of
Paid
Service
Performance
Review
Panel



Tuesday
19
June
2012


�

�
3�

�

5. Close
of
Meeting
�



5.1� The�meeting�finished�at�5.45pm.�





�
�
�
�
�
�
� � � �
Chair�� � Date�
�
Contact
Officer:
 John�Barry,�Senior�Committee�Officer;�Telephone:�020�7983�4425;�Email:�

john.barry@london.gov.uk;�Minicom:�020�7983�4458.�
�

Page 269



Page 270

This page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                                    

�
City�Hall,�The�Queen’s�Walk,�London�SE1�2AA�
Enquiries:
020
7983
4100
minicom:
020
7983
4458
www.london.gov.uk


 

Subject:
Work
Programme
for
the
GLA

Oversight
Committee
2012/13

 

Report
to:
 GLA
Oversight
Committee






Report
of:

Executive
Director
of
Secretariat 



Date:
28
November
2012


This
report
will
be
considered
in
public

 





1.
 Summary



�

1.1 This�report�provides�details�of�the�proposed�work�for�the�meetings�of�the�Committee�in�this�

Assembly�Year�(2012/13).���





2.
 Recommendation
�


2.1
 That
the
Committee
notes
its
work
programme
for
2012/13,
as
set
out
in
this
report
and


identifies
any
additional
issues
it
wishes
to
consider
at
future
meetings.








3.
 Background





3.1� The�GLA�Oversight�Committee�has�the�following�overall�functions:�

• Management�and�administration�of�the�budget�of�the�Assembly�and�Secretariat,�and�

overseeing�the�Assembly’s�scrutiny�work�programme;�

• Having�oversight,�on�behalf�of�the�London�Assembly,�of�the�Greater�London�Authority’s�

(GLA)�corporate�governance�policies�and�activities;��

• Maintaining�a�watching�brief�in�respect�of�the�activities�of�the�senior�officers�appointed�by�

the�Mayor;�and�

• Responding�to�consultations�from�the�Head�of�Paid�Service�and�scrutinising�the�Head�of�Paid�

Service�function.�

�

3.2 Additionally,�it�was�agreed�at�the�Annual�Assembly�meeting�of�11�May�2012�that�the�GLA�Oversight�

Committee’s�terms�of�reference�include�provision�to�scrutinise�any�actions�or�decisions�taken�by�the�

Mayor�on�matters�relating�to�education.�The�Committee�can�also�scrutinise�civil�contingency�

arrangements�in�London,�the�provision�of�services�to�the�public�and�the�performance�of�utilities�in�

London.��

�

3.3 At�its�meeting�of�22�May�2012,�the�Committee�agreed�to�establish�an�Elections�Review�Working�

Group;�its�final�report�is�considered�by�the�GLA�Oversight�Committee�elsewhere�on�this�agenda.�At�

Agenda Item 14

Page 271



        

the�meeting�of�20�September,�a�review�of�the�funding�of�World�Pride�London�was�agreed�and�a�

question�and�answer�session�on�this�matter�will�be�held�at�the�Committee’s�19�December�meeting.�

Also�at�the�19�December�meeting,�the�Mayor’s�Ambassador�for�Mentoring�has�been�invited�to�

answer�Member’s�questions�about�the�Mayor’s�mentoring�programme,�following�on�from�the�session�

with�the�Deputy�Mayor�for�Education�and�Culture�at�this�meeting.�

�

�

4.
 Issues
for
Consideration�

�

4.1� The�main�work�areas�of�the�Committee�are�summarised�below.�

�

Assembly
Budget
and
Scrutiny
Work
Programme


�

4.2� The�Committee�allocates�the�Assembly’s�budget�and�receives�a�report�in�March�each�year�on�that�

subject�(following�the�approval�of�the�overall�amount�of�the�budget�and�in�advance�of�the�start�of�

the�financial�year�in�question).�

�

4.3� The�Committee�receives�quarterly�financial�and�performance�monitoring�reports�from�the�Secretariat�

in�July,�October,�January�and�April/May�each�year.�

�

4.4� The�Committee�approves�individual�proposals�for�non-routine�expenditure�from�the�scrutiny�

programme�budget�which�are�referred�to�the�Committee�by�the�subject-related�committees�during�

the�year.��The�timing�of�these�reports�depends�upon�when�the�subject-related�committees�approve�

projects�and�refer�proposals�for�expenditure.�

�

4.5� The�Committee�approves�proposals�for�rapporteurships�referred�from�subject-related�committees�

during�the�course�of�the�year.���

�

4.6� The�Committee�also�has�the�power�to�consider�any�issue�which�does�not�fall�into�the�remit�of�one�of�

the�subject-related�committees�(for�instance,�cross-cutting�equalities�and�governance�issues).�

�

Staffing
Consultations
and
Appointments


�

4.7� The�Committee�will�be�invited�to�respond�to�consultations�from�the�Head�of�Paid�Service�(HoPS)�

from�time�to�time�during�the�year.��The�Committee’s�role�in�relation�to�these�consultations�is�reactive�

and�therefore�the�work�programme�does�not�predict�what�reports�will�be�presented�and�when.��

During�the�2010/11�and�2011/12�Assembly�years�the�Committee�considered�a�number�of�

consultation�reports�arising�from�the�transfer�of�functions�to�the�GLA�as�a�result�of�devolution.�

�

4.8� The�Assembly�has�a�role�in�appointing�the�statutory�officers�to�the�Authority,�and�this�Committee�

has�delegated�authority�to�fulfil�that�role�as�and�when�the�need�arises.�

�


 Scrutiny
of
the
Head
of
Paid
Service
Function



�

4.9� The�Committee�usually�receives�reports�on�the�following�issues�during�the�course�of�the�year:���

�

• Annual�Workforce�Monitoring�Report,�incorporating�complaints�monitoring�(plus�a�six-

monthly�update);�and�

Page 272



        

• Governance.�

�

4.10� The�Committee�usually�receives�a�report�on�the�draft�Annual�Governance�Review�and�Annual�

Governance�Statement�in�March�and�the�final�version�in�June�(together�with�the�GLA’s�Audit�Panel).���

�

4.12� The�table�set�out�below�shows�the�Committee’s�scheduled�meeting�dates�during�2012/13,�and�

anticipated�agenda�items.��This�timetable�and�provisional�agenda�items�will�be�reviewed�and�updated�

as�appropriate.��

� �

Date
of

meeting




Main
Agenda
Items


Wednesday,�19�

December�2012�

at�2.30pm�in�CR5�

�

• HoPS�Oral�Update�

• HoPS�Consultation�Reports�(if�any)�

• Review�of�the�Funding�of�World�Pride�

• Mayor’s�Mentoring�Programme��

�

Tuesday,�29�

January�2013�at�

10am�in�CR5�

�

• HoPS�Oral�Update�

• HoPS�Consultation�Reports�(if�any)�

• Rapporteurship�on�GLA�transparency�Q&A�(tbc)�

• Mayor’s�Senior�Adviser,�Team�London,�Volunteering,�Charities�

and�Sponsorship�

• Draft�Committee�Timetable�of�Meetings�2013/14��

�

Tuesday,�26�

February�2013�at�

10am�in�CR5�

�

• HoPS�Oral�Update�

• HoPS�Consultation�Reports�(if�any)�

• The�Mayor’s�Annual�Equalities�Report�2011/12�

• Assembly�Annual�Report�

• Assembly’s�Requirements�for�Information�to�be�Included�in�the�

Mayor’s�Annual�Report.�

• Secretariat�Quarterly�Monitoring�Report�Q3�–�2012/13�

• Quarterly�Shared�Services�Update�

�

Thursday,�21�

March�

�

• HoPS�Oral�Update�

• HoPS�Consultation�Reports�(if�any)�

• State�of�London�Debate�

• Final�report�from�rapporteurship�on�GLA�transparency�(tbc)�

�

Wednesday,�24�

April�2013�at�

10am�in�CR5�

�

• HoPS�Oral�Update�

• HoPS�Consultation�Reports�(if�any)�

�

�

�

5.
 Legal
Implications




5.1� The�Assembly�has�the�power�to�establish�committees�to�discharge�its�functions,�and�the�GLA�

Oversight�Committee�is�one�such�committee.��The�work�programme�is�in�accordance�with�the�GLA�

Page 273



        

Oversight�Committee’s�terms�of�reference,�as�agreed�by�the�Assembly�at�its�Annual�Meeting�on�

11�May�2012.��


�

�

6.
 Financial
Implications

�

6.1 There�are�no�financial�implications�for�the�purposes�of�this�report.�

�




List
of
appendices
to
this
report:
None


�

�

Local
Government
(Access
to
Information)
Act
1985


List�of�Background�Papers:�None�

Contact�Officer:� John�Barry,�Senior�Committee�Officer�

Telephone:� 020�7983�4425�

E-mail:� john.barry@london.gov.uk���

 

Page 274


	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interests
	3 Minutes
	Minutes - Appendix 1 - Transcript

	4 Summary List of Actions
	Summary List of Actions - Appendix 1 - London TravelWatch
	Summary List of Actions - Appendix 2 -  Assembly's MAER contribution
	Summary List of Actions - Appendix 3

	5 The Mayor's Mentoring Programme
	6 The Mayor's Education Inquiry
	The Mayors Education Inquiry - Appendix 1 - Mayor of London's Response to Panel Report

	8 Proposed Changes to the GLA Establishment
	9 Shared Service Proposal by Transport for London for the Management of the GLA's Ongoing Olympic and Non-Olympic Compulsory Purchase Orders
	10 Proposed Review of the Assembly Committee Structure
	11 Transport Committee Investigation Into Airport Capacity - Technical Advice and Support
	Technical Advice and Support on Airport Capacity for Transport Committee Investigation - Appendix 1

	12 Elections Review Working Group
	Elections Review Working Group - Appendix 1 - minutes
	Elections Review Working Group - Appendix 2 - Report

	13 The Head of Paid Service Performance Review Panel
	The Head of Paid Service Performance Review Panel - Appendix 1 -  Minutes

	14 Work Programme for the GLA Oversight Committee 2012/13

